MUSIC-MAKING AS A PERFORMED THEOLOGY OF CHRISTIAN RELATING

by

CHRISTOPHER RAE CONNETT

A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of

Master of Literature

Department of Theology and Religion
School of Philosophy, Theology and Religion
College of Arts and Law
University of Birmingham

August 2022

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

ABSTRACT

Most current work which seeks to engage both music and theology is mainly focused on music for the contribution it can make to understanding theological themes which can generally be understood otherwise (Begbie), or on integrating music and theology into a wider social, cultural, and intellectual context which acknowledges God's presence throughout the world, and assigns to music a sacramental role (Brown). The thesis avoids both these approaches, seeking rather to understand music-making as having theological import in and of itself.

From the side of theology, Trinitarian theology and the work of Daniel Hardy, Herman Bavinck and Christoph Schwöbel are major themes. From the side of music, performance practice, the reception of music, and the extra-musical qualities which are nonetheless integral to music-making are to the fore.

The thesis turns on being able successfully to draw an analogy between intra-Trinitarian life and the relational life of performing musicians, especially those in small musical ensembles. On the basis of this analogy, I conclude that music-making is a performed theology which captures what it is for human beings to be related to one another in Christian ways.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It is a pleasure to acknowledge here the support I have received from my supervisors, Dr Jeremy Kidwell and Professor David Cheetham. They have been generous with their time and expertise. Never imposing themselves, they have drawn out what it was I was trying to say all along. I am grateful to them.

It is a great pleasure to thank Rev. Canon Dr. Maureen Palmer for very kindly undertaking, at extremely short notice, to read the entire thesis immediately prior to submission. Her interest in the project, and her encouragement revived my flagging spirits.

I cannot begin to express the gratitude I feel for all that my wife, Sue, has done to support and encourage me during the last five and a half years. She encouraged me to get started on the project in the first place, and her loving support has been my mainstay throughout. Without you, Sue, this thesis would not have been completed, and so it is dedicated to you with my love.

THE SUMMA CONTRA GENTILES OF ST. THOMAS AQUINAS

Quotations from the *Summa Theologicæ* are from Timothy McDermott's "Concise Translation" which is listed in the Bibliography as

Aquinas, T. (1991). *Summa Theologiae: A Concise Translation.* (T. McDermott, Ed. & Trans.) Notre Dame: Christian Classics.

Footnote references follow the standard form: Part.Question.Article.

Quotations from *The Compendium of Theology* are from the edition retitled *Light of Faith* which is listed in the Bibliography as

Aquinas, T. (1993). *The Compendium of Theology.* (C. Vollerts, Trans.) Bedford NH: Sophia Institute Press.

Footnote references are by page numbers.

Quotations from the *Summa Contra Gentiles* are from the Aeterna Press edition listed in the Bibliography as

Aquinas, T. (2014). *The Summa Contra Gentiles*. (The English Dominican Fathers, Trans.) London: Aeterna Press.

Footnote references are by Book.Chapter.Page according to the Aeterna Press edition.

REFERENCING THE ORDINATIO OF JOHN DUNS SCOTUS

The quotation from The Ordinatio is from the translation listed in the Bibliography as

Scotus, D. (1987). *Ordinatio*. (A. Wolter, Trans.) Indianapolis: Hacket Publishing Company.

The citation of *The Ordinatio* of Duns Scotus in footnote 311 on page 109 follows the standard internal divisions: *Ordinatio 1*, d (distinction), q (question), n (paragraph number).

BIBLE QUOTATIONS

Scripture quotations are from The Holy Bible, English Standard Version, published by HarperCollins Publishers © 2001 by Crossway Bibles, a division of Good News Publishers. Use by permission. All rights reserved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part 1: Theology and Music	
Chapter 1: Introduction	2
The approach to structure in the thesis	5
Development of the thesis by Chapter	6
Trinitarian Theology	8
Music and Theology	12
Thesis Outline	17
Chapter 2: Surveying the Field: Theology and Music	24
Music: theology's handmaid – Jeremy Begbie	26
Music: theology's handmaid – Mary McGann	29
Music: theology's handmaid – David Brown	30
Begbie's response to Brown	38
Gavin Hopps' response to Brown	40
Music: theology's handmaid – Maeve Heaney	42
Music: theology's handmaid – Don Cupitt	44
Summary and my response	45
Part 2: Methodological Issues and the Concept of the Other	48
Chapter 3: Trinity, Musicians, Relationships	49
The Analogy	50
Perichoresis	56
The Trinity as communio	58
Aquinas and Greshake on relations and music-making	61
Greshake's arguments and mine compared	63
Music-making and Tanner on God and human relationships	68
Chapter 4: Analogy	78
Analogy by Attribution	95
Analogy of Proper Proportionality	100

	Consequences for the Thesis	113	
	Chapter 5: Social Trinitarianism	117	
	Outline of relational accounts of the Trinity	121	
	Some criticisms of social Trinitarianism	123	
	Tritheism	131	
	Mutual Hierarchy	137	
	Social Trinitarianism in the context of the thesis	149	
	Consequences of the above discussion for the thesis	170	
	Chapter 6: The Other	186	
	Otto and Barth	187	
	The other and music-making	194	
	Levinas	195	
	Signing texts	196	
	Kearney on 'Persona'	202	
	Hegel	207	
Part	: 3: Music-making	213	
	Chapter 7: The Extra-musical Qualities of Good Music-making	214	
	Love, indwelling, discernment, and music-making	218	
	Performing musicians are subsisting relations	222	
Chapter 8: A Preliminary Orientation to some Aspects of Continuity in the			
	Music-making Context	224	
	Continuity and time, music and music-making	227	
	Continuity and co-created creative space	229	
	Continuity between music-making and interpretation	230	
	Continuity, tradition, and music-making	233	
	Chapter 9: The Performance and Reception of Music	236	
	A Phenomenological orientation to the physicality of music-making	237	
	Stone-Davis's analysis of music as reception	241	
	Chapter 10: Good Performance Practice	245	
	Co-created creative space	245	

	Musical truth and performance practice	248
	Musical expressivity and performance are one	255
	Co-created creative assemblage	260
Part 4	: Trinitarian Theology, Christian Relationality and Music	264
	Chapter 11: Music and the Trinity as Conversation	265
	Commandeering language and music	267
	Indwelling: music-making and the Trinity	269
	Relationality	271
	Chapter 12: Trinity, Relationality and Music	285
	Hardy on the Trinity and language	286
	Music-making as a contextualised, performed theology	292
	Conversation, communion, indwelling and music-making	298
	Bavinck's theology of general revelation and music-making	309
	Contextualisation and revelation	312
	Chapter 13: Conclusion: Music and Christian Relating	315
	The feedback loop of music-making	315
	Love	317
	The creativity of music-making	319
	Stone-Davis revisited	325
	After the concert	327
	Messiaen, Xenakis, Love	328
	Bibliography	331

PART 1: THEOLOGY AND MUSIC

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The thesis thematises two features of contemporary Christian theology: Trinitarian theology and the music/theology nexus.¹ Scholarship in the field of theology and music has tended to ignore the 'relational dimension' in music-making, the relationships between performing musicians. The focus has tended to be on music rather than on music-making, and this has had the consequence that music has been viewed as contributing to the understanding of theological themes or as a vehicle for worship, rather than as a practice which might be theologically important in its own right. Might music-making be a performed theology?

I will argue that as we make music together, not only do musical relationships between us arise, but as they do so our identities, at least for the duration of the performance, are continuous with those relationships. Continuity plays an important role in the thesis. Therefore, I devote the whole of Chapter 7 to a discussion of continuity and its role in the thesis. But these relationships which are musical through and through are more than continuous with us as performers, they define our identities in their entirety. It is not that we relate to one another musically but otherwise remain, nonetheless, separate. Rather, as we make music together, we become formed into a unity in diversity. The simplicity of the thesis, then, is that I wondered if this conception of music-making might bear some analogical likeness

¹ There are many other distinguishing features of contemporary Christian theology, these include, feminist theology, liberation theology, nouvelle théologie, and theology and the environment. Not just music, but the arts generally have received generous attention in their relationship with theology in recent decades.

with the life of the Trinity, and, if so, might there be an argument subsequent to it which would establish music-making as a performed theology of Christian relating?

One way of thinking of the thesis, therefore, is as a project whose aim is to search for and, hopefully, to discover if there is in fact such an argument. The three chapters and Conclusion of Part IV take up this search in earnest.

This idea, that as performers our identities are formed in terms of our musical relationships with which we are continuous, is referred analogously to the identities of the Persons of the Trinity. Therefore, Chapter 4 in the methodology part of the thesis is devoted to a detailed examination both of analogy in our talk of God, and, following on from that as a basis, of whether or not its use in the context of the thesis does the job required of it.

Perhaps at this early stage I could emphasise two things. First, my focus is firmly on music-making as a practical activity which, as well as physical and technical aspects, also requires and induces dispositions such as selflessness, love, and absorption in the music-making process itself. I argue for a continuity between good music-making and all these aspects and dispositions, even that they are coterminous with one another. Let me try to put this another way. I shall try to argue that it would not be possible to have one without the other. This is perhaps more readily acceptable when we think from music-making to the dispositions, than it is in the opposite direction. May we not have the dispositions without the music-making? Yes, we certainly can, but then the dispositions will not lead to the indwelling. Music-making seems to me to be a particularly favourable context for the realisation of the dispositions, and, as I hope

becomes clear as the thesis unfolds, realised in an especially potent way. In the chapters on music-making (Chapters 8, 9 and 10) I have attempted to demonstrate the validity of this view. My focus, then, is not on music as some sort of thing which can be considered separately from its instantiation in performance. Second, my focus is on good music-making. This is not the elitist position it might appear to be. Rather, my arguments are made in the context of good music-making because, as I shall try to show, good music-making is an indication of the indwelling of the performers.² My concern is that poor musical performances often result from the lack of commitment which players have for the music, the occasion, to one another, to the performance itself, and so on, and thus that they do not indwell one another. Beginners in this context, can give good, even compelling, performances from which the odd squeak from a clarinet, an occasionally overblown flute, or a finger-slip do not substantially detract. These players can be committed to the music and its performance to the best of their ability. Their commitment transmutes into, or is continuous with, their indwelling, and that is what interests me in the thesis. Perhaps I should also say that I do not think commitment guarantees good performances. My point is just a general one, namely, that the greater the commitment, the better the performance is likely to be. Conversely, the better the performance the more likely it is that the players indwell one another. This latter claim I try to argue for especially in Chapters 8, 9, and 10 of Part 3 on music-making, though I reaffirm it in other chapters too.

² For the sake of variety, I use alternatives to 'good' such as 'compelling' or 'persuasive'.

In this first chapter, I indicate the development of the thesis by chapter and follow this with a fuller outline of the structure of the thesis. I then briefly introduce Trinitarian theology and the theology/music nexus, and begin to develop my overall approach, contrasting it with some of the current work taking place at the interface between music and theology. I draw attention to some of my guiding concerns, especially the status of music as theology as opposed to its functional and illustrative use in worship and theological elucidation.

The approach to structure in the thesis

Because relationality is a constant theme of the thesis, the criterion by which the claim of the thesis is substantiated, namely, that an analogy can be drawn between intra-Trinitarian relationality and that of performing musicians, is thus also addressed throughout the thesis. It is also worth noting as the thesis progresses, that I have adopted a certain kind of theological writing which is required because I am working with overlapping domains. For example, indwelling initiates the discussion of 'communio' which overlaps with Trinity. This approach can be dubbed 'recursive', a kind of improvisation on a double-headed theme: the mutual indwelling of the divine Persons, and that of performers in small musical ensembles. Thus, there is expository material and recapitulation in different 'orchestrations' as the thesis moves to the culminating arguments of Part 4.

There are two sets of discussions which ground these culminating arguments. The first, the methodology section of Part 2, refers various concepts – analogy, 'the other',

and social Trinitarianism, for example – to my overall concerns, especially indwelling and identity. The second, in Part 3, establishes what kind of practice music-making is, also especially regarding indwelling and identity. Finally, in Part 4, I weave these two discussions together in the context of Trinitarian theology with the aim of thereby constructing music-making as a performed theology of Christian relationality. Thus, I make my case in a cumulative way, building up an account of indwelling and identity, both Trinitarian and musical, in conversation with modern theology. Progression through the thesis is thus not entirely linear, though the overall arc of the thesis is linear, with a ground plan which moves from setting the scene in Part 1, to methodology in Part 2, practical music-making in Part 3, and a bringing together of all my themes in Part 4.

Development of the thesis by chapter

Chapter 1: Introducing the thesis – thesis hypothesis – criteria for testing the hypothesis – thesis outline.

Chapter 2: Literature Survey – beginning to situate the thesis in the theology/music field.

Chapter 3: Does God's radical otherness permit an analogy between the relationality of intra-Trinitarian life and the relationality of human life?

Chapter 4: Analogy – the methodological pivot of the thesis

Chapter 5: Social Trinitarianism – developing an account of Trinitarian life, especially perichoresis, being the first half of the analogy

Chapter 6: The Other – developing an account of relationships from theoretical perspectives on the other and relating these to music-making, being the second half of the analogy

Chapters 7, 8, 9 and 10: Music-making – developing an account of practical music-making especially in terms of the relationships between players.

Chapter 11: Music, the Trinity and Conversation – extending the account of relationality in music-making and Trinitarian life using the notion of conversation.

Chapter 12: Trinity, Relationality and Music – contextuality in relation to the Trinitarian activity of God in the world - some resonances between this, indwelling and music-making – the ontological status of music-making.

Chapter 13: Conclusion: Music and Christian Relating – music-making, identity, signs, and love – a further pointing up of the indwelling amongst, and the identities of, performers against the indwelling of the divine Persons and definitive status of love in intra-Trinitarian life – the conclusion that music-making is indeed a performed theology of Christian relating and that it is a sonorous analogue of the life of the Trinity.

Trinitarian Theology

In the modern era, Kant dismissed doctrinal interest in the Trinity because "it requires a faith about what God is in himself that 'would be a mystery surpassing all human concepts'". This is a classically Enlightenment thought; for Kant, knowledge of things in themselves is impossible, all we can aspire to is knowledge of how they appear to us. Del Colle remarks that "Through a combination of the classical Protestant soteriological emphasis [...] and the post-Kantian limits upon knowledge claims [...] it was merely a matter of logic before Trinitarian doctrine found itself on the margins of Christian theology". Adolf Harnack is perhaps a good example of this marginalisation. Hegel is something of an exception to this trend, however, though his concern is to develop a meta-philosophy rather than to contribute to the doctrinal issue.

The revival of Trinitarian theology in the twentieth century had a number of facets, among them Barth's contention that only the Word of God is adequate as a prolegomena for dogmatics and that this requires an affirmation of the Trinity: "to the same God who in unimpaired unity is Revealer, Revelation and Revealedness, is also

³ O'Regan, 2014, p. 254. The embedded quotation is from Kant, 2018, p. 168.

⁴ Del Colle, 1997, p. 135.

⁵ See Harnack 1901, pp. 124-46.

ascribed in unimpaired variety in Himself precisely this threefold mode of being".⁶

There is a hint here of the modalism of which Barth has been accused.⁷

Another facet, one which has played a prominent role in the twentieth-century resurgence of Trinitarian theology, is social Trinitarianism. I will highlight some of the problems which arise as a consequence of my engaging Trinitarian theology alongside the social practice of music-making using social Trinitarianism as guide. I do this in Chapter 5. Subsequently, I will fall back on a more general use of the terms 'social Trinity' and 'Trinity' which is sensitive to the problems which I have highlighted.

Moltmann was an important early advocate of social Trinitarianism, writing that "the Trinity corresponds to a community in which people are defined through their relations with one another and in their significance for one another". Later social Trinitarians adopted social Trinitarianism for different purposes. Volf adopts social Trinitarianism with a view to its implications for church structure. He writes, "Conceiving the structure of the Church in a consistently Trinitarian fashion, means conceiving not only the institution of office as such, but also the entire (*local*) *church* itself in correspondence to the Trinity". Boff has the whole of society in his sights when he writes, "So human society is a pointer on the road to the mystery of the Trinity, while the mystery of the Trinity, as we know it from revelation, is a pointer

⁶ Barth, 1936, p. 344. Besides Barth, other important revivers of Trinitarian theology in the twentieth century include Karl Rahner, Hans Urs von Balthasar, Wolfhart Pannenberg, Jürgen Moltmann, John Zizioulas, Colin Gunton, Christoph Schwöbel, Alan Torrance, Miroslav Volf, Catherine Mowry LaCugna, and Leonardo Boff amongst others.

⁷ For a defence of Barth on this point, see Jowers, 2003, pp. 231-246.

⁸ Moltmann, 1981, p. 198.

⁹ Volf, 1998a, p. 218. Emphases in the original.

toward social life and its archetype."¹⁰ Human society holds a *vestigium Trinitatis* since the Trinity is 'the divine society'".¹¹

Catherine Mowry LaCugna¹² laments the influence of Greek philosophy on Christian theology which, for her, has been at the expense of biblical revelation. She advocates a return to biblical and pre-Nicene patterns of thought which emphasise that God's Trinitarian life is one, and that to distinguish between God's inner life and outer life as it is revealed in the economy of salvation is misleading. She believes such a return would enable the doctrine of God to be reconnected to the rest of theology as well as to ethics, spirituality and the life of the church.¹³

Gunton is interested in social Trinitarianism for its metaphysical possibilities. He asks, "Does a development of Trinitarian transcendentals enable us to contribute to a discussion of the nature of created reality". 14 Gunton distances himself from the label 'social Trinitarianism', saying, "It should be clear by now that, although there is developed in this book what can be called a social rather than a psychological approach, those ways of speaking are highly inadequate". 15

-

¹⁰ Boff says this is "The central thesis of F. Taymans d'Eypernon's *Le Mystère primordial* (Paris 1950), especially pp. 56-62"; see Boff, 2005, p. 251, n. 14.

 $^{^{11}}$ Boff, 2005, p. 119. For the embedded quotation see Boff, 2005, p. 251, n. 15.

¹² LaCugna, 1993.

¹³ Ibid., p. 1.

¹⁴ Gunton, 1993, p. 152.

¹⁵ Gunton, 1997, p. 195.

As these quotations illustrate, social Trinitarianism is not one-dimensional, but appears in quite different guises according to the particular contexts and purposes in and for which it is used.

In Chapter 5 I address some of the criticisms of social Trinitarianism. In particular I argue that I have not projected ideals of human sociality back on to the life of the Trinity.

In the twentieth-century, the question of the relationships between the three Persons came to the fore. These relationships were described as perichoretic, the Persons being understood to interpenetrate one another whilst remaining distinct and participating in their Being as one. For Kilby, perichoresis is simply a label for elements of human relationships, for example, or mutual giving. However, these qualities are projected onto God: "the concept [of perichoresis] is filled out rather suggestively with notions borrowed from our own experience of relationships and relatedness". Though supportive of the previous genre of claim, Kilby is critical of the next move which some social Trinitarians make, to suggest that we should model our human relationships on the divine perichoresis: "projection [...] is particularly problematic in at least some social theories of the Trinity because what is projected onto God is immediately reflected back onto the world, and this reverse projection is said to be what is in fact *important* about the doctrine". 17

. .

¹⁶ Kilby, 2000, p. 442.

¹⁷ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

As I will explain further in Chapter 5 below, chastened by concerns like Kilby, I would like to read 'perichoresis' in a different, more cautious way. I will avoid using explicit description of the dynamics of the intra-Trinitarian life, as indeed we can have no understanding of the interpenetration of the three Persons as it is in itself. Instead, following scholars like Barth, ¹⁸ I will treat Triune relationality as an analogical concept. 'Perichoresis' for the purposes of this thesis is a descriptive concept, not an explanatory one. I do not ask, then, that we model our relationships, musical or otherwise, on the divine perichoresis. I subsequently draw an analogy between the mutual indwelling of musicians as they perform together and that of the three Persons of the Trinity. I shall try to resist the possible criticism that this move is a projection of the indwelling of the musicians and the qualities which define that indwelling back onto the Trinity. Rather, I shall hope to show that the indwelling of the musicians can be established and understood in purely musical terms, leaving the divine perichoresis as beyond our understanding in and of itself but, nonetheless, as one half of an analogical relation with the musicians.

Music and Theology

The twentieth century witnessed a flowering of interest in music in relation to theology. Perhaps the preeminent English-speaking scholars here are Jeremy Begbie

¹⁸ Gunton remarks, "He [Barth] is right to develop his theology of analogy on the basis – foundation – of the implications of God's triune relatedness to that which is not God"; Gunton, 1993, p. 140.

and David Brown, with many others including Férdia Stone-Davis, Maeve Heaney, and Albert Blackwell making important contributions.¹⁹

Towards the end of his *Theology, Music and Time* Begbie says that his

intention throughout has been to allow the ultimate 'pressure of interpretation' to come not from musical practice considered in and of itself (as some kind of autonomous, normative arbiter), but from a focus on the activity of the triune God, definitively disclosed in Jesus Christ, whose purpose is the participation of the world – including music - in his own triune life.²⁰

Whilst it is true that my interest in music in the thesis is on its practice considered in and of itself, as autonomous, rather than giving music the status of some kind of arbiter, I shall aim to understand it theologically by way of an analogical comparison with the indwelling of the Persons of the Trinity. In this regard, and as I will aim to show in later chapters, my project has a certain continuity with Begbie's.

It is a common-place to suggest that in the course of performing musicians are at one with the music, or that they dwell within it. In the thesis, I shall try to show that we might – using analogy – render this as the theological claim, that in performing

¹⁹ Begbie, 2015; Begbie, 2004; Begbie, 2008; Begbie, 2012; Begbie, 2000; Begbie & Guthrie, 2011; Brown, 2007; Stone-Davis, 2011; Stone-Davis, 2015b; Stone-Davis, 2015c; Stone-Davis, 2015a; Heaney, 2012; Blackwell, 1999; Chua, 2020.

²⁰ Begbie, 2000, p. 278.

together they indwell one another. This can be put another way: if, in a musical performance *par excellence*, the players can become so wrapped up in 'in-dwelling' the music-making, one might say that the music 'plays them', there is a kind of continuity between their performance and their musical identities. I explore this theme further in later chapters, arguing that we may go on to say that their musical identities for the duration of the performance are entirely formed in terms of the music-making itself, that is, who they are can be understood in terms of the coherence of the performance; a coherent performance ensures their mutual indwelling as a unified ensemble. I emphasise that performances must be coherent precisely because this guarantees, and is an indication of, the mutual indwelling of the players.²¹ As I will argue, performance takes on a kind of ethical dimension: during the course of music-making, the players as players must indwell one another in transparency and even with a certain love that is expressed in a desire to give good performances

While I follow Jeremy Begbie in exploring Trinitarian theology for the sake of the theology of music, I attempt to enhance his account in several key ways. Begbie's approach to music in relation to theology can tend to be instrumental. The value of music is almost entirely framed by its usefulness either as a means of elucidating theological concepts or as an aid to worship and the expression of faith. For example, Begbie commends the musical triad as an apt analogy for Trinitarian perichoresis; the

.

²¹ That the performances I have in mind throughout the thesis are coherent is essential for the thrust of my arguments. Since I refer to such performances frequently, for the sake of variety I refer to them in different ways, as good or compelling or persuasive, for example. The point at issue, however, is always the same, namely, that such performances are an indication that the players are at one, are indwelling one another. Good, coherent, and persuasive performances are not possible otherwise; I argue this in later chapters.

three notes sound through one another, are clearly distinguishable though they form a unity.

Also, Begbie appeals to Zuckerkandl's analysis of musical space into three aspects. First, the way in which sounds interpenetrate one another. This parallels Begbie's use of the triad as an analogy for Trinitarian perichoresis.²² Second, the perception of sound does not involve perception of its source. "This", Begbie says, "speaks of the need to do justice to what we can call the 'for-one-anotherness' of the Persons".²³ Third, the sympathetic vibrations of strings which Begbie relates to the mutual glorification of the divine Persons which cannot be contained.²⁴

David Brown's approach to music in relation to theology²⁵ is quite different to Begbie's. Brown assigns to music a sacramental role, seeking to integrate music and theology into a wider social, cultural, and intellectual context which acknowledges God's presence throughout the world, and the force of Scripture within that context. Brown seems chiefly interested in music's power to evoke a religious sensibility and to manifest God's presence. Stressing the importance of participation, he is also impressed by music's ability to take listeners beyond the mere assertion of dogma and towards an experiential affirmation of it.

²² Begbie, 2018, p. 32.

²³ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

²⁴ Ibid., p. 33.

²⁵ Brown, 2007, pp. 217-385.

Even on this brief description of Begbie's and Brown's very different plumbings of the possibilities for bringing music and theology together, it seems, nevertheless, apparent that they both see music as having a primarily functional role; for them, music is theology's handmaid.²⁶ Most, though not all, scholars in this field similarly ascribe to music functional or illustrative roles in relation to theology. In Chapter 2, I explore some of these roles in detail and try to explain how my approach is different.

In contrast to Brown and Begbie, the thesis does not engage questions about music's ability to perform metaphorical roles in the understanding of theology or to be the vehicle for the expression of religious thought, sentiment, or belief, neither does it concern itself with socio-political or cultural roles for music nor with questions about what music might mean, whether it is a language and so on. I want to argue that music in and of itself can be understood theologically in its own right apart from its functional and metaphorical usefulness in relation to theological themes. This is a lacuna in the area of scholarly work bringing theology and music together which the thesis seeks to fill.

There are some necessary limits to my argument, however. For the purposes of the thesis, music-making is thought in terms of the materials of music and their shaping in performance. It is true that extra-musical influences may bear on performance and legitimately so, but my position is firmly centred on the musical requirements of music-making as such and the dynamics between the performers which they

²⁶ I defend this view in Chapter 2.

engender. It is the working of the materials of music as such which I hold to in this

thesis as what it is to make music. It is true that values and expectations of what it is

to make music are culturally embedded, but the answers to questions of performance

are overwhelmingly musical and made without reference to cultural factors beyond

those which are part of musical culture itself.

To summarise, there are two claims implicit in the thesis:

1. Whilst music has a role to play as illustrative of, or as a metaphor for,

theological themes and the truths of Christian doctrine, and whilst it has a

functional role, as a vehicle for praise or the expression of religious sentiment

or feeling, these roles do not by any means exhaust its theological importance,

2. To make music is to perform a kind of theology which is performative rather

than propositional; primarily a matter of action rather than of narration,

description, and system.

In order to set the stage for these arguments, I begin in the next chapter with a more

in-depth exploration of the modern treatment of theology and music.

Thesis Outline

Part 1: Theology and Music

17

The aim of the first chapter is to provide an outline of the thesis and to set the frame within which it unfolds. The outline is followed by a brief introductory survey of recent Trinitarian theology and of recent scholarship in the music/theology field. The different approaches of Jeremy Begbie and of David Brown to music in its relation to theology are briefly outlined. The chapter continues with a more detailed account of the orientation to music and theology taken in the thesis.

Chapter 2 surveys recent literature which addresses the relationship between theology and music, focussing especially on the work of Begbie, Brown, Heaney, and McGann. With this chapter I aim to give my readers an overall impression of the state of scholarship in the music/theology field. My project will thus more readily appear both a continuation of this work, in terms of the use of analogy for example, and to be rather different from it.

Part 2: Methodology and the Concept of the Other

Part 2 undertakes largely preliminary work with the intention of trying to settle some large methodological questions before using an analogy between the relationships of the divine Persons and the relationships of performing musicians in Part 4. Before I can begin to fill out the content of the analogy on which the thesis turns and then make the analogy itself, I must, for example, establish the legitimacy of pursuing the analogy; this is the purpose of Chapter 4, which is a detailed examination of analogy. Analogy by attribution and analogy of proper proportionality are explained and

applied to the thesis hypothesis that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality.

Another potential difficulty which might obstruct pursuit of the analogy resides in my appeal to Trinitarian doctrine generally and, potentially, to social Trinitarianism in particular. I explain the difficulty and try to solve it in Chapters 3 and 5. In Chapter 3 the issue is that the doctrine of the Trinity seeks to hold God's radical otherness from his creatures on the one hand, together with his Incarnation on the other. This leads to the following question: Can the relationality which is fundamental to this doctrine bear association with the relationality of creatures? Because the analogy I wish to draw is dependent on an affirmative answer to this question, I try to make headway with it in this early chapter and before discussing analogy.

The thesis turns on an analogy between the relationality of the Trinity and that of small musical ensembles. These small ensembles are often thought in terms of a *communio*, and this makes the thesis vulnerable to the criticisms made of social Trinitarianism. Chapter 5 takes up the issue of social Trinitarianism, considering some its common criticisms in the context of the thesis. I hope to have successfully shown that the thesis is not guilty of projecting human values onto the Trinity. This chapter provides the first half of the analogy on which the thesis turns, namely intra-Trinitarian relationality.²⁷

²⁷ The second half of the analogy is provided in Chapters 7, 8, 9 and 10.

The concept of the other plays a large part in the argumentation of the thesis. In small musical ensembles, the performers are very much concerned with one another, that is, with their inter-relationality as an aspect of their coherence as a performing ensemble. This relationality is a central concern in the overall conception of the thesis, therefore in Chapter 6 I examine how some conceptions of the other fare in the context of the thesis.

The goal of the chapters in Part 2 is to clear the ground upon which I will then be able to think what it is to make music in Part 3, go on to make use of the analogy between the relationality of music-makers and that of the Persons of the Trinity in Part 4, and conclude that music-making is indeed a performed theology of Christian relating.

Part 3: Music-making

In Part 3 focusses on music-making itself, especially on the relationships between the musicians which it demands and engenders. This forms the second half of the analogy on which the thesis turns.²⁸

Music-making is often portrayed in the thesis as imbued with qualities of love and selflessness. In Chapter 7 I address the question as to whether this portrayal accords with practice or is too idealistic. Whilst this chapter is thus a defence of a

²⁸ The first half of the analogy, namely, intra-Trinitarian relationality, is the subject of Chapter 5 on social Trinitarianism.

methodological move, I have placed it in Part 3 on music-making because, as I hope to show, love and selflessness are integral to good music-making.

The thesis makes much use of the concept of continuity. Continuity between the music-making and the music-makers, between the venue and performance, to give just two examples. In Chapter 8 I discuss various conceptions of continuity within the context of the overall argumentation of the thesis. Whilst this chapter begins to explicate a concept rather than musical practice, the concept is a 'practical' one which I use especially, though not exclusively, in the context of the practice of music-making, and thus I have placed it also in Part 3 on music-making.

In Chapter 9 I outline some performance and reception aspects of music-making. This puts flesh on the notion that music is to be thought in purely musical terms. The physicality of music-making is emphasised. First, though, I briefly address Begbie's fear of musical hubris, the fear that music gives privileged access to God. The bulk of the chapter is informed by Férdia Stone-Davis' analysis of music-making in which continuity plays a large part. Her analysis makes use of the concepts of 'impact', 'absorption', and 'ekstasis'.

Chapter 10 builds on Chapter 9 by focusing on good performance practice. The concept of a co-created creative space is introduced in which the relationships between performers, music, scholars, the performance space, and listeners can be understood in purely musical terms. I dwell on the notion of musical truth, linking it with performance practice. The association of truth and performance has a number

of features which include, relationships between musicians, the relation between score and interpretation, and expressivity. Wittgenstein is an important interlocutor in this section of the thesis.

Part 4: The Trinity, Music, and Christian Relating,

The purpose of Chapter 11 is to begin to think more deeply about music and Trinitarian theology together. First, I explore Daniel Hardy's work with the aim of finding resonances between Hardy's descriptions of God's engagement with the world and music-making. There are also references to Zizioulas and Young. Second, and briefly, I turn to Herman Bavinck's theology of revelation to supplement Hardy's account of God's involvement with the complexities and particularities of the world. Third, Christophe Schwöbel offers an opportunity to think of God as conversation. I relate this to music-making, not because music-making is conversational but because the conversations which God has both with himself and his creation, and the conversation which is music-making all define the participants in the conversations. That identities, both of performers and of the Persons of the Trinity, are formed and defined in their entirety by the relationships they enjoy is a major part of the argumentation of the thesis.

Chapter 12 builds on Chapter 11. In part, this involves developing the notion of mutual indwelling amongst the three Persons of the Trinity. Also, the claim that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating will be approached by noting 'resonances' between music-making and certain aspects of God's Trinitarian life.

In Chapter 13, I argue that love is an important ingredient in music-making and in revealing its Trinitarian aspects. The arguments here rely on the validity of the arguments made in Chapter 7 on the extra-musical qualities needed for good music-making. I reflect on the connection between love and identity, and between love and signs. This leads to some thoughts on the creativity of good music-making and its implications for the mutual indwelling of the performers. There is some analysis of the concept of an event which enables me to draw out further implications and characteristics of music-making in relation to Trinitarian theology.

In the Conclusion I try to point up what I hope is the distinctive character of the thesis. First I compare my depiction of performers with that of Stone-Davis. Second, I return to the importance of love, but now in the context of what for Messiaen is the continuity of love, revelation, and technique. The thesis concludes that, on the basis of the analogy between, on the one hand, the continuity of music-making, the coinherence and thus the identity of the musicians as musicians, and, on the other hand and separately, the coinherence and identity of the Persons of the Trinity, music-making is a sonorous analogue of the relationality of the Trinity, a performed theology of Christian relating.

CHAPTER 2: SURVEYING THE FIELD: THEOLOGY AND MUSIC²⁹

In 2006 Stolzfus observed that

the theological literature has been almost completely silent with regard to the type of roles music and musical-aesthetic factors might have played in the evolution of modern theology. Indeed, the very notion that theologians may have 'derived' (Tillich) ideas from the field of musicology or musical aesthetics has scarcely been conceived as a possible or even interesting line of research.³⁰

In 2009, Sander van Maas's uncompromising view was that "academic thought on the relation between music and religion [...] appears to be seriously anaemic".³¹ This situation within the academy is, Maas thinks, no longer appropriate "because of both the return of the religious in public intellectual debate and far-reaching transformations of orthodox forms of religion in the contemporary world".³² Maas acknowledges that since 2000 Jeremy Begbie "has done much to fill the gaps".³³ Today, indeed, we are able to point to a large body of work that Begbie has published

²⁹ In the Literature Survey, I include only scholars who have written about music in relation to theology.

³⁰ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 245. The reference to Tillich and the ironic speech marks are in the original.

³¹ Maas, 2009, p. ix.

³² Ibid., p. x.

³³ Ibid., p. 7.

in the thirteen years since Maas's acknowledgment, and which has contributed very substantially to the literature on music and theology.³⁴

When Begbie published his *Theology, Music and Time* in 2000, he maintained that music had "received virtually no sustained treatment in contemporary systematic theology", ³⁵ and that although there had "been some courageous forays into theology by musicologists, twentieth-century theologians paid scant attention to the potential of music to explore theological themes". ³⁶

Begbie is perhaps the doyen of English-speaking theologians and philosophers working at the interface of music and theology. His astonishing contribution encompasses studies of music and modernity,³⁷ music and the Trinity,³⁸ and music and sacrament³⁹ amongst many others including co-edited volumes on theology and music and the arts generally.⁴⁰ My project in the thesis is continuous with Begbie's insofar as it relies on the use of analogy and points to the significance of Trinitarian theology for this field. However, whereas Begbie's analogical focus is musical language, mine is the performance aspects of music.

³⁴ Begbie, 2015; Begbie, 2008; Begbie, 2002; Begbie, 2018a; Begbie, 1991; Begbie, 2018b. Of these six texts only the first two are exclusively about music and theology, however the others have substantial sections on music and theology.

³⁵ Begbie, 2000, p. 3.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁷ Begbie, 2015.

³⁸ Begbie, 2018.

³⁹ Begbie, 2004.

⁴⁰ Begbie, 2018b, Begbie & Guthrie, 2011.

Music: theology's handmaid – Jeremy Begbie

Begbie's case for music's relevance to theology is that it acts as a compelling handmaid. For example, he takes the view that music, specifically improvisation, "would seem to have much to offer in *understanding* and *describing* the dynamics of [...the] contextualisation" of the Gospel as it takes "particular form in the various times and places of the church's history". ⁴¹ Catherine Pickstock characterises this as an attitude "which sees music as but the envelope for the readier conveying of the more essential verbal message, or as an instrumental means of evoking the right inward pious attitude". ⁴² David Brown is equally critical. He acknowledges that

Jeremy Begbie has done more than anyone else in England in recent years to re-establish connections between theology and music, but his approach is essentially illustrative rather than a learning exercise. That is to say, the music is used to expound or develop biblical insights.⁴³

Besides 'describing' and 'understanding', Begbie's book has very many examples of how music serves to "remind", "alert", "model", "instruct" and "elucidate" when thought in a theological context. In his essay 'Music, Mystery and Sacrament', Begbie says that "music *in its own ways* can bear witness to and mediate the momentum of

⁴¹ Begbie, 2000, p. 216. My emphasis.

⁴² Pickstock, 2016, p. 15.

⁴³ Brown, 2007, p. 245.

triune grace".⁴⁴ The thrust of my argument will be that music-making – not just music - does indeed bear witness to triune grace, because its relationality can be compared analogously to Trinitarian relationality.

Scruton specifically adopts the handmaiden metaphor for music and the arts with regard to religion:

Myths, stories, dramas, music, painting – all have lent themselves to the proof that life is worthwhile, that we are something more than animals, and that our suffering is not the meaningless thing that it might sometimes seem to be, but one stage on the path to redemption. High culture has in this respect been the handmaiden of religion.⁴⁵

Begbie talks about music's ability "to extend our wisdom about God, God's relation to us, and to the world at large". 46 Begbie clearly has a wisdom in view which pre-exists engagement in musical activities. He makes use of music to extend and enrich what is already 'there' in terms of primarily linguistic theology. The thesis takes a position which challenges what Re Manning sees as the hegemony of such theology. The movement of the thesis tends, therefore, towards music as a performed "unwritten theology". 48 Interestingly, Begbie calls for theology to be more performative, 49 but his

⁴⁴ Begbie, 2004, p. 187. Emphasis in the original.

⁴⁵ Scruton, 2006, p. 138.

⁴⁶ Begbie, 2000, p. 3.

⁴⁷ Re Manning, 2015, p. 65.

⁴⁸ Steiner, 1989, p. 218.

⁴⁹ Begbie, 2000, p. 280.

comments immediately previous to this imply that he has in mind not what is involved in performance but what can be added to usual ways of doing theology such that an over-intellectualism in which "thought is effectively severed from other aspects of our humanity [and] a certain blinkered vision resulting in an inability to come to terms at any depth with the vibrancies of contemporary culture"⁵⁰ are combated. From a more explicitly performance perspective, one in which the performance itself does theological work, Stolzfus remarks of Begbie that

his models of musical performance serve to reinforce or reconceptualise the already existing, unexamined 'cantus firmus' of 'the triune God, defined and definitively disclosed in Jesus Christ'.⁵¹ In the few instances where the concept of God actually emerges in the discussion, it is in the context of that which, for the jazz artist, sets 'a vast array of constraints'⁵² upon performance.⁵³

In a footnote, Stolzfus quotes Heidi Epstein who is harshly critical of Begbie because, in her view, he fails to take account of the cultural context of performance and thus is "little more than 'an evangelistic revealer of Christian truth'".⁵⁴ In this thesis I argue that music-making has substantive theological content in its own right which is not parasitic on primary linguistic theology. Thus, the thesis demonstrates a different way of bringing music and theology together on this point. Begbie says his "hope is […] that

⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 279.

⁵¹ Ibid., p. 278.

⁵² Ibid., p. 201.

⁵³ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 15. The emphases are Begbie's.

⁵⁴ Ibid., n. 42. The embedded quote is from Epstein, 2004, pp. 84-6.

the reader will conclude that music [...] has significant potential to help us discover, understand, and expound theological truth".⁵⁵ Here the direction of travel seems to be from music to theology.

Music: theology's handmaid – Mary McGann

The approach taken to music in this thesis also contrasts with that taken by Mary McGann. She writes that "worship and its music are performed theology precisely because they express embodied relationality [...] theology is, after all, about relationships". 56 This characterisation of music certainly suggests concerns close to those of the thesis. But whereas McGann says that music expresses relationality and actualises "the spiritual, ecclesial, eschatological and ecological relationships that express and create a community's identity", 57 my argument will suggest that music-making, rather than *expressing* Christian relationality, is an *embodiment* of relationality. Later McGann has slipped from characterising music as an expression of relationality to asserting it to be an "an integral part of the theology embodied in worship" because it

evokes and enacts relationships [with God, with one another as ecclesial community, and with the rest of the human family], engages persons in intuitions of God's presence and action within the church-at-worship, situates a community within its own

⁵⁵ Begbie, 2000, p. 8.

⁵⁶ McGann, 2012, p. 38.

⁵⁷ Ibid.

political, social, and cultural history, and shapes their action in the

world.58

On my reading, this is largely an account of music or music-making as functional.

Seeking to contrast with this approach, I avoid the language of music-making as

functional, regarding it instead purely as a 'performative activity' which, though it

might achieve something, can be seen as a process of engagement, evocation,

situatedness, and shaping which simply is, and in the 'simplicity' of its physicality,

performativity and reception is a kind of theology of Christian relating.

Music: theology's handmaid – David Brown

As I have noted above, perhaps the key philosopher/theologian to set contrastingly

alongside Jeremy Begbie is David Brown.⁵⁹ Brown sets out to integrate music and

theology into a wider social, cultural, and intellectual context which acknowledges

God's presence throughout the world, the force of Scripture within that context, and

assigns to music a sacramental role. He writes: "there is a great range of ways in which

God's presence can be made known through music. Such an understanding is, I

believe, best captured by talking about the sacramental role of music".60

Although Brown's approach to music is very different to Begbie's, it is nonetheless

arguably functionalist in similar ways, as I think becomes apparent in my survey of his

⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 67.

⁵⁹ Brown, 2007.

⁶⁰ Ibid., p. 246.

30

work which follows. Both scholars think of music instrumentally. For Brown, it promotes religious experience. For Begbie it bolsters our understanding of theological themes.

Brown's major statement on the music/theology nexus is found in Part 2 of his *God and Grace of Body*. ⁶¹ Already on the third page of this Part we find that Brown's intention is "to indicate what features of [...] music help to communicate the presence of a God who is already there waiting to be experienced". ⁶² Where Begbie sees the functionality of music mainly in terms of illustration by way of metaphor and as having "much to offer in *understanding* and *describing* the dynamics of [...the] contextualisation" of the Gospel, ⁶³ Brown makes a case for music's ability to promote and convey religious experiences, "there seems little doubt", he says, "that religious experience can [...] be generated through the power of music". ⁶⁴ He appeals to the authority of Chronicles where he finds that music is valued because it enables a sense of the presence of God, and he concludes that "music was [...] in effect the means whereby God made his presence known to his people", and that this happens by "divine decree". ⁶⁵

As the thesis unfolds, it should become apparent that my project is closer to Begbie's than to Brown's. Like Begbie, I use analogical reasoning towards a *specifically* Christian theology. Though I am focussed on the experience of musical performance, my project

⁶¹ Ibid., pp. 217-385.

⁶² Ibid., pp. 221-2.

⁶³ Begbie, 2000, p. 216, my emphasis.

⁶⁴ Brown, 2007, p. 224. With his choice of 'generated', Brown clearly affirms his functional approach.

⁶⁵ Ibid., p. 236. Brown references 2 Chron. 5. 13-4.

has no commonality with Brown's emphasis on music's power to evoke or speak to what I take to be an under-specified account of religious experience. As I think becomes apparent below, Brown seems to work with a generic account of religious experience, whereas Begbie works with a Christian one. Begbie uses analogy to enhance theological understanding. The direction of travel of the analogy is from music to theology. I use analogy to learn something new about music-making. If the relationality of music-makers bears analogical comparison with that of the Persons of the Trinity in the ways I indicate later in the thesis, I argue that we learn that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating. There seems not to be a direction of travel here either from or to theology, rather there is a kind of unveiling once the analogical comparison is made.

Brown pursues a course between two extremes: strong objectivism and pure subjectivism.⁶⁶ He wishes to avoid "a postmodern pluralism whereby a positive religious role is seen as only legitimated in the light of Christian revelation but not otherwise subject to assessment".⁶⁷ He characterises the objectivist position in terms of the ancient idea of the music of the spheres, namely that human music is somehow a reflection of the harmony which inheres in the world generally, citing the simple mathematical ratios, discovered by Pythagoras, which define the harmonic series.⁶⁸

⁶⁶ Ibid., p. 237.

⁶⁷ Ibid

⁶⁸ This view came to be severely questioned by Romanticism through the growing importance of emotion in music as opposed to structure and reason, though it had previously been challenged by the realisation that the Pythagorean ratios did not give intervals which could be accommodated within the octave without some adjustment.

Brown claims what he calls an "exalted status for music [...]: God's presence made manifest through music".⁶⁹ Thus he wishes to talk about the "sacramental role of music".⁷⁰ He stresses that the emphasis on participation is crucially important, concluding that music "is so designed that, as with the eucharist, the original experience can be re-enacted as God's presence in our midst once more made known".⁷¹

Brown proceeds to illustrate his case for music's ability to evoke religious experience by conducting his readers on a whistle-stop tour of the classical tradition from Bach to Messiaen. He tells us that "Bach would have been in full agreement" with Leibniz's view that "the way in which dissonance in music, when ultimately resolved into consonance, can generate a greater overall sense of harmony", thus illustrating Leibniz's "general theory about the perfection of the created world". Despite the enlightenment erosion of religious certainties, "the strict symphonic structure(s)" of Haydn and Mozart "continued to give listeners a sense of living in a divinely ordered world". The relationship between suffering and religious experience is thematised in Beethoven and Schubert, says Brown, and he quotes E. T. A. Hoffmann for whom Beethoven's Fifth Symphony "tears the listener irresistibly away into the wonderful spiritual realm of the infinite". Brown notes that the nature-religion which he says is apparent in Beethoven's Pastoral Symphony is frequently dismissed by theologians

⁶⁹ Brown, 2007, p. 246.

⁷⁰ Ibid

⁷¹ Ibid., p. 247. As we have seen and shall see again, Brown's functionalist approach has several aspects; music can facilitate, generate, enact, provide access, encourage, invite, and so on.

⁷² Ibid., p. 253.

⁷³ Ibid., p. 254.

⁷⁴ Ibid., p. 256.

⁷⁵ Ibid., p. 258.

who, in his view, thereby make a mistake because, for example, stars symbolised transcendence, indeed God's dwelling place was taken to be beyond the stars. Most strikingly, Brown writes that the music of the Creed in Beethoven's *Missa Solemnis*

encourages the listener to hear in the words much more than dogma. Instead, there is a real invitation to participate in the particular details of divine presence and action as they are enunciated.⁷⁶

Citing the *Grosse Fuge* by way of example, Brown believes that Beethoven's music "might provide access [...] to a conviction of divine grace in pain".⁷⁷

When Brown turns to Schubert, he commends a kind of courage which finds life significant despite the inevitability of death, and which tries "to engage with what might be described as the darker side of God: the awe as well as the reassurance".⁷⁸

Mahler and Bruckner provide Brown with interesting comparisons and contrasts when it comes to "how the experience of God might be facilitated through music".⁷⁹ He quotes Mahler with seeming approval:

⁷⁶ Ibid., pp. 261-2.

⁷⁷ Ibid., p. 263.

⁷⁸ Ibid., p. 264-5.

⁷⁹ Ibid., p. 267. Note the strongly functional word 'facilitated'.

music enables us 'to rise once again to Heaven' as we seek 'to reach God and his angels [...] on the soaring bridge of music that joins this world and the hereafter'.⁸⁰

Brown's Mahler is a restless seeker after the meaning of life whose symphonies and song-cycles portray both the struggle to affirm life and what Schoenberg referred to as a mystic revelation which, says Brown, "involved the transcendent".81 Holbrook states that "Mahler's achievement was to find a sense of being confirmed in an invulnerable sense of meaningful existence in a Godless universe". 82 If this is a correct assessment of the extra-musical themes which Mahler sought to address in his music, then the case for the relevance of this music in terms of Christian theology is not easy to make. That Mahler's preoccupation with the meaning of existence and with transcendent themes somehow finds its way into his music certainly brings it onto the same territory as Christian theology, but if the context of these preoccupations is a Godless universe, then how is it possible to make any connection between them as they are manifest in the music with Christian theology? Although the Christian theologian and the unbeliever might stand together on the same territory, even stand shoulder to shoulder confronting the same existential questions and dealing with the same existential crises, their orientations are fundamentally different. I conclude, therefore, and assuming that Holbrook is correct in describing Mahler's achievement to be that of finding meaning in a Godless universe, that Brown is mistaken if he thinks that Mahler's music is capable of evoking Christian religious experience or is relevant

⁸⁰ Ibid., p. 269. Brown references Martner 1979, pp. 25-6 for the embedded quotation from Mahler.

⁸¹ Ibid., p. 270.

⁸² Holbrook, 1975, p. 12.

to a Christian religious life, or, rather, that it can evoke and be relevant to a Christian religious experience and life. The situation is worse than this, however, because it would seem that on the Holbrook view Mahler's music encapsulates a seeking after meaning and transcendence which ends without God. Can this be the message Brown wishes us to take from Mahler?

"That Bruckner intended his symphonies to draw others into an experience of God can hardly be challenged", says Brown, adding, "this is especially true of his Adagios".83 For Brown, Mahler "more accurately reflects the restlessness of modern religious belief [...but] it is Bruckner who more accurately expresses the Christian vision".84 But how does Brown know this? Certainly, the music provokes a response, but this need not be one which the listener recognises as religious let alone Christian. Perhaps some listeners are deeply involved with the sensuousness of the sounds, the formal aspects of harmony and structure, or the intricacies of the part-writing and so on. These are purely musical responses. In the absence of other emotional and/or religious responses, must we say that Bruckner has failed in his attempt to bring his listeners to an experience of God? If yes, is the music thereby worthless? Certainly not. Have I failed as a listener if I do not have a religious experience when listening to Bruckner, or an experience which I do not recognise at religious? Again, certainly not. All that needs to be said is that the music is enjoyed, or found satisfying or unsettling and so on.

⁸³ Brown, 2007, pp. 273-4.

⁸⁴ Ibid., p. 275.

All this brings up the issue of authorial intention. This is far too large a topic to be engaged in this thesis. For the sake of the thesis, I will suggest that musical performance as I define it exists only *in performance* and its reception and experience for listeners is a separate matter, one which is undoubtedly culturally and subjectively inflected as Brown suggests. This means that some listeners will have what they might call a religious listening experience whilst others might not.

Though my approach here will not touch on the experience of listening to music, it is worth noting my discomfort with Brown's apparent view that all experiences consequent on listening to music and which can be declared as generic religious experiences should necessarily have something to offer Christians and Christian theology. Brown would seem to confirm this indeed to be his thinking when he writes:

What I suggest Stravinsky's ritualistic music does, whether the theme is pagan or Christian, vocal or instrumental, is to reaffirm a religious placement for human beings [...] dissonance and ritual are thus not enemies but the composer's way of opening up his listeners' lives to God.⁸⁵

Although Brown gives 'God' a capital first letter, it is surely legitimate to ask which God or god we are talking about here. The subject matter of Stravinsky's ballet *The Rite of Spring*, whose subtitle is *Pictures of Pagan Russia in Two Parts*, could hardly be

⁸⁵ Ibid., p. 287.

further from a Christian conception of God's relationship with his Creation: a young girl dances herself to death as a propitiatory sacrifice to the earth. The titles of the two parts of the ballet are *Adoration of the Earth* and *The Sacrifice*. This music might evoke a 'religious' experience, though one might wonder if it is one which can be associated with the Christian God.

At this point I cannot help but think that Brown's lines of argumentation are undermined by his working with too wide a conception of what is to count as religious experience as well as by his seeming tendency to give too much weight to our human wills and dispositions.

Begbie's response to Brown

This reservation is highlighted in Begbie's response to Brown's work. While Begbie agrees with Brown about the importance of recognising "the width of divine presence in the world at large, and the possibilities of divine encounter which this affords", ⁸⁶ he would "prefer to characterise [...] 'rumours of transcendence' in terms of God's gracefull, reconciling action, linked to a far more overt and developed doctrine of the Holy Spirit". ⁸⁷ This is a quite different approach to one which makes us entirely responsible for religious experiences, experiences of God's presence, and it seems truer to a Christian understanding of our relationship with God. Begbie's unease with Blackwell's use of sacramental language seems equally applicable to Brown's view of religious

38

⁸⁶ Begbie, 2012, p. 153.

⁸⁷ Ibid.

experience. Begbie complains that Blackwell's use of sacramental language is such that "God's free and purposeful agency is muffled".88 I agree with Begbie that whilst Brown's conception of what can be counted as a religious experience is properly wideranging it is, nonetheless, too wide-ranging, and his talk of human wills and dispositions seems to muffle God's free and purposeful agency. Indeed, Brown's celebration of the composer's and music's ability to 'conjure', 'evoke' and 'generate' religious experience greatly outweighs Brown's acknowledgement of God's agency. Begbie acknowledges the advantages of Blackwell's contention that "musical sounds mediate (or can mediate) divine presence" 89: "it encourages us to take the material properties of the medium seriously – in this case, musical sounds". 90 Even so, Begbie fears a parallel disadvantage: "that it risks muting God's prevenient intentional activity, God's movement toward the world".91 This points to a contrast between Brown and Begbie with regard to the frame within which their thought is situated. Brown's frame is that of the presumed sacramentality of music and an acknowledgement of God's presence in the world. Begbie's frame is that of God's purposes in and for the world. To this extent, it is Trinitarian. For example, he links reflections on music's potential "to help us comprehend these temporalities",92 namely, our identities and vocations as established within God's purposes and promises for the world, "with the Trinitarian ontology of God". 93 This emphasis on Trinity gives Begbie's theology its Christian identity, something which is clouded in

.

⁸⁸ Begbie, 2004, p. 176. Emphasis in the original.

⁸⁹ Ibid. This is Begbie's characterisation of what he takes to be "the logical form" of [Blackwell's] book: Blackwell, 1999.

⁹⁰ Begbie, 2004, p. 176.

⁹¹ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

⁹² Begbie, 2000, p. 152.

⁹³ Ibid.

Brown's work. This thesis is concerned very much with identity, namely, that of performing musicians, and analogically reflects on that in association with some notions regarding intra-Trinitarian life.

Gavin Hopps' response to Brown

It would seem, then, that Brown finds theological vestiges, sometimes strong ones, sometimes weaker ones, in all manner of music and which are able to engender in listeners religious experiences. Hopps refers to the

generosity of Brown's gaze [...] which with robust and daring charity reaches out into the fallen midst of our tangled predicament and holds fast to the passing, partial and potential goodness in things.⁹⁴

Brown certainly has an "unprejudiced vigilance for the possibility of divine activity in dark, troubled, apparently barren and unpromising places", 95 but whether all the experiences which we might deem religious are in fact of God needs, as Begbie argues, an account of God's divine providence in the world and of "his grace-full, reconciling

⁹⁴ Hopps, 2012, p. 162.

⁹⁵ Ibid., p. 167.

action, linked to a far more overt and developed doctrine of the Holy Spirit", 96 and by extension, a more Trinitarian theology.

Though Begbie and Brown differ on the kind of theology they are doing, they are similar inasmuch as, for Brown, music has a functional role in promoting, strengthening, validating and giving access to religious experience, and, although Brown rejects Begbie's approach on the grounds that it is "essentially illustrative rather than a learning exercise", 97 it would seem that his approach to music is quite as functional as is Begbie's.

As Brown draws the chapter to a close, he leaves us in no doubt about his functional approach to music: "it is surely important to acknowledge that experience of the divine will inevitably by multifaceted, with some composers better at inducting us into one aspect rather that another". But Brown exceeds all his previous claims for composers and music when he says:

Messiaen in effect offers us an extension of the incarnation in which West and East, sound and colour, human invention and the music of nature, visible and invisible, all combine to draw creation and its Creator closer together. In all of this believer and non-believer alike can scarcely avoid hearing the glories of nature or a timeless presence. God is, as it were, brought alongside, but

⁹⁷ Brown, 2007, p. 245.

⁹⁶ Begbie, 2012, p. 153.

⁹⁸ Ibid., p. 293.

whether something further happens remains of course, entirely with the individual wills and dispositions of those who are listening.⁹⁹

Music: theology's handmaid – Maeve Heaney

Maeve Heaney's *Music as Theology*¹⁰⁰ might well be thought by virtue of its title to have an approach to the music-theology nexus which sits alongside that of this thesis, namely an interest in music-making for the theology which making music as such performs, but this would be mistaken. Towards the end of the book, for example, Heaney embarks on a section in which she says she will reflect on contemporary music in terms of "its revelatory capacity of the Word of God in the daily living out of Christian faith, and its place in and *as theology itself;* that is to say, *music as mediation of faith and theological praxis.*" This sounds extremely promising from a performance point of view, but her argument leads only to tentative conclusions such as

If music's aim is [...] to open a space in which both musician and listener share in that experience, it is a least 'reasonable' to ask about how that dynamic could open human sensibility to (and in) the presence of the triune and sharing God, [... music] creates a different relationship with reality than verbal understanding and

99 Ibid.

¹⁰⁰ Heaney, 2012.

¹⁰¹ Ibid., p. 279, my emphasis.

expression does (sic), [... it] helps us inhabit the present moment in which we are living, [... this] does not [...] mean that *all* music bridges to the presence of Christ: on the contrary, it is more precise to say music creates a bond with the reality of which it is born [...] therefore we are talking more of the potentiality of a form of symbolic communication than of its direct use. However, if the person composing, playing, or singing a given piece of music *is*, indeed, in contact with the living reality of Christ in the world, is it unreasonable to suggest that this connection is somehow accessed?¹⁰²

But is this music *as* theology? Is it not still music as functionally useful? Music "could *open* human sensibility to [...] the presence of [...] God". It "*creates* [...] relationship". It "*helps us inhabit* the present moment", it "*creates a bond*", it has "*potential*", it *accesses* connections. ¹⁰³ Several of these achievements of music are to do with relationality and so would seem close to the concerns of this thesis. The emphasis in the thesis, though is not on music but on music-making, and rather than music-making creating bonds I hope to show that the music-making is continuous with the bonds not something separate from them. Similarly, I hope to show that rather than creating relationship, music-making is continuous with precisely musical relationships, that is, there are not two things, the music-making and the relationality, but one thing, music-making which is relationship. A little later Heaney draws attention to the role music

¹⁰² Ibid., p. 281.

¹⁰³ The emphases are mine.

can play in "helping people access faith" 104 and to its "capacity [...] to touch, enter into

and 'minister to' our embodied pain". 105

Heaney thinks music can "take on" a dynamic of transformation whereby (and here

Heaney quotes Davies) "the world is made in some small way more permeable and

responsive to the order of divine grace: to the living telos of the world in whom we

act and in whom we now live". 106 Heaney "intuits" that music's "spiritual potential [...]

has something to do with the physical act of singing when united with conscious

prayer and praise." 107 We seem to be back with what music can do, the various

functions it can fulfil.

In Heaney's view, music "integrates player and listener in a common space". 108 This

seems very close to what I will suggest in Chapter 10 about the gathering of music-

makers in a co-created creative space, but it does not of itself lead to a concept of

music as theology. Later, in Chapters 11 and 12, I will appeal to the work of Daniel

Hardy, Herman Bavinck, and Christoph Schwöbel in order to develop such a concept.

Music: theology's handmaid – Don Cupitt

Don Cupitt observes that music gives "access [...] to the wellsprings of religious

feeling", "that [it] is more directly and clearly emotivist and 'non-cognitive' than other

¹⁰⁴ Heaney, 2012, p. 283.

¹⁰⁵ Ibid., p. 284.

¹⁰⁶ Davies, 2010, p. 23; quoted Heaney, 2012, p. 285.

¹⁰⁷ Heaney, 2012, p. 285.

¹⁰⁸ Ibid., p. 283.

44

arts, and therefore can continue to be unabashedly religious in an age when most people are aware that no religious doctrine is (in the old strong sense) actually True". ¹⁰⁹ Further, "music is the best and most innocent doorway to religious feeling that we have. We don't have to commit our heads to it: only our hearts". ¹¹⁰ This, again, is a functionalist approach to music's relation to theology.

Summary and my response

To summarise, this survey reveals that whilst there is a variety of theological orientations amongst scholars, they nonetheless tend to make functional and illustrative uses of music and music-making. I mean to build on what many of these scholars seem to suggest with their rhetoric but do not necessarily reach with their approaches. In my account, I want to approach music in terms which are integral to it, to its performance, that is, in the purely technical and musical terms of the performance of music.

Having said this, I agree with Begbie's analogical approach to music and theology which is astonishingly fecund, subtle, and deployed across a vast range of musical and theological themes. The success of my project depends on the effective deployment of an analogy between the relationality of the Persons of the Trinity and that of performers in a small musical ensemble. However, I would like to employ analogy rather differently to Begbie. Whereas he uses musical *language* to speak of theology,

¹⁰⁹ Cupitt, 2010b, pp. 54-55.

¹¹⁰ Ibid., p. 55.

my focus is on musical *performance*. Though my use of analogy does not serve to illuminate theological themes as does Begbie's, one could nonetheless argue that it serves to reveal something about music-making, namely that it captures what it is to relate in Christian ways. Thus, the thesis can be thought an extension of Begbie's programme though in a performative rather a propositional domain.

I approach the concept of music-making which is used in this thesis by noting that Steinberg would have us construe "'art' and 'work' as processes and verbs rather than fixed entities and nouns", 111 as he says, "a musical work remains a function of performance with the veracity [..] of every performance a font of debate". 112

Heeding Steinberg and Begbie, who tells us that, "a growing number of music theorists urge that we should see the foundational realities of music not as works but as a set of practices, [...] the most basic of these being *music-making and music-hearing*", ¹¹³ I prefer to talk about music-making rather than music, and to think of music-making as a set of practices. This approach is characterised in much the same way as Hugh Wood characterises Brahms' approach to composition. In Wood's view,

what makes Brahms not only a very great but also a very good composer [is] his absolute and total preoccupation with the *materia musicae*, his supreme skill in handling it, and his assumption [...] that there is no conflict between technique and

.

¹¹¹ Steinberg, 2004, p. 10.

¹¹² Ibid., pp. 10-11.

¹¹³ Begbie, 2004, p. 179. Emphasis in the original.

expressiveness, but rather that one feeds the other and that both are mutually dependent. 114

Wood seems to suggest that in his commitment to the *materia musicae*, the expressivity that interested Brahms was a musical expressivity or imagination whose manifestation was entirely reliant on technical ability. On this view, if a piece of music or a performance is not interesting, it is so because the composer or performer lacks either musical imagination or the technique to realise strictly musical potentials; it does not result from a failure to capture or express something beyond the music. The composer Joseph Phibbs captures this perfectly: "The technical ingenuity is one and the same with the expressive". 115

Walter Fleischmann takes a similar approach.¹¹⁶ His book deals with musical principles and the limits of notation, dynamics, articulation, agogics, the use of the pedal, and notation. A command of technical matters such as these are the ingredients of good musical performances and may be taken as the technical parameters within which music-making is thought in the thesis. Thus 'technique' in this thesis generally refers to the physical skills necessary for compelling musical performances.¹¹⁷ This is elaborated upon in Chapters 9 and 10.

. .

¹¹⁴ Wood, 2007, p. 61.

¹¹⁵ Phibbs, 2015, p. 386.

¹¹⁶ Fleischmann, 2020.

¹¹⁷ The level of technical accomplishment required for compelling performances depends on the level of difficulty of the piece in question.

PART 2: METHOLOLOGICAL ISSUES AND THE CONCEPT OF THE OTHER

The hypothesis I hope to defend is that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality. In unpacking what this means, I look, along with a range of other modern theologians, towards the relationality of the members of the Trinity and explore the content and limits of analogical comparison to the relationality between members of a small musical ensemble. The relationality I have in mind in both cases has two main features: (i) it is one of mutual indwelling, (ii) it is constitutive of the identities of those who indwell one another.

This focus on indwelling and relationship also inflects the methodology of the thesis. Indwelling and relationship are approached from a number of perspectives. For example, in Chapter 6, I discuss the concept of 'the other' from various theoretical perspectives which I use as springboards from which to explore relationality amongst performing musicians. I also explore indwelling and identity amongst performers from the perspective of the practical business of music-making, its reception, and good performance practice. My goal here is to build up a robust and multi-faceted concept of the relationality of those who make music together. I adopt a similar procedure with the notion of continuity. I first examine the theoretical parameters and challenges and then relate an account of continuity to the music-making context in Chapter 8. The thesis is infused with these two concepts of the other and of continuity. Having explored them from various theoretical perspectives, I use them in other parts of the thesis where they can be enriched in a music-making context and so serve to cement my arguments.

CHAPTER 3: TRINITY, MUSICIANS, RELATIONSHIPS

The chief methodological move of the thesis is to draw an analogy between the relationships which obtain between the members of the Trinity, focussing particularly on indwelling, and those between musicians.

Perhaps the first thing to emphasise is that the inter-creaturely relations with which this thesis is concerned are very specifically musical ones. The relationality between the musicians is neither superficial nor merely procedural, but much deeper, even definitive of who they are as performers in *this* performance. It is not a matter of, in the case of a string quartet for example, four separate individuals with their differing personalities, musical and non-musical, coming together under the umbrella term 'string quartet'. Rather, the relationships which musicians form with one another are ones which lead to changes for individuals, personality in general is put to one side;¹¹⁸ Holst wrote about the pleasure he found in "the impersonality of orchestral playing". All that remains is musical personality, ¹²⁰ and if performances of a quartet are to be coherent and persuasive, then the musical personalities as such have to be compatible. Admit that personality in general can influence musical personality,

¹¹⁸ I expand on this putting-to-one side in other sections of the thesis, especially in Chapter 7, in which I wonder about the extent to which my conception of music-making is unrealistically idealised or even romantic, and also in Chapters 9 and 10 which are about performance practice and the reception of music.

¹¹⁹ Holst and Vaughan Williams: Making Music English, 2018. The quotation is from one of Holst's letters read by Amanda Vickery, one of the presenters of the film directed by Alastair Laurence and broadcast on BBC4 on Sunday 25th May 2022.

¹²⁰ It can be questioned if this this putting-to-one-side such that only musical personality remains is possible. I address this issue later in, for example, this section of the thesis in the discussion of Greshake's exploration of the relationships between lovers.

¹²¹ This is why it is not uncommon for quartets to change its members or to break up completely. Musical personalities may change and develop, but if the quartet is to stay together the changes and developments must be commensurate with one another.

nonetheless insofar as this happens the resulting musical personalities of the players must be compatible with one another.

It is also worth re-emphasising as I have noted at the outset that the thesis focuses entirely on *performance* relationships, that is, the inter-player relationships understood in purely musical terms, in the (re)creation of a musical work, the outworking of its ideas as music. In this conception, the continuity between players and the music-making could not be greater. That is why the thesis claim is that *music-making* is a *performed* theology of Christian relating. The relationships arise *as* music-making, the theology, as Stolzfus says, 122 arises *as* performance.

The analogy

Thus, the analogy I would like to draw is not between intra-Trinitarian relationships and the relationships between human beings in the ordinary sense of 'human relationships'. ¹²³ Instead, the analogy will be with musical relationships, not those aspirational or imagined musical relationships which are uncovered by the analysis of a score, but the real ones which are necessary for the performance of a score. These relationships are formed and are constituted by the listening and the responding to one another according to a shared vision of the musical work which determines interpretation, the shape of phrases, tempi, articulation, and so on. I hope to show that in this way the identities of the musicians *qua* musicians are formed *in*

¹²² Stolzfus, 2006.

¹²³ Issues of analogy arise here. I address these issues in Chapter 4. Here I would like to focus on emphasising the relationships which are my interest in the thesis as musical ones.

performance and that these identities are musical through and through. Analogously, and to put things rather briefly and roughly, the members of the Trinity also share a vision, listen and respond to one another according to that vision, and their works cohere perfectly. I use 'share', 'listen', 'respond' and 'vision' analogously, for it is clear that "relational properties are not univocal between God and creatures". 124

John 17:22 is perhaps a touchstone for the indwelling of Father and Son and the possibility that there can be an analogous indwelling of humans: "that they may be one, even as we are one". The fourth Lateran Council of 1215 decreed that the union(s) here are to be distinguished as a union of grace and love in the case of believers and as a unity of identity in nature in the case of the Father and the Son. On this reading, "the analogy from God to created reality is no strict correspondence: the divine unity of persons is significantly different from the ecclesiastical unity in the created reality". The Council thus provided what is known as the hermeneutical rule which Saarinen gives as follows: "For between Creator and creature there can be noted no likeness (similitudo) so great that a greater dissimilarity (dissimilitudo) cannot be seen between them". The council the seen between them the council the seen between them the council the seen that a greater dissimilarity (dissimilated) cannot be seen between them the council the seen that a greater dissimilarity (dissimilated)

¹²⁴ Cross, 1999, p. 66.

¹²⁵ Saarinen, 2014, p. 417.

¹²⁶ Ibid.

¹²⁷ Ibid.

The problem here is that although interpretation is unavoidable, in the case of John 17:22-23 the hermeneutical rule determines that we have but a weak understanding of what Jesus means.

Modern theology remains committed to safeguarding the greater dissimmilarity than similarity between Creator and creatures. The use of analogical language takes place against this background. Jüngel, for example, thinks of metaphor not simply in expressive terms, but as a means for increasing the semantic power of language; new phenomena, for example, can be described using traditional concepts. 128 Jüngel thinks that theology legitimately uses metaphor in order to speak of God; the increased semantic power of metaphor over ordinary or literal language is necessary when speaking of things which are beyond language. The kingdom of heaven, for example, is like a treasure hidden in a field. The analogy 'plays' with the idea of discovering something precious and hidden, and it is important that it says nothing about the nature of the kingdom in itself. This is important for the thesis because there is no suggestion that the worldly phenomenon, the jewels, say, is a metaphor for the heavenly kingdom beyond it being precious and hidden. The analogy reveals the event of the kingdom not the mystery behind it. Similarly, the comparison in the thesis tells us nothing new about the nature of the mutual indwelling of the members of the Trinity. All the comparison entails is that the indwelling defines the relationality in both cases, or, better, the indwelling and the relationality are one and the same thing.

¹²⁸ Jüngel, 1986.

Perhaps we can make some progress with the question concerning the legitimacy of comparing the Trinity and a small musical ensemble by looking at a similar extension which Miroslav Volf makes in exploring of the possibilities for a trinitarianisation of Church structure. 129 Volf thinks that revelation as a phenomenon in this world legitimates using trinitarian ideas in the Church. However, whilst he affirms a correspondence between the Trinity and the Church, he emphasises that any perceived correspondence needs to be examined in detail. Is this thought applicable to the thesis? Two aspects are notable. First, Volf says, for example, that the leadership of the Church must be collegiate and that the gifts of church members must correspond to the divine multiplicity. Here Volf's account maps quite closely onto the string quartet case. I have written about this in the chapters on good performance practice and the selflessness of music-making. Second, Volf advocates difference in unity. Again, this maps onto the music-making of small ensembes very closely. One need only think of the differences between the violins, viola and cello of a string quartet together with their different parts to appreciate the difference in unity which a quartet manifests. Although Volf's interest is in the Trinity and the Church, his recommendations do seem to bear transfer to music-making, at least in these two instances.

Heim's reflections on Trinity and faith¹³⁰ also shed light on the comparision of the Trinity and musical ensembles. Heim goes so far as to say that the Trinity is 'like a musical polyphony, a simultaneous, non-excluding harmony of difference that

¹²⁹ Volf, 1998a, especially pp. 191-259.

¹³⁰ Heim. 2003.

constitutes one unique reality. Each voice has its own distinctive character by virtue of its relation with the others. We can equally say that each receives its special voice by participation in the oneness of the whole musical work". 131 Again there is the reference to difference and unity. But this analogy is also of interest in the thesis because it seems that Heim already 'knows' both sides of the analogy separately from one another, and subsequent to that he makes the comparison. Heim already understands the Trinity to be a perfect mutual indwelling of the Persons, and he already knows about musical harmony and polyphyony, how the contrapuntal lines are interwoven with one another without obscuring one another, how the notes of a chord similarly interpenetrate one another without obscuring one another. 132 Thus he realises that his understanding of musical polyphony is an excellent analogue of his understanding of the Trinity as a perichoretic unity in difference, even though this cannot be known in itself. This parallels my strategy in the thesis exactly. Although the trinitarian perichoresis cannot be understood as it is in itself, the concept of mutual interpenetration of the Persons is intelligible as a perfect mutual indwelling. Separately, we understand the sense in which the members of a small musical ensemble such as a quartet can be said to indwell one another. The purpose of the thesis is simply to bring these together. The indwelling of the members of the Trinity, even though not known or understood in and of itself, is part of Christian theology. The chapters in the thesis on good performance practice and on the performance and

¹³¹ Ibid., p. 167.

¹³² This is akin to Begbie's use of the triad to illustrate the perichoretic nature of the Trinity.

reception of music put flesh on the notion that in good, coherent, and persuasive music-making the players can be said to indwell one another.

Interestingly, Heim outlines three fundamental ways in which persons can meet one another. He says these ways correspond to the members of the Trinity. First, the meeting can be an impersonal and universally valid one. Second, the meeting can be one in which people become acquainted with one anothers' distinctive personalities. Third, people meet sharing the same experience. Concerning the first way of meeting, where there is music-making, the players are together impersonally and, in the context of this performance, universally. I have written about the need for selflessness in music-making, that the promotion of personality traits has no place except in terms of musical personality which must, nonetheless be attuned to the interpretive vision shared by the players. Equally, the players have a validity in the context of the performance which comes from their irreplaceability and from their contribution to coherent performances in accordance with the shared interpretive vision. And their presence is universal in the sense that it encompasses all the other players. In the second way of meeting, distinctive musical personalities – ways of shaping a phrase, the colours found in an instrument – are understood and valued. This is a common phenomenon amongst string quartets who grow together, the musical personalities coming to blend and support and enhance one another. String quartet players exemplify the third way of meeting, they share the one experience of this performance.

Perichoresis

Colin Gunton gives us a modern perspective on perichoresis. He takes issue with Aquinas because he thinks that Aquinas conceives the analogical relation between Creator and creation as one between the simple divine substance and composite created beings. Gunton wishes to theorise the analogy as one between composite creatures and God's relational triunity. 133 His view is that perichoresis "is not conceptually foreign to createdness". 134 His argument is that since God is the source of being, meaning, and truth, it is "reasonable to suppose that all being, meaning and truth is, even as created and distinct from God, in some way marked by its relatedness to its creator". 135 Gunton hopes to find "the structure (taxis) of relations in God [...] reflected in the world". 136 He summarises his project as one in which he will "develop a trinitarian analogy of being (and becoming): a conception of the structures of the created world in the light of the dynamic of the being of the triune creator and redeemer". 137 Human beings are made in the image of God, and so, thinks Gunton, that human beings are perichoretic beings is a straightforward deduction. In fact, Gunton wants to argue that perichoresis is a transcendental: "If, as I am suggesting, the concept of perichoresis is of transcendental status, it must enable us [...] to explore whether reality is on all its levels 'perichoretic', a dynamism of relatedness". 138

¹³³ Gunton, 1993, pp. 139-40.

¹³⁴ Ibid., p. 167.

¹³⁵ Ibid.

¹³⁶ Ibid., pp. 167-8.

¹³⁷ Ibid., p. 141.

¹³⁸ Ibid., p. 165.

Richardson puts forward a different proposal. Rather than stipulating perichoresis as a transcendental in order to arrive at the conclusion that the world "is perichoretic in that everything in it contributes to the being of everything else, enabling everything to be what it distinctively is", 139 Richardson develops the concept of christological perichoresis.

Richardson begins from "the central feature of Creator/creature relationality, [...] that the human is formed according to the *imago Dei* who is Christ". ¹⁴⁰ By virtue of the "representative and reconciling person of Jesus Christ", ¹⁴¹ human beings are invited into the fullness of a created correspondence within all relationality which flows from the "eternally reciprocal interiority of Father, Son and Holy Spirit". ¹⁴² Richardson concludes that "God [...] is ontologically the basis for relationality itself". ¹⁴³ Perichoresis never obscures particularity even though it speaks of intimate closeness. Further, perichoresis in not mere relationality, rather, the emphasis is on how in relationship human beings "mutually constitute each another, make each other what the are". ¹⁴⁴ Gunton reminds us that in Christian marriage "the man and the woman become one flesh – bound up in each other's being". ¹⁴⁵

Although a comparison of the relatedness of the members of the Trinity with that of musicians is not straightforward because it is an analogy, there is enough in Gunton's

¹³⁹ Ibid., p. 166.

¹⁴⁰ Richardson, 2014, p. 82.

¹⁴¹ Ibid.

¹⁴² Ibid.

¹⁴³ Ibid., p. 83.

¹⁴⁴ Gunton, 1993, p. 169.

¹⁴⁵ Ibid., p. 170.

and Richardson's arguments to suggest that an analogical comparison is legitimate.

Although we cannot understand God's perichoretic nature in itself, Richardson's account of Christological perichoresis, whereby human nature is taken into God, gives us a ground upon which the comparison can be made.

The Trinity as communio

I would like to take the argument forward by thinking about the Trinity as *communio*. Again, the term 'communio' is used with reference to the Trinity only analogously because it is understood initially in terms of our human experiences. Therefore, we must stipulate greater dissimilarity than similarity with our human understanding of it when we come to apply it to God.

The Council of Nicaea agreed that there exists within the One divine being and nature a difference of Persons. This opened the way for a concept of plural personal relations, and since hypostasis came to refer to person rather than to *ousia* as universal and immutable being, the ontological understanding was no longer of a being determined by and confined to the limits of its own existence, but of a being that transcends them *in communio*, that is, a being which is itself and wholly itself not because it is its own existence but because it is a relational being.¹⁴⁶

 $^{^{146}\,\}mathrm{See}$ pp. 117-8 below where 'communio' and 'community' are distinguished.

Greshake notes two senses associated with 'communio'. 147 The first is that of entrenchment. Greshake comments:

People who are 'in communione', find themselves together behind a common embankment, i.e. they are joined in a common existential reality, which ties them together to a life in common, in which each person is dependent on the other.¹⁴⁸

The second sense is one of service to others especially by giving, a giving which shapes and forms both giver and receiver. If we put these two senses of 'communio' together, we have the idea of many coming together in giving and receiving and of them being joined in a common reality which exhibits unity in diversity. 149

Communio means mediation of identity and difference, of the particular and the universal. That which differentiates, that is different, the strange or foreign, is drawn into unity by partaking in and/or the shared giving of a common reality, without thereby losing the element of their differences. 150

I would like to suggest that this could be a description of music-making. Music-making blends identity and difference in, for example, the transformation and transposition

¹⁴⁷ Greshake, 2012, pp. 333-334.

¹⁴⁸ Ibid., p. 333.

 $^{^{149}}$ In 1 Corinthians, Chapter 12, Paul speaks of the Christian community as the body of Christ. He emphasises that the one body needs many parts.

¹⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 334.

of themes or in their re-harmonisations. It mediates the particular and the universal by the renewal of musical forms and by realising them in particular works; it takes the universality of scales, arpeggios, modes, and chordal structures and gives them a specificity of context, voicings and spacings whose particularity is not exchangeable for any another. Different instruments come together in a unity which is the coherence of *this* performance which is their shared reality, and in their coming together there is no loss of their individual characteristic differences.

We can take one other aspect of *communio* which is eminently applicable to music-making: that it has a dynamism "which stresses the very event of the mediation of the particular with the many, the part with the whole, the different with the identical".¹⁵¹

In music-making the dynamic mediation of particular and many, part and whole, different with identical is seen, for example, in the interweaving of themes which are subtly transformed, the development of themes as parts of the work are gathered together to form the whole, and the wholesale manipulation of themes as they are subjected to inversion, retrograde displacement, and contrapuntal and harmonic refashioning. This purely musical dynamic is inhabited by the players such that their relatedness as musicians is the relatedness of the musical ideas contained in the work.

The realisation that God in Himself is Life which shares itself has profound implications for the nature of all being, namely, that it is relational, a *communio*. God as a relational

¹⁵¹ Ibid.

unity communicates with himself and this, according to Hünermann, is the necessary basis for a conception of God in which He shares his Logos with the world. "Only on the basis of a relational God can it be understood that God himself enters into the relationality of history [...] only a God who is in Himself communicative can communicate His own very self". Hemmerle says, "all Being experiences a radical turning if God is the threefold, and, as the threefold, has His history in our history". 154

Aquinas and Greshake on relations and music-making

We can note an important shift in thinking about relations which occurs with Aquinas.

Before him, relations were considered to be accidental connections between independent beings, and so relations could not be considered constitutive of being.

Aquinas identified the being of relations with the divine substance

and so inversely identified the divine substance with the *Communio* of absolutely relationally understood persons. The one divine substance is the one ongoing communication of different persons, who within the very structure of the *Communio*, acquire, retain, and perfect their uniqueness.¹⁵⁵

¹⁵² Huenemann, 1994, p. 145.

¹⁵³ Greshake, 2012, pp. 335, n. 7.

¹⁵⁴ Hemmerle, 2020, p. 32.

¹⁵⁵ Greshake, 2012, p. 337.

The resonance of this conception with music-making is striking. Perhaps we can paraphrase: the one performance *is* the ongoing communication of different persons, who within the very structure of the music-making retain and perfect their uniqueness. But the analogy cannot be taken much further because, as Greshake reminds us, the community which is God is not the coming together of three independent persons. As he puts it

In God, there are not originally three, who subsequently out of their self-subsisting states enter into relation with one another. Rather [...] the three persons mutually transmit the divine life and in this exchange prove both their distinctiveness as well as, and above all, their oneness". 157

In string quartet playing there are originally four who enter into relation with one another. However, they do not mutually transmit, except in a somewhat attenuated sense to do with training and enculturation generally, a life which they previously led. Rather, they come together to realise a musical work, and this realisation comes about in an exchange which proves both their distinctiveness as well as, and above all, their oneness, a oneness which is a coinherence. Greshake characterises the unity of God as "an original relational unity of love [which] in 'being no other than itself, is in itself relation and community'". 158 What I hope I am pointing to here is not a resemblance

¹⁵⁶ I here think of a performance as a substance. 'Persons' is used analogously. For the sake of the paraphrase, I have retained 'perfect'.

¹⁵⁷ Ibid., p. 338.

¹⁵⁸ Ibid. The embedded quotation is from Hemmerle, 1996, p. 91.

of content as concerns the communications between the members of the Trinity on the one hand, and those of a quartet on the other, rather, it seems there is a resemblance which is of form or taxis. In both cases, there is community which is its own communication; the quartet is the music-making, the Persons of the Trinity are their contributions to the divine life. In neither case are there two things. In this performance, there are not these musicians as they are in the performance and the music-making, just as in the Trinity there are not the Persons and the divine life. To imagine otherwise is a category mistake in the same way as it is to imagine there are the dancers and the dance. (It would be odd to say, "I see the dancers but where is the dance?".) As dancers in this dance, they are one with the dance. There are simply dancers dancing. There are simply musicians performing a musical work. They are who they are in their entirety in this performance in their relationships with one another which are not just determined by the work but are an instantiation of the work, that is, the relationships are musical ones through and through.

Greshake's arguments and mine compared

My argument here seems to oppose Greshake's when he writes about human relationships. Having made it clear that never is only one divine Person at work, and that "precisely because of their difference they are radically united and are reciprocally interpenetrated", 159 he goes on to highlight that these are statements of faith which nonetheless are verifiable in the light of human experience. He quotes

¹⁵⁹ Greshake, 2012, p. 340.

Aquinas on the transforming power of love. The lover is transformed into the beloved "such that nothing belonging to the beloved is excluded in the union with the lover". 160 Even so, says Greshake, "there remains the difference between the uniting act or realisation of their love and the being of the lovers that yet remains independent each of the other [and] this is because [...] they remain nevertheless outside the actual realisation of their love two separate, distinct individuals. This must be different in God, since [for Him] there is no difference between act and being". 161

Now, I would like to suggest that in the love-making there is no difference between being and act. In the love-making the lovers are defined precisely as lovers, as who they are as lovers. When we say that lovers make love, we precisely do not mean that there are people who are engaged in something which is outside themselves. In fact, we worry if one of the lovers feels as though they are detached from the love-making. Of course, having expressed their love in their union, the lovers become separate individuals again. This parallels the end of music-making, and just as the lovers 'hold on' to the significance of their union in the rest of their lives such that it operates as a touchstone for their lives, we would hope that, once the concert is over, players would take the 'meaning' of the performance in terms of the theology of relating, and weave it into their non-performing lives.¹⁶²

¹⁶⁰ This is Aquinas quoted by Greshake, 2012, p. 340 where the reference for the quotation is given.

¹⁶¹ Greshake, 2012, p. 340.

¹⁶² I address the question of what happens when the concert is over in the Conclusion of the thesis. I use 'meaning' here to encompass the giving and receiving in mutual respect for and responsiveness to one another which I hope I have successfully argued here and elsewhere in the thesis are the characteristics of good music-making.

Greshake goes on to say that

the uniqueness proper to each person [of the Trinity] is possessed in such a way as to be shared through that person with the others, and so the distinguishing traits of all form the one fullness of the divine life. 163

Greshake illustrates this with the analogy of the human body: "each organ, each member has its own peculiar function [...] but this peculiarity is such only in so far¹⁶⁴ as it affects the whole of the body". The whole body is supplied with oxygen by the lungs, so the "peculiar becomes common within the organism. Seen from the other angle, the identifying trait of the lung would cease to exist were it not made possible and sustained by the whole of the body". 166

Now, is this not true of a member of, say, a string quartet? Each player has his or her own peculiar function, but a cellist, for example, has this peculiarity only insofar as he or she contributes to and affects the quartet as a whole. The whole quartet is 'supplied' with the cellist's contribution which thereby becomes common within the quartet. And it is certainly true that the identity of the cellist would cease to exist were it not made possible and sustained by the whole quartet. This is another way of expressing and understanding my claims that musicians are who they are in their

¹⁶³ Ibid

¹⁶⁴ Throughout the thesis I write 'insofar' as one word. Greshake writes it as three.

¹⁶⁵ Ibid

¹⁶⁶ Ibid.

entirety by virtue of the relationships which obtain between them in the ensemble, and that these relationships are musical ones through and through, hence music-making is a performed theology of relating. The identity of the lung can only be understood in the context of the functioning of the whole body. The identity of the cellist can only be understood in the context of the functioning/performing of the whole quartet.

Greshake now continues by arguing from the Trinity to human beings. He says,

from a Trinitarian God a decisive paradigm on the world of relationality of the person is opened up [...] Being-in-relation reveals itself [...] as the most profound nature of reality. The most sublime and actual reality both in the creatural as well as the divine existence is Being-with-one-another, *Communio*. 167

Greshake sums up his argument:

God [...] is an interpersonal relational structure. The one divine nature exists only in the dynamic living exchange between Father, Son and Spirit [...] the persons in God [...] have no self-existence

¹⁶⁷ Ibid., p. 341.

apart from each other. Instead, what they are, they are such only in Being-from-others, Being-with-others and Being-for-others. 168

Insofar as, and only insofar, as the members of a quartet have no existence apart from each other, and because they are what they are as musicians in any given performance only in being from, with, and for the other players, they and the quartet are analogous to the Trinity and its persons. I would like to stress that the direction of the argument here, mine and, as he specifically states, Greshake's, is from the Trinity to humans – members of small musical ensembles specifically. There is no back projection here. 169 Whilst there is much else to say in other chapters of the thesis about music-making and, indeed, the Trinity, the present discussion based on the idea of communio together with the comments which relate it to music-making are the heart of my argument that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating, for if the analogy between the Trinity and the quartet in the terms in which it is given here is as close as it appears to be, then it follows that the relating which structures the quartet is analogous to that which, as Greshake says, is the relational structure of God. Greshake's conclusion draws together the notion of God as communio and the description of human beings as being in the image of God. Elsewhere in the thesis I argue that the act of music-making partakes of the nature of communion and that God

¹⁶⁸ Ibid., pp. 341-342. My emphasis.

 $^{^{\}rm 169}$ Please refer to Chapter 5 on social trinitarianism which addresses the issue and dangers of projection.

is communication in terms of conversation¹⁷⁰, of revelation¹⁷¹, and of his 'ways with the world'¹⁷².

Music-making and Tanner on God and human relationships¹⁷³

In her essay *Social Trinitarianism and its Critics*,¹⁷⁴ Kathryn Tanner addresses precisely the question of "how to move from a discussion of God to human relationships".¹⁷⁵ Perhaps it is worth noting that Tanner's discussion is prompted by the question of how "to base conclusions about human relationships on the Trinity",¹⁷⁶ and that this is not quite what I wish to do in the thesis. Tanner concludes that "because God is not very comprehensible to us [...] discussion of the Trinity [...] seems of little help in better understanding human relationships".¹⁷⁷ But rather than coming to conclusions about the relationships in music-making which are based on the Trinity, or attempting to better understand human relationships on the basis of a discussion of the Trinity, I hope to have shown that these musical relationships are seen to be analogous to those within the Trinity *subsequent* to their independent identification and description. Nonetheless, Tanner identifies three problems which need to be addressed by the thesis. First, because God is radically other than human beings, it seems likely that "we do not understand very well what we mean when using ordinary language to speak of

¹⁷⁰ Schwoebel, 2003.

¹⁷¹ Bavinck, 2018, Bavinck, 2011, Bavinck, 2003-8, Bavinck, 1909.

¹⁷² Hardy, 1996a.

 $^{^{173}}$ I revisit some of what follows in the different context of a discussion in Chapter 5 of social Trinitarianism.

¹⁷⁴ Tanner, 2012.

¹⁷⁵ Ibid., p. 378.

¹⁷⁶ Ibid.

¹⁷⁷ Ibid.

the Trinity". 178 Two of her examples are pertinent to the thesis; first, the persons of the Trinity are said to be "in one another, but what does 'in' mean here?" ¹⁷⁹ Second, the three persons are said to be "distinguished from one another by the character of their relations, but who understands exactly what that character is?"180

Now, I certainly see performing musicians as indwelling one another. I have given more detail of what I mean by this in the chapter in the thesis on continuity¹⁸¹ and also where I examine the extent to which my characterisations of music-making might be idealistic and not stand up to empirical scrutiny, 182 I also address this in the chapters on performance practice and the reception of music. 183 The nub of my argument is that a persuasive performance is not possible unless the players perform as one.

It is certainly true that human beings can have but a hazy idea of what indwelling is when thought of the Trinity, yet, as Tanner says, we have the notion that the three persons "have overlapping subjectivities". 184 I hope that my characterisations of music-making strongly suggest that this is true of performing musicians. Also, in the section of the thesis in which I address social trinitarianism and the problems which might arise for the thesis, I have argued for the meaningfulness of the language of indwelling when applied to the members of the Trinity. I have emphasised the

¹⁷⁸ Ibid.

¹⁷⁹ Ibid.

¹⁸⁰ Ibid.

¹⁸¹ Chapter 8.

¹⁸² Chapter 7.

¹⁸³ Chapters 9 and 10.

¹⁸⁴ Tanner, 2012, p. 379.

scriptural warrant for using the language of indwelling, especially the authority which flows from Jesus' use of it. The use of 'indwelling' as applied to the persons of the Trinity must be analogical because our understanding of it arises in the context of our human experience. Scripture legitimates the analogy. 185 It is true that there are logical difficulties in using language in this way in this context, however, the reality which it intends has communicated and made sense to Christian believers throughout the centuries. This language is one of the best of the very few ways we have of indicating the most intimate of relationships, our being bound up with one another. Jesus's language and his associated use of metaphor, simile, even hyperbole, and that of Paul and other New Testament writers has, against all the odds and surely as part of the divine economy, been capable of understanding, reception, and communication.

We can acknowledge that 'in' partly suggests a certain mysticism. Even so, this does not mean that identity is totally subsumed. It does mean the closest describable intimacy, so that identity only makes sense in relation to the other or others and this is particularly so in relation to the Trinity.

I also note that in the analogous use of 'indwelling' we cannot specify the elements which are common to human and Trinitarian indwelling. I address the issue of specifying common elements in analogy by proper proportionality in the chapter on language and analogy.

¹⁸⁵ For example, John 17:21.

Tanner's second example concerns our thoroughly inadequate understanding of the relationships between the members of the Trinity. She suggests that "divine persons [...] seem much more relational than human beings", and that "much of what is said about the Trinity simply does not seem directly applicable to humans". Part of Tanner's worry is that human beings exist before relationships are formed, whereas the persons of the Trinity are supposed not to precede the relations among them and which make them who they are. 'Person' need not be construed on Cartesian lines in reference to an isolated individual, but to someone whose identity is a matter of mutual relations with others. It is questionable as to whether even the new-born infant has no relational ties, despite Tanner's view that "human beings have no character to begin with as that is decisively shaped by what happens to them later". 187

On McFadyen's account, human personhood is formed in dialogue, and this is a matter of being in dialectical relations with other persons. A prominent exponent of personhood understood in relational terms is Zizioulas. He expounds a patristic view that "there is no true being without communion. Nothing exists as an 'individual', conceivable in itself. Communion is an ontological category [...] the person cannot exist without communion". 189

_

¹⁸⁶ Tanner, 2012, p. 379.

¹⁸⁷ Ihid

¹⁸⁸ McFadyen, 1990, p. 99ff.

¹⁸⁹ Zizioulas, 2004, p. 18.

When used of the Trinity and of human beings, perichoresis, as both Gunton and Richardson are keen to point out, is an analogy. Gunton says that the intension of the concept of perichoresis, that is, its internal content, necessarily changes when applied to beings limited by time and space. This, as we shall see, is a point made by Kathryn Tanner. For her, human finitude militates against the human attempt to achieve "the perfectly mutual indwelling of the Trinity". But why should human perichoresis not be possible even though not perfect; Gunton's and Oster's (see below) examples provide arguments which suggest that it is possible.

Tanner also argues that human character is not as closely tied to relationships as is that of the trinitarian persons. I can, for instance, have a general tendency towards certain relationships before it is realised by actual relationships. Also, certain of my characteristic traits can remain even though the relationships which gave rise to them have ended. Neither of these possibilities exist for members of the Trinity. I agree that I come to music-making with already existing musical relational tendencies, and that as a musician I will have characteristic traits that remain once the music-making has ended. However, I would like to suggest that in the course of performing music my musical character is as closely tied to my relationships with my fellow players as it could possibly be, otherwise a coherent and persuasive performance is not possible. As a member of *this* quartet playing *this* work, I am almost entirely my relationships with the other members of the quartet, and in this respect I am analogously similar to the "Trinitarian persons [who] are not in themselves [...] other than the persons they

¹⁹⁰ Gunton, 1993, p. 170.

show themselves to be to us". 191 Similarly, in the music-making context, Tanner's view that "the human relations that distinguish people never simply define them" 192 does not apply. My relations with the other players precisely define me as, say, the second violinist, they are constitutive of my identity.

Tanner also worries that "human finitude [...] seems to entail that humans give of themselves so that others may gain in ways that often bring loss to themselves";¹⁹³ this is not the case with the trinitarian persons. When I give myself to the performance of a musical work, do the other performers gain and do I suffer loss? This question seems a very odd one. Surely as one of the members of *this* quartet giving *this* performance I gain hugely from the others, and contributing to the performance does not bring any loss to myself. Again, I could not exist as this musician at this time without the others and the same applies to them, we all exist in terms of the performance.¹⁹⁴

Tanner's third problem is that "direct translation of the Trinity into a social programme is problematic because [...] human society is full of suffering, conflict, and sin". 195 I have devoted part of the section in the thesis on social trinitarianism to this issue which includes the problem of projection, and I hope I have said enough there to persude my readers both that it is no part of my intent in the thesis to translate trinitarian relations into human terms, and also that my arguments in the thesis are

¹⁹¹ Tanner, 2012, p. 380.

¹⁹² Ibid

¹⁹³ Ihid

¹⁹⁴ C.f. Begbie on Zuckerkandl on p.15.

¹⁹⁵ Tanner, 2012, p. 381.

not vulnerable to charges of projection. What I do in the thesis is discover that in terms of constituting identity the relationships amongst the members of a small musical ensemble are analogously similar to those amongst the members of the Trinity, but, crucially, this discovery is subsequent to a prior description of the quartet's relationality and hence of its members' identities.

Tanner wonders about closing and bridging "the gap between the Trinity and sinful, finite human persons [...] in ways that allow us to see its implications for human community". ¹⁹⁶ It is not my purpose in this thesis to see implications for human community in the Trinity as it were recommendations for social programmes or for how musicians should relate to one another. However, Tanner does seem to pose a problem for the thesis when she suggests that one way of closing the gap is to look to the economic Trinity because there we come closer to what humans are capable of, namely, a fellowship of love and mutual service. Tanner says that humans can imitate this because it is in keeping with their finitude. What is not in keeping with our finitude, and therefore not open to us, is the "perfectly mutual indwelling or perichoresis" of the Trinity. ¹⁹⁷

Perhaps I can highlight again that I am not suggesting that the members of a small musical ensemble set out to imitate the perfectly mutual indwelling of the Trinity. What I do suggest is that having explored how musicians relate to one another, one

¹⁹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁹⁷ Ibid.

sees that this relating is an indwelling and so might be analogous to the mutual indwelling of the members of the Trinity.

Is there room to wonder what work 'in keeping with their finitude' does in Tanner's argument such that it allows love and service in human relationships but disbars indwelling? This question becomes a little more pressing in the case of musicians indwelling one another. I hope I have done enough elsewhere in the thesis (especially in the chapters on performance practice and the reception of music, but also in the chapter which addresses the extent to which I portray music-making as unrealistically selfless) to make a good case for the indwelling of musicians even though they are finite beings. What we want to say is that God loves in a divine way and that we love in a creaturely way, in which case, why can we not say that God self-indwells in a divine way and creatures indwell one another in a creaturely way? Could it be that Tanner thinks that finitude is of itself a bar to humans indwelling one another? Oster thinks that human finitude is not a bar to indwelling. Of lovers he says, "becoming-one with the other [...] considered in the context of love that acknowledges the other as an 'other' [...] presents two aspects of the same experience". 198 Musicians who perform together become one with one another, presenting different aspects of the same experience, the same performance. This is not to say that they experience the performance in the same way, it is simply to say that there is this one performance to

¹⁹⁸ Oster, 2012, p. 365.

be experienced. Oster goes on to relate this to indwelling in a passage which is worth quoting (almost) in full:

The personal relationship of one to the other allows both partners of the relationship a certain kind of *reciprocal indwelling*, since each of the two is not a static encapsulated 'I' = 'I' but rather lives in an equanimous self-relatedness, in which he, in the manner of being-with-the-other, is wholly himself, and at the same time allowing room in himself for the other. [...] When this encounter occurs in the context of a reciprocal trusting relationship, each partner in the relationship dwells equally in the other as well as in himself".¹⁹⁹

It would be hard to devise a more apt description of what goes on in music-making. I enlarge on this in the practical terms of good performance practice and the reception of music in Chapters 9 and 10. My arguments there will show that human finitude is not a bar to indwelling.

I have tried to argue in Chapter 6 on the other that in music-making room is indeed made for the other. There, I also hope to have made the case for music-making being an activity in which the musicians do not overwhelm each other, indeed that they

¹⁹⁹ Ibid. My emphasis.

enter into a co-created creative space in which their mutual flourishing is crucial for and continuous with an animated and vibrant performance.

Writing in the context of an "apophatic entanglement" of relations "in and as theology", 200 Keller tells us that, "to know another is to participate in the construction of that other within the mirror play of a shared context. But both are still happening in and through each other". 201 I shall try to argue this too is characteristic of music-making. For the moment, though, I turn to analogy as the pivot upon which the thesis turns.

²⁰⁰ Keller, 2015, p. 7. Emphasis in the original.

²⁰¹ Ibid., p. 20.

CHAPTER 4: ANALOGY

Perhaps the principal methodological move in the thesis is to explore the ways that analogical understanding of Trinitarian doctrine might speak to the context of musicmaking, especially the relationships which obtain between musicians as they make music together. There are major methodological questions to be confronted at the outset here, particularly the question of the relationship of the Creator to creatures, and by extension the methodological limits to speech about God. The thesis explores one way in which Christian relationships might be understood, namely, by thinking about the formation of the identities of those in relationship, both human and divine.

As Aquinas and moderns such as James Torrance²⁰² have observed, when we speak of God we must necessarily use language which we have learnt in our interactions with one another and with the world. Yet this represents a tension with a theological desire to preserve the transcendence of God as "wholly other".

Nicholas Lash puts the difficulties metaphorically: "to try to speak of God is, unavoidably, to work with words and images carved from the world's wood, the territory of the familiar". 203 The question, then, is in what ways is human language, the language we use day by day as we pursue our worldly lives, appropriate for speaking about God who transcends the world? In his discussion of the contrasts between the Palamite tradition of the East and that of the Thomist West, Paul Collins

²⁰² Torrance J., 1989, pp. 4-5.

²⁰³ Lash, 2004, p. 51.

stresses that "both traditions demonstrate a realisation that especially in the case of the doctrine of the Trinity, the task and process of theological reflection is one of contemplation rather than of precise definition". Burrell agrees, noting that "nothing strains the resources available to human language so completely as our attempts to speak of God". 205

One way of unpacking the implications of the discussion regarding the indescribability of the divine life, that we cannot speak with absolute precision about God, is not that we ought to fall silent, but that our uses of analogy for theology may in some sense be creative. Taking this as a starting point, Catherine Keller characterises her Cloud of the Impossible as "a series of encounters between the relational and the apophatic, or, to paraphrase, between the nonseparable and the nonknowable". 206 The book "hopes to demonstrate that [...] relations that materialise as selves and as collectives [...] come also apophatically entangled in and as theology". 207 This willingness to use creativity in Theology proper, will form part of my own methodology in this thesis. This works out in terms of the content of my claims, such as the argument that as they perform together musicians become related to one another in ways that are constitutive of their identity in the moment of performance; or that the ways in which a quartet is a set of relations which materialises as a kind of collective also comes into being at the moment of performance. But it is also the case that, following Keller, I want to explore the ways that such relations become entangled in and as theology. This is a

²⁰⁴ Collins, 2008, p. 97.

²⁰⁵ Burrell, 2016b, p. 65.

²⁰⁶ Keller, 2015, p. 6.

²⁰⁷ Ibid., p. 7. Emphasis in the original.

development of my earlier claim that the relationships arise *as* music-making, and I quoted Stolzfus for whom the theology arises *as* performance.²⁰⁸

If we can say that we know that God is self-indwelling and if, separately, we can make the case, as I shall try to do, that musicians as they perform together under the demands of good music-making also indwell one another, 209 then this partial symmetry indicates that there is an analogy to be drawn. But rather than thinking of one indwelling in terms of the other, I note, in particular, that in both instances the indwellings are entirely constitutive of the divine Persons on the one hand, and of the musicians on the other; these are separate observations. Perhaps it is useful here to recall the distinction Aguinas makes between the order of knowledge and the order of things. These orders are not always the same. In this case, the order of knowledge suggests that the indwelling of humans is the primary use of 'indwelling' because our acquaintance with the notion of indwelling comes from our human experience. On the other hand, the order of things suggests that God's self-indwelling is the primary use of 'indwelling' because on a participatory view human beings cannot, logically cannot, indwell one another unless relationality is given to creation by its Creator. Aquinas says, "since we arrive at the knowledge of God from other things, the reality of the names predicated of God and other things is first in God according to His mode, but the meaning of the name is in Him afterwards. Wherefore He is said to be named from His effects". 210 Another of Aguinas' distinctions applies here, that between the res significate and the modus significandi; human beings indwell one another in a

²⁰⁸ Stolzfus, 2006. See p. 52.

²⁰⁹ I argue for these claims in Chapters 3, 5, 9, 10, 11 and *passim*.

²¹⁰ Aguinas, 2014, Bk. 1, Ch. 34, p. 50.

creaturely mode, the divine Persons in a divine mode. On pp. 30-31 I have suggested that Begbie's use of analogy travels from music to theology.

We can better understand the parameters of Aquinas' account of analogy as they are worked out in modern theology with a brief glimpse of Foucault's 'prose of the world' in his first *episteme*. Here Foucault highlights three important aspects of analogy which by extension I see in the contemporary deployments of thought. First, there is the emphasis on relations. Second, there is "a centre upon which relations are concentrated and from which they are [...] reflected".²¹¹ Third, there is a background of understanding against which analogies are able to appear.

For Foucault, knowledge until the end of the sixteenth century was characterised by the unity of words and things in "a seamless web of resemblances". Foucault tells us that this web of resemblances was "extremely rich", and that there were four essential figures determining "the knowledge of resemblance": convenientia, aemulatio, analogy, and sympathy. For the purposes of the thesis, I propose to consider only analogy largely because that is the figure which has occupied theologians most in their attempt to understand how it is that human language can be used meaningfully of God who transcends all that is human.

_

²¹¹ Foucault, 2002, p. 26.

²¹² Merquior, 1991, p. 43.

²¹³ Foucault, 2002, p. 20.

²¹⁴ Ibid.

²¹⁵ Ibid.

Foucault comments that the "power of analogy is immense" because the similitudes it treats need only be the resemblances of relations²¹⁶ rather than, for example, "the visible [and] substantial ones between things themselves". ²¹⁷ This means that analogy can be used to link all the features of the universe; Foucault refers to an "analogical cosmography". ²¹⁸ In a not dissimilar vein, Gilbert Narcisse re-interprets Aquinas' frequently cited dictum that grace perfects nature, ²¹⁹ together with his assertion that "all things agree in being" ²²⁰ to contend that eschatologically speaking there is a compatibility underlying all creation, its present fallen state notwithstanding. Indeed, Aquinas tells us that "God is said chiefly and simply to love those whom He endows with these effects of His love by which they are enabled to reach their last end, which is He Himself, the fountainhead of all goodness". ²²¹

Narcisse holds to an aesthetic theory according to which all being is capable of harmony, a harmony which is God-given, and thus for him

the analogy that obtains between God and creation is a kind of *convenientia*; indeed, that the Word should become flesh to redeem humankind is *convenientissimum*, and all *convenientiae* in

²¹⁹ Aguinas, 1993, p. 162.

 $^{^{216}}$ Resemblances of the relations between the members of the Trinity and of small musical ensembles is at the heart of the argumentation of the thesis.

²¹⁷ Foucault, 2002, p. 24.

²¹⁸ Ibid., p. 25.

²²⁰ Aguinas, 2014, Bk. 1, Ch. XLII, p. 57.

²²¹ Aguinas, 1993, p. 163.

history are harmonized in a cosmic *exitus-reditus* that is super determined by the advent and second coming of Christ.²²²

In the Foucauldian account of the pre-seventeenth century "prose of the world" ²²³ all these similitudes find their focal point in the human being who "stands in proportion²²⁴ to the heavens", ²²⁵ and who is "the great fulcrum of proportions". ²²⁶

But although Foucault's four figures of similitude enabled humankind to construct knowledge showing the interconnections between all the varied features of the world in terms of their resemblances, it was nonetheless necessary for there to be a further form of similitude which would be, as it were, the guarantor that resemblances were not simply fanciful or, even, virtuosic displays of mankind's imaginative creativity but were truly part of reality and, indeed, of "the order of things".²²⁷ This guarantee was provided by what Foucault calls signatures, "the visible marks for the invisible analogies".²²⁸ Foucault is clear that "there are no resemblances without signatures. The world of similarity", he says, "can only be a world of signs",²²⁹ and he quotes Paracelsus

²²² Pomplun, 2008, p. 247.

²²³ Foucault, 2002, pp. 3-50.

²²⁴ Proper proportionality of relations is one of Aquinas's forms of analogy to be treated later in this chapter.

²²⁵ Ibid., p. 24.

²²⁶ Ibid., p. 26.

²²⁷ Ibid. "The Order of Things" is the title of Foucault's book.

²²⁸ Ibid., p. 29.

²²⁹ Ibid.

It is not God's will that what he creates for man's benefit and what he has given us should remain hidden... And even though he has hidden certain things, he has allowed nothing to remain without exterior and visible signs in the form of special marks – just as a man who has buried a hoard of treasure marks the spot so that he may find it again.²³⁰

Foucault's cultural archaeology provides us with one further insight into the 'analogical imagination',²³¹ as it was manifest in what Foucault regards as the first *episteme*, that is, era of knowledge,²³² and which lasted until the end of the sixteenth century.²³³ Foucault tells us that the "precision" of analogical reasoning is consequent on "the grid through which we permit the figures of resemblance to enter our knowledge", and that this grid "coincides" with the already existing learning.²³⁴ Foucault does not amplify these remarks beyond referring to an analogical cosmography and portraying the analogical dimension in terms of a "space of radiation [which surrounds] man on every side".²³⁵ Merquior's exegesis of Foucault at this point makes use of the notion of "a *Lebenswelt*, a lifeworld saddled with a heavy philosophical infrastructure," and that in the Foucauldian archaeology *epistemes*, eras of knowledge, "are unconscious *Lebenswelten*".²³⁶

²³⁰ Ibid., quoting Paracelsus, 1928, p. 393.

²³¹ Tracy, 1981.

²³² Merquior, 1991, pp. 41-43.

²³³ Foucault, 2002, p. 19.

²³⁴ Ibid., p. 25.

²³⁵ Ibid., p. 26.

²³⁶ Merquior, 1991, p. 41.

For David Tracy, "analogy is a language of ordered relationships articulating similarity-in-difference. The order among the relationships is constituted by the distinct but similar relationships of each analogue to some primary focal meaning, some prime analogue". Tracy affirms that for Christian systematics, the "primary focal meaning will be the event of Jesus Christ [which] *as event* will prove the primary analogue for the interpretation of the whole of reality".

In Thomas Aquinas' view it is possible to speak of God even though our speaking is wholly inadequate to the task of saying what God is "because we can only talk of God as we know him, and we know him only through creatures, which represent him inadequately".²³⁹ Burrell comments that it is [...] impossible to "speak of God at all [...] unless it be under the rubric of 'the first cause of all'".²⁴⁰ But such a rubric does not aid us in our search for meaningful speech about God because such a cause is not in any way akin to the patterns whereby we identify cause and effect. This is not a difficulty which resembles in any way the difficulties which attend the scientific endeavour to understand and link causes and effects. Rather, it is a logical difficulty which arises from what Burrell calls "the grammatical observation that God is outside any genus, even the comprehensive pseudo-genus of substance".²⁴¹

If we are to take up this kind of analogical approach, what are the limits of analogy?

To what extent can words and their meanings which are learnt in the human context

²³⁷ Tracy, 1981, p. 408.

²³⁸ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

²³⁹ Aguinas, 1991, 1.13.2.

²⁴⁰ Burrell, 2016b, p. 68.

²⁴¹ Ibid., pp. 68-9.

be legitimately used when speaking of God? If, for example, our understanding of what it is mutually to indwell one another is rooted in human interactions, to what extent can this same terminology be used of God? The contextual background against which this question must needs arise is the Christian understanding of God as transcendent and beyond compare with all other things. As Frances Young says, "To get an inkling of Trinitarian relationships, our limited experience of finding and losing ourselves in mutual love for an other has to be stretched into the unknown, ungraspable reality of divine unity and simplicity".²⁴²

In contrast to Keller, Young argues that at the peak of the apophatic tradition,

the possibility both of religious language and of religious knowledge was denied. This denial was partly philosophical: there is no logic common to ordinary language and language used of the divine. But it was also religious: a God worthy of worship is beyond comparison with anything derivative from the Creator.²⁴³

Gregory of Nazianzus suggested that although God cannot be known in his essence, he can be known in his attributes or activities: "Sketching God's inward self from outward characteristics, we may assemble an inadequate, weak and partial picture".²⁴⁴

.

²⁴² Young, 2013, p. 400.

²⁴³ Ibid., p. 392.

²⁴⁴ Oration 30, quoted in Young, 2013, p. 393.

The classic account of the point at issue is focused on the univocal, equivocal, and analogical use of terms, and its main protagonist is St Thomas Aquinas. James Ross maintains that though "most recent writers in philosophical theology have made some reference to the theory of analogy current in medieval times, [...] almost universally these writers have judged it hopeless", 245 nonetheless Ross' view is that

if one wishes to render philosophically plausible the claim of most orthodox. Christians that their traditional and descriptive statements about God are both literally meaningful and true, one must employ an analogy theory fundamentally similar to that of St. Thomas.²⁴⁶

We begin by distinguishing between univocal, equivocal and analogical uses of language. To use terms univocally is to intend them to carry the same sense in their various uses. 'Being', for example, used univocally, is intended to carry the same sense when used to refer to God as when used of human beings. When the same term is used with quite different meanings, it is being used equivocally, when, for example, we say grass is green and a person is green meaning they are naïve or inexperienced.

Because we understand God as completely other, it clearly cannot be the case that God's wisdom can be thought as somehow continuous with human wisdom; it is not

_

²⁴⁵ Ross, 1976, p. 93.

²⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 138. This is not to say that other scholars have not made significant contributions to the debate about how to speak of God, viz. John Duns Scotus, Cajetan, and in our own time David Burrell (2016a), Janet Martin Soskice (1985), Herbert McCabe (2005), David Tracy, (1981), and Sallie McFague (1982) amongst many others.

that God's wisdom is like human wisdom taken to an infinite degree. We cannot, in other words, use 'wisdom' univocally when speaking of human beings on the one hand and of God on the other. Davison comments that "to talk about God and creatures as beings in a univocal way risks making *being*, for instance, more fundamental than God, since 'being' would underlie speech about both God and creatures. That is a sort of blasphemy".²⁴⁷

If terms are used in two statements equivocally there is no overlap in the sense intended by the two applications. For example, the equivocal use of terms such as 'being', 'goodness', and 'beauty' denies that there can be any shared meaning between divine and creaturely instances of their application. Moses Maimonides held to this position explaining that God "lives, but not through life; He is powerful, but not through power; He knows but not through knowledge". Page Burrell's gloss on this is that "God's manner of being wise is such that being God is the very norm and source of wisdom". On this account, whilst we are able to say that God lives, we can have no conception of what his living consists in because our only means of understanding what it is to live is derived from our lives as creatures and God's life is infinitely and absolutely other than our lives. This way of thinking leads to Aquinas' distinction between res significata and modus significandi, a distinction I address below.

_

²⁴⁷ Davison, 2020, p. 177.

²⁴⁸ Maimonides, 1974, Vol. 1, p. 57.

²⁴⁹ Burrell, 2001, p. 53. Emphasis in the original.

Yet we do wish, and regard it as legitimate, to talk about God's wisdom, being, and so on, and that to do so is meaningful; in this case our use of 'wisdom', 'being' and so on is analogical.

In order to examine the analogical use of language, we can usefully begin with Aquinas's assertion that we can know that God exists but not what he is, and ask if, that being the case, there are any truths about God which we can state with confidence. It is not Aquinas's view that we can have no knowledge of God whatsoever, rather, it is that our knowledge of him must take the form of analogy, and Aquinas sets out to show how analogy functions in talk of God, that is, he uncovers the grammar which legitimates our ways of speaking of God as true and meaningful. McDermott says, "We can, so to speak, deduce what must be said of him [God] if language is to be language". 250 Burrell also is keen to give us to understand that in his doctrine of analogy Aquinas is giving us a grammar for speaking about God: "Aquinas' account intends to lay out the grammar of 'God'", 251 or again, "[Aquinas] is engaged in the metalinguistic project of mapping out the grammar appropriate in divinis. He is proposing the logic proper to discourse about God". ²⁵² Davies makes the same point, saying that Aquinas's writings on analogy "can also be read as a reflection on or description of what is going on with the language we use in talking of God before we construct a doctrine of analogy". 253 In this connection, Davies quotes Mascall: "The

²⁵⁰ McDermott, 1991, p. 10, 'Introduction' in Aquinas, *Summa Theologiae*: A Concise Translation, 1991. This quotation is taken from Timothy McDermott's introductory remarks to the section of his Concise Translation of the *Summa Theologiae* titled 'What God is not', pp. 9-35.

²⁵¹ Burrell, 2016b, p. 83.

²⁵² Ibid., pp. 18-19.

²⁵³ Davies, 1992, p. 73.

function of the doctrine of analogy is not to make it possible for us to talk about God in the future but to explain how it is that we have been able to talk about him all along". 254 To these motivations for uncovering the grammar of God-talk may be added that of wishing to avoid idolatry, as te Velde puts it "an essential boundary exists between the universe of creatures and the eternal One, who stands apart from the whole universe". 255 Te Velde's exegesis of Aquinas is forthright here: "The negative dimension in our knowledge of God means a breach in any continuity we may feel tempted to project between the finite and the infinite". 256 But negation is premised on prior affirmation. Te Velde resists the notion of Aquinas' theology as negative. "Negation", he says, "is part of the intelligible structure of the causal relationship between creatures and God, and thus part of how God can be known from his effects". 257 The via negativa is predicated on the affirmation that God as cause is not one of his effects. This means that a positive statement about what God is must be followed by a negation of it which says that he cannot be whatever is affirmed of him in the same way as the affirmation is understood as one of his effects. If it is possible for human beings to indwell one another, this is so only because, on a participatory account, one of the effects of God's creation is indwelling. But God does not indwell as human beings do.

_

²⁵⁴ Mascall, 1949, p. 94.

²⁵⁵ te Velde, 2016, p. 74.

²⁵⁶ Ibid.

²⁵⁷ Ibid., p. 75.

Before exploring Aquinas's doctrine of analogy,²⁵⁸ it is worthwhile noting that although he does indeed make a distinction between univocal, equivocal and analogical discourses, they are distinctions between literal modes of discourse. It is not, for example, that to speak of God as good is to mean that he is good but not in the way 'good' is usually meant. The use of 'green' is univocal and literal in both 'the grass is green' and 'the paint is green'. The use of 'card' is equivocal and literal in 'birthday card' and 'he is a card' meaning he has a quirky sense of humour. If we say someone is loving and that God is loving, 'loving' is used in different but related ways and, in each case, is meant literally. One of the points which Aquinas is anxious to get across is that when we use words analogously of God and of his creatures, the words apply primarily to God and only secondarily to creatures. His meaning here is that human wisdom, for example, derives from God because human beings and all creatures derive from God.

Analogy, then, falls *between* univocal and equivocal uses of language. Burrell refers to this as a median,²⁵⁹ and notes that Aquinas gives two ways of finding it: "(1) by reference to one focal meaning (attribution), and (2) by an ordered relationship among different uses (proportionality)".²⁶⁰ We need to take care with terms; Kallenberg notes that Aquinas "explicitly *denies* that theological language employs proportionality to depict what God is like",²⁶¹ noting that Aquinas made "a distinction

.

²⁵⁸ Although it is common to speak of Aquinas' doctrine of analogy, scholars such as Burrell and Davies hold that Aquinas did not in fact have such a doctrine – see Burrell 2016b, p. 62 and Davies 1992, p. 70, n. 39. Burrell ascribes what he calls "the theoretical formulation" to Cajetan (Tomasso de Vio) 2009: see Burrell, 2016b, p. 62, n. 45.

²⁵⁹ Burrell, 2016b, p. 62.

²⁶⁰ Ibid.. Proportion is Aguinas' name for relation.

²⁶¹ Kallenberg, 2019, p. 35, emphasis in the original.

between proportion and proportionateness (*proportionalitatem*)".²⁶² I try to give a detailed exposition of these methods below.

There is a kind of denial hidden in the analogical use of language for although we wish most emphatically to say that God's goodness, for example, is not like human goodness, yet, as Denis teaches, this negation must itself in a sense be negated. He says:

This is how it must be: we need to acknowledge, recognise and affirm in him who is above all knowledge and intellect all the positive attributes of all existing things, in that he is the cause of all things; and more appropriately and more firmly we need to deny all such attributes, in that he is transcendentally above them all, supreme in his own nature and distinct from them all, and not to be of opinion that the denial of existing things is contrary to the original affirmation of them, but to hold steadfastly what is seen in faith, that he who in himself is above all things is above all negation of things that exist or could exist, yes, above both their negation and their affirmation.²⁶³

Aguinas concurs with this view:

²⁶² Ibid., p. 42, n. 62. Kallenberg says in the note this is an insight he owes to Michael Cox. Kallenberg references Aquinas: 'Liber IV Distinctio XLIX Questio II, in *Scriptum Super Sententiis*.

²⁶³ Denys, 2001, p. 3.

in every term employed by us, there is imperfection as regards the mode of signification, and imperfection is unbecoming to God, although the thing signified is becoming to God in some eminent way [...] wherefore, as Dionysius teaches, such terms can be either affirmed or denied of God: affirmed, on account of the signification of the term; denied of account of the mode of signification.²⁶⁴

Similarly, for Nicholas of Cusa, who "revels in paradoxical expression" ²⁶⁵ and whose "analogies are illustrative rather than argumentative [since] they do not try to establish a point but only to render it more plausible", ²⁶⁶ God is Not-Other, since for him "there is no common measure between Creator and creatures, only an asymmetrical relationship of gift bestowal and dependence". ²⁶⁷ Consequently, Nicholas insists that, when speaking of God, not only must any affirmation be negated, but this negation must itself be negated. ²⁶⁸ Nicholas Lash is coruscating in his criticism of a "negative theology which denies the appropriateness of the things that the simple-minded say". ²⁶⁹ He emphasises that the Bible lays great store on the imagery of the poet and story-teller "to express the relations that obtain between the Holy One and the creation which He convenes and calls into His presence". ²⁷⁰ Lash is at pains to point out that "everything" we say of God [...] is anthropomorphically,

²⁶⁴ Aguinas, 2014, Bk. 1, Ch. XXX, p. 46.

²⁶⁵ Hopkins, 1979, p. 5.

²⁶⁶ Ibid., p. 7.

²⁶⁷ Sherman, 2014, p. 142.

²⁶⁸ de Cusa, 1979, p. 41. Catherine Keller writes that she has "hardly been able to write ['God'] to *subject* it to sentences that start 'God is', 'God does'. As though 'God' identifies something, some One, rather than, as Meister Eckhart insists, 'a non-God, a nonspirit, a nonperson, a nonimage'" - Keller, 2003, p. 172, emphasis in the original. The embedded quotation is from Eckhart, 1981, p. 207. ²⁶⁹ Lash, 2007, p. 137. By 'the simple-minded' Lash means people "who still go to church". ²⁷⁰ Ibid.

metaphorically said". 271 He thinks that if we somehow imagine that we are nearer "to getting a 'fix'"²⁷² on God by using abstract expressions we are quite wrong: "Oh, I see: God is 'spirit', God is 'transcendent', God is 'ineffable' – now I understand'. Oh no you don't!".273

Even though God's goodness is prior to the goodness found in creatures because what is found in creatures derives from God, it is also the case that because we first learn to call creatures good and then call God good, "God's goodness [...] is secondary to what is found in creatures".274

It is important to contrast the use of analogy with that of metaphor. Janet Martin Soskice defines metaphor "as that trope or figure of speech in which we speak of one thing in terms suggestive of another".275 Her example is when we speak of God as a farmer separating the wheat and the tares. In later chapters I do not mean to imply that the members of the Trinity or the players in, for example, a string quartet are somehow interchangeable and can be spoken of in equally reciprocal terms. This is particularly true of the inner dynamics of the Triune life. I do not think of the indwelling of the divine Persons in terms of human indwelling. In chapters below, I use 'indwelling' in both cases, but I do so analogically. I give a detailed analysis of analogy below, during the course of which I note that on a Thomist reading to speak analogously is to use a term which applies more to God than it does to creatures;

²⁷¹ Ibid.

²⁷² Ibid.

²⁷³ Ibid., pp. 137-8. Emphases in the original.

²⁷⁴ Davies, 1992, pp. 72-3.

²⁷⁵ Soskice, 1985, p. 54.

'good', for example. To use a term metaphorically is to use it in such a way that it applies more directly to some aspect of the world than it does to God; 'stronghold', for example. Does 'indwelling' apply more to God than to creatures? God's self-indwelling, the relationality within the Godhead, is the origin and cause of human indwelling, of all relationality in the world. This is a participatory view; human beings are able to indwell one another, if indeed they do indwell one another, precisely because they participate in God. Thus, I follow Rahner whose "affirmation of the Absolutely Real [as] a condition of the possibility of knowing the worldly, finite real is dependent upon St. Thomas' metaphysics of participation".²⁷⁶

Aquinas seems to make a clear distinction between analogy and metaphor.²⁷⁷ For him, to speak analogously is to use a term which applies more to God than it does to creatures; 'good', for example. To use a term metaphorically is to use it in such a way that it applies more directly to some aspect of the world than it does to God; 'stronghold', for example. McInerny, however, suggests there is room for confusion as to Aquinas' view and that this confusion is exacerbated by Cajetan aligning metaphor with analogy of attribution which leads to 'healthy', which, says McInerny, is one of Aquinas' favourite examples of an analogous name, being a metaphor.²⁷⁸ The confusion is only increased when Aquinas says that the metaphorical use of a name for God is said *per prius* of creatures and of God because of a similarity of proportions. McInerney's argument here is that these names, being said *per prius* of creatures, are "said *per posterius* of God with reference to creatures [... and that is] what we mean

²⁷⁶ Caponi, 2003, pp. 375-376.

²⁷⁷ Aguinas, 1991, 1.13.6.

²⁷⁸ McInerny, 1971, p. 145.

by an analogous name".279 The solution to this conundrum is to uncouple what the predication is attached to from what the predication signifies. In McInerney's example Christ is called the lion of the tribe of Juda because he acts bravely as lions do. The point of the example is that acting bravely is associated with being a lion as it were a property of being a lion, and this in fact is what is transferred to Christ but under the name 'lion'. So, in the example, the predication signifies bravery, but naming Christ as lion will not include him in the set of all lions in the world, and this means that Christ is named lion metaphorically not analogously. McInerny thus wonders if "a name is used metaphorically when that to which it is transferred does not fall under the ratio propria of the name", 280 that is, does not fall under the defining concept associated with the name. However, this does not finally settle the question of how or if metaphor and analogy can be distinguished. Davison frames the issue in terms of participation. He notes that Aquinas sees a participatory basis for metaphor and that this makes it somewhat analogical.²⁸¹ Reverting to the lion example, whereas Aquinas does not take bravery to be part of the definition of 'lion' any more than it is of 'man', otherwise why speak in terms of effects – the lion displays strength and bravery in his works – nonetheless "the lion does not simply happen to have strength. It has strength from God". 282 Thus, it would seem to be legitimate to ascribe strength primarily to God, and this undermines Aquinas' previous rule concerning the ratio proprio which determines that names are used metaphorically when understood primarily according to their material instantiation in the world of the senses. This turn in the discussion

_

²⁷⁹ Ibid.

²⁸⁰ Ibid., pp. 146-7.

²⁸¹ Davison, 2020, p. 193.

²⁸² Ibid.

toward participation has a nominalist/anti-nominalist strain, and although further discussion is beyond the remit of the thesis, it is perhaps worth mentioning that those who espouse a participatory way of thinking tend to see similarities as real and capable of being discerned and recognised rather than simply a question of the assignation of the same name to similarities which are imposed or projected upon things. Nominalists thus tend to assimilate analogy to metaphor, whereas the participatory approach, as the example of the lion receiving its strength from God illustrates, tends to assimilate metaphor to analogy.

I will argue that our human ability to indwell one another flows to us from God as Creator, and God as Trinity is the origin of all relationality in creation. That God is a three-personned God tells us that his self-indwelling is one of his perfections. Thus, although our understanding of what it is to indwell one another comes about by virtue of our human experience, to speak of the three Persons of the Trinity as indwelling one another is an analogous use of language not a metaphorical one. Aquinas makes a distinction between the *res significata* and the *modus significandi*. In my analogous use of 'indwelling', the mode of indwelling is different between the Trinity and the members of a string quartet, yet what is signified remains the same (though not univocally so) and is the basis of my claim that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating.

²⁸³ I return to and amplify this theme later on.

²⁸⁴ I explore this distinction in some detail below.

Aquinas' analysis of language from which springs his theory of analogy, was designed to solve two problems: (i) how is it that ordinary language, whose terms, meanings, and use are learnt experientially, can be applied to God who is absolutely different from the objects of ordinary human experience? Aquinas wished to preserve the literal sense of our beliefs about God; (ii) having accepted the Aristotelian theory of the categories and thus that statements which are transcategorical, for example "both clouds and numbers exist" (clouds fall into the category of substance and numbers fall into the category of quantity), cannot have univocal predicates, how are transcategorical statements, particularly those metaphysical ones which by their very generality are transcategorical, to be judged meaningful?

Following Aquinas, we can distinguish between analogy by attribution and analogy of proper proportionality.²⁸⁵ The fundamental difference between these is that analogy by attribution, also known as analogy of one-to-another and analogy of proportion, compares things, whereas analogy of proper proportionality compares relations between things. Davison says, "proportion points to a relationship, while proportionality, also known as proper proportionality or intrinsic proportionality, points to a relationship between relationships".²⁸⁶ The relevance of this to the thesis is that the analogy I wish to draw between the indwelling of the divine Persons on the

²⁸⁵ Whilst the following analyses of analogy of attribution and of proper proportionality are heavily centred on and draw from the writings of Aquinas, the work of other, mainly contemporary, scholars is included so as to be able to support contemporary questions concerning analogy which arise in relation to the claims of the thesis.

²⁸⁶ Davison, 2020, p. 186.

one hand and the members of a small musical ensemble on the other is that this is an analogy between two sets of relationships.

Analogy by Attribution

Suppose I say a string quartet is self-indwelling and the Trinity is self-indwelling. Is this an example of analogy by attribution?

Statements which employ analogy of attribution have the form "X is Z" and "Y is Z". In this sort of statement, the term "Z" is a predicate of two quite different subjects, and only one of the subjects can be said properly to possess the predicate term. For example, in "Fred is healthy" and "Fred's colour is healthy", only Fred can properly be thought healthy. Also, "healthy" signifies numerically one and the same thing in both statements; Fred's healthy colour does not signify a different state of affairs than does "Fred is healthy"; the health in "Fred's colour is healthy" is one and the same as the health in "Fred is healthy".

In my example, indwelling is a predicate of two quite different subjects; a string quartet and God, and only God can be said properly to possess the term 'indwelling'.

But 'indwelling' does not signify numerically one and the same thing in my example.

Ross takes a pair of statements which he says enables him "to push [Thomas'] analysis a little further than he did": "John is brilliant" and "John's work is brilliant".²⁸⁷ In this example, when we say John's work is brilliant we are saying something about the work and not just about John, even though the term 'brilliant' is applied primarily to those "who can and habitually do produce work of a given quality".²⁸⁸ Ross raises a problem with this analysis: it can be difficult to identify the primary instance of the predicate term. Is John's brilliance as the cause of the brilliant work primary, or is it that the brilliant work is primary because it is on the basis of the brilliant work that we say John is brilliant?

Aquinas proposes a rule for deciding which is the primary instance. This rule uses a distinction between the order of things and the order of knowledge. On the basis of this rule, the primary instance is the one which is pre-supposed by all others, the one which must be known first.²⁸⁹ Applying this rule suggests that, because we must first have evidence that John's work is brilliant before we can say he is brilliant, then the primary sense is the quality of the work. The order of knowledge is not always the same as the order of things, for instance, John must be in possession of certain intellectual powers before he can produce brilliant work – a logical priority (the order of things), but our knowledge of his brilliance comes after our acquaintance with the work – a psychological priority. Thus it is that we describe John's abilities in terms of the quality of the work, although John works in terms of his abilities. This difference in the order of things and the order of knowing is the basis upon which Aquinas tells

²⁸⁷ Ross, 1976, p. 104.

²⁸⁸ Ibid., p. 109.

²⁸⁹ Aquinas, 2014, Bk.1, Ch. 34, pp. 49-50.

us that although we know God from his effects, the effects are consequent on God's powers. Aquinas pursues this argument in terms of naming God from his effects:

On the other hand, when that which comes first according to nature, comes afterwards according to knowledge, then, in analogical terms, there is not the same order according to the reality and according to the meaning of the name: thus the healing power in health-giving (medicines) is naturally prior to health in the animal, as cause is prior to effect; yet as we know this power through its effect, we name it from that effect. Hence it is that health-giving is first in the order of reality, and yet is predicated of animal ²⁹⁰ first according to the meaning of the term.

Accordingly, since we arrive at the knowledge of God from other things, the reality of the names predicated of God and other things is first in God according to His mode, but the meaning of the name is in Him afterwards. Wherefore He is said to be named from His effects.²⁹¹

At this point, however, we must insert an important caveat with regard to naming God from his effects, for the argument holds only if sufficient similarity has already been established between God and things to support the claim that there is a causal

²⁹⁰ The quotation is correct as it appears in my edition of the *Summa Contra Gentiles*, but perhaps it should read "is predicated of the animal"; compare with three lines previously.

²⁹¹ Aguinas, 2014, Bk. 1, Ch. 34, p. 50.

relation. In terms of the previous example, we must already know there is a causal relation between John's mental abilities and his work in order to be able to call him brilliant, name him from his effects. We must already know, or at least believe, there is a causal relation between God's powers and his effects in order, for example, to name him as the Sustainer of the universe. God's power to sustain the universe is prior to the sustained universe, and our naming God as Sustainer is justified because we already know, or at least believe, that he is the Creator of the universe as cause to effect, but the universe is called a sustained universe with priority in the order of naming. In other words, there must already be grounds for our knowing or believing that God and the universe are related as cause and effect.

What are the implications of this discussion for my example of the self-indwelling of God and of the string quartet? Well, indwelling is first in the order of reality, of things, because, on a participatory account, God is its source. However, it is predicated first of human beings because of its meaning. The issues here are filled out in the next paragraph.

Cross reasons that if the terms we use of God are taken to refer to simple attributes, ones that cannot be reduced to more basic elements, and are not univocal then they must necessarily be equivocal and not analogous because simple attributes cannot by definition "have more basic common features in virtue of which they could be similar".²⁹² Since "the doctrine of God's simplicity reaches the zenith of expression and

²⁹² Ibid.

sophistication in the thought of Thomas Aquinas [who] regard[ed the doctrine of divine simplicity] as the centrepiece of the Creator-creature distinction,"²⁹³ Cross' reasoning seems to strike at the heart of Aquinas' theory of analogy.²⁹⁴ Although a fuller treatment of this problematic is beyond the scope of the thesis, we can note that Davison understands it in terms of the shift in emphasis which he purports to see in Aguinas' writings from "thinking of the relation of the world to God in terms of an analogy of proportionality to an analogy of attribution". 295 He admits the importance of taking into account the modus significandi of attributes and thus the need for proportionality, but he thinks that this is to "remain in the realm of epistemology". ²⁹⁶ What matters for Davison is that the relationship which exists between God and the world is ontologically prior to our speaking about it, and that this relationship is identified linguistically as an analogy of attribution. Further, the analogy of proportionality between God and the world must, then, be based on the participation of creature in Creator which is constituted by there being one source from which all else derives, and this, Davison says, is what underlies analogy of attribution.²⁹⁷

Analogy by attribution has the interesting property that the primary analogate is part of the definition of the other analogates. For example, if the primary analogate is Mary, then to say that Mary is happy is to posit a certain affective state which is true about Mary and which justifies the statement "Mary is happy". If a secondary

²⁹³ Dolezal, 2011, p. 6. Dolezal adopts DDS as shorthand for 'doctrine of divine simplicity' which I have therefore written out fully in the square brackets in this quotation.

²⁹⁴ To pursue this issue of divine simplicity is beyond the remit of the thesis. For a comprehensive review of the doctrine of divine simplicity including its advocacy by patristic, medieval, reformed and modern theologians as well as recent criticisms of it see Dolezal, 2011, Ch. 1.

²⁹⁵ Davison, 2020, p. 196.

²⁹⁶ Ibid. p. 197.

²⁹⁷ Ibid.

analogate is Mary's smile, then to say her smile is happy is to claim that the smile has those qualities which are signs that Mary is in fact happy, that is, that Mary is in such and such an affective state, and thus this affective state must be part of the definition of Mary's happy smile. Aquinas realises that we do not always necessarily agree about what is to count as the primary sense of the analogous term, 'happy' in the above example, but it is clear this does not invalidate the point at issue. Ross reminds us that this requirement that the meaning we attach to the primary analogate – a happy Mary – must be included in the definition of the secondary analogate – Mary's smile, is a tautology.²⁹⁸ His example is that when we describe someone as charitable, we mean that she or he is disposed to engage in charitable acts. When we say an act is charitable, we mean that it is a sign of a charitable disposition, that is to say, we in effect attribute a causal relation between the analogates, and this is a further property of analogy by attribution.

A final property of analogy by attribution is that the analogous term does not carry exactly the same meaning in all of its occurrences.²⁹⁹ Ross' example of John who is brilliant and his brilliant work is a case in point. As Ross says,

Sometimes we are not sure whether a term indicates only a property of its subject or a relation to a property of another subject [...] The term cannot possibly have exactly the same meaning in all

²⁹⁸ Ross, 1976, p. 114.

²⁹⁹ Cajetan, 2009, Ch. 2, par. 15.

its instances if we include as part of its *meaning* in some instances the *relationship* of the definitive property to the subject.³⁰⁰

Analogy of Proper Proportionality

Analogy of proportionality seems not to feature to any great extent in Aquinas' work; indeed, Davison refers to it as "an outlier and a departure", 301 and in his view "might simply have been relegated to a footnote in Thomist studies were it not that Cajetan promoted proportionality as the definitive category in Aquinas' discussion of the analogy of creatures to creator". 302

In his earlier texts such as the *Commentary on the Sentences* from about 1252, "Aquinas seems to have taken the likeness of creatures to God as given", 303 assuming a primitive relation of imitation which he did not attempt to explain. 304 In *Questions on Truth* written between 1256–1259, however, Aquinas abandons his earlier position because it does not seem to accommodate God's utter difference from his creatures, a difference which makes a likeness between them implausible. Nonetheless Aquinas is not willing to abandon his conviction that there is such a likeness and develops analogy of proportionality which enables 'names' to be attributed both to God and to creatures.

³⁰⁰ Ross, 1976, p. 115. Emphases in the original.

303 Ibid.

³⁰¹ Davison, 2020, p. 187.

³⁰² Ibid.

³⁰⁴ Pini, 2014, p. 499.

A common example of analogy of proper proportionality is the analogy between the eye and sight on the one hand and the mind and intellectual sight on the other; analogy of proper proportionality rests on comparing two relations, in this case that between the eye and sight and that between the mind and intellectual perception. It is important to remember that the analogy is between the relations and not between elements that are related. So, in the example the comparison is not between physical visual perception and intellectual perception but between the eye and its sight and the mind and its insight. In a general form, we can say this kind of analogy states that our knowledge is to our being as God's knowledge is to his being. This can be expressed formulaically as a:b::c:d. Davison points out that there is a weakness in this way of speaking since the comparison between creatures and God tells us nothing about the relation of creatures to Creator on which the comparison rests.³⁰⁵ As it stands, we appear to have what Herve Thibault calls "an unexplained pluralism" whereby resemblances between creatures are not accounted for, and neither are those between creature in relation to God.³⁰⁶ What proportionality does is to posit parallel relationships of essence and existence between the beings to whom the analogous predicates are applied. The difficulty is addressed by an appeal to causation, for it is causation which binds being together: there is indeed proportion between God and creature, namely that between cause and caused. So, there is a causal resemblance of creatures to God insofar as they owe their being to him. This means that what is received from God is present in the creature according to its mode of being. The cause, we can say, is present in the effect. In terms of Aquinas' distinction

³⁰⁵ Davison, 2020, p. 188.

³⁰⁶ Thibault, 1970, p. x.

between *res significate* and *modus significandi*, we can say, for example, that what is signified and derived from God, beauty say, is always the same but the manner in which it is manifested varies according to the being of the creature; Davison, for instance, talks about arboreal, canine, and lapidary beauty.³⁰⁷

We can briefly review the characteristics of analogy by proper proportion. First, if we consider such pairs of statements as "My cat knows how to catch mice" and "My wife knows me", or "My cat is the cause of her meowing" and "My success is the cause of my happiness", then it is clear that 'knows' and 'cause' are not univocal in their predicative senses. The second characteristic follows from the first, namely, the sentences in which the predicated property appears having different subjects, the predicated property must have different senses. This second characteristic marks the most important difference between analogy of attribution and analogy of proportionality. Thus, in analogy of attribution, though the sentences might have different subjects - viz. John and John's work - the property referred to by the analogous term 'brilliant' is the same, numerically one, whereas in analogy by proportionality the analogous predicates are not numerically one, causing happiness on the one hand and the sound of meowing on the other are different kinds of causes, as are knowing someone and knowing how different kinds of knowing. However, this characteristic gives rise to a problem. If the causing and knowing differ in the two sentences, that is, they are used equivocally, then there needs to be a criterion which determines the extent to which they may differ before a guite different property is

³⁰⁷ Davison, 2020, p. 189.

indicated. The problem is that, given an equivocal use of the terms, the terms must nonetheless refer to the same property: the property of knowing or of causing, and it seems that we cannot in fact know that the same property is indicated in an equivocal use of a term. At this point, Ross says, "we must demand some analysis from St Thomas which will allow a term to be univocal in signification while being equivocal in not conforming to the rule for univocity in intention". ³⁰⁸ In other words, in using terms in this way we wish to point to the same property in both cases whilst acknowledging that the way in which it is manifest differs in the two cases. This is a distinction which in fact Aquinas makes, that is, the distinction between the *res significata* and the *modus significandi*. Ross and Bates say that "the manner of attribution (*modus significandi*) is contracted from the *modus essendi* (the manner of being) of what is referred to, God or creatures," ³⁰⁹ and they offer us some useful examples:

like the contextual capture when you say, 'the paper turned red with spilled ink', 'his face turned red with embarrassment' and 'the sky turned red with the dawn'; the signification, the verbal meaning, 'turned red' is the same, but the modus significandi, differs according to the different ways the reddening happens. So, Aquinas said, it is with God and creatures; and thus, there is no univocation of positive predicates, only analogy (relatedness of meaning).³¹⁰

³⁰⁸ Ross, 1976, p. 118.

³⁰⁹ Ross & Bates, 2003, p. 213.

³¹⁰ Ibid.

However, Duns Scotus does not agree with Aquinas in making this distinction. For him, the *modus essendi* of God or of creatures is not part of the meaning of the predicates used analogously of them. Whilst he agrees that the modes of being of God and of creatures do indeed differ, he argues that this does not alter the meaning of words in their application. Thus, he says that "infinity does not destroy the formal nature of that to which it is added". 311 Since for Duns Scotus, the definition of a predicate entails the same meaning regardless of its signification, it follows that the divine perfections are univocally predicated of God and of creatures. But, armed with Aquinas' distinction between res significate and modus significandi, we can now say that what is signified by the analogous term is understood univocally, but that the mode in which it is signified indicates an equivocal use of the term. When we come to consider the perfections as they exist in creatures, wisdom, for example, we recognise that they come from God, but the mode in which God possesses and exhibits them is not the same as that in which creatures possess and exhibit them. Since we creatures only know a perfection from our own experience of it, it must necessarily be the case that our use of the term always falls short when we apply it to God, for God's mode of being is exemplary whereas ours is not.

Aquinas further differentiates between two different uses of 'modus significandi' whose functions are quite different. First, suppose we talk of knowledge in relation to a human person and to a dog. What is meant by 'knowledge' is the same in both cases, but the kinds of knowledge possible differs. It is not that when we apply 'knowledge'

³¹¹ Scotus, *Ordinatio*, 1, d. 8, q. 4, n. 17.

to a dog we mean it anthropomorphically or metaphorically, rather it is that terms such as 'knowledge' encompass a very wide range of activities within their realms of signification. Aquinas thus says that the sense of 'knows' when applied to a dog and to a human are proportionally the same, but that the mode in which the property is possessed in each case makes the kinds of activities which result from the knowing different. Different natures participate unequally and in different ways in one and the same property according to their different modes of being as determined by their natures. McInerney gives us a further example: "the similarity of proportionality does not argue for any substantial similarity in the lion and Christ, but for a similarity of mode of action". 312

Given that a term, 'knows' for example, can be legitimately applied to God, to human creatures and to animals and thus, as it were, is neutral with regard to its modes of signification, we might wonder why it is not univocal. Aquinas holds that terms are to be deemed univocal or equivocal according to their use in sentences. Ross points out in this connection that Aquinas conceived knowing very differently to our contemporary conception of it.³¹³ First, "he assumes that the man is more than quantitatively different from the dog; he is *essentially* different".³¹⁴ He also assumes that knowing is "the possession of the form of another as belonging to another according to one's natural mode of possession".³¹⁵ Since knowledge is pre-eminently possessed by God and only secondarily by human creatures, we must therefore

³¹² McInerny, 1971, p. 151.

³¹³ Ross, 1976, p. 122.

³¹⁴ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

³¹⁵ Ibid., p. 123.

acknowledge that the use of 'knowledge' is equivocal when applied to God, to human creatures and to animals, for not only are the three essentially different, they must also necessarily possess knowledge according to their different modes of possession. The upshot of this part of the discussion is that in terms of what is signified, the *res significate*, analogous predicates are used univocally, but in terms of how what is signified is manifested the analogous predicates are used equivocally. We have the same result when we come to consider Aquinas' second use of *modus significandi* and its function. Here we are concerned with how we learn to use the term in question; "for we express things by a term as we conceive them by the intellect: and our intellect, since its knowledge originates from the senses, does not surpass the mode which we find in sensible objects". 316 This means that our understanding of 'goodness' cannot exceed that which our intellects have been able to garner from our creaturely experience and, thus, that to apply 'goodness' to God is wholly inadequate even though proper proportionality requires that 'goodness' signifies one and the same property in God and in human creatures.

A third characteristic of analogy by proper proportionality is that there must be a proportional similarity between what is signified in the two uses of the analogous term. By similarity we understand that two things are identical in at least one respect and that they are never numerically identical. 'Proportion', as Aquinas understands it, is a synonym for 'relation', and proportionality is a question of the similarity of the relations which two things have with some other things, events, or properties. Ross

³¹⁶ Aquinas, 2014, Bk. 1, Ch XXX, p. 46.

takes for example the proportional similarity which exists between Fido who knows his dog-house and Plato who knows his philosophy; "the relations signified by 'knowing' which obtain between Fido and his dog-house and Plato and his philosophy are similar (that is, in its two instances the relation signified by the term 'knows' has some common properties or relations)". We will see in due course that there is some difficulty in specifying in any given instance what these common properties or relations might be.

A fourth and final characteristic of analogy by proper proportionality is that there should be a criterion by which we can establish that two things are in fact proportionally similar, that is, have similar relations. There are two aspects to this: (i) not only must the two things indicated by the predicate be proportionally similar, but, also, (ii) the relations of the things must be similar. In some cases, say ones such as Fido and Plato cited above, one just recognises the similarity of the relations. When we come to consider this characteristic in terms of what we might analogously want to say of God, then if it can be established "that God has certain relations to the world (from empirical premises) then it will follow from the general form of language that the relations are similar to relations of our experience". The difficulty is that we cannot be sure that our recognition of apparently similar relations can be relied upon. Also, even if the conditions for analogy by proper proportionality, that is, that the relations are in fact similar, share a common property, could be definitively determined, how could we be

³¹⁷ Ross, 1976, p. 129.

³¹⁸ Ibid., p. 130.

sure that they obtained in any given case? Ross' view that similarity of relations is defined by their having a common property, he says, "is very similar to St Thomas' assumption that if the relations are sufficiently similar we will recognise that fact and use the term to signify the two relations". 319 Is there a hint here of Wittgenstein for whom we understand the meanings of terms according to our appropriate use of them in forms of life? Aquinas sets out to understand the conditions under which it is possible for believers, whose language and form of life interpenetrate one another, to make meaningful statements. Ross claims that, despite the difficulty in specifying conditions which when satisfied would ensure similarity of relations, the practice of speaking analogously by proper proportion is not thereby hampered unduly.³²⁰ It is likely that this claim would be rejected by Burrell who regards the res/modus distinction as "leading quite naturally to some form of intuitionism"³²¹, a standpoint which he rejects.³²² Although Ross does not allude to Wittgenstein, it is interesting that the Wittgensteinian point about the mutual interpenetration of language games and forms of life, that they cannot be understood independently, is relevant here. After all, Aquinas is partly motivated to undertake the analysis of analogical language in order to preserve the meaningfulness and truth of religious statements as made by believers when speaking of God and of their life and relationship with and in him. In this connection, Alister McGrath makes the interesting observation that

³¹⁹ Ibid., p. 131.

³²⁰ Ibid.

³²¹ Burrell, 2016a, p. 139.

³²² Ibid., p. 161, n. 75.

"Wittgenstein's insistence upon the actual usage of words is an important corrective to more ontological approaches to analogy". 323

This line of reasoning however does not persuade Burrell for whom, "the distinction of *res* and *modus* [...] cannot accomplish what Aquinas wants it to". 324 Burrell begins to explain his position by focusing on the structure of predicate terms. He says:

the radical grammatical distinction of subject/object, together with its logicometaphysical counterpart substance/accident suggests the *res/modus* distinction. Starting from a frank recognition of the realism of ordinary language, it proposes some relief by offering a certain distance".³²⁵

It would seem, however, that in Burrell's view this certain distance is illusory because "the manner of signifying is associated with grammatical inflections and [the] distinction wants to claim that these may vary without altering the meaning of the word". Burrell contests this on the grounds that "no name signifies outside of a grammatical position without 'consignifying' as well. Things are simply not distinguishable from their manners". Even though Aquinas insists that our language is entirely inadequate for speaking of God, it would appear, as we saw above, that "some residual core of meaning seems to result from a straightforward use of the

³²³ McGrath, 2007, p. 47.

³²⁴ Burrell, 2016a, p. 136.

³²⁵ Ibid., p. 137.

³²⁶ Ibid.

³²⁷ Ibid., pp. 137-8.

res/modus distinction",³²⁸ that is, in terms of the res significata, analogous predicates are used as co-significations. Burrell's argument is that, since according to Aquinas we can only speak as we understand and we understand in terms of our sensory experiences, then what we intend to signify of God by the res significata must be entirely beyond our grasp. If this is the case, an appeal to the res significata is empty of meaning and the analogous intent fails. This difficulty is clearly related to the difficulty mentioned above of establishing that in its two instances the relation signified by the term 'knows' has some common properties or relations.³²⁹

To echo my point regarding the problems of precision at the beginning of this chapter, Burrell concludes that "the issues of analogical discourse cannot be resolved on the level of logic or semantics alone", 330 and, with echoes of Wittgenstein, he suggests that a semantics "whose unit of meaning is the statement and not the word and whose attention is directed to use as well as structure will provide a satisfactory analysis". 331 He acts on this suggestion by turning to a "philosophical anthropology" 332 which starts by considering the perfections and noting, first, that 'perfect' connotes what must be possessed by something for it to conform to its nature completely, and, second, that "every nature seeks its perfection as its end". 333 This leads Burrell to talk about aspirations, for we are not able to fill out concepts of perfection with content, and the reason for this is that perfections are not about achievement but about aspirations.

³²⁸ Ibid., p. 138.

³²⁹ See pp. 106-7 above.

³³⁰ Burrell, 2016a, p. 139.

³³¹ Ibid.

³³² Ibid., p. 141.

³³³ Ibid., p. 140.

Aspirations, hence perfections also, exist for us not as substantive endpoints but only as a progressively unbiased awareness which is cultivated by "increasingly disinterested involvement". 334 In this way, although all statements about God must be negated, the affirmation of God as the plenitude of all perfections now allows Aquinas to frame analogy as the use of perfection terms whose meaning for us appears under the rubric of aspirations. The essential point is that whereas "everything finite may be denied of God, [...] God is said to be pre-eminently just, merciful, or good",³³⁵ and we can note that the members of the Trinity may be said to indwell one another preeminently. Thus, the legitimacy of analogical predication is now accounted for by the human aspiration towards perfection, which perfection derives from God. This formulation is important in order to circumvent the danger that God's transcendence might be construed simply as the ultimate expression of human existential consciousness, a consciousness capable of aspiring to ever greater heights, revealed by "increasingly disinterested involvement"; this would be idolatrous. Adkins and Hinlicky concur with this conclusion, saying that when "God is used practically for the symbolisation of human aspiration [... this is] idolatrous". 336 Perhaps I should note here that although I draw an analogy between the indwelling of musicians and that of the Persons of the Trinity, the highest degree of co-inherence on the part of the musicians and our conception of what would count as the very summit of musical excellence which would indicate such indwelling, does not fully exhaust the divine indwelling.

³³⁴ Ibid., p. 141.

³³⁵ Ibid

³³⁶ Adkins & Hinlicky, 2014, p. 107.

In speaking of progressively unbiased awareness, Burrell is speaking of an on-going process which he contrasts with "the claims of the medieval theologico-grammatical program that we affirm what was signified while denying all manner of signifying".³³⁷ One of the difficulties with this program was that it drew attention away from the infinite variety of uses to which perfection terms are put. The consequence of this was that 'good', for example, was understood to refer to a category rather than as pointing to an experience framed according to the contours of language-use and experience, a failure so thoroughly explicated by Wittgenstein. In Burrell's view, "use yields meaning", ³³⁸ and he maintains that Aquinas "in effect rejects the notion that talk about transcendent realities, or pervasive metaphysical principles, can be explicated as a series of logical moves". ³³⁹ Furthermore, he holds that Aquinas "tried to show how [analogical predication] is not so much a projection as a recognition of needs, indeed of the imperious demands for order and fulfilment", ³⁴⁰ demands which the human attempts to meet by aspiration.

As I will highlight below with regard to the development of musicianship, aspiration is closely connected with growth; if one truly aspires to something, one needs to grow, in understanding, for example, or in skilfulness, or by becoming fitter, or more sensitive to the feelings of others. Kallenberg outlines what he calls five "aspects" of theological reasoning.³⁴¹ The fifth is 'Theology as disclosive modelling'³⁴² with Aquinas

³³⁷ Burrell, 2016a, p. 163.

³³⁸ Ibid., p. 162.

³³⁹ Ibid., p. 163.

³⁴⁰ Ibid.

³⁴¹ Kallenberg, 2019.

³⁴² Ibid., p. 34.

providing "a toehold into the notion of disclosure models in his notion of 'analogy'".³⁴³ Kallenberg sees the practice of theology as "the employment of [...] growth terms to effect always provisional disclosure models of God. Kallenberg's point is that "a disclosure model shows or gestures towards something that cannot be stated explicitly",³⁴⁴ and by way of example he gives us a series of polygons in which the next polygon has one more side that the previous one, it being easily seen that the series tends to a circle. This is an unfortunate example because the circle can be stated explicitly as the locus of a point travelling on a flat plane at a fixed distance from a fixed point. The example works for Kallenberg because, he says, "a circle has no 'side' at all".³⁴⁵ Nonetheless, the connection with a growing awareness, or, in Burrell's terms, progressive insight, is clear. Kallenberg reminds us that "a significant percentage of words require growth of the speaker if the speaker is to employ them well",³⁴⁶ and his example here is the word 'love' of which, he suggests, teenagers have but a "thin understanding".³⁴⁷ Some decades later the "no-longer" teenagers

will have grown into a deeper fluency with the word 'love' [...] it is not that the word 'love' has changed in meaning over the course of time, but that the human speakers have grown.³⁴⁸

³⁴³ Ibid.

³⁴⁴ Ibid., p. 35.

³⁴⁵ Ibid

³⁴⁶ Ibid.

³⁴⁷ Ibid.

³⁴⁸ Ibid.

If we stay with Kallenberg's example, even though some teenagers can be quite mature in matters of love, we see that what the teenagers point to is certainly love even if they have an immature understanding of it, and this maps neatly onto Aquinas' distinction between the *res significata* and the *modus significandi*. We have arrived at some sort of conclusion with regard to the analogical use of language when speaking of God: "God's *operations* will have properties in common with some operations, like causing, which are internal to the world. And we will *name* God from his operations". This means that what we attribute to God "will not be grossly anthropomorphic and will not be arrived at by invalid arguments". 350

Ross distinguishes several elements which together comprise the analogical use of language in regard to religious statements as analysed by Thomas Aquinas.³⁵¹ First, various relations exist between the world as it can be described according to our experience of it and God who is not part of the world, not another entity in the world. One such relation is the relation of causing. We describe various aspects of our experience of the world in terms of one thing causing another, and we wish to say God is the (efficient) cause of the world.³⁵² But, second, the term which identifies these relations cannot be used in exactly the same way when applied to God as it is when applied to our experience of the world. This is because God does not have properties or relations in the same way as do his creatures; God possesses them in a divine mode, his creatures in a creaturely mode. Thus, we can say that God is proportionally similar

³⁴⁹ Ross, 1976, p. 133.

³⁵⁰ Ibid.

³⁵¹ Ibid. pp. 134-38.

³⁵² Aquinas has adopted Aristotle's classification of causes. Efficient causation answers the question 'who made this, who did it?'

to his creatures because, for example, the relation 'is caused by' is similar in statements which describe something as being caused by God on the one hand and in statements which describe something as being caused by human beings on the other. The proportionality is a question of the term being used equivocally in the two instances but not entirely so. We should note that although we can understand from experience the mode in which entities, including human beings, may be said to possess causation relationally, we cannot do this with God.

But even though we might say God is proportional to his creatures, we cannot specify the positive elements which distinguish the divine mode of God's self-relating from the creaturely mode of relating to others. I defend and explore my analogous use of indwelling language in later chapters below in relation to the members of a string quartet. We can responsibly use the language of indwelling to describe the relationships between members of the Quartet because our understanding of 'indwelling' already comes from 'below'. On the other hand, our use of analogy with regard to divine relations ensures that even our most perfect account of human indwelling will never completely equate to the divine relations.

Third, the consequence of the above two points is that such knowledge of God as we can possess depends on being able to show that relationships do in fact exist between the world and God. Besides having shown this in his exposition of the Five Ways as arguments for the existence of God, Aquinas, as previously mentioned, takes this as a matter of belief and faith.

Fourth, the terms which signify the relation become the names of God. The terms are first analogous by proper proportionality and then become names by attribution since we can call a person by the names of his or her actions on the grounds that the person is the cause of his or her actions; for example, someone who teaches is called a teacher.

Fifth, building on naming God by analogy of attribution, Aquinas then thinks what properties God must have in order to be Cause, Sustainer, and so on. These are ones such as intelligence, free will and simplicity. These can in turn become relation predicates, that is, they can be shown to be analogous to ordinary language use by proper proportionality. This means that, sixth, since all terms used of God are analogous by proper proportionality, this type of analogy is what Ross calls "the general form of language about God". Seventh, we can discern a logical and psychological priority of statements concerning God which are analogous by proper proportionality over statements concerning God which are made analogously by attribution. For example, "God sustains the world" has logical and psychological priority over "God is the Sustainer of the world", or "the world is caused by God" has logical and psychological priority over "God is the First Cause".

Consequences for the thesis

³⁵³ Ibid., p. 137.

Burrell cautions that "awareness is not knowledge, nor is it intuition", and he commends submission to criticism, the avoidance of conscious bias and fidelity to the demands of inquiry.³⁵⁴ The affinity which these recommendations have with the demands made on musicians if they are to give compelling performances is not far to seek. The analysis of indwelling in an analogical way above, opens up this concept for use with regard to music-making. As I will unpack below, music-making need not stress objective criteria by which to judge the performance. What is needed is constant attention to one's own playing and that of others. Using this language of indwelling, I want to stress that there is no place for ego-led opinions in music making. This allows one to stress the need for fidelity to the score coupled with a critical yet constructive approach to the music-making which it engenders. It stresses an awareness of performance traditions, and so on. Insofar as all this pertains to compelling musicmaking, then it is aligned with Burrell's recommendations. This is by no means to establish music-making as an analogue of Christian relating, but it does suggest that the dispositions required for compelling music-making are very close to those which heighten an awareness of what is being aspired to in talk of the perfections which we attribute to God. The perfection which is being aspired to in music-making is a modus significandi of the res significata which is found in God.

Burrell argues that we have progressive insight into the meaning of perfection words.

This applies equally to musicians as they perform together. 'Ensemble', ³⁵⁵ and 'tuning' are two obvious examples here, but so is the developing understanding of a musical

³⁵⁴ Burrell, 2016a, p. 161.

³⁵⁵ With this term, I refer to the 'togetherness' of the players, not to the group as such.

work and what makes for its compelling performance; as a performer one never stops learning, one grows into a piece, one's insight into a performance deepens. As the members of a string quartet grow accustomed to one another, the more they perform together the greater their awareness of one another and of the music. I make a case for this as the development of a co-created creative space which includes not just the performance venue, but the players and the music and listeners. This space is a space of aspiration and of growth. The musicians grow insofar as they aspire to give good musical performances. Another way of stating this is that they become defined as musicians under the impetus of aspiration.

The analogical predications in this thesis are intended to draw attention to what seems to be an analogical resemblance between intra-small ensemble relationality and intra-Trinitarian relationality and, namely, that it is constitutive of the identity of the three Persons of the Trinity on the one hand and the members of a small ensemble on the other. The sole concern here is on the continuity between the relationalities and the identities, and not on the nature of the identities. The relationships are constitutive of the identities in their entirety. The upshot of this is that when I speak of the members of the Trinity indwelling one another, I do so in a way which draws analogically on an understanding of human beings indwelling one another.

In Part 3 below, I make the case that the demands of good music-making are such that the performers must indwell one another. Certainly, like a marriage relationship, musicians have one music-making, a performance whose contours they inhabit as one even though, in the case of a string quartet, they are four. Even though the members

of a string quartet, for example, might on occasion have to play as though their individual parts are somehow antagonistic to one another, 356 they must agree on how, as an ensemble, they are going to convey this aspect of the music to an audience, and in the performance itself they must indwell one another in order to do so; to this extent the performance and the indwelling are one. I argue in Part 3 of the thesis that this indwelling is a relationality which entirely defines the musicians qua musicians. This is the basis of my claim that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating, for just as the indwelling which is enjoyed by the members of the Trinity is a comprehensive form of relationality, this relationality also entirely defines who performers are in the moment of performance. In other words, I argue that an analogy can be drawn between the indwelling of musicians in performance and the indwelling of the members of the Trinity. As I will explore in the next chapter, one way of speaking of Trinitarian indwelling is to speak of perichoresis and this raises issues concerning social Trinitarianism.³⁵⁷ For the moment, however, I consider the validity of drawing an analogy between the ways in which human beings can be said to indwell one another and those in which the members of the Trinity can be said to indwell one another.

³⁵⁶ This is largely a matter of interpretation and would have to be agreed between the members of the quartet as a preliminary to their performance, their mutual indwelling which I argue is necessary in order to secure the interpretation.

³⁵⁷ See Chapter 5.

I argue in the thesis that compelling musical performances are not possible unless there is one-ness, indwelling, amongst the musicians. The argument is pursed in various contexts and, especially, in terms of what I dub co-created creative space.³⁵⁸

The kind of analogy I use in the thesis can be formulaically expressed as a:b::c:d, in other words the analogy is a relation between two relations. We are not concerned with analogy by attribution because though there are two different subjects, the predicate term, 'indwelling' in not numerically one as it is in the case of 'Fred is healthy' and 'Fred's colour is healthy' where there is just one state of health. Here we have two indwellings.

³⁵⁸ See Chapter 10.

CHAPTER 5: SOCIAL TRINITARIANISM

A small musical ensemble may be likened to a community, or, better, a 'communio' because it is a unity made up of a certain number of persons who nonetheless retain their distinctive voices within the ensemble: unity within diversity. In a passage worth quoting in full, Greshake defines communio as

a process of mediation; many individuals become a unity that is imparted and reciprocated; the unity resulting from communication has it 'contrary' – multiplicity and variety – not outside itself, but within; the unity of the *Communio* is therefore the enduring unity of many that are different. This comes to exist by the fact that the many partake of one and the same reality [...] a reality that is common in so far as it is communally realised by the giving and receiving it entails. In [whatever] form it may appear, *Communio* means mediation of identity and difference, of the particular and the universal [...] without [...] losing the element of [...] difference.³⁵⁹

As I hope will become apparent in the chapters on performance practice, a great deal of this definition is particularly apt as a description of music-making. Greshake goes on to stress the difference between *communio* and community. Whereas

³⁵⁹ Greshake, 2012, p. 334. The original uses upper-case Cs for *communio*.

'community', he thinks, is "associated with the static being-together of different persons, [...] 'communio' is a thoroughly dynamic term which stresses the very event of the mediation of the particular with the many, the part with the whole, the different with the whole". 360

Nonetheless, the distinction between community and *communio* does little to combat the suspicion that the thesis sails close to social Trinitarianism and is vulnerable thereby to the criticisms which can be made of it. In this chapter of the thesis, therefore, I give an account of social trinitarianism and of some of the more common criticisms levelled against it. I go on to assess these criticisms, especially in the context of the thesis, and to indicate in a beginning way the role which the conception of the Trinity as 'communio' plays in the thesis.

I would like to re-emphasise a point I made in the Introduction, namely that I use social Trinitarianism as a guide for highlighting some of the problems which arise as I engage Trinitarian theology alongside the social practice of music-making. Subsequent to this I use the terms 'social Trinity' and 'Trinity' in a general way which is, nonetheless, sensitive to the problems which I have highlighted.

Although a community-inflected understanding of the Trinity is present in patristic accounts of the doctrine of the Trinity, Moltmann is generally credited with being the first to retrieve such an understanding in modern times. He writes, "what the doctrine

³⁶⁰ Ibid.

of the Trinity calls *perichoresis* was also understood by patristic theologians as *the sociality* of the three divine Persons."³⁶¹ For Moltmann, the Trinity has its counterpart in human life:

the Trinity corresponds to a community in which people are defined through their relations with one another and in their significance for one another, not in opposition to one another, in terms of power and possession.³⁶²

Boff takes a political stance towards the idea of a social Trinity, developing the full equality of the divine Persons in terms of a liberationist theology.³⁶³ Volf, on the other hand, developed the implications of the idea of the social Trinity in terms of ecclesiology.³⁶⁴

Perhaps the most decisive influence on modern social trinitarianism has been that of John Zizioulas. In his *Being as Communion*,³⁶⁵ he argues that the Cappadocian Fathers effected a revolution in ontology by insisting that the being of God is constituted by the mutual relations of the three Persons. Rather than nature and substance, the Fathers suggested that personhood and communion are the primary ontological categories.³⁶⁶ Zizioulas' work greatly influenced that of Colin Gunton, Robert Jenson,

³⁶¹ Moltmann, 1981, p. 198. Emphasis in the original.

³⁶² Moltmann, 1981, p. 198.

³⁶³ Boff, 2005.

³⁶⁴ Volf. 1998a.

³⁶⁵ Zizioulas, 2004.

³⁶⁶ Ibid., p. 40ff.

and Christoph Schwöbel, all three adopting a relational and communal understanding of God's being.³⁶⁷

Wolfhart Pannenberg also developed a social account of the Trinity that was grounded in biblical revelation. Catherine Mowry LaCugna, for whom "trinitarian theology is par excellence a theology of relationship [...] the doctrine of the Trinity affirms that the 'essence' of God is relational," has also made an important contribution to social trinitarianism which emphasises the communion of the three Persons in the context of salvation. Most especially, LaCugna sees the radical practicality of the doctrine of the social Trinity to lay in the challenge it presents to us to live in communion with God and with one another. This is an example of the claimed usefulness of social trinitarianism and which is questioned by critics. I deal with this criticism later in this section of the thesis.

Like many of his contemporaries, however, Colin Gunton eventually developed some reservations about labelling approaches 'social trinitarian' or, for that matter, 'psychological'. He writes:

It should be clear by now that, although there is developed in this book what can be called a social rather than a psychological approach, those ways of speaking are highly inadequate. There is

³⁶⁷ Gunton, 1997, Gunton, 1993, Jenson, 1982, Schwoebel, 2003.

³⁶⁸ Pannenberg, 2009, pp. 259-448.

³⁶⁹ LaCugna, 1993, p. 243.

³⁷⁰ Ibid., p. 320.

³⁷¹ Ibid., p. 1 and p. 377ff.

not a 'model' known as trinitarian doctrine, a fixed set of formularies, but rather a process of intellectual development – a tradition – during the course of which a number of conceptual possibilities have been shaped.³⁷²

Outline of relational accounts of the Trinity

To stand back and abstract some of what we might take as the parameters of these kinds of relational accounts of the Trinity, we can usefully begin with Van den Brink's "four clearly distinguishable insights" which are common to the writers mentioned so far, he says "these insights may be seen as the heart of a social (or communal or relational) view of the Trinity". 373 Of the four, I choose three.

The first insight is that it is better to think of God as three-personned in the sense of being three equal centres of consciousness than to risk "impersonal alternatives ('modes of being', etc.) which conjure up the image of God as, in the end, a unitary substance or single subject".³⁷⁴ Second, the relationship of love shared freely is paramount because eternal perfect love is constitutive of the personhood of the Father, Son and Spirit. Thus, "Father, Son and Spirit find their personal identity in their eternal perichoretic relationality".³⁷⁵ I turn to the theme of love in the last chapters of the thesis, and attempt to show that the identities of musicians *qua* musicians as they

³⁷⁵ Ibid.

³⁷² Gunton, 1997, p. 195.

³⁷³ Van den Brink, 2014, p. 336.

³⁷⁴ Ibid.

make music together is precisely a question of their egoless mutual interweaving as they freely give themselves to the demands of good music-making. I hope to argue that the relationships demanded by good music-making analogically resemble those which obtain within the Trinity, and, thus, that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating.

The third insight I choose is that the doctrine of the Trinity has ethical implications. Specifically, according to Van den Brink, it should "guide and inform Christian ways of viewing, experiencing and acting in relation to God, ourselves and the world". 376 This insight links to my thesis but is significantly different to it. It is worth noting a point (which I will develop further below) of contrast between my own analogical account and this view which was developed in social Trinitarianism models summarised above: rather than arguing that musicians should seek to relate to one another as the members of the Trinity are conceived to do, I argue that they do so relate under the demands of good music-making. In this sense their relationships are not a mirror of those between the members of the Trinity, musicians do not set out to mirror trinitarian relations. Rather, it is that if there is to be good music-making, then these relationships must be in place, if they are not, I will argue, the music-making is severely adversely affected. Just as, on a social Trinitarian model, the members of the Trinity find their identities in the perichoretic relationships between them, so, I shall hope to argue, do the musicians find their identities. Indeed, the identity of, for example, a

³⁷⁶ Ibid.

string quartet is precisely a question of four centres of consciousness whose separate identities are together constitutive of the one quartet.³⁷⁷

Some criticisms of social Trinitarianism

Van den Brink helpfully summarises the principal criticisms in modern theology of social Trinitarianism.³⁷⁸ To begin with, doubts are expressed by some theologians about the practical usefulness of social trinitarianism. In particular, Kilby and Holmes point out that different theologians draw "different practical conclusions from [social trinitarianism], and that these differences simply reflect their own preconceived views".³⁷⁹ Holmes, writing that "wildly divergent implications can be drawn from the same doctrine", takes the view that this undermines the practical usefulness of a social doctrine of the Trinity.³⁸⁰ Kilby's case is that those who espouse social Trinitarianism are projectionists, that is, they presume to fill in the concept of perichoresis with analogies drawn from human experience and relationships characterised by love and empathy. The concept, that is, a concept of what is taken to be inter-trinitarian relationality but which is in fact a projection from human society onto trinitarian life, is then used to undergird suggestions as to what would be desirable in human society. On this showing, the usefulness of the doctrine is hopelessly compromised.

³⁷⁷ I shall have much more to say about this as the thesis progresses.

³⁷⁸ Ibid., pp. 337-49.

³⁷⁹ Ibid., p. 338.

³⁸⁰ Holmes, 2009, p. 82.

Van den Brink, however, thinks that Holmes goes too far, for "if pointing out that two theologians [Volf and Zizioulas] who disagree about the implications of a certain claim is enough to falsify that claim, then certainly not a single piece of Christian doctrine [...] will stand". 381

This seems a valid but weak rebuttal of the 'usefulness' objection to social trinitarianism. Though we might say social trinitarianism is useful, this is not enough. It is more than useful, for, if a legitimate model, which it seems to be at least at the economic level, it does not merely have implications but is an imperative for human living, relationships, and community. Social Trinitarianism is not merely useful on account of implications for living, but, if a legitimate doctrine, it issues a challenge which goes to the heart of what it is to be Christian. This leaves open the question of the legitimacy of the doctrine.

Kilby's criticism seems to cut much more deeply than does Holmes'. Van den Brink gives two examples which seem to bear that out. First, he tells us that Zizioulas' appeal to Cappadocian sources is now often considered to be indebted in some degree to "twentieth-century existentialist notions of freedom". Second, van den Brink provides an example of ideological abuse of social trinitarianism: "Chinese church leaders recommend it because it seems to fit neatly into the idea of a harmonious

³⁸¹ Van den Brink, 2014, p. 338.

³⁸² Ibid.

society as propagated by China's rulers". 383 Van den Brink's counters this by contending that,

these dangers do not specifically threaten social trinitarianism, however, but every form of theology which does not consciously take its starting point in God's revelation. Therefore, whether or not social trinitarians are guilty of projection depends on whether or not they are true to the sources of the Christian faith. For if they are, it cannot be sustained that they project their own or their society's 'latest ideals of how human beings should live in community' onto God.³⁸⁴

Part of the dogma of the Trinity is that the three Persons are indeed bound together as One. Kilby is provoked by the thought that what binds them together is given a name, namely, 'perichoresis', and that this concept is then filled in with human estimations of what constitutes such mutual interpenetration, cooperation, and community. This is indeed a potentially dangerous move. However, faith in the Persons being so perfectly bound together – that the action of one Person is the action of them all as the one God, for example – includes the understanding that their identities are entirely a question of these mutually interpenetrating relationships. Moreover, whatever it is that binds them together – love, cooperation, empathy - is

³⁸³ Ibid. Van den Brink references Kung, 2011; a paper given at the second conference of the East-West Theological Forum, Seoul, 6-9 April 2011 (there is no page number). The quotation I have given is from van den Brink.

³⁸⁴ Van den Brink, 2014, pp. 338-339. The embedded quotation is from Kilby, 2000, p. 441.

manifested to perfection in their inter-relations, is the very stuff of those relations, their constitutive elements. Therefore, any analogous resemblance between the way in which the members of the Trinity relate to one another and the way in which performers relate to one another must have profound consequences for the thesis, indeed it forms the basis for the claim that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality. Even though the nature of God in se is beyond human comprehension, the dogma whereby the three Persons are understood as perfectly bound together is upheld as part of the basic understanding of God; it seems inconceivable that the three Persons are not perfectly bound together. In the thesis, I shall argue that this being perfectly bound together which results in the formation of identity amongst the members of the Trinity analogically resembles that which obtains between musicians performing together under the demands of good music-making; the latter are not the result of a conscious attempt to take the relationships amongst the members of the Trinity as a model to be cultivated or instantiated in musicmaking. As I make this argument, is there a danger that I use 'love', for example, univocally with reference to the Trinity and members of small musical ensembles? Though we talk about the love of the Father for the Son or for his creation, we do so analogically. This is an analogical predication which is akin to analogy by attribution which has been discussed in the previous chapter. Here we can note that there are two subjects, God and human beings, but there is not one state of affairs, rather we have two loves, divine and human.

There is the question about the extent to which social Trinitarianism reflects the authority of Scripture. Cornelius Plantinga is clear that "a person who extrapolated

from Hebrews, Paul and John would naturally develop a social theory of the Trinity". 385

This seems true of the economic Trinity. Sanders tells us that "everyone is bound to be a social trinitarian at the economic level". 386 This, however, leaves the question open at the immanent or ontological level which concerns God's innermost being.

Whilst it may be true that a reading of Scripture could tend towards a social Trinitarian understanding of the Trinity, this needs to be demonstrated. Mosser makes the point that classical trinitarians

have always been aware of the kinds of texts modern social trinitarians cite in favour of their distinctive positions. Moreover, they have always accepted the evidence drawn from these [biblical] narratives in a straightforward manner.³⁸⁷

This means that if we are to be persuaded of social Trinitarianism, then its advocates need to show that the biblical sources do rather more than simply allow for a social Trinitarian understanding of the Trinity. Since classical Trinitarianism affirms the 'one God, three Persons' understanding, it needs to show what the biblical sources can provide by way of support for its distinctive understanding of the Trinity.

All this does not refute Kilby's criticism that human categories are used to explain how perichoresis works to maintain God's unity. This means that Kilby's 'projection'

³⁸⁵ Plantinga, 1989, p. 27.

³⁸⁶ Sanders, 2007, p. 45.

³⁸⁷ Mosser, 2009, p. 147.

criticism stands, and so it is questionable whether the supposed practical usefulness of social trinitarianism can be upheld.

A further objection to social Trinitarianism is articulated with particular force by Kilby:

The doctrine of the Trinity, I want to suggest, does not need to be seen as a descriptive, first order teaching – since there is no need to assume that its main function must be to provide a picture of the divine, a deep understanding of the way God really is. It can instead be taken as grammatical, as a second order proposition, a rule, or perhaps a set of rules, for how to read the Biblical stories, to think and talk about the experience of prayer, how to deploy the 'vocabulary' of Christianity in an appropriate way.³⁸⁸

Mosser's view, which complements Kilby's, is that social Trinitarianism takes the New Testament witness to the roles of Father, Son and Holy Spirit to be "direct descriptions of their immanent relations, [thus collapsing] the distinction between the economy of salvation narrated by the text and the life of God in himself". This is one of the criticisms made of Rahner's Rule that "the economic Trinity is the immanent Trinity and the immanent Trinity is the economic Trinity". Barth held that the Rule was correct insofar as there is just one Holy Trinity which exists in two forms, but that it was incorrect insofar as it suggests that the two forms can indeed be dissolved

³⁸⁸ Kilby, 2000, p. 443.

³⁸⁹ Mosser, 2009, p. 147.

³⁹⁰ Rahner, 1970, p. 22.

together. Hunsinger's commentary brings out the force of Barth's position: "If the Trinity's 'immanent' form is eternal, while its 'economic' form is temporal or historical, then to collapse the two forms would be to collapse the distinction between time and eternity, and thus between God and the world".³⁹¹

We seem to have reached something of an impasse. On the one hand it is clear that on the Barthian view we cannot collapse the immanent and economic Trinities together, on the other hand it would seem that of God in himself we can know nothing since he is absolutely other. This is a most unsatisfactory situation because we cannot know if the God revealed to us in the economy of salvation is the true God or whether the true God is something quite different. However, Barth points out that if we distinguish between *Deus revelatus* and *Deus in se*, we render the idea that God reveals himself void, therefore:

If we have to do with His revelation we have to do with Himself and not, as modalists of all periods have thought, with an entity distinct from Himself. And it is as the answer to the question about the God who reveals Himself in revelation that the doctrine of the Trinity interests us. [...] In a dogmatics of the Christian Church we cannot speak correctly of the nature and attributes of God without

³⁹¹ Hunsinger, 2014, p. 310.

presupposing that it is God the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost of whom we are speaking.³⁹²

For the purposes of the thesis, I shall follow Barth and take it that the God whom we know in revelation and in the economy of salvation is indeed the true God, even though our ways of speaking of him can never reach him as he is in himself, whilst remembering, however, that we know in faith that God does not reveal himself in ways which conflict with or contradict his inner being. This claim rests, to some extent, on my account of analogy and relations developed above.

There is however a further objection to social trinitarianism which I must attend to: that it fails to do justice to the unity of God. This issue is very relevant for the thesis because many social Trinitarians maintain that it is the perichoresis of the three divine Persons which constitutes their unity. Rather than the three Persons being separate, self-sufficient individuals, their very identity is what it is solely in view of their reciprocal relationships of love, relationships which, therefore, are the very being of the three Persons. In the thesis I shall argue that, under the demands of compelling music-making, that is, not as a result of a decision to try to institute the community relations which might be said to obtain between the Persons of the Trinity, this perichoretic relationship analogically resembles that which obtains between musicians when they make music together, and that the identity and unity of the performing ensemble is thus constituted, and this is the basis upon which I maintain

³⁹² Barth, 1936, p. 358.

I think that a robust account of analogy addresses this problem, at least to a certain extent. I have also, in Chapter 4, argued that there is a limit to analogical reasoning: it stops short of describing the inner divine life.

I have already applied 'community' to a musical ensemble, but the reciprocal bonds of love in divine communion so far surpass any human community that the analogy seems entirely misleading. And so the question becomes one of the legitimacy of any understanding of the Trinity whatsoever. Kilby's remarks are pointed. Referring to the descriptions some social theorists give of the Trinity, she says "social theorists speak of intense empathy, of verve and zest. Where exactly, one might wonder, did they acquire such a vivid feeling for the inner life of the deity". 393 Cornelius Plantinga is a case in point, for he portrays the Trinity as "a zestful, wondrous community of divine light, love, joy, mutuality and verve [in which] there is no isolation, no insulation, no secretiveness, no fear of being transparent to another". 394

Tritheism

A particularly difficult aspect of this assumed knowledge of the inner life of the Trinity is that social Trinitarians speak of the three centres of consciousness of the three Persons. Barth and Rahner reject the notion that the divine *hypostaseis* is of distinct persons precisely because that would "make it impossible to do justice to God's unity

³⁹³ Kilby, 2000, p. 439.

³⁹⁴ Plantinga, 1989, quoted by Kilby 2000, n. vii.

and would in fact lead us into the realm of [...] tritheism".³⁹⁵ Barth does not equivocate: "the meaning of the doctrine of the Trinity is not that there are three personalities in God. That would be the worst and most pointed expression of tritheism, against which we must be on our guard [...] But in it we are speaking not of three divine 'l's,' but thrice of the one divine I".³⁹⁶

Although he is not writing in the contest of social Trinitarianism specifically, Mascall offers a view which combats the charge of tritheism. He takes as his starting point an idea first put forward by Whitehead and Russell in *Principia Mathematica*. A relation between two terms is thought of as a predicate with two subjects instead of the usual one. For example, 'John is taller than Jack' implies 'Jack is shorter than John'. Then these statements are regarded as specifying John and Jack's functions "as subjects of the dyadic predicate" of comparative height. Russell generalised this insight to include relations between more than two terms and predicates with more than two subjects. Using this argument, Mascall tells us that in a triadic relationship "each of the subjects has his own uninterchangeable place, function and contribution, yet each exists and functions only in view of his relation as co-subject with the other two".³⁹⁷ This understanding excludes subordinationism and mitigates tendencies to modalism and tritheism.

Colin Gunton makes this point forcefully: "God is no more than what Father, Son and Spirit give to and receive from each other in the inseparable communion that is the

³⁹⁵ Van den Brink, 2014, p. 346.

³⁹⁶ Barth, 1936, p. 403.

³⁹⁷ Quoted by Kerr, 2014, p. 341.

outcome of their love [...] there is no 'being' of God other than this dynamic of persons in relation". ³⁹⁸ "A person is different from an individual in the sense that the latter is defined in terms of *separation from* other individuals, the person in terms of *relations* with other persons". ³⁹⁹ Furthermore, "A relation is first of all to be conceived as the way by which persons are mutually constituted". ⁴⁰⁰

Although personhood can be understood in terms of finding one's identity in mutual relations with others, does it follow from this that the three Persons are three distinct centres of consciousness and will? Could one not argue that classical Trinitarianism can accommodate this view? On the classical account, the three Persons just are the relations on account of paternity, filiation and spiration.

This returns us to the vexed question of perichoresis, that is, perichoresis is taken by social Trinitarians to explain God's unity. As van den Brink has it: "according to many adherents of social Trinitarianism, it is this perichoretic communion which accounts for the divine unity".⁴⁰¹

Van den Brink suggests that "perhaps it is not incumbent on the social trinitarian to show exactly *how* the three divine Persons are one [...] it is enough to confess *that* the

³⁹⁸ Gunton, 1997, p. 10. Emphasis in the original.

³⁹⁹ Ibid., p. 11. Emphasis in the original.

⁴⁰⁰ Ibid.. Gunton makes similar remarks on pp. 12 and 13. Also see Torrance, 1996, p. 229.

⁴⁰¹ Van den Brink, 2014, p. 347.

three are one". 402 He thinks this is what the doctrine of the Trinity is all about, and appeals to Janet Martin Soskice for whom

the doctrine of the Trinity is precisely the reflective means by which unacceptable inferences from the primary language of the New Testament have been kept in place: for instance, the unacceptable inference from the fact that there are three names – Father, Son, and Spirit – to the conclusion that there are three Gods.⁴⁰³

This 'confessional' or faith approach is unlikely to mollify the critics, however, for they are likely to demand of social Trinitarians that they provide stronger arguments for a position which is vulnerable to charges of tritheism.

Van den Brink proffers two arguments which he says support social Trinitarianism. First, there is the "trustworthiness of revelation or divine self-communication". 404 The argument here has three aspects: a) those who read the New Testament naturally find a social account of the economic Trinity, b) the Barthian claim that when we encounter God's revelation we encounter Godself, and c) Rahner's Rule that the economic Trinity is the immanent Trinity. Taking these three together van den Brink comments that "a

⁴⁰² Ibid., p. 348.

⁴⁰³ Soskice, 2007, p. 113.

⁴⁰⁴ Van den Brink, 2014, p. 349.

social (or relational) account of the Trinity may provide the most compelling interpretation of the biblical saying that 'God is love'". 405

The second argument is "from the nature of salvation". 406 The nub of this argument is that

a participatory account of salvation articulates the fact that Christ died for us and lives in us, that the Spirit prays for us, and that in such ways we are reunited with the Father. All this seems to presuppose if not a social, then at least a fairly robust form of trinitarianism.⁴⁰⁷

This is perhaps disappointing. Van den Brink seems to have conceded that a participatory account of salvation does not presuppose social Trinitarianism, in other words, there is nothing in such an account that would serve to distinguish social Trinitarianism from classical trinitarianism. This unsatisfactory state of affairs is compounded by the fact that classical trinitarianism does provide a robust understanding of God's inner life and outward acts. The Son proceeds from the Father and is sent by him for our salvation. The Spirit proceeds from the Father and the Son and is sent for our strengthening and comfort, binding believers to Christ. This means that we participate, though according to our creaturely mode, in the divine life. On

405 Ibid.

406 Ibid.

⁴⁰⁷ Ibid., p. 350.

this showing, a participatory account of salvation does not require a social understanding of the Trinity.

Bauerschmidt's criticism of social trinitarianism is not dissimilar. Having decried social trinitarianism because "the doctrine of the Trinity is emptied of its specific content so as to serve as a schema or blueprint for various commendable things", 408 he contends that social Trinitarianism

other than the Father who sends the Son into the world for our redemption in the Spirit. Any political relevance of the Trinity must be found not in abstractions made from the doctrine, but in the actual life of God as this is revealed to us in its threefold fullness.⁴⁰⁹

It is true that political matters along with cultural ones, are of minimal interest in the thesis. Nonetheless, one definition of the political is that it concerns how we live together, and this certainly includes how we relate to one another. Bauerschmidt's position seems to be that not only does social Trinitarianism not flow from a participatory account of salvation, but that it tends towards a denial that Trinitarian doctrine is about salvation. This is surely a criticism too far, as is clear from a

-

⁴⁰⁸ Bauerschmidt, 2014, pp. 535-536.

⁴⁰⁹ Ibid., p. 536.

consideration of a very recent approach to social Trinitarianism by Jeffrey Dukeman and to which I now turn.

Mutual hierarchy

Dukeman's approach, which he dubs 'mutual hierarchy', has some features which make it attractive for the purposes of this thesis. First, I will give an outline of mutual hierarchy, then I will suggest why it commends itself to the thesis.

Dukeman provides a useful initial orientation to mutual hierarchy as follows:

the divine Persons have a mutual hierarchical relationship with each other. [...] Each divine Person has a unique hierarchy over the others, and yet each uses this hierarchy to serve the others in a dignified way.⁴¹⁰

Dukeman pursues his theme under what he sees as the tension between hierarchical approaches and equality approaches to social Trinitarianism. This tension is usually "resolved by giving logical priority" to either the hierarchy or the equality approach. When the tension is resolved in favour of hierarchy, insufficient account is taken of the dignity of the divine Persons. On the other hand, when the tension is resolved in favour of equality, insufficient account is taken of the uniqueness of each divine

-

⁴¹⁰ Dukeman, 2019, p. xi.

Person. In Dukeman's view social Trinitarianism must take account of both the uniqueness of the divine Persons, which hierarchical social Trinitarianism does but egalitarian social Trinitarianism does not, and the dignity of the divine Persons which egalitarian social Trinitarianism does but hierarchical social Trinitarianism does not. Dukeman contends that his mutual hierarchy approach to social Trinitarianism maintains both uniqueness and dignity. It does this in two ways: first by associating uniqueness with the hierarchy of each Person over the others in terms of "his vocation" in the economic Trinity and his "personal properties" in the immanent Trinity.⁴¹¹ Second, by giving each Person hierarchy over the others in "a mutual manner" such that each Person seeks "to foster the dignity of the other divine Persons".⁴¹²

The tension manifests itself in relation to the economic Trinity as one which "revolves around matters of interpretation associated with the place, in the biblical narrative, of the Son". Also who tend towards the equality pole stress mutual relations and the mutual indwelling of the three Persons. The problem here, as Dukeman sees it, is that this "confuses the vocations of the divine persons due to the posited similarity between the vocations". Dukeman's example is from Millard Erickson for whom the members of the Trinity do not really have separate experiences if they share consciousness with each of the others. Theorists who tend towards the hierarchy

⁴¹¹ Ibid., p. xiii.

⁴¹² Ibid.

⁴¹³ Ibid., p. 7.

⁴¹⁴ Ibid.

⁴¹⁵ Ibid.

pole stress "the Father's hierarchical sending of the Son". 416 Dukeman takes as his example Pannenberg who stresses the obedience of the Son, noting that Jesus "will not allow himself to be called equal to God". 417 Dukeman comments that "Pannenberg and other hierarchical social trinitarians arguably tend to portray Jesus in the economy as isolated or oppressed".418

When we turn to the immanent Trinity, Dukeman reminds us that Moltmann distinguished in his doctrine of the immanent Trinity between two levels: one of constitution in which the Father constitutes the Son and the Spirit hierarchically by begetting and spirating, and one of relation in which the three Persons relate in full equality. Pannenberg, Boff, Erickson, Gruenler and Gunton offer a different view, one in which the divine processions are seen as mutual relations. 419 The problem, as Dukeman sees it, is that mutual indwelling does not sufficiently account for the distinctness of the three Persons since "there is no hierarchy among them that would distinguish them".420

Even at this early stage, and taking Dukeman's point that mutual indwelling is not sufficient to distinguish amongst persons, we can note that the members of a string quartet, whilst indwelling one another in ways which I indicate in the chapters on

⁴¹⁶ Ibid.

⁴¹⁷ Ibid., p. 8. See Pannenberg, 2009, pp. 319-327.

⁴¹⁸ Dukeman, 2019, p. 8.

⁴¹⁹ Pannenberg, 2009, p. 325, Boff, 2005, pp. 141-146, Erickson, 1995, pp. 303-310, Gruenler, 1986, pp. x-xx, Gunton, 1993, p. 214, and Gunton, 1997, pp. 165-170.

⁴²⁰ Dukeman, 2019, p. 9.

music performance and reception, nonetheless give way to one another in the course of performances thus establishing termporary hierarchies between them.

Dukeman employs the concept of the "differentiated kenotic vocations of the divine

Persons". 421 This concept is intended to capture the way in which, as Dukeman sees

it, each of the three Persons has a unique vocation which involves "authority over the

other divine Persons" yet which is undertaken in such a way that dignity is fostered in

"the trinitarian work". This, Dukeman believes, gives a "more consistently social

understanding of the economic Trinity".422

'Mutual' and 'hierarchy' have explicit meanings in the context of Dukeman's

discussion of the economic Trinity. 'Hierarchy' indicates that each Person has "a

unique or differentiated vocation in relation to the other divine Persons that involves

a hierarchical power over the others". 423 'Mutual' indicates that each of the Persons

limits his power in relation to the others and thereby fosters dignity in the trinitarian

work.

In explaining the mutual hierarchy approach to the economic Trinity, Dukeman

focuses on St. John's Gospel where the Father sends the Son and the Spirit into the

world, a sending necessitated by his vocation as the Creator who is transcendent and

149

⁴²¹ Ibid., p. 53.

⁴²² Ibid.

⁴²³ Ibid., p. 70.

invisible.⁴²⁴ In this context, Jesus speaks of being a servant who is not greater than his master who sends him.⁴²⁵ Dukeman says that

as the Creator who sends the Son and Spirit, the Father is [...] able to empower and provide stability to the missions of the Son and the Spirit, for in his transcendence the Father is not in direct danger in the way, for example, that especially the Son is at the Cross.⁴²⁶

Dukeman's final example of the Father's vocation as Creator is that he is the goal of Creation.⁴²⁷ In these ways, God is seen to exercise hierarchical power and authority over the Son and the Spirit.

The Son's vocation is to be the Saviour of the world. The Son, together with the Father, sends the Spirit into the world and in this he is in authority over the Spirit. He also exercises hierarchical authority over the Father inasmuch as the Father can be seen to be dependent on the Son to the extent that Jesus says, "Father the hour has come; glorify your Son that the Son may also glorify you". 428 Dukeman comments that the Father is dependent on the Son for the success of his own work. 429

⁴²⁴ John 1:1-3, 1:18, 6:46.

⁴²⁵ John 13:16, 14:28.

⁴²⁶ Dukeman, 2019, p. 73.

⁴²⁷ John 14:2, 20:17.

⁴²⁸ John 17:1.

⁴²⁹ Dukeman, 2019, p. 75.

In John's Gospel the vocation of the Spirit is to sanctify the lives of human beings. He is also associated with help, sight, healing, teaching, and bearing witness. Dukeman writes about the Spirit exercising hierarchy over the Father, when, for example, the Father is dependent on the Spirit as recorded in John, 4:23 when the Spirit is responsible for bringing people to worship the Father and teaching them how to do so in truth. Dukeman directs us to John, 6:63-65 where we find "the Father dependent on the Spirit to bring the life of faith to people so that they can come to Jesus". Thus the vocation of the Spirit involves this kind of hierarchical authority over the Father.

Finally, the Spirit exercises hierarchical authority over the Son by, for example, playing a part in the sending of the Son. 432 Two further examples are, first, Jesus' baptism, and second, the role that the Spirit has in mediating the Father's will to Jesus during his time on earth. Dukeman comments that "Jesus is thus dependent upon the Spirit [...] Jesus sees what the Father is doing in his life largely through seeing the external works of the Spirit of the Father". Dukeman's final examples are the "Spirit's sanctifying work in the church", 434 and that the Spirit is the Spirit of truth who will bear witness to the truth leading the disciples into all truth. 435

-

⁴³⁰ John 14:16, 14:26, 15:26, 16:7.

⁴³¹ Dukeman, 2019, p. 76.

⁴³² John 10:36.

⁴³³ Dukeman, 2019, p. 76.

⁴³⁴ Ibid., p. 77.

⁴³⁵ John 16:13.

The vocations of the three Persons, as well as being hierarchical in relation to one another, are kenotic, according to Dukeman, in the sense that each Person limits the use of his power in pursuing his vocation so as to serve the others.

The Son, in pursuing his vocation as Redeemer, manifests kenosis both in relation to creation and to the other divine Persons. In John 13: 12-17, for example, Jesus, whilst pointing to his Lordship and authority as Teacher, tells the disciples that they should do as he has done: serve them in humility by washing one another's feet. In chapter 10, verses 17-18, Jesus makes it clear that no-one has the power to take his life from him but that he lays it down voluntarily so that the Creation may be redeemed. The Son limits his power relative to the Father and the Spirit as he is led and helped by them. In the verses just referred to, Jesus says he has been commanded by the Father to lay down his life and to take it up again. Dukeman comments that the Son

is dignified in that he does not try to perform his mission in isolation from the Father and the Spirit, but rather works with, trusts, and follows the Father and the Spirit in his redemptive mission. [In this way] he fosters their dignity as they too are allowed their roles in humanity's salvation".

⁴³⁶ Dukeman, 2019, p. 80.

An example of the way in which the Father's vocation is exercised kenotically, occurs in John 5: 22-23:

The Father judges no-one, but has given all judgement to the Son, that all may honour the Son, just as they honour the Father.

Whoever does not honour the Son does not honour the Father who sent him.

This would seem to involve the Father in a certain self-limiting. It also means that the Father is vulnerable when the Son is not honoured. The Father is involved in Jesus' life and affected by it. Dukeman comments:

In John, the Father is kenotic relative to the Son and the Spirit both as he empowers and supports their missions and as he is affected by their struggles. Through such kenosis the Father is portrayed as dignified and fostering the dignity of the other divine Persons.⁴³⁷

The Father is kenotic in relation to Creation in that he so loves the world that he gave his Son for its redemption.⁴³⁸ As he sends and interacts with his Son and the Spirit, the Father's authority is at the service of Creation and thereby gives his actions dignity;

-

⁴³⁷ Ibid., p. 81.

⁴³⁸ John 3:16.

despite his transcendence, omnipotence, and majesty he does not keep his distance from the world.

Lastly, the Spirit has a kenotic vocation in relation to the Father and the Son. We see this in John 20: 21-22: as the Father has sent the Son, so the Son sends the disciples and breathes the Spirit on them. The Spirit usually seems to work quietly in his mediating role between Father and Son and this lends dignity to the work and to the Father. Dukeman comments that "the Spirit represents the Father in a humble, loving and kind way to the Son, [and] here the kenotic Spirit is dignified, largely deferring to the Father". The Spirit not only makes himself available for the work of the Father but also for the work of the Son who sends him and for the work of the disciples as he works in their lives filling their words and actions and helping them bear the persecution which they will encounter in their mission. It seems that the Spirit limits his authority as he serves the disciples, comforting and helping them. This is to exercise his authority in a dignified manner.

In sum, then, Dukeman argues for "a mutual hierarchy framework" in which each of the three Persons of the Trinity has a unique vocation the exercise of which constitutes its hierarchical nature and its dignity, and allows for a differentiation within the Godhead:

⁴³⁹ Dukeman, 2019, p. 83.

⁴⁴⁰ Ibid., p. 85.

the Father is the Creator who sends the Son and the Spirit into the world for its sake; the Son is the glorious Redeemer who dies and rises for the world; and the Holy Spirit is the sanctifier of human beings in the world.⁴⁴¹

The mutual hierarchy approach to the immanent Trinity is intended to show the mutual constitution of the three Persons according to which the hierarchy of each over the others is connected with his divine and personal properties and is used to constitute the others in a dignified way. It will be a crucial part of the argument of the thesis that this dignified, one might say, respectful, mutual constitution is a feature of the performing life of, for example, a string quartet and of music-making in general.

Dukeman is careful to stress that "how this mutual constitution occurs in many ways remains a mystery". 442 Is this disclaimer strong enough? Whilst it seems reasonable to think through ways in which the three Persons are mutually constituted, how this happens is surely entirely beyond human ken. Dukeman talks about drawing analogies from "family life and drama", saying that this is an appropriate approach because "human communities were originally made in the image of the Trinity", 443 and because "such analogies are used in the New Testament". 444 But some theologians maintain that the New Testament provides scant support for social Trinitarian models. Welch, for instance, argues that "it is not correct [...] to say that the New Testament bears

⁴⁴¹ Ibid., p. 86.

⁴⁴² Ibid., p. 102. Emphasis is mine.

⁴⁴³ Ibid. Dukeman offers Genesis 1: 26-27 in support of this claim.

⁴⁴⁴ Dukeman, 2019, p. 102. Dukeman offers John 17:21 in support of this claim.

primary witness to the divine plurality. [...] In the New Testament there is no interest in Jesus [...] apart from the action of God the Father", and that "the biblical God is One subject, One Thou, One personal Being". 445

The three Persons complement and constitute one another because each occupies a unique position in relation to the others which is associated with hierarchical properties "so that the divine persons [...] truly complement and constitute one another". 446 The Father's unique properties are leadership, structural grounding and giving stability. The Son's unique properties are responsiveness and completion, while the Spirit's unique properties are intimacy, mediation and fostering fellowship. For Dukeman, Ephesians 5:21 – 6:4 displays a mutual hierarchy framework, with verse 21 of chapter 5 "provid[ing] the overall framework for the entire pericope. Each family member serv[ing] the others through his or her gifts as all live together under Christ".447

In Dukeman's mutual hierarchy approach, the divine processions partly constitute the mutual constitution of the Persons. The Father generates the Son in the Spirit and has an initiating leadership role in divine life. Dukeman argues that the Trinity is organised around, and is stabilised by, the Father. He limits his powers and thus gives dignity to the Son and the Spirit. In this way room is left for the Son and the Spirit to respond in ways appropriate to their personal properties.

⁴⁴⁵ Welch, 1952, pp. 264 and 268.

⁴⁴⁶ Dukeman, 2019, p. 105.

⁴⁴⁷ Ibid., pp. 108, n. 42.

The Son responds to the Father and the Spirit and thus is associated with complementarity and completion. He too limits his powers insofar as room is left for the personal properties of the Father and the Spirit. This also ensures the dignity of the Father and the Spirit, and this means that the Son's

powers in such areas as responsiveness, complementing, and fostering completion are the basic forms the Son's love takes as he uses his personal properties to contribute to the precessions in the mutual constitution of the divine persons.⁴⁴⁸

The Spirit's unique properties are first to respond to the Father and the Son's spiration of him, and second to assist in the Father's generation of the Son, and third to help the Son in his response to the Father's generation. Dukeman comments that "the Spirit in his unique position in the immanent Trinity limits his powers in the midst of his exercising of them to amplify the Father and the Son". The Spirit's powers are those of mediation, intimacy and fostering fellowship, and these forms of his love contribute to the procession and thus to the mutual constitution of the divine Persons.

In sum, Dukeman's mutual hierarchy approach to the immanent Trinity is based on the unique properties of each of the three Persons and which constitutes their hierarchy over the other two. The three Persons respect each other's dignity by limiting the power with which they deploy these properties. Further, the contribution

.

⁴⁴⁸ Ibid., p. 113.

⁴⁴⁹ Ibid., pp. 113-114.

which each makes to the divine processions by so limiting their powers is a crucial part of the means by which they mutually constitute one another. Dukeman's chief analogy by way of illustration is that of preparing and performing a play. He points out that the

playwright needs to use his skills to bring out the best in the director and actor and then leave them room to use their skills, [and that] the same is true in the case of the director and actor.⁴⁵⁰

Social Trinitarianism in the context of the thesis

I end this chapter by viewing social Trinitarianism from the perspective of the purpose of the thesis.

The first of van den Brink's insights, that it is better to think of three centres of consciousness than risk "impersonal alternatives (modes of being) which conjure up the image of God as [...] a unitary substance or single subject", 451 connects with the thesis insofar as I shall argue that the members of a string quartet are four centres of consciousness but that they make up a unitary 'substance', namely, the quartet itself. This aspect of social Trinitarianism, therefore, is apt for use in the thesis. But talk of three centres of consciousness or of God as a three-fold subject brings us dangerously close to tritheism, and this is exacerbated by talk which gives the impression that 'person' is being used univocally rather than analogically. In Grenz's estimation, the

⁴⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 109.

⁴⁵¹ Van den Brink, 2014, p. 336.

overwhelming view in recent years has been that, rather than beginning with the one divine substance, Trinitarian doctrine must start from the three Persons and move to the divine unity. Pannenberg, though, has been to the fore in warning that the social model of the Trinity must avoid any hint of tritheism. It is not that God is three persons who have relations, but that God is three subsistent relations that are persons. In Nicholas Lash's words, "we have relationships; God is the relations that he has [...] God is [...] relationship without remainder".452

Lash's formulation has startling relevance for the thesis. A large part of my argument is that as they perform together, the performers qua performers are their relations which are their identities without remainder. I argue for this especially in Chapters 8, 9, and 10, but also, for example, in Chapters 6 and 7.

These criticisms and difficulties coalesce around the problem of how to understand ontologically 'person' when applied to the Trinity. One possibility is to think in terms of communion. I have explored this concept theologically in Chapter 3. Gunton lauds the Cappadocian fathers for having "create[d] a new conception of the being of God, in which God's being was seen to consist in personal communion". 453 I would like to emphasise that I am not committed to using 'person' univocally with reference to human persons and the divine Persons. Rather, with reference to the divine Persons, I am content to use it simply as a means of 'pointing' to God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Spirit. As I have expressed it elsewhere in the thesis, it cannot be

⁴⁵² Lash, 1992, p. 32.

⁴⁵³ Gunton, 1997, p. 53.

doubted that these three mutually indwell one another, are One. In this I seem to be close to Kilby. She suggests that the doctrine of the Trinity can function as a grammatical, second order proposition. This would mean that we would use it as a rule to guide our reading of the Bible and our use of Christian vocabulary.⁴⁵⁴

Social Trinitarians hold that "the relationship of love shared freely is paramount because eternal perfect love is constitutive of the personhood of the Father, Son, and Spirit". 455 In due course, I will argue that love is a necessary component of music-making, and defend the potential criticism that in doing so I present music-making in an idealised way that might not stand up to empirical scrutiny. 456 I shall argue that love for the music and for one's fellow performers in terms of mutual respect and support is integral to music-making. However, I would like to emphasise that in drawing an analogy between the relationships of the divine Persons and the relationships of performing musicians, I make no claims as to what it is that makes for the perichoretic unity of the Trinity, only that its members are indeed bound together perfectly in love.

The claimed practical relevance of social Trinitarianism⁴⁵⁷ is directly relevant to the thesis, simply because the purpose of the thesis is to test the hypothesis that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating on account of the resemblance of the relationships between performing musicians and of the Persons of the Trinity.

⁴⁵⁴ Kilby, 2000, p. 443.

⁴⁵⁵ See p. 121 above.

⁴⁵⁶ See Chapter 7.

⁴⁵⁷ See pp. 125-30 above.

It is therefore important to make a reasonable defence of social Trinitarianism. To this task I now turn.

How useful is social Trinitarianism? That such very different conclusions for its implementation can be drawn from it, undermines this usefulness and weakens faith in it, especially when these conclusions simply reflect pre-conceived ideas, having been projected onto the Trinity and then, as it were in all innocence, taken as normative for social and political arrangements. However, this criticism does not really touch my concerns in the thesis. First, it is not part of my method in the thesis to implement social Trinitarianism in the context of music-making. Performers do not look to an external model for how they should relate to one another, for that is something which is integral to performing well. Second, I take the mutual indwelling of the three Persons as a fundamental tenet of Christian theology which is beyond doubt, and do not speculate regarding a descriptive content of 'mutual indwelling'. My argumentation requires no more than the bare fact of mutual indwelling on the part of the Persons.

I would like to underline that I do not appeal to social Trinitarianism on account of its usefulness in the sense that I do not set out to address a problem for which it is a good solution. This is a criticism which Cunningham makes of Gunton. In *The One, the Three and the Many*, 458 Gunton fashions a view of western intellectual history which, says Cunningham, opposes a Parmenidean One to a Heraclitan plurality, allowing him to

⁴⁵⁸ Gunton, 1993.

resolve this opposition in Trinitarian terms.⁴⁵⁹ I hope it is clear that in the thesis I am not seeking the solution to a problem in this or any other sense.

Kilby argues that "it is built into the kind of project that most social trinitarians are involved in that they have to be projectionist". 460 Perhaps the straightforward point to make here is that in the thesis I am not involved in a project as a social Trinitarian and so it seems that there is no necessity for me to be projectionist, and, as I have emphasised, performers are formed into a community under the demands of good music-making, not by conforming to an external model. I do, however, find Trinitarian doctrine useful in the sense that I argue for an analogical resemblance between the indwelling of the Persons of the Trinity and that of musicians as they perform together.

Kilby acknowledges that "any language that is used about God is drawn from human experience in some way or other". 461 The problem, as she sees it, is that the difficulty this presents when we come to think through what it is that binds the members of the Trinity together, that is, to fill out the notion of perichoresis, must be drawn from human experience and that, therefore,

what is at its heart a suggestion to overcome a difficulty is presented as a key source of inspiration and insight. So the social theorist does not just say, perhaps the divine perichoresis, which we can understand as being akin to our best relationships, only

⁴⁵⁹ Cunningham, 1998.

⁴⁶⁰ Kilby, 2000, p. 441. Emphasis in the original.

⁴⁶¹ Ibid.

better, makes the three Persons into one God; she goes on to say, should we not model our relationships on this wonderful thing, the divine perichoresis?.⁴⁶²

Kilby says that "a concept, perichoresis, is used to name what is not understood, to name whatever it is that makes the three Persons one".463 Certainly, we do not understand God in se, and so it is clear that the mutual indwelling of the three Persons which perichoresis is, is beyond our understanding, not just because the concept is too difficult to understand but because whatever we do to 'cash it out' fails because our language is inadequate when it comes to descriptions of God. But that the three Persons do mutually indwell one another, that they inter-penetrate one another, remains a legitimate way of understanding intra-Trinitarian relations, even if only because it is inconceivable that this is not the case. Whilst our humanly-grounded understanding of mutual indwelling and of love is not just merely inadequate to describe the inner life of the Trinity but entirely unable to achieve any toe-hold whatsoever on it, the Scriptural warrant for mutual indwelling and love amongst the three Persons is clear: "and behold, a voice from heaven said, 'This is my beloved Son, with whom I am well pleased", 464 "I and the Father are one", 465 "Do you not believe that I am in the Father, and the Father is in me? The words that I say to you I do not speak on my own authority, but the Father who dwells in me does his works". 466 The fact that the Father, Son, and the Spirit are One means that if their identities are

⁴⁶² Ibid., pp. 441-442.

⁴⁶³ Ibid., p. 442.

⁴⁶⁴ Matt. 3: 17.

⁴⁶⁵ John 10:30.

⁴⁶⁶ John 14:10.

mutually constituted, then there is no remainder that is not so constituted. I argue in Part 4 of the thesis and especially in my discussion of conversation amongst the three Persons, that they do mutually constitute their identities. Again, I would like to emphasise that musicians do not look to an external model for how they should relate to one another, but that this is integral to good music-making.

This, then, is my basal use of the doctrine of the Trinity. Kilby asks, "Where exactly, one might wonder, did they [social Trinitarians] acquire such a vivid feeling for the inner life of the deity". 467 My basal understanding of the Trinity does not involve me in claims regarding my 'feeling' for the inner life of the deity. It only extends to the Scriptural assurance of the mutual indwelling of the Persons, their love for one another, and that their identities are entirely coterminous with their relations of indwelling.

My analogical comparison, then, is between this basal understanding of intratrinitarian relationality and the relationality of musicians as musicians. Human relationships are often characterised by mutual love, an indwelling whereby we are sympathetic to one another's needs and sensitivities, whereby we support and respect one another, build one another up, and so on. My argument is that music-making is an exemplification of this. I shall argue that qualities of selflessness, respect, co-

⁴⁶⁷ Kilby, 2000, p. 439.

operation, and love, in other words, a degree of mutuality which it is hard to find in other spheres of human activity, are integral to, demanded by, good music-making.

Is social Trinitarianism true to its claimed patristic and Scriptural sources? I need defend only my basal understanding of social Trinitarianism, and that I have done above with Scriptural quotations which precisely use the language I wish to use in describing the relationships which exist between those who make music together. Perhaps, nonetheless, it would be as well to emphasise my argument, that though the issue of analogical predication is ever present, there is Scriptural warrant for such language use. Jesus must needs use human language to describe his divine relationship with his Father. Jesus did not speak in the belief that his hearers would be entirely uncomprehending. He knows how we will understand what he says, and so we can surely use the same language to articulate our understanding of his relationship with his Father as he does. This is not to say that in so doing we have knowledge of this relationship as it is within Godself, and so perhaps this is the point at which we are confronted by mystery, the point at which, having spoken, we relinguish speech, embrace apophaticism. Karen Kilby argues that

When we say God is wise or good [...] we at least *think* we know what we are saying, even if a reflection on issues of the *modus significandi* of our words means that we then have to acknowledge

that our conception of goodness and wisdom are not adequate to

God. 468

In my use of 'indwelling', 'love', and other words that Jesus himself uses to describe

his relationship with God the Father, I do not intend, and have no need, to go beyond

an understanding of the inner life of the deity which Jesus himself authorised us to

have.

Another aspect of this objection was that social Trinitarianism takes the New

Testament witness to the roles of Father, Son and Holy Spirit to be straightforward

descriptions of their immanent relations. This, so the objection goes, collapses the

distinction between the economy of salvation as given in the text and God's immanent

life.469

I hope I have done enough to show that I do not take the New Testament witness to

the roles of the members of the Trinity to be "direct descriptions of their immanent

relations",470 and that I do not take my basal understanding of the doctrine of the

Trinity to correspond to a "first order teaching [...] a deep understanding of the way

God really is". 471 I have stressed that we cannot have knowledge of God in se whilst

yet holding to the language that Jesus uses to enable our understanding of the

⁴⁶⁸ Kilby, 2005, p. 425. Emphasis in the original.

⁴⁶⁹ Mosser, 2009, p. 147.

⁴⁷⁰ Ibid.

⁴⁷¹ Kilby, 2000, p. 443.

166

relationship of love and indwelling which obtains between him and the Father, which, as Gunton points out is "a conception of relatedness without absorption". 472

Does social Trinitarianism fail to do justice to the unity of God? Bauerschmidt sees one of the primary characteristics of social Trinitarianism to be its emphasis on the distinctiveness of the Persons and its criticism of western theology's "purported emphasis on the unity of the divine nature". 473 Perichoresis is the name social Trinitarians give to whatever it is that binds the members of the Trinity into a unity, and this is chiefly to be understood as a mutual indwelling in love. For Kilby, it is problematic that our projections of what we take to be the best about human relationships – love, empathy, equality, and so on – is then "immediately reflected back onto the world, and this reverse projection is said to be what is in fact important about the doctrine". 474 The reason for this importance is that the Trinity is taken to be a model for human community, society, and relations in general. But I hope I have said enough to persuade that this is no part of my intention in the thesis. Rather, it is as though the relationships demanded by compelling music-making stand on one side of a divide, and those which obtain in terms of the mutual indwelling of the three Persons stand on the other. I am very clear that divine indwelling is not taken in the thesis as a model for how musicians should relate to one another. My argument is that, given the existence of these two sets of relationships as independent of one another, once the resemblances between them are perceived, then the thought that music-making might exemplify in a human way what it is to relate together in Christian ways is going

⁴⁷² Gunton, 1993, p. 205.

⁴⁷³ Bauerschmidt, 2014, p. 534.

⁴⁷⁴ Kilby, 2000, p. 442. Emphasis in the original.

to arise. I say resemble advisedly, because I do not wish to suggest that we can know how the members of the Trinity relate to one another *in se*, but I do hold to Jesus' authorisation of the language of indwelling to describe his relationship with his Father, even though our understanding of 'indwelling' is inevitably derived from human experience.

Given that social Trinitarianism partakes of analogy insofar as the nature of the relationships of the three Persons cannot be known by humans beings *in se,* Heim's analogy of the Trinity is nonetheless apposite: the Trinity "functions like a musical polyphony, a simultaneous, non-excluding harmony of difference that constitutes one unique reality". This is similar to Begbie's use of the triad as a metaphor for the Trinity:

What could be more apt than to speak of the Trinity as a three-note chord, a resonance of life; Father, Son, and Spirit mutually indwelling, without mutual exclusion, and yet without merger, each occupying the same space, 'sounding through' one another, yet irreducibly distinct, reciprocally enhancing, and establishing one another *as* other? ⁴⁷⁶

If we accept the Trinity as revelation occasioned by the economy of salvation, then we can think in terms of Godself on the one hand and of God's work on the other. We can

⁴⁷⁵ Heim, 2003, p. 167.

⁴⁷⁶ Begbie, 2008, p. 293.

go a step further than Rahner's Rule. It is not just that the economic Trinity is the immanent Trinity and that the immanent Trinity is the economic Trinity, but that "through their perfections, the persons of the Trinity perfectly unite their thoughts, their acts, their wills, and their consciousnesses". 477 Bracken also argues that "while as distinct persons they possess separate consciousnesses, nevertheless they together form a single shared consciousness which is perfect in all respects and which thus corresponds exactly to their communitarian reality as one God". 478 Do these formulations say anything more than that the three Persons indwell one another perfectly, and that this constitutes their unity, both of which are uncontroversial from a social Trinitarian point of view? But if there are three separate consciousnesses, what is the force of "together [they] form a single shared consciousness"? Is there not a danger that the separateness is lost in the sharing? Conversely, if a single consciousness is shared, then each person's consciousness would seem to be only a part of the shared consciousness "which [...] corresponds to their [...] reality as one God", and this means that each person is not God. This perhaps gets to the heart of the difficulty of understanding 'three Persons, one God'. At least, though, Bracken has given us a formulation which goes some way to refuting the charge that social Trinitarianism threatens God's unity. Although somewhat redundant, it is perhaps worth saying that we cannot show that the economic Trinity is the immanent Trinity and that the immanent Trinity is the economic Trinity unless we can, as it were, place them side by side and compare them. But theology is not modern science. It operates

⁴⁷⁷ Bracken, 1991, p. 130.

⁴⁷⁸ Bracken, 1985, pp. 24-25.

against a background of faith, and faith teaches that the true God is indeed revealed in the economy of salvation.

I can now summarise my position vis a vis social Trinitarianism as follows. First, my basal understanding of Trinitarian doctrine is not infected with projectionism because I only need indwelling, for which we have the authority of Jesus; I do not need to look to human beings for examples of whatever it is that binds the three Persons together. Second, I take from mutual hierarchy that the identities of the Persons are constituted by their relationships with one another. Whilst this claim is not unique to mutual hierarchy, it is especially well expressed there. It is part of my argument that the identities of performing musicians are formed by and as their relationships with one another. Third, the unity of the three Persons can be conceived only by way of an analogy, not in itself. The analogy (not example) of a string quartet is useful; its members have separate centres of consciousness, yet they share in a single consciousness understood partly in terms of their commitment to, and awareness of, the coherence of performance. What is so powerful about this analogy is precisely that it is only valid in the context of the actual making of music, not, for example, when the quartet members are discussing interpretation. This is why I argue that musicmaking, not just music, is a performed theology of Christian relating. It is the musicmaking which binds them together, which is perichoretic and is constitutive of their unity. Thus, in the case of the quartet, we can know what binds its members together, namely, a shared consciousness as to the coherent performance of the musical work, together with actual performance. And we can say that their identities are formed out of the relationships that a good performance of the work demands. This makes the comparison with mutual hierarchy especially striking, especially insofar as the members of a string quartet have particular roles within the quartet, now deferring to one another, now taking the lead, and so on. Again, I wish to emphasise that this does not involve projection of the relationships required for good music-making upon the Trinity, rather, it is a question of comparing two sets of relationships which are sufficiently known independently of one another.

I argue in Chapter 11 that the conversation which takes place within the Trinity is constitutive of each Person's identity. Whilst conversation is an analogy, I show that there is Scriptural warrant for this. Again, the comparison with the music-making of a string quartet is noteworthy.

There is a final question about whether I am justified in slimming down social Trinitarianism to suit my purposes in this thesis. I have, after all, subtracted any knowledge of what in itself it is that binds the Trinity together, and I have side-stepped doubts about the extent to which social Trinitarianism is true to Scriptural and patristic sources by arguing that Jesus authorised the use of the language of indwelling when he wished the disciples to know what the nature of his relationship with the Father is. When it comes to the making of identities by virtue of the relationships which obtain between the members of the Trinity, the basic theme of mutual hierarchy, the mutual deferring according to the roles of the members of the Trinity, seems well attested in Scripture and adds strength to the argument that the identities of the members of the Trinity are entirely a question of the relationality of their mutual indwelling. Stanley Grenz, referring to what he calls "the coalescing of theology with the widely accepted

philosophical conclusion", says that "'person' has more to do with relationality than with substantiality and that the term stands closer to the idea of communion or community than to the conception of the individual in isolation or abstracted from communal embeddedness". ⁴⁷⁹ The analogical resemblance of this to the mutual indwelling of the members of a string quartet is the basis for the claim that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality.

It is a mainstay of the argumentation of the thesis that this description of the Trinity as a self-indwelling which constitutes the identities of the three Persons in their entirety, applies to human beings in the particular situation of music-making. Kathryn Tanner poses the main problem with this as follows:

No matter how close the similarities between human and divine persons, differences always remain – God is not us – and this sets up the major problem for theologies that want to base conclusions about human relationships on the Trinity.⁴⁸⁰

Now I do want to base a conclusion about human relationships on the Trinity, namely, that the relationships of performing musicians are an exemplification, humanly speaking, of Christian relationality. Tanner asks, "how exactly [...] does a description

⁴⁷⁹ Grenz, 2001, p. 4.

⁴⁸⁰ Tanner, 2012, p. 378.

of the Trinity apply to us?".⁴⁸¹ She says that "three specific problems arise here".⁴⁸² First

the differences between God and us suggest we do not understand very well what we mean when using ordinary language to speak of the Trinity. What the Trinity is saying about human relations becomes unclear, because the meaning of the terms used to talk about the Trinity is unclear.⁴⁸³

Tanner lights on three instances: granted the three divine Persons are equal, but in what sense? Or what does it mean to say that they are 'in' one another? Third, if the three Persons are distinguishable in virtue of the character of their relations, can we really have anything like an "exact" understanding of that character? Tanner concludes that because God is little comprehended by us, then "discussion of the Trinity, all by itself, seems of little help in better understanding human relationships".⁴⁸⁴

Above, I have tried to suggest that difficulties such as these are mitigated by Scriptural authority and by Jesus himself. Jesus uses the language of equality and relationship, and this suggests that we do so quite legitimately. Whilst that we cannot have an exact understanding of the character of intra-Trinitarian relationships is beyond question,

⁴⁸¹ Ibid.

⁴⁸² Ihid

⁴⁸³ Ibid.

⁴⁸⁴ Ibid.

should we not acknowledge a danger in "positing God's otherness and transcendence in so absolute a fashion that all assertions [...] could never in any way, any longer, be a testimony". ⁴⁸⁵ In this circumstance "God would become a mere vanishing point [...] his transcendence would no longer have sufficient force to reach our immanence". ⁴⁸⁶ Hemmerle goes further: God cannot reveal himself in other than human words, but since God is the condition for human words then they are both prior to God, that is, we learn them first in human interaction, and subsequent to God. This maps on to Aquinas' distinction between the order of things and the order of knowing which was discussed in Chapter 4. Hemmerle sums up:

For that God should surrender what is proper to Him to an interpretive horizon which is determined by what is proper to another, by another's possibilities – by what is proper to and possible to human beings, precisely – that God, who comes before everything, should come, in His word, after another, is an assertion of singular import about God.⁴⁸⁷

What we have here is, in Hemmerle's words, "a double a priori [...] the a priori of the divine for the human and the a priori of the human for the divine". 488 Revelation and theology on this showing are necessarily anthropological but not entirely so.

⁴⁸⁵ Hemmerle, 2020, pp. 11-12.

⁴⁸⁶ Ibid., p. 12.

⁴⁸⁷ Ibid., p. 15.

⁴⁸⁸ Ibid., p. 18.

Tanner's second specific problem is that "much of what is said about the Trinity simply does not seem directly applicable to humans", 489 and this is mainly a question of human finitude. Tanner's example is extremely pertinent to this thesis. She says that human beings can indwell one another only metaphorically; it is key to my argument that musicians indwell one another when performing together. Tanner says when one member of the Trinity acts, so do the others; this is not the case for humans. Even though I can enter empathetically into a loved one, I do not act when my beloved does.⁴⁹⁰ Jesus is God, therefore when Jesus acts, God in his triunity acts. But human A is never human B. Even so, can one person not act for another? If, in a legal sense, A acts for B, the action carries all the authority it would if performed by B, and B can be held responsible, and so on. From the perspective of the thesis, it is interesting to note that it is not finally clear that our actions are quite so ineluctably ours and can never be another's too as Tanner seems to suggest. It is not simply that we talk quite reasonably of joint action. Rather, it is that if A is playing the cello, then, normally, B cannot play it at the same time. Nonetheless, Peter Schidlof, the violist of the Amadeus Quartet, tells us that,

When I play the viola, I don't think particularly about my part only, I think much more about the other parts. I imagine I am playing the first fiddle or the cello, and one just fills in. 491

⁴⁸⁹ Tanner, 2012, p. 378.

⁴⁹⁰ Ibid., p. 379.

⁴⁹¹ Nissel, 1998, p. 10.

It is true that Schidlof 'only imagines' he is playing the other parts, but his imaginative entering into the performance of the other parts seems to chip away at Tanner's flat assertion that we cannot enter into one another's actions. Imagination is a mental act which is integral to the physical act. Schidlof is not simply being empathetic, he is not simply attuned to what the other players are doing. Is it not suggestive that we can say that in imagination he *actively* enters into their playing? Schidlof's remarks seem to suggest that he plays all the parts and sounds just one of them. This compares with a keyboard player who is playing all the parts, say of a fugue, and who is responsible for the sounding of all the parts; the sounding is continuous with the physical playing. But suppose the keyboard were a dummy one so that the physical playing produced no physically detectable sound, the sounding being an entirely mental phenomenon existing only in the player's mental space. Schidlof says he plays all the parts, and in this he is like the player of the dummy keyboard except that he sounds one of the parts and hears the others. And what seems to be true for Schidlof, we can reasonably suppose to be true for the other three members of the quartet.

Or think of Jack and Jill toiling up the hill carrying a pail of water between them. Is there not one action of which both Jack and Jill are equally the agents?

Tanner makes this point about human beings not being able to be in one another in terms of "overlapping subjectivities"; human beings cannot have them. 492 Perhaps, though, the string quartet and Jack and Jill examples raise some doubt about this.

⁴⁹² Tanner, 2012, p. 378.

Although person A cannot occupy the same space as person B, it is less clear that A's subjectivity cannot overlap B's subjectivity. If subjectivities are defined (at least in part) by their objects, then the members of a string quartet have a common object in view, not just their own part. And Jack and Jill have a common purpose, namely, to carry the pail of water. Who they are in terms of their subjectivities as they carry the pail is the same to the extent that they are engaged in the same action, not the same as in Jack carries this pail and Jill this other pail, but the same as in they are both carrying the same pail. This seems generalisable: the members of a football team share subjectivities, they are all engaged in the same activity, namely, trying to win the game, that is, playing the same game in terms of strategy, pulling together, not engaged simply in wishful thinking but keeping to the same game-plan. Think of the employees of a company, or any joint enterprise. Could one not say that to the extent that those engaged in a joint venture do not have overlapping subjectivities, then to that extent the venture is less likely to succeed? And does this not apply to performing string quartets?

Tanner also worries that

divine persons [...] seem much more relational than human beings.

Human persons can never be as closely tied to their relations with

others as persons in the Trinity are commonly thought to be.⁴⁹³

⁴⁹³ Ibid., p. 379.

One facet of this worry is that human beings precede their relationships, whereas the persons of the Trinity do not precede the relations that make them who they are.

Tanner says,

human beings have no character to begin with as that is decisively shaped by what happens to them later: I therefore exist prior to relations with duplicitous significant others, for example, that end up making me a bitter, distrustful old person.⁴⁹⁴

There is perhaps room here to wonder about the status of the 'I' in the middle of this claim. Whilst the persons of the Trinity are their relations, it is less obvious that there is an 'I' before my relations with others. Not only is Descartes' method of radical doubt whereby he claimed "I exist" having 'subtracted' the existence of others flawed, but Wittgenstein has shown the impossibility of a private language. Perhaps Tanner's point is that the persons of the Trinity are their relationships without remainder, but that that is not the case with human beings. Is there a slippage here from talking in terms of persons, both human and divine, to talking of an 'I'? On page 133 above there is some discussion which supports the view – held especially by Gunton – that human persons are constituted entirely by their relations. Gunton makes much of the distinction between an individual, one might say an individual 'I', and a person.

⁴⁹⁴ Ibid.

Consequences of the above discussion for the thesis

What are the consequences of this line of thinking for the thesis? I argue that performers *as* performers for the duration of the music-making are indeed constituted entirely by their relations. To employ the terms of Tanner's argument, performers do not exist as performers prior to their relations with other performers, indeed they exist as performers only while they are performing with others.

Tanner has a further worry which stems from her view that human beings are less relational than divine persons. She says,

Character [...] in human beings is not as bound up with actual relations with others. I can be defined by certain general relational capacities before [...] these capacities are actualised in my relationships.⁴⁹⁵

Her example is that I can have a general tendency to be suspicious "before and whether or not my relations with others give me good grounds to be that way". 496 This seems strange even if only because one could argue that I don't become suspicious out of the blue, but precisely on account of my relations with others. But might I not be born suspicious? Perhaps, but suspicion seems just the sort of thing that arises in the context of relationships with others. Again, to employ Tanner's terminology, whilst

⁴⁹⁵ Ibid.

⁴⁹⁶ Ibid.

it may well be true that some are born performers whose abilities are realised in relationships with other musicians, the characteristics of a performing musician are likely to be principally a matter of being bound up with others; musicians study and form their characters in the context of a tradition, this is a learning which cannot be achieved any other way.

There is one more facet of the difficulties which make it problematic to apply what can be said about the Trinity to humans; this relates directly to one of the concerns of the thesis which is addressed in the Conclusion: what happens to the 'good' relationality which is enjoyed by performing musicians once the concert is over? Tanner says,

the character formed in me in virtue of my relations with others remains even when the relations that gave rise to it end [...] the relational characteristics of Trinitarian persons, on the contrary, are much more tightly a function of actual relationships: the Father, for example, is not defined as someone with the general capacity to beget someone or other, but as the Father who is and remains such only in begetting the Son".

From the point of view of the thesis, though, we should say that as he or she performs this particular quartet, the cellist is not just a cellist in the general sense, but the cellist who, along with the other three players, is bringing this particular quartet to life by playing these particular parts. Yes, it is true that once the performance is over, he or

she reverts to a cellist with the general capacity to play any cello parts, not only this particular part just played. So, in the case of musicians performing together, I would suggest that, during the actual performance, the characteristics of the players both individually and together are more tightly formed by their relationships than Tanner's comments would lead one to think. But I wonder if the distinction between characteristics and relationships is too finely drawn here. Tanner talks about characteristics being a function of relationships. What does this really mean? Could it suggest that the relationships somehow articulate what it is to be the Father and to be the Son? But if this is so, exactly the same could be said about the first violinist in a quartet: the characteristics of being first violinist are articulated precisely by his or her relationships with the other three players. More than this, the relationships are the very stuff of being the first violinist qua first violinist.

Tanner rightly points out that "the character formed in me in virtue of my relations with others remains even when the relations which gave rise to it end". 497 This is not so with the characters of performing musicians, or at least, not to the same extent. Yes, it is not unlikely that when I leave the company of a certain group of people, the characteristics I displayed with them might undergo a kind of weakening, become modified and so on. Even so, perhaps the characteristics that make me a good quartet player – patience, egoless attention to the other players, and so on – remain with me for longer than might often be thought.

⁴⁹⁷ Ibid.

Tanner has a further point which connects with the arguments of the thesis. She says that "the character of a human person takes different forms in the course of relations with different people". 498 This means that "to know a human person in her relations with you is to know her only incompletely". 499 Trinitarian persons, on the other hand,

are fully themselves in their relations with one another and with us [... they] are not in themselves, for example, other than the persons they show themselves to be to us.⁵⁰⁰

The relevance of this for the thesis is that the members of a quartet as they perform together are not other than they appear to be. As with the members of the Trinity, they are fully themselves as players in their relations with one another and with us. When Tanner says, "the human relations that distinguish people never simply define them", ⁵⁰¹ I would like to say that the relations which distinguish the violist from the cellist in a quartet do define them as violist and cellist in that performance in their entirety. Equally, Tanner says that the intensity of relationships in the Trinity never "threaten the individuality of the Persons in the way that relations like that threaten to blur the identities of human beings". ⁵⁰² She thinks that human beings need to "police" the boundaries between themselves and others lest they cease to be their "own person". Her example is that she needs to "break away from the incredibly

⁴⁹⁸ Ibid.

⁴⁹⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁰⁰ Ibid., p. 380.

⁵⁰¹ Ibid.

⁵⁰² Ibid.

intense relationship [she has] with [her] mother" in order to be her own person. 503 This, she says, is not so with the members of the Trinity. But a member of a quartet has incredibly intense relationships with the other players during performance which do not threaten that player's individuality, on the contrary they are constitutive of it; furthermore, he or she cannot be his or her own person as that player during that performance if he or she attempts to break away from the others. Tanner says, "in the Trinity [...] the Persons are absolutely different from one another in the very intensity of the relationships they have with one another. It is because the relationship is so intense for them both, so to speak, that the Father can only be a Father and the Son only a Son". 504 This, I suggest, is exactly the case with the members of a quartet. The greater the intensity of the relationships which the players have with one another, the greater the differences between them are delineated, but always within the context of their unity as a quartet. The intensity of the relationship between violist and the other members of a quartet is the condition for the violist to be the violist as it is for the other players to be cellist and violinists.

We must now address the third and final problem which Tanner identifies in any attempt to apply a description of the Trinity to human beings. It is that

human finitude [...] seems to entail that humans give of themselves so that others may gain in ways that often bring loss to themselves. In the case of Trinitarian persons, in contrast, their perfect equality

⁵⁰³ Ibid.

⁵⁰⁴ Ibid.

is usually thought to involve giving without loss and receiving without increase. 505

Tanner herself argues that the loss incurred in giving is bound up with the fallen state of the world. She says, "it is possible in principle for the world to be arranged in ways that make giving to others a benefit to oneself". ⁵⁰⁶ So this last problem becomes one of the sin, suffering and conflict in human lives which it is impossible to compare with "the peaceful and perfectly loving mutuality of the Trinity. Turned into a recommendation for social relations, the Trinity seems unrealistic [and] hopelessly naïve". ⁵⁰⁷

When we consider a string quartet, we find that the mutual giving and receiving of, for example, rhythmic and melodic phrases, the giving way to one another as first one part then another takes prominence in the musical texture does not involve loss, neither does the receiving involve gain. To this extent, the giving and receiving which is part of good music-making bears comparison with the giving and receiving which Tanner ascribes to the members of the Trinity.

Though Tanner has recommendations for how the gap between sinful, finite humans and the Trinity can be bridged, my interest is rather in comparing relations between the members of the Trinity on the one hand with those between musicians whilst they are performing together on the other. This is not to bridge the gap between humans

⁵⁰⁵ Ibid.

⁵⁰⁶ Ibid., p. 381.

⁵⁰⁷ Ibid.

and the Trinity, only to explore the notion that what is on one side of the gap can bear analogical comparison with what is on the other, the two sides having been previously and separately characterised in terms of an indwelling which in both cases is entirely constitutive of identity. On the basis of this comparison, I shall argue that when musicians perform, their relationality is Christian. Tanner says, "The Trinity tells us what human relations should ideally be like", 508 but rather than wishing to use the Trinity as a model of how musicians should relate to one another during performance, I hope to show that musicians as they perform already relate to one another in ways which bear analogical resemblances with the relationality of the Trinity, and that they must necessarily do so because good performances are not possible otherwise.

Tanner's other strategy for bridging the gap between the Trinity and human beings is to look to the economic Trinity, which, she says, makes it clear "how human relationships could come to approximate Trinitarian ones". 509 In fleshing out this strategy, Tanner raises a potential difficulty for the thesis:

in the economy the Trinity appears as a dialogical fellowship of love and mutual service between Jesus and the one he calls Father – the kind of relationship that human beings could imitate because it is one in keeping with their finitude – in contrast, say, to perfectly mutual indwelling or perichoresis.510

⁵⁰⁹ Ibid.

⁵¹⁰ Ibid.

I try to characterise the relationality of performing musicians as one of indwelling. 'Indwelling' has overtones of settledness, of belonging, of being in the right place, of being, as it were, at home that apply to, say, the members of a string quartet as they perform together. Later in the thesis I employ the concept of a co-created creative space. This is a space all of which is inhabited equally by all the players, they belong to it; it is the space of their perichoretic relationality. For sure, there is no question of their perichoretic relationality being perfect. Neither is it a question of the musicians imitating in any conscious manner the perichoresis of the Trinity.

Begbie and Scruton write about the perichoretic nature of musical sounds in musical space:

When more than one sound is present, occupying the same space which remaining audibly distinct, we may speak of a space not of mutual exclusion but of 'interpenetration' [...] the sounds of a chord can be heard sounding through each other [...] we need only to think of a three-tone major chord, which we hear as three distinct, mutually enhancing (not mutually exclusive) sounds, but together occupying the same aural space [...] the sound is rich and enjoyable, even more so in polyphony when different melodies can interweave and enhance each other.511

⁵¹¹ Begbie, 2000, pp. 24 and 25.

In music [...] we confront a single process in which multiplicity is simultaneously preserved and overridden. No musical event excludes any other, but all coexist in a placeless self-presentation [...] It is as though these many currents flowed together in a single life, at one with itself".⁵¹²

These descriptions beautifully fit our experience of music sounding in space, in the cocreated creative space I introduce in Chapter 9. Begbie makes the point that this is not true of all sounds: "Contrast the confusion of three people speaking simultaneously". ⁵¹³ Could we say that the subjectivities of the musicians are like many currents flowing together in a single life? Could we say that in music-making we "confront a single process"? The concept of a co-created creative space is precisely one in which there are overlapping subjectivities which nonetheless remain distinct yet interweave, interpenetrate, and enhance one another, a perichoresis. And so I would like to go further than Begbie and Scruton. It is not that only musical sounds interpenetrate one another, but that the subjectivities of the musicians do so also. We have the witness of Peter Schidlof already mentioned, ⁵¹⁴ and I would also refer back to my examples of overlapping subjectivities on pages 166-8.

Peter Leithart ascribes agency to the singing voice:

⁵¹² Scruton, 1997, pp. 338-339.

⁵¹³ Begbie, 2000, p. 25.

⁵¹⁴ See pp. 169-70 above.

When we sing together, each voice provides the setting for every other; each is the room in which every other dwells, even as each dwells in the room provided by all the others.⁵¹⁵

This seems close to claiming mutual indwelling for the musicians; in the very next sentence Leithart slips even closer to claiming this:

The sopranos provide a house in which the basses dwell, and the basses lay a foundation for an aural space within which other voices live, move, and have their being. The sounds of the whole choir penetrate each singer, even as the singers inhabit the sound they produce. 516

Finally, Leithart would have us know that "music-making is the form of mutually indwelling society". 517

Leithart has here articulated the basis upon which this thesis will attempt to show that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating. What response, then, can be made to Kathryn Tanner's view that human beings cannot aspire to imitate trinitarian "perfect mutual indwelling or perichoresis"?⁵¹⁸ It is not that musicians do not set out to imitate trinitarian perichoresis, although that is true. Rather, the

⁵¹⁵ Leithart, 2015, p. 95.

⁵¹⁶ Ibid., pp. 95-96.

⁵¹⁷ Ibid., p. 96.

⁵¹⁸ Tanner, 2012, p. 381.

challenge for the thesis is whether human indwelling can be compared with trinitarian indwelling. Do we really have any idea of what trinitarian indwelling is, and if not, how can the comparison be made? My strategy here is very simple: we do not need to know what trinitarian indwelling is like, only that it takes place. And this we know on Jesus' authority. Certainly, the divine Persons indwell one another in ways beyond our human understanding, but indwell one another they do. Therefore, the comparison with human indwelling is analogical. I address the issue of speaking of God in analogical terms in Chapter 4.

Part of Tanner's own strategy for closing the gap between human community and trinitarian community is to "look to what the Trinity is doing for us". 519 She says,

The Trinity itself enters our world to close the gap [...] in Christ the Trinity enters our world to work over human life in its image, through the incorporation of the human within the divine Trinitarian life. By joining us to those relations, Christ gives us the very relations of Father, Son and Spirit for our own. [...] in Christ we are shown what the Trinity looks like when it includes the human, and what humanity looks like when it is included in the Trinity's own movements — the character of a human life with

⁵¹⁹ Ibid., p. 382.

others when it takes a Trinitarian form, as that is displayed in Jesus' own human life.520

Crucially,

the gap between divine and human is not closed [....] by making the two similar to one another, but by joining the two very different things - humanity and divinity - into one via Christ, via incarnation.521

Tanner thus moves away from thinking of the Trinity as something that might serve as a "model" for human community to thinking of it as something in which we "participate". 522 The consequence of this understanding is that "a life-brimming, spiritfilled community of human beings akin to Jesus in their relations with God [...] is what Trinitarian relations [...] amount to in human relational terms". 523 Insofar as the Trinity is still thought of as a social Trinity in this altered understanding, it is now the crucible in which human beings are formed in their relations with one another and with God in accordance with God's purposes for his Kingdom. And so Tanner asks, "To what extent is the Kingdom [...] reflective of the Trinity's own character"? 524 If this discussion of Tanner on the social Trinity seems to have taken us quite some way from a position in which the relationality of the Trinity can be compared to that of musicians

520 Ibid.

⁵²¹ Ibid. 522 Ibid.

⁵²³ Ibid., p. 385.

⁵²⁴ Ibid.

as they perform together, her answer brings us back to it. For Tanner likens the Kingdom to the Trinity because both are

supremely life-affirming for all their members, organised to bring about the utmost flourishing of all. Both are paradigmatic instances of [...] a community of mutual fulfilment in which the good of one becomes the good of all.⁵²⁵

But this is also an apt description of, say, a string quartet. The superlatives must, for sure, be understood in terms of what is possible for humans this side of Heaven's Gate. What is particularly noteworthy for the thesis is that 'life-affirming', 'flourishing', 'community', 'mutual fulfilment', and 'the good of one becomes the good of all' are coextensive with the music-making itself, that is, they are all constitutive of a cocreated creative space which is necessary for successful performances and without which they are not possible.

Whilst we cannot know or have a feel for the mutual indwelling of the Persons of the Trinity as it is in itself, Jesus used the language of mutual indwelling in order that we would *know* about his relationship with his Father: "If I am not doing the works of My Father, then do not believe Me. But if I do them, even though you do not believe Me, believe the works, that you may know and understand that the Father is in Me, and I am in the Father". ⁵²⁶ It would seem that Jesus deemed the language of indwelling in

⁵²⁵ Ibid.

⁵²⁶ John 10: 37-38.

describing his relationship with his Father to be adequate to the task. In using the same language, we can, therefore, be sure that we really do speak with understanding concerning the relationship between Father and Son, even if that understanding is woefully inadequate. When Jesus spoke of being one with the Father, he conveyed to his hearers a truth, imparted knowledge, even if in analogical form. This is the basis upon which the legitimacy of comparing the two sets of relationships rests.

A further aspect of the legitimacy of comparing the two sets of relationships concerns the use of words such as 'love', 'respect', 'giving way to one another', 'taking the lead' and so on. We can question the legitimacy of applying the notions of, for example, 'giving way to one another' and 'taking the lead', both of which are aspects of how musicians may be said to indwell one another as they perform, to performers and to the Persons of the Trinity alike. Here again, it would seem, we run up against issues of analogical predication. Although I take Burrell's point that analogy can only work if a core meaning can be carried through from one analogate to the other and that this is impossible when one of the analogates is God because God is absolutely other, we cannot accept that we cannot say anything meaningful about God because all our understanding of what words mean begins with and is rooted in our own human

.

⁵²⁷ I have addressed the issue of analogy and language-use when speaking of God in Chapter 4. ⁵²⁸ See earlier in the chapter where I discuss Dukeman's mutual hierarchy approach to social trinitarianism which makes much of the way in which the members of the Trinity pursue their "differentiated kenotic vocations" (Dukeman, 2019, p. 53), now exercising authority over one another, now limiting their power so that the others can pursue their vocations to the full.

experiences.⁵²⁹ This is the point at which Cross upholds semantic univocity rather than its value as an ontological category, arguing that

[...] discussion about God could not get started unless the univocity theory were true [...] if there are concepts applicable only to God and not to creatures, we could not know what these concepts are since we have no cognitive mechanism for constructing them.⁵³⁰

Alister McGrath makes a parallel observation: "Wittgenstein's insistence upon the actual usage of words is an important corrective to more ontological approaches to analogy".⁵³¹

The Scriptural use of words attests to the validity of the language-use and conceptual schemes of the mutual hierarchy approach. This approach, as I have sought to show, accords well with descriptions of the ways in which performing musicians relate to one another and which I outline in the chapters on the performance and reception of music and on good performance practice. All these ways, both in the mutual hierarchy approach and in relation to music-making are, in fact, ways of indwelling, that is to say, they constitute indwelling, to act in these ways is definitive of what indwelling is; we cannot be said to indwell one another if we fail to act in these ways.

⁵²⁹ See Chapter 4 on analogy.

⁵³⁰ Cross, 2007, p. 249.

⁵³¹ McGrath, 2007, p. 47.

⁵³² Chapters 9 and 10.

The goal of the above discussion has been to establish that it is legitimate to talk about the mutual indwelling of the Trinity, and that it is possible to do so without the spectre of projection lurking in the wings.

From the discussion in this chapter, I take forward a basal understanding of the relationality which is part of the doctrine of the Trinity, namely that it is one of a loving and mutual indwelling by virtue of which the identities of the divine Persons are formed and defined in their entirety. My aim has been to show that this understanding and its use in the thesis are not vulnerable to the criticisms often made of social Trinitarianism. Finally, my goal has been to show that Tanner's worries about the differences between intra-Trinitarian life and the life of human beings and which centre around human finitude, are not applicable to the life of a small musical ensemble such as a string quartet. On the contrary, I have argued that her characterisations of the life of the Trinity bears analogous comparison with that of a quartet.

That a small musical ensemble is like a community which I compare analogously to the Trinity can give rise to the suspicion that I adhere to some form of social Trinitarianism and that the thesis is vulnerable to some of the criticisms which are levelled at it. This chapter has sought to combat that suspicion, and in the course of doing so it has become apparent, I think, that I am not a social Trinitarian at all. What I have called my basal understanding of the doctrine of the Trinity is indeed of the base of that doctrine. I have laid down some of the basic structure here which future chapters will build on and reinforce.

CHAPTER 6: THE OTHER

In a thesis about relationality, the other will clearly be a central concern. However, I shall not attempt a reconstructed generalised concept of the other for use in the argumentation of the thesis. My general contention with regard to the music-making of small ensembles, is that the members of, for example, a string quartet are best thought of as a unity in diversity rather than as four separate individual 'others' grouped together under the label 'string quartet'. The members of a quartet are placed in a network of overlapping relations; they all exist both for themselves and for the others.

I would like to suggest that for the purposes of the thesis, the string quartet or other small ensemble are the best contexts in which to think relationships between performing musicians. This context is an interesting one for analysis because the other(s) seem to take on a very particular role. Perhaps the closest example is a conversation, but a conversation is not a performance of a script or a score. The performance of a musical score in a small ensemble is sufficiently different from other forms of human interaction to make the others with whom one is involved in it not subsumable under a generalised concept of the other, so in this chapter I develop some of the peculiar aspects of musical relationality in continued conversation with theology. What I would like to do is to explore the approaches to the other taken by various philosophers and theologians, and relate these to the music-making context. In taking this hermeneutical approach, and with its brief references to a theology of

time, my intention in the chapter is to strengthen my arguments about the relationality involved in music-making as such.

Although this chapter is focussed on the human situatedness of self and the other as they 'confront' one another in music-making, my hope is that it does not detract from the overall Trinitarian thrust of the thesis. Rather, the intention is to foreground some aspects of otherness and relationality as they are manifested in music-making. I need to do this because they are integral to the analogy I draw between performers and the members of the Trinity, and the analogy is the methodological fulcrum of the thesis.

Otto and Barth

The concept of the other entered European thought as part of the reaction to the neo-Kantianism prevalent in early twentieth century German thought. Friedrich Schleiermacher and Johan Jakob Fries had emphasised the subjectivity of religious experience in an attempt to resist what they saw as the over-rationalist approach advocated by Kant,⁵³³ and this ushered in the new field of *Religionspsychologie* of which William James' *The Varieties of Religious Experience* is a well-known example.⁵³⁴ In Rudolf Otto's *The Idea of the Holy*, in which he set out to rehabilitate the sense of the numinous, we find an idea of the wholly-other which is formally established and a prelude to the work of Karl Barth.⁵³⁵

⁵³³ Kant, 2018.

⁵³⁴ James, 1985.

⁵³⁵ Otto, 1950.

The Idea of the Holy first appeared in its original German in 1917. In 1919 Barth published his *Der Römerbrief* which contains two arguments that contributed significantly to the development of the concept of the other. The first, which is methodological, is that the problem of the other is timeless. This is Barth's break with historicism, his rejection of the method for which it is axiomatic that meaning and understanding are dependent on historical situatedness. In his 'Preface to the First Edition', Barth wrote,

the differences between then and now, there and here no doubt require careful investigation and consideration. But the purpose of such investigation can only be to demonstrate that these differences are, in fact, purely trivial. The historical-critical method of Biblical investigation has its rightful place [...] nevertheless my whole energy of interpreting has been expended in an endeavour to see through and beyond history into the spirit of the Bible [...] What was once of grave importance, is so still. What is today of grave importance [...] stands in direct connection with that ancient gravity. If we rightly understand ourselves, our problems are the problems of Paul". 536

Barth's second argument concerns the absolute transcendence of God. For him, God's otherness is total; there is an infinite distance between God and human beings. Moyn

⁵³⁶ Barth, 1968, p. 1.

describes this argument as diastatic,⁵³⁷ that is to say, there can be no commerce between human beings and God such that there is the possibility of some kind of resolution or mediation of their difference.

Although Barth adopted an uncompromising stance on the absolute alterity of God, he nonetheless argued against an extreme apophaticism which rendered God entirely unknowable. His argument turns the negative theologian back on himself, for such a theologian's method is to focus on the limits of the self which he attempts to overcome by negating even the negations of what he would say of God perhaps by way of metaphor and analogy. The consequence of this, although, as Barth admits, it is correct insofar as it emphasises the infinite distance between human beings and God, is to speak of oneself, thus it is not other-centred. Moyn is clear: "Barth [...] refused to label his theology negative. An exclusively negative approach did no more than lead man to the tantalising brink of the other while keeping him occupied with himself".538

We can note also that Barth's insistence that nothing can be said about God seems at first sight to be self-contradictory. Stephen Webb, however, suggests that Barth's extreme emphases on God's otherness "should not be taken literally but instead as examples of hyperbole".539 He goes on:

⁵³⁷ Moyn, 2005, p. 137.

⁵³⁸ Ibid., p. 140.

⁵³⁹ Webb, 1991, p. 100.

Barth does not know the unknowability of God. All he knows is that religions claim to know something about an otherwise unknown God. He knows that the effect of revelation is to destroy this knowledge.⁵⁴⁰

Indeed, it is revelation, Barth insists, that enables human beings to know something of God despite their absolute inability to approach him. Human beings can only wait on God, and it is religion that provides the frame within which they can do so. It is what is revealed by and in the humanity of Jesus that provides Barth with the starting point for his discussion of "the basic form of humanity".⁵⁴¹ Barth finds that human beings must be like Jesus "in some basic form",⁵⁴² otherwise

it would [...] be difficult to see how the 'man' Jesus could be for and from and to other 'men', how He could be inwardly affected by their being, how He could be called and sent to be their Saviour [...] how he could interpose Himself with His human life for these other beings, acting and suffering and conquering in their place and as their Representative.⁵⁴³

For Barth, that Jesus is for others "creates a new ontological reality in the human situation". 544 Barth argues that God is the Creator of all men as well as the man Jesus,

⁵⁴⁰ Ibid.

⁵⁴¹ Barth, 2001, §45.2, pp. 222-283.

⁵⁴² Ibid., p. 223.

⁵⁴³ Ibid.

⁵⁴⁴ Johnson, 1997, p. 83.

and this means that in humanity we should seek the creaturely essence which is given by God. The crucial question is: "what is it that makes [men] capable of entering into covenant with God as the creatures of God". The criterion here is the humanity of Jesus: "in theological anthropology what man is, is decided by the primary text, i.e. by the humanity of the man Jesus". He acause the humanity of Jesus is for human beings, then it belongs inescapably to the humanity of human beings that they too are for others. The definition of the humanity of man consists, then, "in the determination of his being as a being with the other". There is a reciprocity in this; all humanity is for all humanity. Barth makes an interesting qualification here. We are reciprocally for one another only when there is the genuine duality of "singularity on both sides. The singular, not alone but in this duality, is the presupposition without which there can never be humanity in the plural". Humanity's basic form, then, consists in our cohumanity, and this calls for reciprocity and the recognition that "I am as thou art". Say This recognition has a Hegelian ring about it, as Hegel writes:

Recognition is [...] two-sided, mutual. Mutual recognition is the realisation and suspension of the contradiction that the other [appears] to be opposed to me as an immediate being, and that I likewise appear to the other as immediate.⁵⁵⁰

⁵⁴⁵ Barth, 2001, p. 224.

⁵⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 226.

⁵⁴⁷ Ibid., p. 243.

⁵⁴⁸ Ibid., p. 244.

⁵⁴⁹ Ibid., p. 248.

⁵⁵⁰ Hegel, 2007, p. 188.

The respect which is integral to Barth's 'I am as thou art', demands that there be real conversation, speaking that is truly listened and responded to. When we speak, listen, and respond, we are putting ourselves before the other according to various interpretations we give to one another.

There are four elements to encountering one another in this way: "reciprocal expression and its reciprocal reception, reciprocal address and its reciprocal reception". 551 In her essay *An Ironic Mimesis*, Kate Mehuron considers speech as Merleau-Ponty conceives it; again, we find reciprocity:

the dynamism of one spoken address to another is similar to the way in which we actively welcome the passage of a musical phrase.

[...] One expressive situation elucidates the other; spoken address communicates via affective, intonational valences taken up by the other.

552

This reciprocity is indeed characteristic of the relationality of performers. Although Mehuron is talking about the way we welcome a phrase of music, her point about valences being taken up by the other is particularly apt for music-making. The burden of this thesis is that it is the music-making itself which is the performed theology of relating; but the music-making 'contains' the players in the sense that they are defined

⁵⁵¹ Barth, 2001, p. 253.

⁵⁵² Mehuron, 1989, p. 92.

as musicians by the music-making itself. The relationality manifested is musical and performed.

We can summarise what Barth achieves in his anthropology under four heads: (i) human existence is always being-in-act. To this extent our humanity is something set before us as a task to be accomplished. We are not yet fully human but only in our basic form. Our full humanity is to be realised at the eschaton; (ii) the meaning of the *imago Dei* is given by and in the person of Jesus; thus (iii) the divine-human union in Jesus can be understood in terms of his truly divine life lived in a *truly* human way; his is the only true humanity; (iv) the otherness of God with respect to human beings together with his connection to them is located in the being of Jesus which in its perfection is both for God and for humanity.

This discussion of Barth's anthropology alerts us to the one vital component in our relationship with the other, namely, that "one's human identity is grounded not in neutral separation or sameness but in concrete, engaged openness to the 'other'". Because the humanity of Jesus is the true humanity, his being for others constitutes the imperative that our humanity must be directed towards others if it is to be realised. This means that the other presents us with opportunities for the realisation of our humanity.

⁵⁵³ Johnson, 1997, p. 155.

The other and music-making

If our humanity is grounded in engaged openness to the other as Barth contends, what is the implication of this for musicians performing together? I would like to suggest that music-making precisely requires an engaged openness to the other. This is particularly evident in my example of string quartet playing, where the ability to listen and respond to one another is essential. The identity of the musicians as musicians in this performance is entirely a question of this listening and responding. Certainly, identity is not the same as humanity, but Barth's requirement could hardly be met more completely. String quartet playing seems, then, to be a paradigmatic instance of the grounding required for our common humanity.

Cohen writes that "the self finds its inexhaustible resources when and only when it is without reserve in the service of the other". 554 Jesus in his humanity exhorts us to befor-others. I would like to suggest that in music-making we are indeed for others, inescapably so if the performance is to be compelling and coherent. Such being for others in music-making has nothing to do with the players personalities in general, but everything to do with what is required by the music-making; this being for others is musical through and through. In music-making our humanity is to the fore and therefore our relationships are true, not strategic in the Habermasian sense, not egoled.

⁵⁵⁴ Cohen, 1989, p. 43.

<u>Levinas</u>

Levinas presents us with a secularised version of Barth's insistence that the divine other is infinitely different, qualitatively speaking, from all finite entities. Although Levinas can speak of 'the face' as though an abstract idea, his intention is to emphasis the ability of the face to disrupt conventional constructs and to "call into question the horizons of the world". 555 The face of the other is in fact so emphatically concrete that it "cannot be approached with empty hands but only from within society". 556 When we make music together, the 'faces' of one's fellow performers are emphatically concrete and cannot be approached with empty hands. But this is acknowledged in the music-making itself. The players 'approach' one another as co-performers, and this means they give and receive musical ideas not in the abstract but as specific phrase-shapes, specific rhythmic and harmonic shapes, specific gradations of tone, and so on. There is little trace of generality or of convention in this reciprocity; each performance is new and must not, for fear of the dull repetition of previous performances, fall prey to generalities and conventional gestures, but challenge the horizons of what has been done; the interpretational possibilities of a great musical work cannot be exhausted. Gadamer tells us that, "the text itself still remains the first point of relation over and against the questionality, arbitrariness, or at least multiplicity of the possibilities of interpretation that are directed towards the text".557

⁵⁵⁵ Bernasconi, 1989, p. 33.

⁵⁵⁶ Ibid

⁵⁵⁷ Quoted by Michelfelder, 1989, p. 52.

Signing texts

Gadamer's point here need not be a denial of the fecundity of the text, that the interpretation of great works of music cannot be exhausted, rather, it is to flag up the authority of the score; not any interpretation will do. There is what Diane Michelfelder calls "an imperative to sign [a] text". 558 This imperative arises "whenever we perform the signature of the other and make the other speak", 559 and this signing "belongs to the structure of textuality". 560 Is this not what happens in the performance of a musical score which is the signature of another? The imperative to sign is a demand that "we respond to the text [...] by returning the text to its author through our reading of it in such a way that we recognise his or her irreducible particularity". 561 To interpret and reinterpret the music anew is to make it newly available to others in a recreated form. It is as though the musicians liberate (at least some) of the potentialities of the music, making them available to others for whom they can become an inspiration; this is a kind of gift. This is to honour both composer and fellow musicians.

Translating this to musical performance, we have the demand that not just the authority of the score be respected, but that the unique voice of *this* particular composer is not erased even though the notes he wrote are reproduced exactly as he or she wrote them. Examples of erasing the voices of composers are not difficult to find, especially in the many transcription of piano and organ music for full orchestra.

⁵⁵⁸ Ibid.

⁵⁵⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁶⁰ Ibid

⁵⁶¹ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

For instance, Bach's great Passacaglia and Fugue for organ in its transcription for full orchestra by Respighi becomes a romantic showpiece with which to show off the colours of the orchestra. Similarly, Bach's Fantasia and Fugue in C minor BWV 537 as transcribed for full orchestra by Elgar achieves a kind of Edwardian grandeur far removed from anything Bach could have envisaged. Even though performers should aim to make the old new for each new audience, one feels the force of Michelfelder's injunction to sign and respond to the text such that we recognise the irreducible particularity of the composer, and this is now a *sine qua non* of authenticity in musical performance.

A binary pairing to be found in Levinas' work is that of 'the same' and 'the other', and Levinas must find a way of theorising the relationship between them. He does this with his concept of 'the face' which can be thought of as a concretisation of infinity. Although the face is visualised, it is not a visual manifestation of the infinity of the other, rather, it presents us with an 'expression'; it reveals as well as it conceals, and herein resides its infinity. From moment to moment, "the face of the other [...] destroys and overflows the plastic image it leaves me, the idea existing to my own measure and to the measure of its [...] adequate idea". Here we find that the face mediates between the self and the other. The face, as ever-changing expression, that is, revelation of infinity, of the other, cannot be contained by the self but is provisional in what it reveals moment by moment.

⁵⁶² Levinas, 1969, pp. 50-51.

The point for Levinas about the face, which is his word for another person, is that it always and already has a claim on me. I am not able to hold the other before me in his or her full presence because he or she is always in excess of my abilities to synthesise what the face presents me with, which is to say that the face overwhelms me.

But what happens in music-making? There are two kinds of excess in music-making. First, the range of possible interpretations is inexhaustible. Second, in *this* performance what the other players present me with and what I present them with is "already present (has already passed), and is yet to come (has not yet arrived into the present), such that the 'other' cannot in principle – and especially in principle – be brought to presence". 563

Cohen is here explaining how it is that for Levinas the other is, in principle, overwhelming. This description also maps well on to what is going on in musical performance. What is played at any given moment refers back ("is already past") and forward ("has not yet arrived into the present"). Insofar as they are continuous with the performance, the players cannot be brought to presence, the excess overwhelms me. The point about a coherent performance is that at its end the past and the future have been brought together. The musical potentialities of the themes of the work have been thoroughly explored and developed. Only at the end of a piece of music are we able to understand any given moment in it. There has been a consummation of the work as a whole. The relationality inherent in the work has been perfected, and this is

⁵⁶³ Cohen, 1989, p. 40.

one reason why *music-making* is a *performed* theology of relating. Musically speaking, the performers have been engaged in perfecting their relationships. This is not just a question of developing technique or of coming to a shared vision of the work in question. Rather, it will have been a matter of relating to one another in terms of the musical ideas inherent in the work. This relating has been a moment-by-moment *musical* endeavour and also something which by the end of the performance has reached its fulfilment. Begbie seems to express a view consonant with this when he writes:

it would seem that the 'reality' we experience at any one 'moment' in music cannot be exhausted by those phenomena which can be said to exist 'now'. We are not given an evaporating present but a present through which the past directed towards the future, or – to put it another way – with phenomena which in their physicality are intrinsically and very closely bound to earlier and later music occurrences.⁵⁶⁴

The immediate context for this is not human relationality but the passage of music through space-time as we experience it. It is however apt for my reflections on the formation of relationships which take place in music-making as a *musical* endeavour.

⁵⁶⁴ Begbie, 2000, p. 67.

The thorough exploration of the possibilities inherent in a theme is relatively easily seen in variation form and especially so in fugue. Perhaps the paradigmatic example is Bach's The Art of Fugue, BWV 1080. In this work, Bach subjects a simple theme to the whole gamut of fugal and contrapuntal possibilities.

Levinas admits that it is possible to obstruct the alterity of the other. However, the one thing that is not possible in ensemble music-making is that players bracket out one another. Instead, they receive and give to one another in the fullness of what they have to offer to the performance. Does this contradict what I say elsewhere about the oneness of musical ensembles? The desirability of coherent performances ensures that individuality cannot be construed as opposition, rather, it must be an individuality which contributes to the overall unity of performance. Thus, that the alterity of another can and might be ignored in most contexts is not something to be feared in the context of music-making.

Levinas pursued the possibilities for decoupling transcendence from its theological anchorage;⁵⁶⁵ in this respect he presents us with a secularised version of Barth's insistence that the divine other is infinitely different, qualitatively speaking, from all finite entities. Thus, Levinas opposes the other's nature as infinity to the finite nature of the self; it is transcendent in its relation to the self. Here we have a very different transcendence than that associated with God. Levinas could write that the other "remains commensurate with him who welcomes; it remains terrestrial", 566

⁵⁶⁵ Moyn, 2005, p. 181.

⁵⁶⁶ Levinas, 1969, p. 203.

furthermore, the relation between self and other is "not enacted outside the world". 567

We could say that Levinas' ethics of transcendence is a response to the impasse which is presented to human beings when the other in its uncontainable alterity is thus always beyond our consciousness. This is a direct challenge to the sovereignty of the subject, the consequence of which is that it becomes a necessary condition of perception and cognition that the subject must subordinate the other to its consciousness if it is to construct a (or the) truth concerning the other. Thus, that which I can name, that which I can substantively perceive, and, especially, that which I can perceive as the same are essential in the construction of truth by consciousness. For Levinas, the other also exists in a pedagogical relation to me, but it can teach only provided I surrender my interests and abandon the subordination I would otherwise inflict on it. The other now becomes the other that "tears me away from my hypostasis", 568 thus here there is violence. Levinas writes: "The eye can conceive [the asymmetry between self and other] only by virtue of position, which as an abovebelow disposition constitutes the elementary fact of morality". 569 On this account, it would seem that either I stand over and above the other, or the other stands over and above me. This spatiality structures the ethical in my relations with the other; as Edith Wyschogrod comments, "'above' and 'below' in this context are not abstractions". 570 Even so, violence is not inevitable, rather, violence is the failure to pay proper

⁵⁶⁷ Ibid., p. 172.

⁵⁶⁸ Levinas, 2006, p. 74.

⁵⁶⁹ Levinas, 1969, p. 297.

⁵⁷⁰ Wyschogrod, 2005, p. 359.

attention to the other in their alterity. For an encounter with the other to be free of violence requires the self and other to move beyond the confines of ordinary sociality. The proper response to alterity in the other is to stand in the excess of ordinary sociality which it demands. In this excess, self becomes responsible for the other, and espouses charity.

Charity, we might say, is fragile; the other remains in constant danger of being (re)instrumentalised. And are not 'above' and 'below' potentially subject to continual oscillation from one to the other, and what can arrest such oscillation? Is it not rather that instead of 'above' and 'below', the ethical is structured by a mutual partial knowing and unknowing on the part of self and other? The future is decisive here. Self and other face the future together, a future which cannot be completely known, and the complete subordination of the one to the other cannot take place unless one somehow robs the other of its future.

Richard Kearney tells us that "Persona is that eschatological aura of 'possibility' which outstrips but informs a person's actual presence here and now. It is another word for the otherness of the other", ⁵⁷¹ and it encompasses the infinity of Levinas' other, for it includes the other's past and future and all that which in the other escapes my consciousness.

⁵⁷¹ Kearney, 2005, p. 371.

I outline Kearney's ideas on 'persona', and then relate them to the music-making context, focussing especially on the inexhaustible possibilities for the interpretation of a musical work, and, thus, for the relationality of the performers.

For Kearney, any encounter with another is to configure them in some way. This configuring is an attempt not to limit the other either to pure presence or pure absence; the first is to make of the other a thing, the second is to make of the other a nothing; to do either is to disfigure the other. And so, in an encounter with the other we must hold fast to a paradox whereby we "grasp [the other] as present in absence, as both incarnate in flesh and transcendent in time [... and this is] to *transfigure* the other, allowing this other to appear as his/her unique *persona*". 572

Kearney accepts that to maintain the paradox in our encounters with the other is difficult. He says, "the other always appears to us 'as if' it was actually present".⁵⁷³ This makes a link with Levinas' view that our encounters with the other are always a matter of more or less violent subordination. Kearney expresses this in terms of appropriation: we "appropriate them to our scheme of things, reading them off against our familiar models of understanding and identification".⁵⁷⁴ But the *persona* always exceeds our ability to take it in. Equally, we can easily come to the *persona* as though it were an idol rather than an icon of transcendence; "In this case, the 'as if' presence of the *persona* is suspended in the interests of deification or apotheosis".⁵⁷⁵

⁵⁷² Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

⁵⁷³ Ibid. The 'as if' has enclosing apostrophes in the original.

⁵⁷⁴ Ibid

⁵⁷⁵ Ibid.

So Kearney's argument here is that we can disfigure others in two ways: by seeing them according to our pre-conceived ideas and identitarian categories, and also by refusing their "flesh and blood thereness". 576

Kearney goes on to develop the notion of the persona as eschaton which echoes Augustine's view of the mind as an imago. Whilst Augustine is often thought to be seeking psychological analogies for the Trinity, he can be thought of as, according to Ayers, "using the language of faith to explore the mind and using what he finds there to think through how we might imagine the divine three as distinct and yet never divided". 577 Ayers pursues this line of thinking to suggest that, for Augustine, the mind seeks to know itself but that desire "occludes our vision". 578 Consequently, the mind as an image of the Trinity cannot know itself until we are transformed and purified through grace. Ayers concludes, "thus Augustine offers us an account of an image present yet eschatologically realised". 579 For Kearney, the persona guarantees "the irreducible finality of the other as eschaton", 580 giving us to realise that the persona as eschaton of the other always escapes any power we may wish to wield over him/her. The otherness of the other is constituted by possibilities and powers that are beyond the reach of my powers and possibilities which constitute my otherness for the other. Kearney expresses this when he says, "if we could figure out – in the sense of knowing and appropriating – the other's persona, it would no longer be other. We would have

⁵⁷⁶ Ibid., p. 372.

⁵⁷⁷ Ayers, 2014, p. 133.

⁵⁷⁸ Ibid., p. 134.

⁵⁷⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁸⁰ Kearney, 2005, p. 372.

denied the other's temporality, futurity, alterity". This linking of otherness with time is clearly of relevance to the thesis. Kearney gives us a most useful quotation from Levinas: "The relation with the other is the absence of the other; not absence pure and simple, not absence as pure nothing [néant], but absence in a futural horizon, an absence which is time". 582

Kearney's concept of *persona* appears to provide us with a bulwark against the fragility of charity in relationships and against the danger in relationships of oscillation between subordination either of self to other or of other to self. This bulwark exists in the tension, the paradox, whereby the other appears as presence in absence, both transcendent in time and materially enfleshed in the here and now. The other is past, present, and future, that is, beyond time, yet it stands before me in this moment straining against its past and its future; absence in presence.

In music-making, there is a learning. The players absorb and respond to intensities of dynamic, phrasing, tempi and so on. As they indwell one another, what they play and express triggers their united expressivity, their worlds coalesce.

Musicians indwell one another in terms of the variations in the intensity of the expressivity of their playing. They perceive, and respond to variations in the expressive intensity of musical ideas, for example, the significance of melodic lines and harmonic rhythm, which they give to the music-making. This intensity of the expressivity of the

.

⁵⁸¹ Ibid., p. 373.

⁵⁸² Levinas, 1948, p. 64. Quoted Kearney, 2005, p. 373.

other players which, in part, gives them their identity for me, exists as part of my world, that is, they indwell me, and they indwell me in terms of the music-making. The more we indwell the music-making, the more we indwell one another.

This thought takes us back to Michelfelder's comments on signing a text and returning it to the author in such a way that it is a recognition of his or her irreducible particularity, an aspect of continuity, for, as Benson contends, composition and performance bleed into one another.⁵⁸³

The voice of the composer no less than the voices of my fellow players must not be erased, though I do need to respond to them with musical imagination and insight, and this will be done in accordance with the vision of the work which we have together agreed previously will determine our interpretation of it.

Although *this* performance of the music cannot exhaust all the possibilities the work contains for realisation in performance, a good performance will come close to fulfilling all the possibilities which the musicians provide for one another in *this* performance according to *this* conception of the work. An indicator of this would be a coherent performance, that is, one in which the players severally and together thoroughly explore and integrate all, or nearly all, the facets of *this* conception of the work. S84 Conceived in this way, the good performance as a coherent performance is not achieved until the last notes die away. Until then, knowledge of the other(s), that

⁵⁸³ Benson, 2003, p. 161.

⁵⁸⁴ Please see p. 203 above for my comments on performances, for example fugues, which exhaust all the musical possibilities inherent in the work.

is *musical* knowledge of them, can be only indirect and partial. One might see a link here with Kearney's concept of the *persona* in its eschatological aspect, its temporality and futurity. Quoting Levinas, Kearney says, "the relation with the other is the absence of the other; not absence pure and simple, not absence as pure nothing [néant], but as absence in a futural horizon, an absence which is time". 585 The time of the work ends once the last notes have died away, the work, or at least that particular conception of the work, has been brought to its consummation; at that moment the performing of a theology of relating ends too. 586

<u>Hegel</u>

Hegel's view is that not all otherness is eliminated as Spirit comes to greater and greater awareness of itself. Schacht comments: "Hegel states quite explicitly that at the level of absolute knowledge, otherness remains a 'moment'. Spirit at this highest level is said to be 'at home in its otherness as such' [...] it is [...] otherness experienced as alienness that is eliminated". Hegel's distinction which Schacht expresses as the distinction between otherness and alienness is pertinent to my argument, for when we perform with others we feel 'at home' in and with their otherness, bound together with them in the performance yet without any accompanying sense of alienation. On the contrary, my freedom as a member of the quartet is predicated on this otherness-without-alienation. On Hegel's account, otherness thought as distance would seem essential to comprehension. Kaufmann reminds us that Hegel drew a further

⁵⁸⁵ Levinas, 1948, p. 185. Quoted Kearney, 2005, p. 373.

⁵⁸⁶ In Chapter 13, I address the question of what happens when the concert is ended.

⁵⁸⁷ Schacht, 1972, p. 56.

distinction between *bekannt* and *erkannt*. The first is a knowing by acquaintance, the second knowing is one of comprehension.⁵⁸⁸ "Comprehension", says Kaufmann, "requires some distance and consists in a triumph over distance".⁵⁸⁹ Familiarity can obscure the truth. By way of example Kaufmann invites us to consider what happens when we become over-familiar with a play or a piece of music. He says, "we lack distance and must become alienated if we would comprehend it".⁵⁹⁰ Over-familiarity is a constant danger for performers with a repertoire which they need to be able to access at short notice, and so every so often they need to stand back and view the music afresh lest it becomes stale in performance.

When Kaufmann says "we [...] must become alienated", I suggest we should read this is terms of a viewing-anew. The music, its performance/interpretation, together with one's fellow performers, should not be taken for granted. To take something and/or someone for granted in this way is to do them/it violence, as Levinas suggests violence is the failure to pay proper attention to the other in their alterity. ⁵⁹¹ In Kearney's terms this is to configure the music and its performers as pure presence and thus to disfigure them. In Kearney's terms, musicians will hold the other, both music and fellow performers, as presence in absence, thus acknowledging, and creating conditions for the appearance of, their uniqueness. In this there is a reciprocity amongst the members of, say, a string quartet, and, as such, it is comparable to what Husserl has in mind by *Einfühlung*, which is understanding, empathy and sensitivity, ⁵⁹² and for

⁵⁸⁸ Kaufmann, 1972, p. xxv.

⁵⁸⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁹⁰ Ibid.

⁵⁹¹ See pp. 205 above.

⁵⁹² Terrell, et al., 1997, p. 195.

Husserl denotes a sympathetic "perception of an Other, of another I [as a] for-itself-I, as I am". The reciprocity here is one of 'co-presence', and that performers are co-present to one another is clearly essential for good performances. In music-making in which all the participants are united together in their vision of the music, blend together rhythmically and tonally, respond to one another so that the music-making has life and vitality, then the players form, as it were, a single consciousness, even, as Hegel might say, a single self-consciousness:

self-consciousness [...] reaches beyond itself; it continues in an other self-consciousness so that there are no longer two self-seeking individuals opposed to each other; rather there is a single self-consciousness.⁵⁹⁵

Schacht frames up a range of core issues which pertain to accounts of 'the other' and the concept of alienation in philosophical, sociological, and psychological literature. Of these, three are particularly pertinent to the arguments of the thesis and help to consolidate some of my key points in this chapter. The first ties in with why I emphasise good music-making, that it is an indication of the close relationships between the players. Schacht writes, "a certain kind of solidarity with others is possible if, and only if, one shares a set of values, beliefs and practices with them". 596 Musical solidarity occurs when one shares musical values, beliefs, and practices with

⁵⁹³ This translation is by Schacht, 1972, p. 219 from Husserl, 1954.

⁵⁹⁴ Schacht, 1972, p. 219.

⁵⁹⁵ Hegel, 2007, p. 194.

⁵⁹⁶ Schacht, 1972, p. 262.

one's fellow performers. This sharing is more than a love of music *per se*; coherent performances will not result if, for example, some players in a quartet take a 'romantic' approach to a Mozart score whilst other take a more historically informed approach. Incoherent performances are thus an indication of poor relating between the players, and this is why I stress throughout the thesis that coherent and compelling performances are those in which relationships between the players are at their best, and that these are performances which, therefore, I hold up as being performed theologies of Christian relating *par excellence*.

For Schacht, "one's individuality is not complete unless or until one rejects conformity to sociocultural institutions and the expectations of others". 597 I reject this claim in part. I would like to suggest that as a musician in *this* performance of *this* work my individuality (identity) is complete precisely as I conform to *this* vision of the work as agreed with my fellow performers. The others are essential to my identity, that is, I cannot be, for example, a baroque violinist in a small ensemble unless the other players provide the appropriate context, as I must for them. I cannot achieve an identity *in this performance* if I play in a romantic style in a baroque ensemble; my identity as a romantic player can only be established through knowledge of my previous performances in (so called) romantic music, otherwise I simply appear in *this* performance as a player who, precisely, is not able to relate to the others. As I cannot

⁵⁹⁷ Ibid., p. 263.

have a private language (Wittgenstein), neither can I be a romantic player unless others validate me as such in a 'romantic playing style' form of life.

On the other hand, I accept that unthinking and unimaginative conformity to musical conventions and expectations obstructs the formation of individuality, and an identity which contributes to fresh and lively performances. In order to make such contributions I must have a secure sense of self, I must be self-conscious and freely express my identity, and this, on a Hegelian view, is realised in another self-consciousness; "the I comes to be for itself only through the mediation (recognition) of another". 598 This is consonant with the argument in the previous paragraph.

The last issue I would like to mention is that "a person is not as he should be to the extent that he does not exist in some sort of unity with others". 599 Human beings, it is said, are social by nature. My account of the relatedness of the members of small musical ensembles emphasises the unity which must obtain between them if performances are to be persuasive, coherent, and compelling. 600

My intention in this chapter has been to emphasise that an other in his or her particularity is not exchangeable for another other. As the authors I have reviewed have argued, the particularity, the otherness of the other, their futurity, their infinity, can never be taken as it were for a fixed datum. So it is with musicians who, in pursuit

⁵⁹⁸ Williams, 2007, p. 21.

⁵⁹⁹ Schacht, 1972, p. 264.

⁶⁰⁰ I pursue this theme in various contexts throughout the thesis, but see especially Chapters 9 and 10 and the discussion of co-created creative space.

of good music-making, must remain attuned to all these and more aspects of their fellow performer's otherness as it is manifested in phrasing, tone, articulation and so on. In the next part of the thesis, I develop this and related claims in the context of the practicalities of music-making.

PART 3: MUSIC-MAKING

CHAPTER 7: THE EXTRA-MUSICAL QUALITIES OF GOOD MUSIC-MAKING

Although the understanding of music-making in the thesis is confined to the purely musical, ignoring, for example, its cultural, social, political, and emotional aspects, nonetheless good music-making is not possible unless it is engaged in with a spirit of devotion, even love and selflessness. In this chapter I aim to defend this claim, especially because love has a prominent part in the argumentation of later chapters.

Perhaps it is worth noting that although the focus in this chapter is on human qualities, this is not to dilute the Trinitarian theme of the thesis overall. Indeed, at the end of the chapter we find Oster linking love, knowledge, and passion in action with the person as a "being-in-relation", 601 and he reminds us that this is Aquinas' description of "the inner-Trinitarian persons". 602

Music-making, especially that of small ensembles, demands a certain relationality between the performers. This relationality is characterised by respect, empathy, awareness of one another, and so on.⁶⁰³ The players must be able to form a coherent unit without losing their individuality, that is, they need to indwell one another. This is the basis of the analogy with the Trinity.

.

⁶⁰¹ Oster, 2012, pp. 353-4.

⁶⁰² Ibid., p. 354. See Aquinas, 1991, 1.29.4, p. 69.

⁶⁰³ These personal qualities are also discussed and defended as essential to good music-making in Chapter 6 on the other.

Stewart Gordon, writing about the need "to create some sort of philosophical foundation for our performance lives", 604 is clear that "love for our specific field of endeavour is an aspect of performance motivation that to some extent permeates our efforts from the first to the last".605 Gordon speaks of the way in which one is drawn into a field of interest "resulting in intense personal dedication". 606 He reports that

veterans in many fields express love and devotion for their conceptual ideal. Creative artists, such as musicians, actors, writers, painters, and poets, often speak of an intense love for whatever activity they pursue. 607

Gordon expands on this theme in ways which are entirely familiar to performing musicians who are indeed dedicated to their art:

When a number of individuals profess such love, a bond is forged that generates feelings of being part of a special society, a community of celebrants that offers understanding and support."608

The community, mentioned by Gordon, that offers understanding and support, bears comparison with my notion of co-created creative space. The love of, and dedication

⁶⁰⁴ Gordon, 2010, p. 25.

⁶⁰⁵ Ibid., p. 29.

⁶⁰⁶ Ibid.

⁶⁰⁷ Ibid.

⁶⁰⁸ Ibid.

to, their art demands that musicians indwell one another; interpretation must be consistent, one takes one's place in the ensemble respectfully, the coherence of a performance demands a lively awareness of the contribution fellow performers make to the overall performance.

My arguments are perhaps couched in terms of an unattainable ideal of perfect dedication. But the ideal stands, we can aspire towards it. The extent to which performing musicians dedicate themselves to the music-making is reflected in the quality of their performances, and the dedication works itself out in this theological account of performance I am offering here, in the mode of mutual indwelling.

Talking about his life as a composer, Michael Berkeley says, "If you don't believe passionately in a piece, you shouldn't be writing it. In other words, you go through a sort of love affair with it". 609 For 'writing', could we not substitute 'performing'?

Andrew Porter wrote of the love that the conductor Herbert von Karajan brought to a performance of Brahms' Third and Fourth Symphones. The interpretations of these great works were "voyages of discovery; loving traversals of familiar, exciting ground with a fresh eye and mind, in the company of someone prepared to linger there, exclaim there".

⁶⁰⁹ Berkeley, 2015, p. 62.

⁶¹⁰ Quoted by Osborne, 1999, p. 672.

Karajan himself is unequivocal concerning the neccesity for love in music-making. Referring to the experience of being so immersed in music-making that "one is carried away as if by a wave that towers higher and higher", he tells us that "it takes years of work" to make this possible and that it "derive(s) from decades of effort, work and love". Again, from the conductor's point of view, Bernard Haitink says, "the secret of music-making is that you must embrace the orchestra".

The composer Joseph Phibbs tells us that "Britten said as a composer you can only write the kind of music you love, that your heart is in". 613 I would suggest that one might easily substitute 'perform' for 'write'?

I point in later chapters to an exchange between Xenakis and Messiaen which suggests that, at least for Messiaen, love is an integral part of the composition process; and if it is of composition, surely it is no less so of performance which is often thought of as a sort of re-composition.

What is common to each of these authoritative musicians is the perveived need for love of music when composing or performing it. As I attempt below to provide a theological account of this kind of love, I argue that we might say that (drawing on my Trinitarian reflections in previous chapters) it engenders a mutual indwelling on the

⁶¹¹ Karajan, 1999, p. 738, included as Appendix A in Osborne, 1999.

⁶¹² Bridcut, 2020: Bernard Haitink: The Enigmatic Maestro.

⁶¹³ Phibbs, 2015, p. 385.

part of the performers. That musicians indwell one another is necessitated by the desire to give good performances, it flows from a love of the music.

The testimony of Britten, Berkeley, Osborne, Karajan, Haitink and Messiaen strongly suggest that love, dedication, sacrifice, and selflessness are desirable ingredients of good music-making. These qualities can be tainted with egocentricity on occasion, 614 but egoism must be held firmly in check during the course of performances otherwise the coherence of a performance, its structural integrity with regard to things such as phrasing and interpretation generally are lost. Egoism may well be apparent in other aspects of the performing musician's life, contract negotiations, for example.

Love, indwelling, discernment and music-making

Whilst poor performances are possible despite the players having a love for their art – perhaps the performance space is cold or has very poor acoustics, or perhaps the players have just received some bad news - I suggest that good performances, ones which I call 'compelling', are only possible when the music-making is undertaken with love. Love for the music gives rise to the desire to perform it as well as possible, and this in turn seems to depend on the mutual indwelling of the performers.

In Saint Paul's well-known words "Love is patient and kind; love does not envy or boast; it is not arrogant or rude. It does not insist on its own way". 615 These qualities

⁶¹⁴ See Osborne, 1999 and Vaughan, 1990 for several such examples.

⁶¹⁵ 1 Cor. 13:4.

characterise musicians when they perform together. Although performers might be rude, impatient, and so on when not actually performing, all these things would simply get in the way when they do perform. There is give and take in performance, and that is kindness of a sort as well as it affords dignity and respect to the other players. There is no place for envy during performances, rather, the players rejoice in the technical skills and interpretive insights of their colleagues because they play an invaluable part in bringing the musical score to life. Further, the performance of any one player is partly dependent on the accomplishments of the others; they feed off, and hand on to, one another, they pull together. These are all aspects of indwelling.

In commenting on 1 Corinthians 13 'The Way of Love'. William Cavanaugh suggests that in this chapter Paul is making it quite clear that communal discernment is not "effective without the virtue of love". He continues, "As anyone who has lived in a community knows, it takes a great deal of patient love even to want to find a common way forward [...] the discernment of a true common life requires some measure of love". 616 In this way, I would argue that we can look at a string quartet when it is performing as a small community; it must discern the way forward as regards the interpretation of a piece of music at this time, in this place and set of circumstances; the manner of performance of *this* phrase determines its forward performances, the tempo set at the beginning has implications for the performance of later sections of

⁶¹⁶ Cavanaugh, 2019, pp. 171-172.

the work. Discerning the way forward is driven by a love of the music, and the consequent desire to perform it as well as possible.

Perhaps it is worth stressing this point a little: the love to which I am referring in the thesis apropos music-making is directed toward the music itself and the music-making. This seems to pull away from an exclusively Trinitarian orientation. I argue, however, that love for the music and the desire to perform it as well as possible necessitates the players indwell one another during the performance. It is well-known that string quartet players frequently disagree and quarrel, sometimes violently, when preparing a performance, but these are occasioned by a passion for the music and the disagreements must be resolved by the time of the performance itself;⁶¹⁷ during the performance the players indwell one another as a condition of good music-making. Indwelling is the basal notion underlying the analogical comparison of members of a small musical ensemble with the members of the Trinity. In this way, we can see an account of Christian love as overlapping Trinitarian theology, as I have suggested in previous chapters.

Clausen tells us that, "Self-knowledge depends on acknowledging the other, through whom we slowly come into awareness of our placement. The gift of the other is the place of the self, for the other makes possible the self's realisation."

⁶¹⁷ See Nissel, 1998 for several good examples of disagreements between string quartet members as they prepare performances.

⁶¹⁸ Clausen, 2018, p. 17.

What Clausen says here applies to each and every member of a musical ensemble. Each musician is 'placed' within the ensemble by all the others. On Clausen's account, then, placement is a gift of others, and it is easy to see how this applies to a string quartet. One might say it is a gift of love, where love is understood in the terms given above: respect, giving way, support, selflessness, patience and so on. But if we were to think empirically, these virtues of respect, support, selflessness, patience and so on would require operational definitions as would love. In this way we come to actual performance practice, and I devote Chapters 9 and 10 to showing that mutual indwelling on the part of performers is an integral part of successful music-making. It is worth re-emphasising the connection to Trinitarian theology here. As I read it, Clausen's account of these virtues by which we gift to one another our place in the world, including our place in the world of the musical performance, resonates in a strong way with Dukeman's account of the members of the Trinity in his mutual hierarchy version of social Trinitarianism, which I discuss in Chapter 5 above. 619

When musicians are fully attentive and listen to each other for the sake of performance, in my theological account, we may say that the quality is maximised. Individual features of this account, for example, full absorption in the other, full cooperation with the other, can be said to have an analogical similarity with accounts of intra-Trinitarian relations.

⁶¹⁹ See Chapter 5 on social Trinitarianism.

Performing musicians are subsisting relations

Throughout the thesis I try to show that descriptions of music-making can be inflected theologically. Stefan Oster appeals to a musical analogy in his discussion of becoming a person. His view is that a person becomes more and more him- or herself "through loving knowledge and knowingly loving". 620 If I have successfully argued in this section of the thesis that persuasive music-making is a question of a selfless devotion to the performance of the music which is characterised by love, then Oster's musical analogy seems to fit my thoughts about the identity of musicians being entirely formed by their musical relationships with one another. He writes:

The person [...] is simply a respondent, a listener, an observer, one who reacts. He is immersed in what is at hand and lets himself be led along by the [...] conversation, by the other person. And yet, in the midst of all this, he is completely himself, he acts [...] and behaves as himself: the action is the passion and vice versa. [...] In loving knowledge and knowing love, there exists selfhood as a manner of being-in-relation; there the person is a *relatio subsistens*". 621

In a footnote at the end of this quotation, Oster reminds us that Aquinas uses just this expression — relationis subsistentes — "in order to describe the inner-Trinitarian

⁶²⁰ Oster, 2012, p. 352.

⁶²¹ Oster, 2012, p. 353-4.

persons".⁶²² The thesis is an attempt to make good the connection here made, namely, that in performance musicians are subsisting relationships as, analogously, are the members of the Trinity.

⁶²² Ibid., pp. 354, n. 24. See Aquinas, 1991, 1.29.4, p. 69.

CHAPTER 8: A PRELIMINARY ORIENTATION TO SOME ASPECTS OF CONTINUITY IN THE MUSIC-MAKING CONTEXT

Continuity has a crucial role in the argumentation of the thesis, especially, but not only, the continuity between the music-making and performers. As I use it in the thesis, it is a 'practical' concept which is best understood in the specific contexts in which I use and develop it in later chapters, especially, but not exclusively, the following two chapters on the practice of music. Here I provide a preliminary orientation to its use in the thesis which I hope will serve as a useful background against which to assess its effectiveness in forwarding my later arguments.

The kind of continuity which will be the focus of this chapter is found *in* relationship in the midst of music-making, within the mutual indwelling of musicians and continuity across their identities as they perform *this* work together at *this* time.

That the performer is continuous with the music-making, specifically, that the performer is defined in his or her entirety as performer by the music-making is central to my overall argument. Here I give a brief introduction to what I have in mind by this. I argue for it in more detail in later chapters where the discussion gives a more fertile context for its development.

It would seem that the continuity which plays an important part in the thesis has little to do with the continuities and infinitesimals of mathematical calculus. But consider the continuity between an equation of a curve, that is, a mathematical function, and the curve itself. Given the conventions of Cartesian co-ordinates, the equation defines the curve in its entirety; there is continuity between them. This is not generally true of definitions and that which they define. The definition of a cup as a vessel for drinking from does not define any given cup in its entirely; shape, size, material, and decoration, for example, are missing from the definition. Is the continuity between musicians and music-making like that between the mathematical equation (function) and curve? Is one entirely defined by the other?

We can start to answer this question with an example in which there is a very strong continuity: dancers and the dance. The dancers define the dance in its entirety, they are one and the same, the overlap between them is exact, it is only in language that an apparent separation between them can be made; there are not two things, only the (one group of) dancers dancing. The continuity, we can say, is in both directions. It would be a category error if someone were to see the dancers dancing yet say they could not see the dance, or if they were to say they were watching dancing but could not see the dancers.

In the same way as there is continuity between dancers dancing and the dance, I would like to suggest that there is continuity between musicians playing and the music they make. The continuity between dancers and dancing is extremely strong because the whole body is involved in the execution of the dance, even facial gestures can be considered part of the dance, especially, perhaps, in ballet. In music-making, the whole body is less likely to be involved. But let us think about the player as making this music at this time. As the dance is the dancers dancing and the dancers dancing is

the dance, the instrumentalist as the maker of this music at this time is continuous with the music-making. What I have in mind is that moment by moment the player as that player is entirely defined by the music he or she makes. Unless the musician is distracted from her or his playing, there seems no gap between him or her and the music-making. Because this continuity is important for my overall argument, this is why I lay such stress on the need for good performances, for the performer who is distracted will not contribute to a good performance and will not be entirely defined by the music-making. This continuity has a physical manifestation in, for example, the movements of the violinist's fingers on the violin's finger-board and the movements of his or her bowing arm. It can be seen in the breathing and the lip-shapes of brass and woodwind players. Bowie observes that,

The purely physical description of something which we understand as music [...] has to be complemented by an interpretive aspect [...] the supposedly purely objective turns out not to be separable from the supposedly subjective because it is inextricably bound up with human action.623

Bowie's view here coincides with what Wood tells us about Brahms for whom there was no separation between the technical and expressive aspects of music-making.⁶²⁴ There is a sense in which taking something up into oneself is an aspect of continuity.

⁶²³ Bowie, 2009, p. 9.

⁶²⁴ See pp. 46-7 above.

Performers, as it were, take into themselves, contract, the elements of *this* music in the course of performing it, and thus become continuous with the music-making.

Continuity and time, music and music-making

Here I give a brief statement of one of the reasons why the thesis is focussed on music-making rather than on music. This distinction is developed especially in Chapter 9 on the performance and reception of music. I also briefly sketch an argument for thinking of performers as constructed in time from the momentary instants which are manifestations of the music as it exists and develops in time. This is a further argument for the continuity of the performers and the music-making.

As Begbie suggests, music-making is something which occurs in, and is dominated by, time. We say that it changes and extends over time. Thus, we might be tempted to say that any given act of music-making is a continuant. Aristotle's view was that continuants were primary substances and that they were capable of possessing contrary qualities while remaining the same. Anne's example is of a mature maple tree which over the course of a year has "light green leaves in the spring, dark green leaves in the summer, brown or reddish leaves in the fall, and no leaves in the winter. These changes are entirely comparable with its remaining the very same tree

⁶²⁵ Aune, 1986, p. 78.

throughout the year".⁶²⁶ The changes, however, must be what Aristotle called 'accidental'; a change in substance or 'essence' signals the end of a thing.

Now whilst music is not a primary substance, it does exist across time and so is a continuant though it depends for its existence on the activity of musicians. Also, it has processual qualities which result from the actions of musicians who are themselves continuants. The continuity of cause and effect allows us to speak of a continuity between the musicians and the music-making; the music-making is caused by musicians. Thus, insofar as I seek an argument which shows that music has theological import in its own right in terms of the relationality of performers, my focus is on *music-making* rather than on music as 'thing'.

Another aspect of the continuity which plays such a large part in the thesis can be approached by thinking about events as Carnap and Russell do.⁶²⁷ For them, an event is something which persists in time and whose manifestation at any given moment is an 'instance'. On this view, a continuant is a reality derived by logical construction from events. The music is the same musical work throughout its changes. 'Things' happen to it: themes are transformed, instrumental colours shift, and so on. On this view, the case as made above for continuity between music-making and music-makers is strengthened. We can say the musical work, which is a continuant, is a construction out of momentary instances. The instances are continuous with the music-making, which is continuous with the music-makers, hence the music-makers are 'constructed'

⁶²⁶ Ibid

⁶²⁷ Russell, 1948, pp. 97-98, Carnap, 1958, pp. 197-216.

out of all the momentary instances which are manifestations of the work as it exists changingly through time.

Continuity and co-created creative space

One of my key trajectories in the thesis is to establish the idea of the co-created creative space of music-making. One prominent aspect of this space is the continuity between all its various components. Here I provide a descriptive account of this space and the continuity which is integral to it. This is to bolster my claims for the continuity of music-making and performers, and another illustration of why my emphasis is on music-making rather than simply music.

The space is constituted not only by the venue including its size, shape and materials, but also by the audience and their expectations, by the performers, by the instruments, by the nature of the occasion, by the editorial decisions of the score, even by musicologists, and socio-cultural and political influences. A co-created creative space includes all elements which taken together make the music event what it is. The space is clearly co-created by performers but also by designers of instruments and of the concert venue for example, and it is itself creative, that is, it generates *this* music-making, determining all aspects of it. A difference in one or more of the elements makes for a difference in the music-making. Materials both of buildings and instruments, playing methods and techniques, musical understandings, and musical

⁶²⁸ Whilst socio-cultural and political influences may be at work in a music-event, the argumentation of the thesis is focussed exclusively on the musical aspects of performance, the realisation of a score.

training are some examples of the elements of a co-created creative space which vary and thereby alter the music-making from one performance to another. Further examples of differences in co-created creative space are the alteration of tempi to take account of new acoustic contexts, the alteration of registration for organ pieces to take account of different instruments, altering the spatial layout of an orchestra or choir to take account of the characteristics of part-writing or the compatibility of voices. These alterations, take place in the context of a continuity of tradition and performance practice that is nonetheless always evolving, of the musicological influences that impact on performance decisions, even of such things as phrasing and articulation, which also illustrate the continuity between performances themselves and the elements of the creative space.

What is especially noteworthy is that there is not an independent reason outside of the music-making, the co-created creative space, which can be said to govern the process whereby the musicians come to indwell one another. The score is not a candidate here, for it indicates not a totally fixed possibility for performance, but is only an indication of the great variety of interpretive possibilities according to which it can be realised in performance. Also, the score is itself part of the co-created creative space.

All these aspects of continuity can be seen in terms of the relation between cause and effect.

Continuity between music-making and interpretation

Chapters 9 and 10 of the thesis explore issues of performance practice and the reception of music. An aspect of both of these is the continuity which obtained between rhetoric and music especially in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries but which in fact existed from the late fifteenth century to the early nineteenth century, with our own time recognising the underlying continuity between expressive means and the arousal of human affect. The topic here is again the continuity between music-making and the players, but this time extended to accommodate their shared interpretive vision.

Judy Tarling tells us that "Quantz cited the voice and skills of an orator as his models for good performance, with the ultimate goal of both musician and orator to become 'masters of the hearts of their listeners'. He urged both types of performer to be aware of their shared aims and techniques". Farling also references a work written towards the end of the eighteenth century by William Cockin, *The Art of Delivering Written Language*, which, Tarling says, "described the common ground between speaking and playing music expressively". This common ground is a psycho-cultural construct. Cultural because it is about oratory and making music, psychological because the tropes of both have affective consequences.

We find an explicit recognition of continuity in the musical aesthetics of the eighteenth century and earlier, a continuity which exists for us still, though not perhaps in the

⁶²⁹ Tarling, 2005, p. i.

⁶³⁰ Ibid.

⁶³¹ See Tarling, 2005, pp. 84-88 for tables which give the correlations between intended affects on the one hand, and range and tessitura, tempi, intervals and harmony, movement types, combinations of affects, and rhythmic devices on the other.

form which it took two hundred years and more ago. Judy Tarling gives a fascinating account of the role which rhetoric played in the performance of eighteenth-century music. Performers aimed "to persuade and to entertain the audience's intellect and emotions". Thus, there was developed a sophisticated rhetorical account of how this could be achieved. We get a very strong sense of the continuity which was held to exist between delivery and the affect aroused in listeners. Kirnberger wrote:

It is immediately apparent to everyone that the most moving melody would be completely stripped of all its power and expression if one note after another were performed without precise regulation of speed, without accents, and without resting points, even if performed with the strictest observation of pitch.⁶³⁴

Kirnberger is here warning that the continuity between performance and affect can be broken. Interpretive finesse is expected of modern performers, though the tropes of ancient rhetoric might not be held to exert the power which they once did. Nonetheless, that there is continuity between the interpretive means at a musician's disposal and the extent to which listeners are persuaded of the quality of the performance, is clearly evident. The continuity extends back from interpretive means to the interpretive intent of the player, which in turn is continuous with the tradition

⁶³² Tarling, 2005.

⁶³³ Ibid., p. vi.

⁶³⁴ Kirnberger quoted by Tarling, 2005, p. 99.

of performance in which she or he was trained, the musicological ethos in which he or she is immersed, and so on.

Continuity, tradition and music-making

This concluding section of the chapter briefly introduces the notion of continuity in playing traditions and in the training of performers. Again, the importance of this is that it emphasises the continuity between the player and the music-making itself by drawing attention to one aspect of how performers are infused with music as a practice with which they identify and by which their identities as performers are initially established.

Writing in the context of a discussion of the case for women's ordination, Frances Young draws our attention to Ruth Edwards for whom continuity and faithfulness to tradition and foundation documents can exist "without excluding change and development". 635 Ruth Edwards, says Young, gives us a

distillation of principles from the 'hermeneutical interaction' of scripture, tradition, reason and experience, allowing for the creation of new insight out of the very fabric of what is received; thus continuity is ensured". 636

⁶³⁵ Young, 2013, p. 325.

⁶³⁶ Ibid.

I suggest that this is a most apt description of what happens when musicians think about interpretation. Though there is no founding text in music which corresponds to scripture, musicians nonetheless must, in some sense, remain faithful to the score which can be thought of as founding performance.

Musical performances take place within a tradition. Reason and experience must be brought to bear on matters of interpretation. Tradition, reason, and experience do not destroy continuity even when something new arises. Rather, they are the conditions of continuity. Without them there is only sameness. There must be development and change for there to be continuity. Continuity is an indispensable ingredient of the compelling performances to which I assume players aspire. I shall argue that such performances demand a certain relationality amongst the players, and it is this relationality which I shall compare analogically with the relationality of the Trinity, concluding that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating. Continuity is thus necessary for the relationality which interests me in the thesis, and its importance in the thesis will become evident in the chapters on the performance and reception of music, and, especially, from what I call a co-created creative space.⁶³⁷ When musicians are said to be at one with their instruments, this is continuity. When I am completely absorbed by the music so that it occupies my entire perceptual field, this is continuity.

⁶³⁷ See Chapters 9 and 10.

In the performance context, continuity does not erase distinctiveness. We get the sense of this from Peter Schidlof's comment that,

When I play the viola, I don't think particularly about my part only,
I think much more about the other parts. I imagine I am playing the
first fiddle or the cello, and one just fills in.⁶³⁸

Schidlof as an individual would be discontinuous with the other members of the quartet; this would not engender good music-making. When Schidlof plays, he receives and gives signs from and to the other members of the quartet: an accent here, a tenuto there, and so on. These signs are acted upon by the other players, and this makes for continuity, that is, the performance coheres as the totality of the work. To paraphrase Adkins: to think a musical performance is to think the singular [...] the continuous [...] without subordinating it to the individual, the discrete.⁶³⁹

⁶³⁸ Nissel, 1998, p. 10.

⁶³⁹ See Adkins, 2015, p. 19.

CHAPTER 9: THE PERFORMANCE AND RECEPTION OF MUSIC

The thesis is concerned only with the physical aspects of music-making. Luther thought of music as a completely outward, physical phenomenon, and he "wanted to emphasise the importance of the physical world as the bearer of spiritual reality". 640 This chapter focuses on the physicality of the practice of music-making by way of preparing the ground for the argument that it is a performed theology of relating.

Begbie points to the dangers of a kind of theological-musical hubris, warning against the tendency in theology of music to adopt a "theological aestheticism" in which music works entirely on its own terms and thus becomes "a new theological master [giving] supreme access to God". 641 Although music for the purposes of this thesis is analysed and viewed as rooted entirely in its performative aspects, and here it is worth noting Benson's insistence that "the structures that we call pieces of music are 'composed' of the activity of music making itself; rather than music making 'plus some other thing' (that we would call a 'work')",642 I would like to argue that, rather than thinking of music-making as giving some kind of access to God, a thought about which my misgivings are expressed in the section of the thesis on David Brown, music-making is better described as a performed theology of Christian relating that, in demanding mutual indwelling from performers, is Trinitarian. The difference between these descriptions is important because to describe music as a performed theology of

⁶⁴⁰ Antilla, 2013, p. 97.

⁶⁴¹ Begbie, 2008, p. 22.

⁶⁴² Benson, 2003, p. 161.

relating which is Trinitarian in the mutual indwelling of musicians is a less controlling theological orientation for music than is Begbie's feared 'gaining access to God'.

A phenomenological orientation to the physicality of music-making

Music-making, I wish to argue, is completely analysable in terms of its performative, that is, its practical and technical aspects, and this analysis is fundamental to the aim of this thesis. The intention is to see what sort of thing music is prior to its being judged and brought under the strictures, definitions, presuppositions and so on of other perspectives by which we normally structure our interactions with the world. Specifically, the focus is on music as "an embodied art-form and practice that requires participation and engagement through simultaneous action and reception". ⁶⁴³

Stone-Davis' work commends itself not only for its focus on the physicality of music, but also because it sits well alongside the emphasis in this thesis on the mutual indwelling of performers which compelling music-making requires.

To construe music-making solely in terms of its physicality and performativity has the virtue that the physical need not be transcended. The intention in this thesis is to defer for others' attention the debate about music and the extra-musical, its alleged functionality, for example, or whether it is a language, what it is for, and so on.

⁶⁴³ Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 161.

A second virtue is that the physical need not be relativised to the subjective, rather, physicality becomes a matter of embodiment per se, not a matter of the isolated individual experiences of particular subjects, and this ensures a certain objectivity when analysing the relationship between music and those who perform it. Perhaps a more down-to-earth version of this is that individual personality and ego drop out of the analysis.

A third virtue of this approach is, as Stone-Davis puts it, that "attending to music's physicality does not lead inevitably to its absolutisation as some kind of channel through which transcendence flows, for this is beyond the scope of the physical which can only point towards an immanent transcendence". This, as Stone-Davis says, removes the fear of "theological aestheticism" that Begbie, as noted above, warns against. 445

A fourth virtue is that music is not taken to be free-floating and autonomous. Music is first and foremost a practice, and as such it is ineluctably embodied. I therefore avoid, for example, a "Platonist conception of musical works as objectively existent [...] entities whose structures, properties and salient features fix the truth-value of our various statements and judgements concerning them". 646 According to this view, the

⁶⁴⁴ Ibid., p. 159.

⁶⁴⁵ Ibid., n. 1.

646 Norris, 2006, p. 9.

various performances of musical works are only imperfect copies of the pre-existing entities.⁶⁴⁷

Stone-Davis' analysis of the physicality of music has two parts: the exploration of "music as produced sound [and] an examination of music as received". These two parts of the analysis arise because "music is an embodied art-form and practice that requires participation and engagement through simultaneous action and reception". 649

Stone-Davis begins the first part of her analysis – music as produced sound – by noting that "the performance of music is an embodied event, comprising a succession of physical actions".⁶⁵⁰ Thus, she considers the physical relationship which players' bodies have with instruments whereby, for example, the length of strings and of channels of air are altered, and she finds a reciprocal relationship between the body - which impinges on instruments - and the sound which is thereby produced which impacts the body; this reciprocity she calls 'attunement'; the player's body, his or her instrument, and the sound become one.⁶⁵¹. Now "attunement is not an isolated moment, but a process", ⁶⁵² music is a succession of events which stand in a particular relation to one another. And, further, it is clear that this mutual impacting of player

⁶⁴⁷ Plato's theory of art, including music, is set out most fully in Books III and X of *The Republic,* Plato 1974. For an excellent survey of Plato on art and artists see Murdoch 1978.

⁶⁴⁸ Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 161.

⁶⁴⁹ Ibid., p. 160-1.

⁶⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 162.

⁶⁵¹ Ibid.

⁶⁵² Ibid.

and instrument results in the absorption of the player by the music, the player becomes as it were lost in the music and dead to all outside it. Stone-Davis says,

the musician and music unite. The musician attends to the instrument, the sound, and the music. She is absorbed by music, cohering with its 'present', its direction, and its flow, becoming an embodiment of it. The self is thus *ekstatic*, its attention wholly outward facing.⁶⁵³

Thus, others are included in a continuity which is that of player-instrument-sound-music. This is an example of continuity which is explained more fully in Chapter 8, but because continuity is a major building block of my overall argument, it is important at this stage to note the absence of a gap between its various components. By way of example of this, Stone-Davis quotes Merleau-Ponty for whom

the performer is no longer producing or reproducing the sonata: he feels himself, and the others feel him, to be at the service of the sonata; the sonata sings through him or cries out so suddenly that he must 'dash his bow' to follow it".654

_

⁶⁵³ Ibid., pp. 165-6.

⁶⁵⁴ Merleau-Ponty, 2000, p. 177, quoted by Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 166, n. 9.

In the same note, Stone-Davis remarks that a good performance is precisely a question of this "embodiment of the performer by the music". 655

For the moment, however, it is enough that this brief exegesis of "music as performance" has shown that music-making is indeed an activity which is "grounded in the physical" and which has the power to unite performers, listeners, instruments and the performance space in a continuity. All the components of this continuity exist in a reciprocal relationship of "acting and being acted upon". 658

Stone-Davis's analysis of music as reception

Stone-Davis begins her analysis of "music as reception" ⁶⁵⁹ by noting that "the reception of music is as physical an act as that of its production", ⁶⁶⁰ and that it is not only the ear which is impacted by music but also the body generally; this means that music is felt as well as heard and that the whole body resonates in response to music. The upshot of this is that performers, listeners, and the music itself become attuned; ⁶⁶¹ the physicality of the music initiates this attunement because it thereby "signals its presence and invites the subject's attention and engagement". ⁶⁶²

⁶⁵⁹ Ibid.

⁶⁵⁵ Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 166, n. 9.

⁶⁵⁶ Ibid., p. 162.

⁶⁵⁷ Ibid., p. 167.

⁶⁵⁸ Ibid.

⁶⁶⁰ Ibid.

⁶⁶¹ Ibid.

⁶⁶² Ibid.

For Stone-Davis the physicality of "music qua music" has three characteristics:⁶⁶³ 'Impact', 'absorption', and 'ekstasis'. 'Impact' refers to the physicality of music which, "lies at the heart of music".⁶⁶⁴ 'Absorption' refers to "the ways in which the subject is absorbed by the musical experience",⁶⁶⁵ a striking example of continuity, while 'ekstasis' enables absorption to be expressed "in terms of the outward-facing relationship that results".⁶⁶⁶ Stone-Davis tells us that,

It is through active and full engagement and attunement that absorption and *ekstasis* emerge most completely since it is thereby that the subject enters into the proximity of music, and it is *through time*, the fundamental structure of music, that experience is constituted and reconfigured.⁶⁶⁷

This strongly implies that if the potential for music-making to be the occasion for a renewal and strengthening of harmonious relationships, a corollary of the thesis's main claim, then musicians have a certain responsibility to become actively and fully engaged with the music, to seek attunement. This requirement will be revisited in later chapters below as part of a larger need for musicians to create what will then be called a co-created creative space, ⁶⁶⁸ and to attend to the demands the music makes if performances are to be compelling. *Ekstasis* is important in the thesis when I discuss

⁶⁶³ Ibid., p. 160.

⁶⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁶⁶⁵ Ibid.

⁶⁶⁶ Ibid. *Ekstasis* is a transliteration of the Greek word which literally means 'standing outside oneself'.

⁶⁶⁷ Ibid., p. 169. Emphasis in the original.

⁶⁶⁸ See Chapter 10.

and reframe the relationality of performing musicians in terms of communion. The basic point for Stone-Davis is that "the succession of tones is internally related. It is from the fundamental relation of tones (each of which comes in and out of existence but which is multi-directional in its 'intention') that higher levels of relation, or schemes, emerge". These schemes, which include tonality, repetition, rhythm, melody, timbre and style, encourage the hearer to become attuned.

Stone-Davis makes an important distinction between 'real' time and 'musical' time which revolves around the experience in which real time appears to be speeded up or slowed down by or in relation to musical time. But, as she rightly notes, music is not always, or does not always seem to be, directed by time, that is, some music seems to stand outside, or largely outside, time altogether. Minimalist music is a case in point, as is some of Messiaen's music, for example his organ pieces *Le Banquet Céleste*, *Apparition de l'église éternelle* and *Desseins éternels*. But music cannot evade time altogether; movement and duration are always present. The reason for this is that "music is the relation of tones selected and placed within a sequence. The relations may not be immediately obvious, yet they are all present, structuring the musical experience of the recipient".672

The conclusion of Stone-Davis' analysis of music as a received phenomenon is that the physicality of music "transforms the 'ordinariness' of the present moment or more

⁶⁶⁹ Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 170.

⁶⁷⁰ Ibid., pp. 170-3.

⁶⁷¹ The first two pieces mentioned are 'stand-alone'. The third is a movement from the nine movement work *La Nativité du Seigneur*.

⁶⁷² Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 175.

specifically series of moments".⁶⁷³ This transformation is constituted by the attention that the subject pays, in quite specific ways, to the music qua music, and this amounts to a certain openness on the part of performers and listeners. Music demands that performers and listeners leave their egos and personalities behind.

In the course of enunciating the dynamics of music-making in terms of the performance and reception of music, this chapter has emphasised the importance of particular concepts for the later development of the thesis. Amongst these is the responsibility incumbent on performers and listeners to seek attunement. The following chapter fills out these concepts by setting them within the context of good performance practice.

_

⁶⁷³ Ibid., p. 177.

CHAPTER 10: GOOD PERFORMANCE PRACTICE

An analysis of the physicality of music's performance and reception as presented in the previous chapter is one of the basic building blocks of a theology of music which aims to show that those engaged in music-making as performers and listeners are in fact engaged in making relationships which are Christian in character. To make good this claim I need to extend the analysis of music-making as so far undertaken, however for the moment I simply flag up that I shall claim that mutual indwelling is not merely characteristic of Trinitarian life and of music-making, but that it is essential to both. This will lead to a discussion of being rapt out of oneself in a state of communion by intimate participation, and to further consideration of *ekstasis*. The purpose of the present chapter is to advance this claim by amplifying the arguments of the previous chapter. As part of that endeavour, the concept of a co-created creative space will be introduced, and the sphere of analysis will be enlarged to include performance practice whilst maintaining the focus on the physicality of music, its technical aspects.

Co-created creative space

The concept of a co-created creative space which is employed in the thesis is indeed of a space in which music-making takes place, but this space is much more than a mere container, a concert hall, for example. In the first place, its acoustic properties are integral to the music-making, influencing tempi, dynamic range, chording and instrumental balance. It is also a space which is inflected by rhythm, by combinations of notes and their pitches, by consonance and dissonance. So, it is certainly a musical

space.⁶⁷⁴ Interestingly, renaissance writing on architecture makes specific reference to the temporal aspect of music; as musical space is structured by rhythm, pitch and harmonious relationships between them, so architectural space can be similarly articulated.⁶⁷⁵

But the concept of a co-created creative space as meant in the thesis also includes what Goktepe seems to have in mind when talking about the notion of creative responsiveness which "both captures the need for an openness to others and the environment". 676 Creative responsiveness in this sense is essential if musical performances are to be compelling and do justice to the creative fullness of the work. Indeed, it is indispensable for the mutual indwelling of performers which, I shall argue, is part warrant for the claim that music-making entails a relationality amongst the performers which is Christian.

The distinction between music and music-making is significant. 'Music' carries the temptation to see the work as having a fixed identity. 'Music-making' resists this enticement even if only because it points to an activity rather than a thing. In Chapter 13 'musicking' is used to avoid the impression that a concert, for example, is a thing rather than a fluid interaction of influences between the musical score, the performers, the audience, the venue and so on. This means that instead of understanding 'music is being played' as one would 'a trumpet is being played', there

_

⁶⁷⁴ There might well be other kinds of co-created creative spaces such as ones in which dance or theatre take place; see the following paragraph.

⁶⁷⁵ Vergo, 2005, p. 147ff.

⁶⁷⁶ Goktepe, 2019, p. 241.

is a focus on a continuing transformation which is not of a thing but of itself. This is to return to the notion of a co-created creative space, for it is not that the space is an enclosed space in which something happens, rather the musicking is of the space itself. Rather than there being the transformation of a thing, there is simply transformation, transformation which is not predicated on the fixity of a concept whereby some thing is transformed into some other thing.

For Stone-Davis, "the beauty of music, epistemologically speaking, is its capacity to instil a certain mode of attention", and, further, that music "turns the subject outwards and in doing so creates a focus on that which is irreducibly other, sustaining the interest of the subject and thereby encouraging it to dwell in this encounter."⁶⁷⁷ Indeed, I argue that dwelling in the encounter is essential if performances are to be compelling. Although I agree with Stone-Davis that music-making entails a turning of attention outward to the other,⁶⁷⁸ contrary to Stone-Davis the concept of a co-created creative space resists the categorisation of one's fellow performers as irreducibly other.

The claim this thesis seeks to defend is that in performing together musicians necessarily relate to one another in ways which are Christian. For the moment, though, it is enough to establish that performers and the musical performance itself inhabit a co-created creative space which preserves the individuality of the players whilst at the same time ensuring a relationality between them which is predicated on

⁶⁷⁷ Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 178.

⁶⁷⁸ Please see p. 243 above.

what is written into and demanded by the very nature and experience of good musicmaking.

Musical truth and performance practice

Is it legitimate to conceive truth as an emergent property which requires some kind of creative energy to bring it forth? Not any kind of creative energy will do, and this is the reason why this chapter will emphasise good performance practice. An emergent property is one which results from the interaction of the various parts of a system none of which contains the property in question. Again, this is relevant to the present thesis; interaction between parts of a system is just what takes place when music is performed, and some aspects of this have been explored in the previous chapter. Stone-Davis is clear that "truth is an emergent and evolving property that is experienced within events rather than an unconditional proposition understood in abstraction".⁶⁷⁹ Specifically, at least part of the truth of music towards which this thesis is working its way is that of good relationships, and again Stone-Davis points the way for she contends that

the subject understands the significance of aspects of her life from the position of the here-and-now, [...and] that something analogous occurs within the musical event, which is a border or

.

⁶⁷⁹ Stone-Davis, 2015c, p. 145.

liminal practice that gathers and holds together relations in both real and virtual time and space.⁶⁸⁰

For Putnam, the legitimacy of judgements of value lies in their being made only by those who are actively involved with the issues concerned. Bowie thinks that judgements of musical value constitute a parallel case: "the ability to distinguish between what is 'deeply expressive' and merely 'meretricious' involves [...] a mastery which is not just of the vocabulary for verbal expression about music, but of the music itself". 681 The norms governing good performance do not pre-exist actual performance, or do so only in a very general way; melodies should not be swamped by accompaniments, for example.⁶⁸² Bowie's interest here is in "an asymmetrical relationship between two ways of thinking of truth". 683 In this way of thinking, my first-person perspective is that the truths I hold are internally related to their justifications, and this is part of my understanding of what truth is; I must believe that the justifications I advance for the truth of my convictions actually do the work required of them. This is important because it underpins the notion of good interpretations. Unless truth and justification are thus held together, I have no means of distinguishing between the fittingness of various interpretations, that is, I have no basis upon which I am able to defend the value or authenticity of interpretations or to develop critical awareness generally. This logic does not, however, apply to the view I

⁶⁸⁰ Ibid.

⁶⁸¹ Bowie, 2009, p. 322.

⁶⁸² There might be several melodies in play at any given moment. Fragments of an important melodic theme might be used for accompanimental purposes and as such might be given a certain prominence in performance, but this is precisely a question of interpretation and not one of pre-given normative standards.

⁶⁸³ Bowie, 2009, p. 325.

take of the justifications advanced by others. Whilst I realise that others' justifications hold good for them, they need not for me. The upshot of this is that the tie between truth and justification is both fundamental to the concept of truth and the root of disagreements about what is to count as truth. Bowie translates this into "an analogous claim [that] can apply to musical judgements in the form both of verbal judgements *about* and of practical judgements *in* performance".⁶⁸⁴

Now this claim by Bowie is of a piece with Férdia Stone-Davis' contention that "meaning is not presented 'definitively' within the musical experience". 685 It is true that her emphasis is on musical meaning, and that she includes along with expression and evocation in music what she refers to as music's "first-order mode of being" by which she means that musical experience "involves a suspension of the distinction between subject and object (promoting instead their mutuality) or, rather, a retrieval of the pre-reflective moment before this distinction asserts itself". 686 Bowie and Wellmer show that musical interpretation and judgments about the musical worth of performances in general, though they appear to have teleological impetus and are susceptible, at least in part, to rational debate, are, if we adhere to a non-metaphysical notion of truth, in their very nature contestable; the idea that there is one correct interpretation or judgement is logically incoherent on this view. Stone-Davis, similarly, allows for a variety of meanings, interpretations, and judgements. Whereas Bowie starts from an analysis of how truth functions in ordinary discourse, Stone-Davis starts from a consideration of the physicality of music which extends to all who hear it.

⁶⁸⁴ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

⁶⁸⁵ Stone-Davis, 2011, p. 188.

⁶⁸⁶ Ibid., p. 159.

Bowie's methodology, leads to the realisation that the first-person perspective of multiple others must result in multiple justifications which are in principle capable of being rejected by all except the subject for whom they must, logically must, hold true. Thus, for both Bowie and Stone-Davis, musical meaning, interpretation, and judgement are always open to debate, that is, they are in principle never finally decidable. Indeed, one can go so far as to say that as soon as a performance or interpretation is claimed to be finally definitive, then we may be sure that ossification has set in. As Bowie points out, "A crucial aspect of the history of art consists precisely in the continual transformation of norms by aesthetic practice". ⁶⁸⁷ This means that performers and listeners alike have a responsibility to remain constantly open to fresh possibilities for interpretation and performance, for it is a mark of great music that these possibilities cannot be exhausted by, or receive their full due in, any one interpretation or performance.

Bowie tells us that for Adorno there is inevitably a contradiction between a score and its performance because "the score implies a telos of true performance, but actual performances reveal ongoing disagreements concerning the score". 688 But how or why does a score imply a telos of true performance? Few composers, especially preromantic ones, would be likely to hold such a view, it being demonstrably true that many valued the variety of interpretations and arrangements to which their scores give rise. Bach's habit of transcribing his own music with little alteration is a good example here. 689 Adorno, however, insists on a "fundamental antinomy of art-

⁶⁸⁷ Bowie, 2009, p. 324.

⁶⁸⁸ Ibid., pp. 325-6.

⁶⁸⁹ The 'Schübler Chorales' are a case in point.

music",⁶⁹⁰ an antinomy which "has to do with relationships such as those between score and interpretation".⁶⁹¹ The explanation for this antinomy arises when considering the extent to which "a score should determine its interpretation".⁶⁹² The problem as Adorno presents it is that "musical notation is, of course, expression of a musical *Idea*, which it, so to speak, standardises, reifies, alters and which … is to be awoken, restored. In a certain sense true interpretation *revokes* the notation".⁶⁹³ As Bowie says, "The notation that is 'revoked' is at the same time that without which the music could not exist, hence the antinomy".⁶⁹⁴ But improvised music exists without a score, and surely it would be rather strange to say there is no interpretative element involved when music is improvised; when a theme is repeated, for example, its first incarnation has a forward impact on how it shall be played subsequently.

Bowie alerts us to what Adorno has in mind by 'musical idea': "the significance generated by [a] theme's relationships to its contexts [...] what the work means in history by being realised in performance". Straightaway, however, this does not merely allow for different legitimate interpretations, it writes difference into the very nature of music, the musical idea, and it does this because the history of performance-practice is necessarily varied. Thus, the musical idea is equally varied. All this Adorno captures neatly when he says that "interpreting language means: understanding language; interpreting music means: making music". See Further, "Whether a phrase is

_

⁶⁹⁰ Adorno, 2001, p. 74; quoted in Bowie, 2009, p. 327.

⁶⁹¹ Bowie, 2009, p. 327.

⁶⁹² Ibid.

⁶⁹³ Adorno, 2001, p. 182, quoted in Bowie, 2009, p. 327. Emphasis in the original.

⁶⁹⁴ Bowie, 2009, p. 328.

⁶⁹⁵ Ibid., n. 14.

⁶⁹⁶ Quoted by Bowie 2009, p. 328.

played in a meaningful manner can be precisely converted into technical correlates like accents, pauses for breath, etc. But in order to carry out this conversion one must first understand the meaning of the phrase".⁶⁹⁷ Adorno's view that musical meaningfulness can be converted into technical correlates resonates with Stone-Davis' analysis of music in terms of its performance, reception and physicality. Thus, the argument that music-making has something to teach us about what is involved in the making of good relationships is strengthened, for successful interpretations, that is, the communication of musical meaning, are dependent on both performing and listening to music in terms of the history and tradition of practice. This claim can be unpacked a little more by asking what it is to understand a musical phrase. One answer is that such understanding revolves around the notion of communicative practice, and this means that initiation into what is to count as understanding cannot be achieved outside of actual performance practice, for musical understanding "requires 'knowing how' which is not simply cognitive and propositional, [though it is] not merely behavioural either". ⁶⁹⁸

This would seem to point to the notion of musical understanding and meaning as emergent properties dependent on the interaction of the various aspects of music-making previously described. Bowie tells us that "For Besseler, the manner of being of music in modernity was constituted by engagement in practice, rather than being the representation of something already objectively existing".⁶⁹⁹

⁶⁹⁷ Adorno, 2001, p. 159, quoted Bowie 2009, pp. 328-9.

⁶⁹⁸ Bowie, 2009, p. 329.

⁶⁹⁹ Ibid., p. 331.

Besides Bowie and Stone-Davis, Stolzfus is another scholar for whom performance practice is key to understanding music. Stolzfus believes that "a new consciousness of the ontology of music is emerging". 700 He identifies three areas in which this is happening: pedagogy as exemplified by the Suzuki method; performance practice particularly as it focuses on performance traditions; and poststructuralist and postmodern approaches which challenge the hegemony of earlier conceptions of music as autonomous and non-representational.701 "Music", writes Stolzfus, "has now come to be understood as an irreducibly performative phenomenon, dependent for its life and intelligibility upon the cultural performance tradition out of which it arises". 702 Although Stolzfus engages deeply with the work of Barth and Schleiermacher, and although he acknowledges "a high degree of originality in their theological-aesthetic thinking", he criticises them for their adherence to a correspondence theory of aesthetics according to which art mirrors "either affective states of consciousness or cosmic structures of being". 703 Stolzfus, anxious to explore music's performance possibilities for theology, turns to Wittgenstein because "his philosophical commitments are developed in continuity with distinctive reflections upon music as a performance art". 704 It would seem, then, that Wittgenstein has something of value for the present thesis which seeks to develop a view of musicmaking as a performed theology of Christian relationships.

⁷⁰⁰ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 7.

⁷⁰¹ Ibid., pp. 5-7.

⁷⁰² Ibid., p. 7.

⁷⁰³ Ibid., p. 167.

⁷⁰⁴ Ibid., p. 168.

Musical expressivity and performance are one

In Chapter 1 the question was asked whether music might have something to contribute to theology which was of itself as opposed to it being merely a vehicle for, or descriptive of, theological propositions otherwise capable of linguistic formulation without loss. What is not to be excluded is musical expressivity. In the course of his exegesis of Wittgenstein's critique of expressivism, Stolzfus asks, "Are a musical work and its expressive effects two separate things?". As he says, it is absurd to imagine that one could separate "the feelings and images from the music, so that we could simply dispense with the music". This is another example of continuity.

Wittgenstein's interest in the performance-aspect of music can be found in his *Lectures and Conversations on Aesthetics, Psychology and Religious Belief*. He is clear that an understanding of the musical expressivity of a piece of music, perhaps of music in general, is built up through acquaintance with performances of music. Wittgenstein thinks that understanding the meaning of propositions is similarly acquired, an aspect of the well-known Wittgensteinian alignment of meaning with use, another example of continuity. The essential point here is that one knows, has learnt, what counts as a good performance, that is, a good *musical* performance, by virtue of having engaged with previous performances; there is no standard external to performance to which one can appeal as the criterion by which performances of music can be judged. Certainly, performance practice is subject to changes of fashion

⁷⁰⁵ Ibid., p. 203.

⁷⁰⁶ Ibid

⁷⁰⁷ Wittgenstein, 1978.

which might be triggered by research into historical practice, or into the socio-cultural ethos prevailing at the time of composition. But when I appeal to musicological scholarship in defence, for example, of a certain approach to articulation, phrasing and tempo, the appeal is finally justified in terms of musical effectiveness; any other justification is special-pleading. Or when the teacher tells the pupil to play or sing with more feeling because when he wrote the piece the composer was undergoing a severe emotional crisis which surely is reflected in the music, the pupil responds in purely musical ways, adding a crescendo here, a tenuto there, and so on. And if other players or singers are involved, then their performance decisions will be affected by these changes. When a listener or critic insists that she hears the emotion in the music, she hears it in purely musical terms. All of this is consonant with Brahms' view mentioned earlier on pp. 46-7.

Wittgenstein is not simply responding to the entrenched view that music expresses something external to it, but also to the difficulty we sometimes experience in trying to explain to others just why we find a phrase more significant when played like *this* rather than *this*. The problem is that it seems as though we have recourse to some extra-musical criteria, for how otherwise would we be able to decide between the two ways of playing the phrase.⁷⁰⁸ This, though, is not what usually happens in practice, as Stolzfus, quoting Wittgenstein, points out:

⁷⁰⁸ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 212.

But in most cases if someone asked me 'How do you think this melody should be played?', I will, as an answer, just whistle it in a particular way, and nothing will have been present to my mind but the tune *actually whistled* (not an image of *that*).⁷⁰⁹

Stolzfus summarises what he takes from The Blue and Brown Books as: "In music, understanding and mastery is in many cases shown from within the doing of a performance, not from reference to an auxiliary datum projected upon it". 710 When he turns to the *Philosophical Investigations*, ⁷¹¹ Stolzfus finds the same emphasis on music as performance. In this text, Wittgenstein is interested in the notions of rulefollowing and family resemblances which he develops in order to undermine Plato's construction of "the meaning of a concept as a simple, essential reality that all manifestations of its use necessarily have in common". The significance of this is twofold: first, there is no means of showing that a piece of music has an existence which is independent of its performances; second, if there is a rule for singing a melody, knowledge of the rule can only be demonstrated by actually singing the melody. Stolzfus says, "what one would call 'the piece' remains concretely situated and embodied in particular activities". 713 I cannot enter here into a critical discussion of Wittgenstein's thinking surrounding rule-following and family resemblances, but note that when we talk about musical thought (or, for that matter, spoken thought), this can only be done in a public manner, a performative context. Whilst Wittgenstein

⁷⁰⁹ Wittgenstein, 1969, p. 166. Quoted in Stolzfus, 2006, p. 213. Emphasis in the original.

⁷¹⁰ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 213.

⁷¹¹ Wittgenstein, 1972.

⁷¹² Stolzfus, 2006, p. 218.

⁷¹³ Ibid., p. 219.

makes this move as part of his attack on Cartesianism, its assertion of internal, purely private mental activity, it nonetheless lends weight to my decision to focus on the performative aspects of music in the attempt to read music in terms which relate directly to it as music-making stripped of factors external to the musical experience as such. In §535 of *Philosophical Investigations*, Wittgenstein asks, "What happens when we learn to *feel* the ending of a church mode as an ending?". 714 His answer is that one learns by experience, and that what happens is that the feeling develops entirely by virtue of performance and its reception, not by learning a definition or a formula, it is, in other words, a skill learnt by immersion in practice. Stolzfus summarises: "The feelings and experiences of a passage [of music] are there as they are performed [...] Anything that is hinted at or discussed later [... is] engaged in completely different 'playing' than what takes place in performance". 715 Wittgenstein's 'dawning of an aspect' is not far away here, and it may well require several performances of a particular piece of music for its musical significance to dawn such that the listener (or performer, even) now 'understands' it. But there is a complication here; whereas the duck/rabbit figure is fixed and can be examined at leisure for an indefinite time until the other aspect 'clicks' into place, the musical figure is time-limited, and the availability of a particular aspect could be limited to a single performance. It is true that some performances reveal new aspects by virtue of the conviction with which the player performs. Stolzfus comments that

_

⁷¹⁴ Wittgenstein, 1972, p. 144.

⁷¹⁵ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 223.

the musical performance 'becomes' different things", a march, a dance, depending on the ability or imagination of the participants to hear different tempi, modulations, keys, variations on a theme and so on [...] Moments of critical shift in perspective [...] are grasped, demonstrated, and negotiated only in the course of an entire culture of self-transforming performances.⁷¹⁶

Performance remains the yardstick by which music is 'understood'. "The performer lives in a world and a language into which he or she is continually, performatively incorporated". 717

To briefly recap, this chapter so far has attempted to show that music can be understood on its own terms. This is not to deny that it can be conceived otherwise, and some of these have been outlined in Chapter 2.

My approach to music-making is, as my adoption of Stone-Davis' concepts of absorption and attunement suggests, phenomenological, but my focus is firmly on the structural dynamics of the performance relationships of musicians as they are immersed in the music-making. This focus has been enlarged to include a brief consideration of musical understanding conceived in performance terms alone.

.

⁷¹⁶ Ibid., p. 224. In this learning how to apply rules and see different aspects there are implications for music education, and although they cannot be explored in the thesis, it might nonetheless be important for churches to consider these if the case for the theological import of music-making can be made successfully in the thesis.

⁷¹⁷ Ibid.

Co-created creative assemblage

The various aspects of music-making as I have outlined them so far coalesce around the notion of co-created creative space. This space is indispensable for the adequate performance of music, including its interpretation, and in the next section I build on what has gone before in order to fill out this notion more adequately.

In the course of his critique of expressivism, Wittgenstein argues against the reduction of music to some kind of analogue of emotional states, instead he advocates a position which maintains the idea of musical value but which conceives this value to arise in the interactions between performers and listeners rather than from the music-work's evocation of, or connection to, an external state, be it psychological or otherwise.⁷¹⁸ Stolzfus explains: "what we want in a judgement of value in musical expression is a communicative space in which to make comparisons". 719 More than this, however, I wish to stress the continuity between performers, listeners and the space in which the music-making occurs. This continuity has already been explored in earlier sections of the present chapter. In those sections the focus was on the physicality of music qua music and what this means for the performance-practice aspects of music-making and its reception. Listening to music or performing it entails a joining together of players, listeners, and the environment into a kind of unity, a continuity. More than this, players, listeners and performing space interpenetrate one another, and this assemblage is indeed a co-created creative assemblage or space. This assemblage

⁷¹⁸ Wittgenstein, 1978.

⁷¹⁹ Stolzfus, 2006, p. 202.

exists under the aegis of the cultural phenomenon called music-making, and is itself creative, that is to say, it gives rise to new, otherwise unsuspected, relations between its component members. This includes not just relations between performers and listeners, but also between them and the space in which music is made as well as between these three - players, listeners and space - and the music itself. New interpretations and understandings of the music arise, and that they do so within the context of the assemblage is crucial for the thesis because their appearance can be accounted for in purely musical terms as functions of musical understanding, yet they gather together the subjectivities of all the participants in, and listeners to, the musicmaking. This means that the inter- and intra-relationships between performers and listeners can be understood in purely musical terms. The musical relationships that obtain in performing are not simply musical but are constitutive of the relationships between the musical subjects of performing and listening. To put this at its lowest, the music does not play or interpret itself, although various genres and instruments have a significant role to play in interpretation. The music is played and interpreted by people who are obliged to enter into relationships with one another which are characterised by a mutual indwelling, and this in order to secure successful performances;⁷²⁰ "there is", says Keith Sawyer, "no music without collaboration".⁷²¹

I make frequent use of the notion of compelling music-making in the thesis because I take it that this cannot happen unless the performers are immersed in the music-making such that it is as though the music plays them. I shall argue that by virtue of

⁷²⁰ Howsoever 'successful performances' is understood.

⁷²¹ Sawyer, 2016, p. 284.

this immersion the musicians are defined in their entirety and I need this to be the case as part of my overall argument that to make music is to perform Christian relationality. The question arises therefore as to what successful and compelling music-making consists of. An answer is suggested by recalling the thought that musical understanding can be conceived as an emergent property which arises from the interaction of the various aspects of music-making previously described. 722 For Sawyer, "collaborative action is never fully fixed and predictable. Collaborative emergence is always present in some degree [...] and is more likely to be found as a group becomes more aligned with [...] four characteristics". 723 These characteristics are:

the activity has an unpredictable outcome, rather than a scripted, known, endpoint; there is moment-to-moment contingency: each person's action depends on the one just before; the interactional effect of any given action can be changed by the subsequent actions of other participants; [and that] the process is collaborative, with each participant contributing equally. 724

As Sawyer points out, a fully improvised performance would seem to meet these criteria most perfectly, nonetheless in any musical performance there is always "some degree of collaborative emergence because of the unavoidable moment-to-moment

⁷²² See p. 251.

⁷²³ Sawyer, 2016, p. 273. Collaborative emergence is not here equated with musical understanding conceived as an emergent property.

⁷²⁴ Ibid.

contingency of performance and the interactional effects of each performer's action on those of the others". These characteristics would seem to be very much in play in music-making, perhaps more obviously so in the case of small ensembles such as string quartets.

We can distinguish between synchronic and diachronic collaboration. Synchronic collaboration takes place when collaborators are all present at the same time in the same location, this means they continuously monitor one another, and interactions are more or less immediate. Diachronic collaboration, on the other hand, takes place at different times and frequently at different physical locations; "the creative contributions could be separated by days, weeks, or even years". The an age of such rapid communication and easy access to information, musicians are aware of the work of contemporary scholars, theoreticians, and other performers as well as those of the past.

This chapter has made the case for thinking music in purely musical, that is, technical terms, appealing especially to the notion of good performance practice. Also, the opportunity has been taken to explain Deleuze's concept of the dividual which will help fill out what I have in mind when I think of the continuity and mutual intrarelationships present in small musical ensembles.

⁷²⁵ Ibid.

⁷²⁶ Ibid., p. 275.

PART 4: TRINITARIAN THEOLOGY, CHRISTIAN RELATIONALITY A	VID WILL

CHAPTER 11: MUSIC AND THE TRINITY AS CONVERSATION

I would now like to put in place the final building blocks of the thesis, namely, a Trinitarian theology of revelation (Herman Bavinck), of conversation (Christoph Schwöbel), and of God's involvement with the complexities of world, especially through language (Daniel Hardy). Part of the discussion will be picked up in some of the reflection in Chapter 12 where I introduce Jüngel's and Barth's Trinitarian conception of God's being as being in becoming. This links with Hardy's view that "God is a dynamic structured relationality in whom there is an infinite possibility of life", 727 and he talks of "the fulfilment of initial conditions [in the Godhead] through an ongoing self-structuring". 728

One of the main purposes of this chapter is to draw out an aspect of the Trinitarian theology of indwelling outlined in previous chapters around 'conversation'. What I hope to show is that just as in an account of Trinitarian indwelling God can be conceived as conversation, then there may also exist a kind of conversational mutual indwelling for music makers. The analogical dimensions of the discussions in previous chapters suggest that we might be justified in thinking along these lines, in particular that not only is there conversation between the three divine persons but also between Godself and creation. Given the aim of the thesis is to argue for music as a performed theology of Christian relating, my intention is to refer the conversation which is music-making to the conversation which God has with Godself and with creation, always

⁷²⁷ Hardy, 1996b, p. 81.

⁷²⁸ Ibid.

remaining mindful that we cannot conceive the nature of this conversation in and of itself, though we know from Scripture that the members of the Trinity speak to one another and that God speaks with human creatures. The conversational aspects of music-making are to be thought in terms of music's performance and reception in the context of co-created creative spaces as described in previous chapters.

My method here is not to draw a parallel between divine conversation and human music-making as conversation, and, on the basis of this parallel, to assert that to make music is to perform a theology of relating. Rather, I shall build on previous arguments that music-making entails a mutual indwelling amongst the performers which, for as long as they continue to make music, is entirely constitutive of their identities. The claim, then, is that music-making is Trinitarian because it is constituted by a mutual indwelling of the musicians which is analogically comparable with the indwelling of the Trinitarian Persons. Colin Gunton, speaking of the indwelling of the members of the Trinity, puts their mutual constitution beautifully: "Each is only what he is by virtue of what the three give to and receive from each other; and yet, by virtue of their mutually constitutive relations each is distinctive and particular". The is certainly a question about what happens when the members of the quartet go their separate ways after a performance, and I give some thought to this in the Conclusion. But perhaps the question serves to emphasise that the thesis is couched in terms of music-

⁷²⁹ Gunton, 1997, p. 12.

making and not just music, and that the claim defended is that music-making is a theology that exists in performance.

Commandeering language and music

I would like to build on the notion of commandeering language in speaking of God, and begin by enlarging very briefly on the discussion in Chapter 3 of communio.

To summarise where we have got to: I have argued that one may discover they are in communion (relationship) with the other musicians once they have begun to make music with them. I am drawn in, not just into the music, but into 'fellowship' with the other musicians, and the subjectivity of this 'points' to the objective status of the relationships which are demanded by the music, or, better, by its adequate performance.⁷³⁰ Though relationships between performers are felt by them as part of their subjectivity, without the non-subjective reality of good relationships between them an adequate performance would not be possible. It is not enough for the players merely to think from either their individual or collective subjectivities that they are attuned to one another musically; there would be plenty of room for illusions. What is indispensable is that their good relationships should be publicly verifiable in terms of good performances. This criterion is sufficiently robust to support the argument that, whilst good relationships between the performers might not be the final guarantee of a good performance, nonetheless a poor performance does indicate that

 $^{^{730}}$ See p. 229 for Bowie on the inseparability of subjectivity and objectivity in the description of music.

the relationships between them are flawed. These relationships are always to be construed in musical, or to be more specific, technical terms. It might be that a lack of technical facility on the part of one member of a quartet could undermine the coinhering relationships between them, and this will be manifest in flawed performances. The point here is that the musicians' failed communication and understanding militate against their mutual indwelling; the thesis is predicated on such indwelling as it is demanded by the music itself if it is to receive good performances.

Hardy argues that the Parable of the Prodigal Son has implications for language, namely, that it can be redemptive: "it is addressed to others (in their otherness) as the means by which they are to be met, responded-to, bonded-to and raised to their truth". The music-making also a means by which others are raised to their truth? In music-making others are responded-to, bonded-to and raised to their truth as those whose participation in the performance is indispensable, they are shown for who they are as participants in *this* performance. Kathryn Tanner tells us "the Trinity is coming to us to give us the sort of life-giving relations of mutual flourishing which the Trinity itself enjoys". What I mean to argue is that good music-making is the relations of mutual flourishing. The Trinity is the ground of all created relationality, and Trinitarian indwelling defines Christian relating. Where Hardy says that "the 'logic' of the Trinitarian life and work of God – hence the logic of God's activity in language – is that of the most radical form of gift", and that this gift is present when "human speakers"

⁷³¹ Hardy, 1996d, p. 64.

⁷³² Quoted by Schwöbel, 2014, p. 65.

reach out to others in their particularity and speak lovingly",⁷³³ it seems to me this happens in music-making too. Music-making requires an engagement with others in their particularity not simply as players of this or that instrument playing a part which is uniquely theirs (as in a string quartet), but also as fellow instrumentalists whose musical personalities must be responded too so that coherent performances are achieved. This engagement requires a certain love. In previous chapters and in the Conclusion I make the case for the presence of love in music-making.

Indwelling: music-making and the Trinity

Torrance notes that lying at the heart of Barth's "semantic ontology" is a certain "dynamism" whereby language is 'commandeered' by "revelation in and through which God actively conditions (reconciles) the 'sense' of the terms involved".⁷³⁴ Torrance is impressed by Jüngel's recasting, that is, interpretation, of Barth's argument with regard to the priority of a revelatory dynamic in its relationship to theological language, especially in the context of Barth's worries about *vestigia trinitatis*. Jüngel stresses the point that, for Barth, theological language is necessarily the world's language, but that it must always speak in a manner which is contrary to the world, and that revelation cannot be caught in language by a logical construction which, for Barth, "would be just an *analogia entis*. But the language in which the revelation shall be able to come to speech must, as it were, be commandeered by revelation". ⁷³⁵ Barth is anxious to assure us that there is indeed what he calls "a real

⁷³³ Hardy, 1996d, p. 65.

⁷³⁴ Torrance, 1996, p. 204.

⁷³⁵ Jüngel, 2014, p. 23.

vestigium trinitatis in creatura, an illustration of revelation, but it we have neither to discover nor to validate ourselves".⁷³⁶ He goes on to say that "the real right meaning of the *vestigia* doctrine [...] consists of the form which God Himself in His revelation has assumed in our language, world, and humanity",⁷³⁷ and he glosses this in terms of "what we hear when [...] we listen to God's revelation, what we apprehend in Scripture [... and] what the proclamation of the Word of God actually is in our life".⁷³⁸ "In this way", says Barth, God "creates a *vestigium* of Himself and so of His three-inoneness".⁷³⁹ This is the point in his exposition of Barth at which Jüngel speaks of interpretation placing a demand on language which, he says, "must be understood in such a way that revelation grants *courage* to language, so that interpretation is made possible".⁷⁴⁰

To anticipate a little, the bold hope for this thesis is that music-making too can be shown to be commandeered by revelation. Bavinck will help with this a little later in the thesis, but the ground of this hope is that music-making is Trinitarian insofar as it necessarily entails mutual indwelling on the part of music-makers, an indwelling in which the musicians are entirely themselves *qua* musicians as the three persons of the Trinity are entirely and fully themselves in their mutual indwelling. Again, this is not an attempt to instigate a mode of living or human existence modelled on the Trinity; there is no question of designing a programme with specific substantive content which would claim to promote such a mode of being. Rather, it is to make the claim for

_

⁷³⁶ Barth, 1936, p. 399.

⁷³⁷ Ibid.

⁷³⁸ Ibid.

⁷³⁹ Ibid

⁷⁴⁰ Jüngel, 2014, p. 24. Emphasis in the original.

music-making that it is already and albeit imperfectly, analogically comparable to Trinitarian relationality, this is so precisely on account of the mutual indwelling amongst its practitioners which it occasions. Gunton says, "The world and all in it takes its creation and recreation from the Trinitarian relatedness of Father, Son and Spirit". The analogy with music-making is a form of being which is a mutual indwelling, and this is the analogy with music-making. Thus, music-making can be conceived to be ontologically grounded in what is revealed to us in faith of God's triune life as a conversation which of itself is a mutual indwelling. It is not that conversation promotes indwelling. There are not two separate things, the conversation and the indwelling. Rather, the conversation is already an indwelling, an aspect of continuity.

It remains to show that the being of the Trinity is one of mutual indwelling. If this can be achieved and I can thus say that music-making and Trinitarian life are modes of being in which the participants fully indwell one another, are entirely themselves and yet remain distinct although they would none of them exist were it not for the others, then I shall have made good progress towards making good my main claim; that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality.

Relationality

First, however, I need to heed a warning. Although our understanding of relationality relies heavily on our experience of our human relationships, it is important to beware

⁷⁴¹ Gunton, 1997, p. 99.

of the difficulties in comparing these with those of divine persons in their relationality. Pannenberg spells out the two crucial differences.⁷⁴² First, and most important, whereas human persons have the capacity to distinguish, at least partly, their own identity and to establish their own constitution, "the Trinitarian persons", as Peters puts it, "[...] are *totally* dependent upon their relation to others".⁷⁴³ Second, human beings experience an often-painful tension between the ego and the self. The self is partly determined by others whereas the ego is not. This tension is not felt by the persons of the Trinity. Pannenberg says,

the Son is wholly himself in the relation to the Father and the Father in the relation to the Son, so that both are wholly what they are in the witness of the Spirit. The Spirit for his part, in his personal separateness, is simply the Spirit of the Father and the Son inasmuch as these are the objects of his working, an object, however, that is always realised already in the eternal fellowship of the divine life.⁷⁴⁴

So how, in the context of the thesis, should I respond to the differences between human and divine relationality to which Pannenberg has pointed? An initial thought is that relationality in the thesis is confined to the fact of indwelling, not the content of it except insofar as indwelling completely determines the identities of the Trinitarian persons on the one hand and of the musicians on the other. Also, the comparison is in

⁷⁴² For an excellent exegesis of Pannenberg on this see Peters, 1993, pp. 139-42.

⁷⁴³ Peters, 1993, p. 139. Emphasis in the original. See Pannenberg, 2009, pp. 430-31.

⁷⁴⁴ Pannenberg, 2009, p. 431.

terms of analogy. Certainly, human beings have the ability to establish their own identities, at least in part, in life generally, and it is certainly true that they experience tensions between their egos and their selves, but it is remarkable that this ability and experience are minimised in the case of those who make music together. Although performing groups have distinguishable performing styles, the individual members of a particular group become absorbed into that group's style and must serve the music; thus, individual identity is minimised except insofar as it is part constitutive of the group's overall style (identity). On the other hand, the individual identity of performers is understood in the thesis in entirely musical terms, that is, an individual performer's identity in this performance is entirely dependent on the performance of this work at this time; the identities are continuous with one another. Something similar applies in the tension between ego and self. Ego is to be eschewed in musicmaking. Music-making is not a vehicle for egoism; once the egos of individual players enter into performances, the integrity of the music is lost, not least because musicmaking can often be characterised precisely as a conversation among equal partners, and this remains the case even when one partner or another takes the lead at a particular point in the conversation. This minimisation of the tension between ego and self and of the ability to determine one's own identity in contra-distinction to others considerably reduces the force of Pannenberg's worries. Additionally, as has been previously emphasised, the point about the appeal to the relationality which inheres in the Trinity is that it is constitutive of its members in the sense that it is their identities.

Conversation makes for a very particular kind of relationality. The conversation between the three persons of the Trinity is a communion of perfect relationality in which all three persons are fully themselves precisely in this relationality. Can music-making be analogously compared to intra-Trinitarian activity because it too fosters such a relationship? This is to ask if music-making as conversation promotes a relationality of mutual indwelling; if it does, this would seem to imply that the claim that music-making is a theology of Christian relating might be successfully defended. Whereas intra-Divine communion is perfect in the mutuality of its indwelling, this is not so for human persons. Trinitarian life is ontologically definitive of relationality, human life is not. Yet the performance aspects of music-making do seem to indicate that its participants are, *qua* musicians, totally dependent on one another for their identities, that is, their identities are wholly in terms of their relationships with one another, as musicians they are fully themselves in these inter-relationships. The extent to which musical mutual indwelling approaches perfection is a function of the quality of the music-making.

In Anne Hunt's view, the move to a more social explication of Trinitarian theology can be understood "from a methodological perspective as a shift in the function of Trinitarian meaning, to use Bernard Lonergan's terms, from the cognitive to the communicative".⁷⁴⁵ For her, human conversation "intimates and implies the very mystery of Trinitarian being, wherein interpersonal relationality is characterised by 'ecstasis' or 'decentring' of the self in radical other-regarding relationality".⁷⁴⁶ This

⁷⁴⁵ Hunt, 2003, p. 69.

⁷⁴⁶ Ibid. p. 88.

ecstasis and decentring and other-regarding relationality, as we have seen, is integral to music-making. Hunt's is a positive view of conversation in relation to theology. Lieven Boeve thinks rather differently, bringing a postmodern perspective to bear on issues of conversation and theology which leads to the conclusion that conversation in theology "should [probably] end and leave room for the God who cannot be grasped by our words, phrases, and narratives – although this God can only be referred to by these same particular words, phrases and narratives".⁷⁴⁷

Whilst Hunt's view of conversation parallels the view of music-making I take in the thesis as I have presented in the chapters of Part 3, and whilst Boeve's view seems highly critical of conversation in theology and ends in a postmodern dilemma which highlights the inescapable role of analogy in talk of God, my undertaking in this part of the thesis is to draw on Schwöbel's work in order to develop a theological account of conversational relationality. This positions me closer to Hunt though, as I have indicated previously in the thesis, I make no claims about the inner life of the Trinity beyond its being one of perfect mutual indwelling in love.

For Christoph Schwöbel, "conversation is not something external to Christian theology, [rather] all Christian theology ultimately has the character of conversation". This follows from conceiving faith as "an ongoing conversation about God and with God", which is itself "rooted in the fact that God engages in conversation with his creation", which in turn "is rooted in God's own being as conversation so that

⁷⁴⁷ Boeve, 2003, p. 209.

⁷⁴⁸ Schwöbel, 2003, p. 45.

the being of the world has its ground in the conversation that God is".⁷⁴⁹ Schwöbel does not claim this to be an original proposal, but he does argue that it is radical "in a precise way since it argues for the view that the conversation God *has* with creation has its roots in the conversations that God *is*, and both of these in their interconnectedness are the roots of a relational theology."⁷⁵⁰ The interest of this for the thesis is that a relational theology thus grows out of God's being as conversation and out of the conversation God has with creation. Thus, the argument results in a theological ontology of communicative relations.

The radical nature of Schwöbel's thesis is better appreciated when recalling the two major paradigms according to which reality has often been conceived. First, until the advent of modernity substance metaphysics dominated thought about the nature of reality. On this view, reality is a question of that which underlies and bears the changing attributes of a thing. Aristotle, Plato, Descartes, and Locke all espouse substance metaphysics in one form or another, and according to these various versions relations are always external, that is, relations can always be analysed in terms of attributes which indicate being in relation to something else. This means that relationality is never a question of that of which something is predicated, neither is it constitutive of that which is predicated. Schwöbel thus contends that, "In this framework, being in its substantial structure determines knowing. However, the relationship of knowing remains external to being".751

⁷⁴⁹ Ihid

⁷⁵⁰ Ibid. Emphases in the original.

⁷⁵¹ Ibid., p. 44.

The second paradigm to have dominated the discussion about the nature of reality in western philosophy has been the idealism associated especially with Kant and Berkeley. For them, the mind is the fundamental factor in knowledge, and this has the consequence that all knowledge claims are forms of self-knowledge. Thus, in contrast to substance metaphysics, the structure of idealism is one of relationality, and this has the consequence that reality is known only in terms of its internal relation to the self-relationality of the knowing subject. Whereas substance metaphysics yields relations which are only ever external, subjectivity yields relations which can allow neither for genuine otherness nor for objectivity.

Thus, if I wish to develop a theology of relating, I need to be able to think relationality such that both substance metaphysics and idealism as the paradigms according to which the structures of reality are conceived are avoided, that is, I seek a relationality which is not merely external on the one hand, and which is objective and allows for genuine otherness on the other, and therein lies the radical nature of Schwöbel's argument, for he shows that a theology of Christian relationality springs from the conversation that God is and the conversation which God has with his creation. The conversation between the three divine persons cannot be merely external to their natures, God in his triunity is what God speaks, a wonderful example of continuity. Yet this conversation also encompasses otherness and objectivity, Schwöbel arguing that the biblical witness is constitutive of an ontology.

Schwöbel insists that,

Whichever conceptualities of relationality Christian theology proposes, they must be rooted in the theological understanding of God. [Professing the triune God] as the one who relates to the world in creation, reconciliation and consummation, makes all patterns of relationality dependent on God as the ground, meaning and goal of everything there is.⁷⁵²

Schwöbel appeals to scriptural witnesses and to Luther to support the idea of God as conversation. The is impressed that, regardless of their varying theological conceptions, preoccupations and orientations, the scriptural witnesses all "present communication as a normative paradigm for depicting the God-world relationship". There are many examples. God speaks the world into being, human beings are made in the image of God who speaks to them and to whom they can respond. Schwöbel says that "creaturely responsibility lies in hearing and responding to God's address". The history of Israel's relationship with God is one in which words are paramount: the covenant is established and maintained by God's promises and by the people listening to God's commandments. When the people disobey God, he speaks again, sometimes in the words of prophets. The people address God in psalms of praise, of thanksgiving, of sorrow and of supplication. Jesus is "the first and last word of God". The divinity of Jesus is precisely understood as his authority to speak the word of God and his ability to make the perfect response to God in obedience and faith such that he is "the

⁷⁵² Ibid., pp. 44-5.

⁷⁵³ Ibid., p. 46.

⁷⁵⁴ Ibid.

⁷⁵⁵ Ibid., p. 47.

⁷⁵⁶ Ibid.

founder and perfecter of our faith". 757 God's actions and speech are united because God "does things with words and [...] makes things that speak". 758 And so "God's action is communicative action, and God's speech effects what it says". 759

Schwöbel's commitment to the witness of Scripture and to what he takes to be the intention of the Bible writers, namely, to define an ontology, establish the framework of reality, sets him apart from those scholars who attempt to interpret the biblical narrative within the context of an already given ontology. He says,

the theological challenge therefore consists in taking the biblical texts seriously in their ontological claims and in trying to reconstruct an ontology, a conceptual reconstruction of the biblical views of reality, on their basis. The theological challenge for a relational theology therefore is not to impose an already defined framework of relationality on the biblical witness but to try and define relationality from these roots.⁷⁶⁰

In Genesis, creation is quite clearly to be understood in terms of God's speaking: God said, 'Let there be...and there was...'. More than this, God's speech establishes ordered relationships both within creation and between creation and God himself. Despite its absolute dependence on God, on God's word, creation enjoys what

⁷⁵⁷ Heb. 12:2. Quoted by Schwöbel, 2003, p. 48.

⁷⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 49.

⁷⁵⁹ Ibid.

⁷⁶⁰ Ibid., p. 50.

⁷⁶¹ Here I am referring to the late exilic account of approximately 587 BCE in Genesis 1:1 to 2:4.

Schwöbel calls "created and [...] creative interdependence". ⁷⁶² The creative activity of music-making is, as I hope I have been able to show, the making of relationships, an interdependent creative activity, a mutual indwelling on the part of the performers.

Schwöbel's argument suggests that music-making as an ordered activity is dependent on God's speech. Continuity would suggest that music-making is the ordering of relationships, and so Schwöbel's argument would suggest it is grounded in God, and that it is to perform a theology of relationality which is Christian.

Since creation comes into being by God's word, "there cannot be a division between being and meaning [...] Meaning is invested into the created order from the beginning by God's word". He another example of continuity: the meaning of the created order is written into it at its very deepest levels, despite its fallen state. Theologically speaking, creation is not ontologically neutral, neither can it be properly understood in terms of scientific analyses or of the purposes to which it is subjected by human will and activity. Creation has a relative independence from God which gives it real otherness. It is thus capable of being addressed by God and of "being called into communion with God". In note that, if meaning is invested in the created order and cannot be separated from being, this capability stands in close proximity to the demand made on, and the courage given to, theological language to interpret revelation. Schwöbel's Lutheran understanding of the relationship between God

⁷⁶² Ibid., p. 51.

⁷⁶³ Ibid.

⁷⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁷⁶⁵ See p. 267ff above.

and humanity is that to establish communion between them is "the aim of creation", and thus that creation is from the beginning "a covenantal form of life". The Schwöbel's point here is that this is a form of life which from its inception is conversational through and through.

Luther, too, portrays God's dealings with human beings as conversation, giving an insightful reading of the first verse of St. John's Gospel:

St John thus declares that there was in God a Speech or Word who occupies all of God, that He was God Himself, that He had preceded the existence of all creatures [...] Thus it must be a word or conversation not of any angels or of any creatures but of God Himself. Thus, we see here the term 'the Word', not any ordinary word but a Word that is as great as God Himself. Indeed, the Word is God Himself.⁷⁶⁷

On this account, God and creation are intimately engaged with one another in terms which are conversational.

Schwöbel continues his argument by invoking Rahner's identification of the economic Trinity with the immanent Trinity and understands it as a statement which proclaims a perfect alignment of God's action and being in relation to the world on the one hand,

⁷⁶⁶ Schwöbel, 2003, p. 53.

⁷⁶⁷ Luther, 1958b, p. 12.

and to himself on the other. This prompts the question as to whether God *is* conversation or simply takes part *in* conversation.⁷⁶⁸ Schwöbel concludes that both notions apply to God and that all God's speaking is Trinitarian, and this means that the doctrine of the Trinity "can be understood as an attempt to answer the question: 'Who is God if God is as he speaks, is spoken to and is spoken of in the divine-human conversation recorded and carried out in Scripture and continued in the church?'".⁷⁶⁹ The overarching profession that "In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God, and the Word was God",⁷⁷⁰ enables God's speaking to be identified in terms of the conversational relationships between the three divine persons.

Schwöbel summarises: "With regard to the Trinity which can only be spoken of within the discourse of faith, the relations between the three divine persons must be understood as internal and constitutive relations". This, says Schwöbel, has "surprising metaphysical implications", one of which is that God as conversation gives a mutuality between the three Persons which goes beyond the classical conception of the generation of the Son and the procession of the Spirit, for "the Father who is the initiating speaker in the Trinity also becomes the listener and the responsive speaker when the Son who is the first listener becomes the responsive

⁷⁶⁸ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

⁷⁶⁹ Ibid., p. 63.

⁷⁷⁰ John 1:2.

⁷⁷¹ Schwöbel, 2003, p. 64.

⁷⁷² Ibid.

speaker in his relationship to God the Father",⁷⁷³ and a similar dynamic holds good for the Spirit.

Schwöbel ends his essay by considering the possibility that 'conversation' is merely a metaphor which has no substantive connection with the actual structural and relational dynamic which is the Trinity. This is not the place to go into this possible difficulty in any detail, suffice to say that Schwöbel thinks it important to note that, if God is conversation and if the relationship between God and the world is validly conceived in terms of a discourse, then the distinction between literal and metaphorical discourse is problematic. More than this, though, he thinks that if we understand reality as a divine-human conversation, then the Trinitarian conversation "which constitutes being becomes a primary metaphysical category". This has the important consequence that "speaking is prior to being", things are spoken into existence which means that "how God does things with words becomes the way in which things are to be understood". In sum, Schwöbel thinks that if we take the notion of God as conversation seriously, as the biblical witnesses exhort us to do, then we find "that God is eventful, relational, personal [and] communal".

In this chapter the intention has been to set out some of the arguments as to how God can be conceived as conversation, conversation which is the mutual indwelling of the three Persons of the Trinity, an indwelling which is constitutive of Trinitarian

⁷⁷³ Ibid., p. 65.

⁷⁷⁴ Ibid.

⁷⁷⁵ Ibid.

⁷⁷⁶ Ibid., p. 66.

⁷⁷⁷ Ibid., p. 68.

relationality. If, as previously argued, music-making is constitutive of a relationality which is characterised by a mutual indwelling which is minimally contaminated by narrative content, an over-bearing individual identity and the tensions between self and ego, I hope to have made good progress towards establishing music-making to be a performed theology of Christian relating.

CHAPTER 12: TRINITY, RELATIONALITY AND MUSIC

The main purpose of this chapter is to explore the specific process of music-making in relation to Trinitarian thought. I will pick up theological themes developed in previous chapters and further develop the notion of mutual indwelling amongst the three Persons of the Trinity with regard to musical performance. Also, the claim that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relating will be approached by noting 'resonances' between music-making and certain aspects of God's Trinitarian life.

Being made in the image and likeness of God means that the co-ordinates of our reality, what it is to be human including what it is to relate in truly human ways, is grounded in his (self) relating as Three-personned God. Explaining that in patristic thought "the being of God is a relational being [... and that] it would be unthinkable to speak of the one God before speaking of the God who is communion, that is to say, of the Holy Trinity", 778 for Zizioulas, "the Holy Trinity is a *primordial* ontological concept". 779 This means that "the only way for a true person to exist is for being and communion to coincide. The triune God offers in Himself the only possibility for such an identification of being with communion; He is the revelation of true personhood". 780 For 'communion', I would argue, we may substitute 'relationality'. In music-making especially, though this is not the usual language we use, the relationships between the musicians amount to a kind of communion; I will try to

⁷⁷⁸ Zizioulas, 2004, p. 17.

⁷⁷⁹ Ibid. Emphasis in the original.

⁷⁸⁰ Ibid., p. 107.

show in the next chapter that these relationships are sustained by, and are manifestations of, love.

The relationality required by music-making bears the hallmarks of Christian relationality, and this is because the relationality demanded by compelling performances of music constitutes a kind of mutual indwelling of the musicians which can be analogously compared to the indwelling of the three Persons of the Trinity, an analogy explored in this thesis in terms of the conversation which takes place between them and is definitive of the Triune God. If I know the co-ordinates of my reality, I can know my position in relation to the rest of reality, and to act on this knowledge is just what human relating, by grace, truly is. This is perhaps a specific, if small, example of what Begbie calls "music's ability to re-shape, reconfigure our temporal coordinates".781

Hardy on the Trinity and language

In Daniel Hardy's thinking on language and the Trinity there are insights which would seem to support my thesis that music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality. Hardy is anxious to repudiate what he castigates as the sub-Christian appeal to transcendence, made, for example, by George Steiner, "which", says Hardy, "serves as a theological authorisation of autonomous human creativity". 782 He agrees

⁷⁸¹ Begbie, 2004, p. 177.

⁷⁸² Hardy, 1996d, p. 60.

with Steiner "that language is – and must be – underwritten by the assumption of God's presence". The steiner argues that language is underpinned by

a direct and immediate sense of givenness, of awareness of something Other and something More, of experience of being taken beyond oneself [...] deep into something which is both the basis of, and the promise and fulfilment for the sheer and mere fact that one is there (here) and actually experiencing some possibilities both of creativity and of creation.⁷⁸⁴

Whilst Hardy applauds Steiner's view which not only gives theological authorisation to autonomous human creativity, but also "makes the question of God central to culture without compromising the freedom of culture", he criticises it for failing to take into account the involvement of the Triune God in the dynamics of language as well as in its truth content. Hardy believes that "God actively confers himself in establishing and re-establishing our language and truth as we communicate with each other". Perhaps it would be reasonable to wonder if the substitution of 'music' for 'language' would be legitimate. However, perhaps there is no need to become embroiled here in debates about music as language, instead, I hold to the conviction that (at least part of) what we communicate to one another as we make music can be conceived in purely musical terms, that is, musical ideas. Hardy invites us to consider

⁷⁸³ Ibid. This is Hardy not Steiner.

⁷⁸⁴ Steiner, 1989, p. 3.

⁷⁸⁵ Hardy, 1996d, p. 60.

⁷⁸⁶ Ibid., p. 61.

the Last Supper, arguing that the language then used is "intrinsic to the redemptive purposes of God. Language," he says, "is an 'economy' in which the Trinitarian God is active". 787 He argues that "Christ reopens the connection of language with its source, but that [that] does not establish a single preferred language. Instead, the Spirit brings about a witness which is contingent and appropriate for every place but fundamentally one in Christ". 788 It would seem, then, that the substitution of 'music' for 'language' would indeed be legitimate. Hardy finds inspiration in the Parable of the Prodigal Son. He says, "In telling this parable, Jesus appears to have been portraying the fundamental content of the Trinitarian life and work of God, an abundance which goes out to meet others, to embrace and raise them". 789 He then argues that the implication of this for language is that language can be redemptive, "it is addressed to others (in their otherness) as the means by which they are met, responded-to, bonded-to and raised to their truth". 790 Now, I would argue that music-making too is inflected in these ways. Those who make music together precisely address one another as other, as playing, for example, countermelodies. The music exists precisely only because performers meet, respond and bond to, one another, and this is demanded by the music itself and is to be understood in purely musical terms, it is integral to the adequate performance of the music. Musicians raise one another to their truth, truth as musicians and as it pertains to the individual players place and relationship with his or her fellow performers. Hardy thinks of language "in which the Trinitarian God is active" as a gift. 791 It occurs, he says "where human speakers reach

⁷⁸⁷ Ibid.

⁷⁸⁸ Ibid., p. 63.

⁷⁸⁹ Ibid., p. 64.

⁷⁹⁰ Ibid.

⁷⁹¹ Ibid., p. 65.

out to others in their particularity and speak lovingly".⁷⁹² Again, it would seem that this is what happens in music-making; this theme is taken up more fully later in the next chapter, especially the Conclusion.

Finally, in this section, I note Hardy's concern with the diversity and complexity of language whereby it is too often used to further individual special interests and is too often the vehicle for tension and difference. Hardy believes "God is active in developing [such] diversity and complexity and yet resolving the tensions which emerge in such diversity". 793 It need hardly be said that the creation and resolution of tension is one of the hallmarks of musical composition and performance. This is not to make the composer and performer God-like, rather, it is to see them as engaged in an activity which is informed by God's activity as, in Hardy's view, is language: "language is founded not in transcendence but in the involvement of the Trinitarian God in the dynamics of language itself". 794 And when Hardy tells us that "individuals and groups must be able to rejoice in particularity while at the same time recognising each other with compassion", it is surely legitimate to draw a parallel with musicmaking. Hardy refers to "the abundance of God in language [which] enables each thing or person to be different in its particularity, and yet capable of achieving unity through reference to the common source of particularities which/who is present in the dynamics of mutual engagement", and that this is, as he says, "astonishingly liberating". 795 In other words, particularities of difference need not be inevitably

⁷⁹² Ibid.

⁷⁹³ Ibid., p. 65.

⁷⁹⁴ Ibid., p. 60.

⁷⁹⁵ Ibid., p. 66.

antagonistic, rather, their truth is their unity which is from God. Hardy contends that his argument as I have outlined it here means that "the Trinitarian God can be seen to participate in any identification of a thing in its particular truth, and to participate in their relation". 796 This seems further warrant for claiming music-making to be a performed theology of Christian relating, for the gift of music-making can be understood as an activity in which the participation of God is the ground of the identity of the performers as performers, that is, their truth in terms of the performance, and, equally, to be the ground of their coherent relationships. The relevance of this for the thesis is that where Hardy grounds the coherence of language in the participation of the Trinitarian God, I claim the same for music-making. For music-making has a coherence, a logic which is open to us as creatures made in God's image. The fact of different musics, different tunings and so on is accommodated within this claim; life would not be possible were creation, including the place of human beings within it, not coherent in the relatedness of its various elements, and this coherence guaranteed by its Creator. 797

Hardy's conclusion regarding language is striking:

The creative Trinitarian activity of God [...] promotes a language in which there is true — that is relative — differentiation, a differentiation in free mutual responsibility. The true language of

٠. ..

⁷⁹⁶ Ibid.

⁷⁹⁷ This thesis cannot support a discussion of the anthropic principle according to which "a life-giving factor lies at the centre of the whole machinery and design of the world", and "man is adapted to the universe. The universe is adapted to man": Wheeler, 1988, p. vii.

such free mutual responsibility is a language which arises in the inner life of God himself.⁷⁹⁸

If the translation to music-making is legitimate, then we can say that music-making in its truth also arises in the inner life of God and is therefore truly a performed theology of communicative action.

Hardy says that he agrees "with Steiner that language is – and must be – underwritten by the assumption of God's presence". The However, as we have seen, he disagrees that language is founded in transcendence, arguing instead that it is founded "in the involvement of the Trinitarian God in the dynamics of language itself". The Inpursuing his argument with reference to the Parable of the Prodigal Son, he is clear that language can be redemptive, a means "through which others can be met, heard and abundantly raised to their own truth". The music-making is a parallel case, albeit one which must be construed in strictly musical terms both with regard to the event of music performance and to the identity and truth of those who perform, then music-making is further revealed as a performed theology of Christian relating.

All conversations take place within a given context, a co-created creative space. I would like now to think about what Daniel Hardy has called "contextuality" in relation to the Trinitarian activity of God.⁸⁰² As a preliminary to this consideration, it is useful

⁷⁹⁸ Hardy, 1996d, p. 66.

⁷⁹⁹ Ibid., p. 60.

800 Ibid.

⁸⁰¹ Ibid., p. 64.

802 Hardy, 1996b, p. 68.

to remember that in the previous chapter it was noted that in music-making not only is ego-led individuality put to one side, but that it has a minimum of narrative and propositional content. This first preliminary can be linked with a second, namely, that the absence of ego-led individuality and of narrative and propositional content in music-making leaves musicians more open than they would otherwise be to "the experience of grace in the body".⁸⁰³

Music-making as a contextualised, performed theology

The theological context which I would now like to bring to bear on music-making as *ekstatic* and as demanding that musicians and listeners alike become highly sensitive to their encounters with one another, their subjectivity as musicians, is that this gives credence to the thought that "making music [is] a fertile ground for exploring divine-human relationships".⁸⁰⁴

My starting point is that all of Creation is pervaded by the presence of God, and this includes music-making even though as a practice it is to be thought in strictly musical terms alone. God is always and everywhere actively reconciling the world to himself.⁸⁰⁵ Thus, this section of the thesis is about the meaning of music-making given the faith-based espousal of the contextualisation of the world as the sphere of God's reconciling activity.

⁸⁰³ O'Connor, et al., 2017, p. xi.

⁸⁰⁴ Ihid

^{805 2} Corinthians Ch.5, v. 19.

Hardy provides me with a useful approach to contextualisation from the Christian theologian's point of view. 806 He begins with a statement of faith: "It [...] needs to be understood that the Trinitarian God does not designate one alien to this world, the world in which human beings and cultures and the natural world are interwoven".807 He makes it clear that by 'context' he does not have in mind "that which surrounds us, as if that were distinct from us, as if it were an envelope in which we are contained".808 Rather, he thinks of contextuality as "the interweaving of human subjects with their cultures and the natural world, and of cultures with each other and the natural world". 809 The Christian seeks the Trinitarian God in this interweaving, but in order to do so needs "to develop a creative perception by which to sing our world as a hymn of praise to God, [and] fashioning such a song [...] is actually the task of theology".810 Hardy's overall theme is 'The Spirit of God in Creation and Reconciliation', 811 and he makes three important comments with regard to our contextuality as he pursues issues of creation and reconciliation. First, human beings are not autonomous, and the assumption that they are "is based on a very limited notion of contextuality, an essentially separatist and instrumental view of others and the social and natural worlds".812 I have previously argued that autonomy in this sense is inimical to good music-making. Second, this rejection of autonomy extends to all the factors which delineate contextuality, both natural and social. Social factors include "symbolic signification (linguistic and cultural procedures), political order (the distribution of

⁸⁰⁶ Hardy, 1996b.

⁸⁰⁷ Ibid., p. 68.

⁸⁰⁸ Ibid.

⁸⁰⁹ Ibid.

⁸¹⁰ Ibid., p. 69.

⁸¹¹ Ibid., p. 68.

⁸¹² Ibid., pp. 74-5.

responsibilities), economic order (the distribution of benefits) and customary/legal structures (the regulation of practices)".813 Natural factors include the "cosmic order (comprised of elements both spatial and temporal), and the order and distribution of animate being and of human beings".814 Third, although much of the Christian tradition presupposes God to be somehow isolated from contextuality, this needs to be questioned. Specifically, Hardy affirms that "we can only know God through his relation to the contextuality which is ours".815 Hardy invokes Rahner's famous identification of the economic and immanent Trinities, commenting "the *economy* through which the Trinitarian God is *himself* is our contextuality".816 Significantly for the thesis, Hardy separately identifies a final factor which needs to be taken into account, namely, "the creativity with which human beings use their contextuality".817

This human creativity comes into play in a situation which Hardy describes as "affirmative underdetermination".⁸¹⁸ The world is characterised by thorough-going diversity which offers considerable freedom for a restructuring accomplished through various interactions, though this freedom is not absolute because it is limited by already existing structures. There are, therefore, constraints upon both behaviour and upon what can count as plausible explanations for it. Even so, for Hardy the affirmatively underdetermined world has "two outstanding features which suggest the possibility of the presence of God".⁸¹⁹ The first is a "vitality present in the turmoil

⁸¹³ Ibid., p. 73.

⁸¹⁴ Ibid.

⁸¹⁵ Ibid., p. 75.

⁸¹⁶ Ibid. Emphases in the original.

⁸¹⁷ Ibid., p. 74.

⁸¹⁸ Ibid., p. 79.

⁸¹⁹ Ibid., p. 80.

of change, the [...] realisation that all things share one breath".820 The second is "the open structure of contingency".821 Hardy thinks of these as "the primary aspects" of the dynamics of contextuality, 822 and maintains his faith-based perspective by proclaiming the Christian God as a God who defines himself in his economic relationship with the world as it is manifest in his interactions with his creation which take place within the world's contextuality. God is never anything other than himself, and "the consistency of his life is an ordered but energetic congruence with his world".823 This view has clear resonances with Jüngel's view that God's being is in becoming. 824 As Jüngel makes very clear, he is not arguing that God's being can in any way be identified with God's becoming, on the contrary his intention is to emphasise an ontological point; "becoming' [...] indicates the manner in which God exists, and in this respect can be understood as the ontological place of the being of God".825 As Jüngel insists, God's being cannot undergo augmentation or diminution, so God's becoming cannot be understood as some kind of transition from past to present to future states. Such an understanding of 'becoming' is metaphysical, not theological. Theologically, 'becoming' refers to a Trinitarian category, and as such indicates a fundamental ontology. 826 God has to do with his creation in a dynamic way; he speaks to human beings, he sustains them and creation generally; he is not the God of deism, he reveals himself in the person of Jesus Christ. Thus, God's consistency (being) is

⁸²⁰ Ibid.

⁸²¹ Ibid.

⁸²² Ibid.

⁸²³ Ibid., p. 81.

⁸²⁴ Jüngel, 2014.

⁸²⁵ Ibid., p. xxv. Emphasis in the original.

⁸²⁶ Ibid., p. xxvi.

never compromised as he interacts dynamically (becoming) with his creation. Hardy puts it thus:

He (God) is himself in maintaining the consistency of his life in an ordered but energetic congruence with his world; he is capable of self-restructuring in a controlled response to the perturbations (constructive or destructive) which occur in that interaction and in those with whom he interacts.⁸²⁷

In Chapter 10 the concept of a co-created creative space was introduced. Alongside that discussion, which emphasised the creativity inherent in good music-making as exemplified in good performance practice and its reception, can be placed Hardy's insights concerning the "the open structure of contingency", 828 and his comment that account needs to be taken of "the creativity with which human beings use their contextuality". 829 Hardy asks, "What are the *marks* of the activity of the Trinitarian God in the contextuality of the world?". 830 Part of his answer is to acknowledge the immanent unity of God, but to assert that "it is an active unity" which arises in the diversity of things. Thus, the immanent unity is more accurately described as God's active engagement with the world which is an interweaving of himself into its contextuality, and this is an activity by virtue of which "God is one". 832 Thus this is a

⁸²⁷ Hardy, 1996b, p. 81.

⁸²⁸ Ibid., p. 80.

⁸²⁹ Ibid., p. 74.

⁸³⁰ Ibid., p. 82. Emphasis in the original.

⁸³¹ Ibid.

⁸³² Ibid.

Trinitarian conception of God which re-emphasises the identity of the immanent and economic Trinities and refers back to Jüngel's formulation that God's being is in becoming.

Of particular interest is Hardy's view that God's Trinitarian activity "sustains a complexity of particularities, establishing 'relativities' with their own integrity in fully contextual interweaving". 833 This account of God's Trinitarian activity in the world is also an apt description of what happens in music-making, for music-making is about sustaining a complex of particularities, for example, melodic lines, harmonic progressions, consistent phrasing, instrumental balance and so on, and establishing their relativities, namely their coherence in a compelling performance, and each particularity must, as it were, exhibit its own integrity within the fabric of the music, achieving a "fully contextual interweaving". All this demands a creativity from the musicians which is not just about the realisation of the musical score, crucially it is also about maintaining a space in which such creativity can flourish. These two aspects of the creativity needed for compelling music-making are not finally separable in performance, but the creative space is a logical pre-condition of creativity in the actual music-making. It demands and is constituted by a lively awareness of the contribution of the other musicians and their interactions, not just of one's own playing and one's own responses to their interactions.

⁸³³ Ibid.

Hardy provides a depiction of the immanent Trinity which is very similar to his depiction of the economic Trinity. God's unity is again a matter of "a dynamic consistency, not inert but energetic in the consistency of his self-structuring in self-sameness".⁸³⁴

Conversation, communion, indwelling, and music-making

Young talks about the unity which comes about in a communion of "individual beings (hypostases) who are [...] constituted as themselves by their very relationship of co-inherence". Sass The "very relationship of co-inherence" is what I mean by mutual indwelling, and it bears a very strong resemblance to Schwöbel's description of the Trinity as conversation which was outlined in the previous chapter. The conversation between the three members of the Trinity is perfect – perfect communion – its perfection is a matter of this co-inherence precisely. It is perhaps not surprising that Young refers to Zizioulas. For Zizioulas, "being is constituted as communion". Sas It is a mistake, he thinks, to begin by supposing persons are separate entities which then form relationships. Persons, says Zizioulas, are inconceivable outside of their relationships: "being a person is fundamentally different from being an individual or a 'personality', for a person cannot be imagined in himself but only within his relationships". Sas This is an ontological point and hence to do with the truth of existence. Hardy, too, arrives at relationality. He sees God's self-restructuring as God

⁸³⁴ Ibid., p. 81.

⁸³⁵ Young, 2013, p. 399.

⁸³⁶ Zizioulas, 2004, p. 101. Emphasis in the original.

⁸³⁷ Ibid., p. 105.

interacts with his creation, a restructuring by virtue of which God maintains his "self-sameness", as "a congruence with the world in love", and recasts this in terms of God's "dynamic structured relationality", and connects it with God's "infinite possibility of life".838

Hardy outlines the relationship of God the Father, God the Son, and God the Holy Spirit by way of an elaboration of the presence and activity of the Trinitarian God in the world and his congruence with it in its contextuality, and the notion of the relationality between the three Persons is central. Hardy refers to a "fullness of ordered relationality in God" which manifests the "conditions by which God is himself". 839 This concept of a fullness of ordered relationality in God which manifests Godself, whilst not making use of the language of mutual indwelling, does parallel it very closely, especially if taken together with Zizioulas' arguments that being is communion. Hardy speaks of an "active bestowal [...] of the highly contingent complexity of the contextuality of our being and activity, in which are interwoven nature, sociality and God". 840 This contingency, he says, is the condition of our freedom which at the same time establishes the reach of such freedom and the limits within which it can be exercised. This freedom is from God, and because it is grounded in "the free ordering of God, by which it is blessed/enriched", and because it is thus written into creation, there are consequences for its right use.⁸⁴¹ In the first place we should recognise that "the proper use of our freedom-in-contextuality follows the pathway followed by

⁸³⁸ Hardy, 1996b, p. 81.

⁸³⁹ Ibid.

⁸⁴⁰ Ibid., p. 83.

⁸⁴¹ Ibid.

God's Spirit, the pathway constituted by the initial conditions of 'the Father' and fulfilled in the ordering of the Logos". 842 Hardy contends that this means we use our freedom properly when we are turned outwards from ourselves towards others, "conferring the benefits of our particularity upon those with whom we are interwoven". 843 This, it seems to me, has clear resonances with the spirit in which we make music. In music-making we do indeed bring our own particularity to bear on the overall performance. This is not just a question of the particular part I play in, for example, a string quartet, the viola part, say, but also of the particularity which I bring as an individual musician with a training and musical sensibility shaped by specific influences in specific contexts whose effects have been modulated by the wider cultural, political, social and personality factors which make me the person I am.

Some exploration was made in Chapter 9 of the *ekstatic* aspects of music-making. We turn outward towards the other musicians with whom we make music with a mutually conferred freedom. This freedom is demanded by the music insofar as coherent performance is dependent on the musicians performing in mutually compatible ways, allowing one another the creative space in which to bring the music to life, give an authentic performance. Hardy says, "our freedom confers freedom through our love". 844 Equally, the freedom with which musicians work in a co-created creative space comes about by virtue of a love which is usually expressed as a love of music. It is more usual to speak of such love as primarily a professional attitude, a thoroughgoing *musical* commitment which manifests itself in terms of touch, articulation,

⁸⁴² Ihid

⁸⁴³ Ibid.

⁸⁴⁴ Ibid.

harmonic and instrumental subtlety and so on. This commitment is a love which is present when fellow performers mutually confer upon one another co-created creative space with its concomitant freedoms. Love occupies an important place in the argument of the next chapter and the Conclusion.

Hardy refers to "God's ongoingly active/energetic self-structuring in the bestowal and sustenance of the highly contingent complexity in which our contextual being-infreedom consists". 845 This conception also has clear links with what Jüngel has in mind when he talks about God's being as a matter of becoming, 846 and Hardy thinks it makes for a "complex and contingent relation between [God] and our contextual being". 847 There is a clear parallel here with performers engaged in music-making such that, recalling that musicians are entirely themselves as musicians only by virtue of the inter-relationships which are held in place by their music-making, and that the three Persons of the Trinity are themselves entirely by virtue of the relationships between them, it begins to seem that the musicians' mutual bestowal of a creative freedom which maintains their contingent, interwoven contextual being can be said to be analogous to that of the Trinity. Thus, later in this chapter I will argue that this bestowal is ontologically definitive of the musicians in a way which is analogous to the ontologically definitive relationships of the three Persons of the Trinity.

Hardy says, "our freedom to confer love and freedom is itself contextual, mediated through all the factors — natural, biological, social — which locate us and render us

845 Ibid.

⁸⁴⁶ Jüngel, 2014.

847 Hardy, 1996b, pp. 83-4.

finite there".⁸⁴⁸ May we not understand good performance practice and reception, as explored in chapter 10, in terms of an exercise of freedom in which love and freedom are manifested and contextualised by the co-created creative space which has been outlined previously? And when Hardy immediately continues by arguing that "the sign of blessing which God confers is in our conferral of such blessing on others [together] with [...] the creativity by which to fashion new and more humane contextual interweavings",⁸⁴⁹ the pressure to claim that this is just what happens in music-making is hard to resist. We indeed confer blessings on others with whom we make music. For O'Connor, Kim and Labriola, music-making requires a certain kind of "musical patience — an art of listening, phrasing, and shaping the sound",⁸⁵⁰ and they go on to argue that this is a means of strengthening and deepening relationships which, "theologically speaking, is an experience of grace in the body".⁸⁵¹

The cumulative result of all these considerations is that music-making can be recognised as a performed theology of Christian relating.

In reminding us of Nietzsche's madman and his declaration that we have killed God,
Hardy shows how keenly aware he is that we are only too capable of denying God and

311

⁸⁴⁸ Ibid., p. 84

⁸⁴⁹ Ibid. Gschwandtner says that for Marion, the holiness and love given freely in Christ "is best received by being passed on ceaselessly": Gschwandtner, 2016, p. 22.

⁸⁵⁰ O'Connor, et al., 2017, p. xi.

⁸⁵¹ Ibid.

his gifting of himself in his interweaving with the contextuality of the world in all its aspects.852 So whilst Hardy thinks

it can be said that the conditions for the full contextual interweaving of human beings and other animate creatures, as well as nature itself, are already actively present in the contextuality of human life, and that we are here simply uncovering what already is by God's grace, so that it may be seen and performed more fully, [...] it is also accurate to say that it is not actively present there.853

The reason for this is that human beings fail to align their mutual interweavings with "the active presence of God and the energetic order which that provides". 854 The consequence of this failure is diminished contextual relationships which Hardy thinks of as "the contextual counterparts of sin".855

But if Hardy is right about "the contextual loss of God", 856 how is it possible to uphold the claim of the thesis, when it may well be the case that the majority of musicians have very little if any practical allegiance to Christianity? It is not usual for musicians consciously to "orientate their interweaving with others to the active presence of God

⁸⁵² Hardy, 1996b, pp. 84-5.

⁸⁵³ Ibid., p. 84.

⁸⁵⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁵⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁵⁶ Ibid.

and the energetic order which that provides"857 when they perform. Hardy's examples of what he calls "social narcissism" which he believes are evidence for these contextual counterparts of sin, all involve "reducing [the] dynamics of [the social universe] to those of human autonomy, whether social or individual. And God is seen to have been the false projection of [...] ideal human attributes".858

Is this a challenge to the thesis? I begin to answer this question by noting again two related aspects of music-making as it has been characterised for the purpose of the thesis. The first is that music-making is being thought of in abstraction from its social, political and cultural contexts, in other words its contextualisation for the purposes of this thesis is entirely musical, and this being so it would seem that music-making combats and minimises Hardy's 'sins', at least the social ones he mentions. For musicmaking does not constitute an arena for the exploitation of the natural world, though it would not be possible without the resources provided by the natural world. Those who make music are often very conscious of the effects of the natural world on their music-making and realise the necessity for cooperating with it. This cooperation is not just a question of the right use of natural materials in the making of instruments, keyboard 'ivories' is an obvious example, but, rather more deeply though not necessarily more importantly, extends to using the properties of the music space and of the materials of its construction appropriately in pursuit of greater coherence in performance. Organists, for example, are particularly aware that the often very resonant spaces in which they perform have direct consequences for tempi and

⁸⁵⁷ Ibid.

⁸⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 85.

registration. This can be dubbed 'good exploitation' of nature. Whilst this is to form a relationship with nature in terms of its acoustic properties, it is carried out in response to purely musical considerations. Hardy says that "human beings [can come] to see the natural world as 'only a resource' upon which human society may endlessly draw".859 But even though music usually takes place in spaces which make use of nature's resources in terms of building materials and so on, the requirements of good music-making strongly tend towards a positive and respectful engagement with nature. Beyond acoustic considerations there is the care and pride with which instruments are treated; woods and metals are polished, valves oiled, storage conditions carefully monitored for humidity and temperature. Certain materials are prized for their musical properties or for their suitability in the construction of instruments. Even where a people or community is hungry for music, this does not eventuate necessarily in the exploitation of nature; a string quartet performing to an audience of hundreds does not 'use' natural resources to a greater extent that it does when performing for a few dozen, though in the latter case the performance space might be smaller and thus 'use' fewer natural resources. One might argue that string quartet music is better served by being performed in smaller venues. But large concert halls and the like are used over and over again. Perhaps it could be argued that there is a kind of consumer exploitation of nature when valuable instruments are locked away in vaults or displayed in cabinets, but then the music-making has been left behind. Music-lovers who are not performers but who own such instruments very often arrange for them to be lent to musicians so they can be played rather than

⁸⁵⁹ Ibid.

allowed to deteriorate; this caring for the instruments is an honouring of the natural resources of which they are made and the craftsmanship they manifest. It therefore seems reasonable to conclude that the use of natural resources in music-making is not a question of consumer greed.

Another example of social narcissism occurs when "society structures its interrelations in 'totalities' [...] the result is – in the name of Ideals of 'purity' – to eliminate the very social diversity by which society preserves its flexibility and long-term survival". 860 It is clear, though, that such ideological prejudices have no place in music-making. Even if, for example, it seems that music is often better performed by native musicians than it is by others, this is finally a musical judgment. A compelling performance of the dumka and furiant dances in Dvorak, for example, is a question of getting the rhythms and inflections of the melodies right, not of the nationality of the performers; witness the Australian Sir Charles Mackerras' outstanding performances of Czech music, for example.

Hardy's final example is seen "where society structures its interrelations as encapsulated within a 'present' which bears no relation to its past or future, thereby losing sight of the sources and effects of its own structured dynamics". 861 Again, as the discussion of music in terms of performance tradition which was briefly explored in Chapter 10 makes clear, there is no room in music-making for such an exclusive focus on the present. Whilst performance fashions change, they can only do so within the

⁸⁶⁰ Ibid.

861 Ibid.

context of a tradition and culture which points up their newly-discovered and advocated insights and desirability. A good performance of a great work reveals a fullness and richness of invention which promises infinite possibilities for future performance. Good performances are thus acutely attuned to their present contexts, sensitive to the tradition of great works and performances which contextualise present performances and herald a future in which such works retain their place in the culture of a flourishing society.

Thus, it can be argued that music-making in and of itself stands against the commission of Hardy's 'sins'. Is it unreasonable to wonder if music's oft-claimed ability to enable access to deeper levels of existential relevance and meaning rests partly on its resistance to 'social narcissism'? Whilst a conscious orientation to "the active presence of God" is not usually an integral part of music-making, it does seem to require a removal of selfish motives, of acquisitive tendencies and ideological foundations if it is to be true to the music as such. Perhaps this represents the establishment of a space, a context indeed, in which God's grace can more easily flow even though it be unrecognised. Such a thought is a return to the comments above, namely, that grace flows more freely in the absence of personal narratives, propositional contents, and egoistic and selfish pursuits. Interestingly, Rowan Williams makes a similar point in the course of a discussion of Maritain's aesthetics. He points out that one of Maritain's concerns was to "resist the kind of theological tyranny which assumes that the data of revelation can be brought in as a direct solution to the

problem of specific discourses". 862 Part of what is meant here is that God has created a world with its own integrity, thus it does not need "God's constant direct intervention" to be itself. 863 But it also means that there is a unity between grace and nature such that "the integrity of the created process will, if pursued honestly and systematically, be open to God's purposes". 864

Hardy has a thorough-going theological conception of God as "a dynamic order [...] which he confers on human beings in and through their world". He goes on to say that "this confers not only a richer source of energy on the world than that which is available simply by reference to the ecosystem itself, but a higher quality of relationality than is available therein".865 So if Hardy is saying that God confers relationality, and it is accepted that music-making evinces a dynamic relational structure whereby musicians as musicians are entirely themselves as the members of the Trinity are entirely themselves in their relatedness, then, I would argue, there is a powerful commensurability between the relationality within God-self and that which pertains between music-makers. To put the argument more straight-forwardly, the relationality which is part and parcel of the right performance of music has the same outcome in terms of the formation of musicians as does the relationality which exists between the three members of the Trinity; in both cases the very relationality is internal to and constitutive of the truth of the persons involved, that is, it is ontologically determinative. If the human side of this ontological equation is conferred

⁸⁶² Williams, 2006, p. 9.

⁸⁶³ Ibid

⁸⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁶⁵ Hardy, 1996b, pp. 86-7.

by God himself, as Hardy contends, then it would seem that the analogy between the mutual indwelling of the three Persons of the Trinity on the one hand and that of those who make music together on the other, has shown music-making to be a performed theology of Christian relating.

Bavinck's theology of general revelation and music-making.

The previous line of argument can be strengthened by an appeal to the theology of Herman Bavinck. Ximian Xu contrasts Bavinck's 'yes' to general revelation with Barth's 'no'. 866 Whereas Barth's 'no', Xu tells us, "is due to his soteriologically-centred concern", Bavinck's 'yes' follows from his concern to "elaborate God's revelation and its relation to 'the rest of our knowledge and life'. Central to this task was how God's revelation in nature and history is related to all human beings". 867 According to Xu, Bavinck's theology of general revelation has three hallmarks. 868 First, it is Trinitarian. Bavinck says, "all God's works ad extra are undivided and common to all three persons [and] all things originate simultaneously from the Father through the Son in the Spirit". 869 Second, it focuses on God's creation. 870 For Bavinck, "creation is not just a past event but a continuous process", 871 and "revelation [...] extends to the uttermost ends of creation [...] With the whole of nature, with the whole of history, with the whole of humanity, with the family and society, with science and art it is intimately

⁸⁶⁶ Xu, 2019.

⁸⁶⁷ Ibid., pp. 324 and 326. The embedded quotation is from Bavinck, 1909, p. 24.

⁸⁶⁸ Xu, 2019, pp. 327-31.

⁸⁶⁹ Bavinck, 2003-8, Vol. 2, pp. 329-40 and 423, quoted in Xu, 2019, p. 327.

⁸⁷⁰ Xu, 2019, p. 329.

⁸⁷¹ Veenhof, 2011, p. 4, quoted in Xu, 2019, p. 329.

connected".⁸⁷² Third, Bavinck's theology of general revelation is Christocentric. Revelation is grounded in Christ who is the guarantor of its unity. Xu tells us that this is Bavinck's warrant for his contention that "there is an illumination of the Logos among pagans. This illumination is operating through the work of the Spirit".⁸⁷³ Since revelation extends to all aspects of creation and is grounded in the second person of the Trinity whose light shines under the guidance of the Holy Spirit, Bavinck's theology of revelation is essentially Trinitarian.

Bavinck's thinking with regard to general revelation gives an hitherto unsuspected warrant for interpreting music-making as a performed theology of Christian relating since revelation for Bavinck is inseparable from the relationality which obtains between the three persons of the Trinity.⁸⁷⁴ Previous discussion has shown that the relationality which obtains between the three persons of the Trinity is wholly definitive of who they are, and that, similarly, the relationality which obtains between musicians is wholly definitive of who they are as musicians. Bavinck's theology of general revelation takes full cognisance of the diversity of God's creation whilst emphasising its organicism which follows from the commensurability between God and his Creation; God is what God does; continuity. This is to be reminded of what Hardy calls the "complexity of particularities" which establish "relativities with their

⁸⁷² Bavinck, 1909, p. 27, quoted in Xu, 2019, p. 330.

 $^{^{873}\,\}mbox{Xu},\,2019,\,\mbox{p.}\,330.\,$ There is a resonance here with Rahner's concept of the anonymous Christian.

⁸⁷⁴ Ibid.

own integrity in fully contextual interweaving", which "contextuality/interweaving [...] should be attributed to the Trinitarian activity of God by which God is one".⁸⁷⁵

If all human activity reveals something of what it is to be human, if revelation does indeed extend to the whole of creation mediated by Christ, and if music-making requires a relationality which is as free as any human activity can be of individual ambition, selfishness and so on, this all seems to point to music-making as a paradigmatic example - humanly speaking - of Christian relating. Humanly speaking because there is no question of the relationality which music-making requires being pure; it is contaminated by sin. Also, and crucially, it is possible only to draw an analogy here, since we cannot know what intra-Trinitarian relationality is in itself. As previously argued, music-making combats and minimises those sins of social narcissism enumerated by Hardy. Solo pieces written with an eye to selfaggrandizement through virtuosic display must work musically, and if they fail in this they fall into the category of exercises, even if sophisticated ones. Paganini's Caprices for Solo Violin, Liszt's Transcendental Studies for Solo Piano, and the Etudes for piano by Chopin and by Debussy, for example, work superbly as music and cannot be adequately performed without a thorough-going commitment to them in which virtuosity serves not itself but the music. If, as previously argued, music-making requires and inhabits a co-created creative space in and through which grace can flow more readily than in many other human contextualities, then it is useful to note that in Bavinck's view it is not nature but sin that is in opposition to grace, indeed "grace

⁸⁷⁵ Hardy, 1996b, p. 82.

and nature are 'organically related' via general revelation",⁸⁷⁶ something which follows upon the three hallmarks of revelation previously described. Furthermore, this organic relationship is such that nature and grace, and the world and God's kingdom are of a piece, a unity.

Contextualisation and revelation

For Bavinck, besides being the ground of revelation, Christ is also its organic centre: "In Christ, in the middle of history, God created an organic centre; from this centre, in an ever-widening sphere, God drew the circles within which the light of revelation shines". 877 This means that history is Christocentric and thus that it is itself organic. Consequently, history has a telos which is "the fullness of the Kingdom of God". 878 If Hardy's thoughts about God's interweaving of himself with the contextuality of the world are taken together with Bavinck's Christocentric grounding of general revelation, I maintain that a further consequence for this thesis can be uncovered and its arguments strengthened thereby.

Putting Bavinck's thinking of history in Christocentric terms, namely, as being teleologically oriented toward the eschatological fulfilment of the Kingdom of God, together with Hardy's convictions about God's interweaving himself into the contextuality of the world, leads me to think this is to stumble upon one of the reasons why music often seems to point to and evoke a kind of bliss. This can be put in more

⁸⁷⁶ Xu, 2019, p. 334 who references Eglinton 2012, p. 153 for this connection.

⁸⁷⁷ Bavinck, 2003-8, Vol. 1, p. 383.

⁸⁷⁸ Bavinck, 1909, p. 141.

concretely theological terms: music-making, as innocent as any human activity can be of sin, begins to reveal what is ontologically true about the world in its redeemed state. The popular version of this is that music can give listeners a glimpse of heaven on earth. For Kelsey, human beings live both in their own creaturely time and in 'borrowed time' which is "the proleptically present time of God's future for creation".⁸⁷⁹ Music-making, it seems, is a means of grace which grants us a foretaste of such future as well as it thus confirms our 'eccentric existence' as "ontologically grounded outside [ourselves] in the triune God's gracious gift of new creation".⁸⁸⁰ Perhaps this does justice to Begbie's desire that proper consideration be given to

the New Testament's sense that revelation in the present is (as much as anything else) a revelation of what *will be*, of the future breaking in through Christ and the Spirit, or a radical re-ordering of our history, made possible through the disruption of cross and resurrection, of the Gospel as enacted promise.⁸⁸¹

In Begbie's view, "music might be singularly well equipped to embody just these dynamics". 882 I hope this thesis contributes to raising awareness of the potential which music-making has in this regard.

⁸⁷⁹ Kelsey, 2009, pp. 1:480-1.

⁸⁸⁰ McDougall, 2016, p. 114.

⁸⁸¹ Begbie, 2004, p. 177. Emphasis in the original.

⁸⁸² Ibid.

This chapter has emphasised the communing (loving), egoless, boundaryless and accepting-of-the-other nature of music-making, a nature in which diversity, complexity, particularity, and identity are held together in a mutual indwelling which characterises the relationality both of musicians and of the Trinity. Thus, I conclude that music-making is an enacted theology of Christian relating.

Our understanding of the relationality of musicians as they perform together can perhaps be amplified a little by thinking of the interplay of the potentialities of the score, music-making itself and love. My aim in this chapter is to consolidate the overall arc of the thesis by exploring some of these possibilities.

The feed-back loop of music-making

Within the context of music-making, there is a 'feedback loop' which links the musicians together. They will indwell one another for the duration of the performance, and their identity as musicians is entirely a question of this indwelling. But this indwelling, though a sine qua non of good musical performances, results from the demands of the music itself, it is not something which the musicians generate for themselves solely as an act of will. Perhaps when the musicians first start to make music together the feedback loop might not be firmly established. Perhaps the players have not yet developed the rapport between them that is necessary for good performances. Perhaps there is a tension between the nature of the music and the life-world of one or more of the players, or perhaps players are distracted by nonmusical cares and attachments. Establishing the feedback loop is a matter of entering a co-created creative space. One of the purposes of warming-up before giving a performance proper is to get this process of co-creating a creative space going, as well as to loosen fingers, secure a tricky passage, warm instruments and so on. The more the musicians become immersed in this co-created creative space, the more the music begins, as it were, to play them. The crucial point is that the players must look to the music for what is required of them in order to give compelling performances, and this can always be rendered in the technical terms which map onto the overall command that the player has over her instrument such that all the demands made by its music can be met. Players begin to give themselves to the music and to meet its demands. They begin to indwell one another, and as they do so they begin to discover aspects of the music which had been hidden from them hitherto. As they enter more fully into a co-created creative space, then performances become marked by creativity and commitment. Musical ideas flow between the players; a new performance of the music takes shape, one which is not a stale repetition of previous performances; great music can never be exhausted in terms of its musical possibilities. If music-making is a performed theology of Christian relationality, then being drawn further and further into the music itself and thus to indwell one another as musicians more and more is to perform that theology ever more articulately.

A vital aspect of the indwelling which gives the members of the Trinity as well as music-makers their identity is surrender, aspects of which have been explored in the chapter on social Trinitarianism. When applied to music-making, surrender has previously been expressed in terms of the suppression of ego.

If, on previous arguments, music-making is accepted as being as free of sin as is possible, and if the relationality and the identities of the performers are one and the same as they are for the members of the Trinity, then it seems very much to the point

that music-making involves a kind of surrender to the music-making and to one another on the part of performers which is marked by love.

<u>Love</u>

It has been argued that musicians find their identity within the context of a mutual indwelling which is an imperative of good music-making, yet each player exhibits an individuality which is, nonetheless, an indispensable part of a whole because it contributes to the distinctive character of the whole. Blend in a quartet is just that, the distinctive blending of the individualities of the four players, not a homogenising. In this sense, each player has to find his or her own voice which in its turn contributes to the voice of the quartet as a whole. Love for playing and for the repertoire is crucial to finding one's own voice, for it requires extreme attention to one's own playing, its technique and tone, strengths, and weaknesses. This requires an openness to new possibilities. There is a kind of self-discovery, and it requires players to be prepared to surrender old ideas and habits. Fresh and vibrant performances, ones which are not stale and mere repetitions can only occur when the players 'speak' from ignorance, from what is not fixed and fully developed. Instead, they explore what is underdeveloped, embryonic. Stark comments that "it is at those moments when the self is undone [...] that thought and creativity become possible".883 Musical selves cannot be completely undone; one needs a basis in a solid technique, knowledge of the repertoire and so on for there to be the possibility of a coherent performance.

⁸⁸³ Stark, 2012, p. 106.

Nonetheless, the point is well-taken. In revealing new possibilities, the players in a small musical ensemble provide one another with opportunities to renew their love for the music.

The performing musician is a specialist in reading signs, and this links with the method in the thesis to think music in purely musical, that is, technical, terms. It also links with what was said in Chapter 10 about Wittgensteinian notions of how one learns to interpret a piece of music, namely, the public nature of performance which establishes musical expressivity and meaning. The signs in a musical score are an inexhaustible fount of difference and interpretation. Yes, if the composer writes a middle C, then a middle C should be played. But how is it to be played? Loudly, softly? Should the phrase of which it is a part be played legato? Whilst a composer has many signs and devices by which to indicate how the score is to be played, nonetheless players have to make many decisions for themselves. The range of interpretations is infinite. As the musician studies the score and tries various ways of realising it, she is motivated by a kind of love, a love which desires to know the depth of the riches hidden in the score.

In view of this, the previous definition of the musicians' co-created creative space should be extended to include the intensities of the influences upon the interpretational possibilities contained in the musical work. This gives additional support to the claim made earlier that finally no clear distinction can be drawn between the musical work, the musicians, and the space within which performances of the work take place.

Music-making, then, requires the players to give themselves to the demands of good performances, and this is a kind of surrender characterised by love for the musical work in which the promotion of self has no part. The musician is prepared to abandon at least part of her present love for the musical work in order to be able to discover a renewed love for it. She does this for the sake of revivified performances. Hannah Stark writes: "only by abandoning limited notions of love can new forms of love, [...] and connection become possible".884 True love is predicated on the refusal to categorise, and fix the identity of, the beloved, be it another person or a musical work. This means that such love acknowledges that the other has a certain unknowability. Here we have echoes of Levinas and Kearney.885 This unknowability can be revealed to me only provided I am prepared to suspend my objectifying judgements which close off the possibility of the other being able to choose me in love. Love is essential in music-making which aspires to compelling performances.

The creativity of music-making

Besides being an important ingredient in the musician's approach to the score, to the repertoire, and to playing an instrument generally, love is also present in the wider context of music-making. When we make music together there is the potential for new experiences and understandings, for new insights and the transformation of expectations and attitudes, for growth both musical and, if the thesis is successful, spiritual. All this comes about because the musicians indwell one another, acting and

⁸⁸⁴ Ibid., p. 107.

⁸⁸⁵ Please see Chapter 6 on the other.

reacting as individuals in unity in pursuit of a coherent and compelling realisation of a score in the context of the performance as determined by venue, audience, interpretive vision and other factors to which I have drawn attention in the thesis. Music-making is not just re-creative, either as recreation or as the re-creation of a piece of music, it is creative.

When musicians are open to new possibilities as described previously, music-making is genuinely creative. An example of this might be the effect on the harmonic rhythm of a passage when there is a change of tempo which arises spontaneously. The quality of the sound changes with different venues; stone buildings render musical sounds differently to wooden ones and the new possibilities must therefore be explored and accommodated within the overall interpretive vision for the work. Or consider the creative reaction of one musician to an improvised embellishment by another, as happens routinely in small jazz ensembles; the musician is open to this aspect of the music-making and able to react creatively to it, an example of the continuity and indwelling which good music-making demands.

In music-making there can be eruptions which send, or threaten to send it in a quite different direction. An example of this is the side drum's explosive entry in Nielsen's *Fifth Symphony*. Nielsen instructs the player(s) to improvise "as if to arrest the progress of the music", and the progress of the music comes perilously close to being derailed completely. The creativity demanded of the side drummer(s) here is extreme; they must improvise against what is being created by the rest of the orchestra.

Music-making has its own 'logic' which demands that the players indwell one another to an extraordinary degree. Performing demands integrity, an integrity that is to be found in the music itself as it plays us and we inhabit co-created creative space, it is not found in egotistically determined interpretations. Such integrity has the name 'love'.

Music-making draws together many forces and influences of varying intensity. There is convergence and divergence between the physical, the concert venue and its acoustics, for example, and the non-physical such as the expectations of, and relationships between, audience members, for example, and this determines the coherence of the music-making as an event, its harmony and stability. When there is a convergence between physical and non-physical, this leads to heightened intensities; for example, the venue, the playing, and audience expectation all converge to give a heightened musical experience.

I have tried to argue that performances are contextualised by co-created creative spaces, and these spaces are constituted by transformative forces, do not merely contain them, and these spaces are shot through with the intensities associated with the unfolding of the musical 'logic' and all the aspects of the music-making as described in the thesis.

Good performances are not mere reproductions of pre-existing blueprints. On the contrary, each one is a new creation which arises from within the music-making itself and from the convergence and divergence explained above. There is no quasi-Platonic

Ideal form of the performance of a piece of music to which all actual performances should aspire and against which they must be judged. Each new performance unfolds, develops under the transformative effects of the music-making itself and in which love plays a vital role. Performances are forever referring backwards to previous performances both by the current players and others, to practice sessions, to lessons, to scholarship, to what has already been played in this current performance, and forwards, for example to tensions to be resolved later, to all future performances both of this particular work and to musical performance in general.

Music-making, it turns out, is the site of a creative transformation of everyday relationships into those of a mutual indwelling which is demanded by music-making itself. These musical relationships are entirely constitutive of the identities of the performers, as are those of the members of the Trinity, and, like the Trinity, they are a unity in diversity. This can be illustrated by a letter which Debussy wrote to the eminent French musicologist and man of letters, Louis Laloy:

The people in *Boris* [*Godunov*] do not form a true crowd; here one group sings, here another, and here a third, each in its turn, and most often in unison. As for the people of *The Meistersingers*, it's not a crowd but an army, powerfully organised in German style and marching in ranks. What I would like to make is something more sparse, more divided, more relaxed, more impalpable, something inorganic in appearance and yet fundamentally ordered; a true human crowd in which each voice is free, and yet in which all the

united voices together produce one impression and one movement.⁸⁸⁶

The string quartet, whilst being a cohesive group with its own identity allows for the individuality of its members who, nonetheless, find that individuality precisely as they indwell one another more and more. When the members of a string quartet play together, not only are they absorbed by the music, but their mutual indwelling also becomes the sine qua non of their identity as musicians. Creative musicians must be forever made anew, and that is not possible without its converse, their unmaking; a settled performance is the first of any number of stale performances. To keep their music-making fresh, musicians must be able to let go of (at least) some ways of playing and interpreting in order to be able to adopt new ways. Any given performance of a musical work is a new unfolding of the myriad possibilities suggested by the score. The players must connect with, must come to indwell, each new unfolding even as they disconnect with previous ones. This is a requirement for the formation of the unity to which a quartet aspires. The music begins to play the players, yet it does so in such a way that the quartet becomes "a collective phenomenon within which multiple entities come into being and acquire a certain degree of cohesion and group identity, yet do so without dissolving and merging with one another".887 The music unfolds according to the infinite possibilities for its performance which are signed in the written score. On this argument, to talk about the music playing the musicians is no more appropriate than to talk about the musicians playing the music. Rather, there is,

⁸⁸⁶ Bogue, 2003, p. 42. The letter is cited in Barraque, 1962, p. 159.

⁸⁸⁷ Bogue, 2003, p. 43.

to adopt one of Christopher Small's concepts though wrested somewhat from its original context, musicking. Stagoll captures this well when he writes "we ought not to say 'the tree became green' or 'the tree is now green' [...] but rather 'the tree greens'". Musicking extends across the whole of the creative space so as to encompass listeners as well as the performers, it even extends to all those who have ever performed and listened to the piece and to all those who will do so in the future.

It is not for nothing that reviewers praise some live performances for their spontaneity and sense of ever-renewed discovery, as though the music were being played and heard for the first time. This is what happens in music-making characterised by a co-created creative space, by the indwelling demanded by compelling performances. Music-making engenders an atmosphere with an identity all its own. There are intensities and movements of expression, spontaneity, mutual indwelling, and creativity that tend to dissolve the pre-performance individualities of the players, instead giving them identities which indwell one another.

The themes of the thesis have revolved around two centres: music-making and Trinitarian theology. Music-making, on the account I have presented, brings about a creative transformation of personal relationships which is continuous with the music-making itself. In what follows, I consolidate this conclusion by first pointing up the notion of indwelling by contrasting my depiction of performers with that of Férdia Stone-Davis. I do this in close proximity to notions of love in music-making and as

888 Small, 1998.

⁸⁸⁹ Stagoll, 2010, p. 90.

definitive of intra-Trinitarian life. Here, the continuity between indwelling and the identities both of performers and of the divine Persons is to the fore.

I then ask what the response to music-making should be if it is indeed a performed theology of Christian relationality. Finally, I return to love but this time in the context of an exchange between Xenakis and Messiaen which illustrates what Messiaen saw as the inseparability of love and technique. This means that music-making seen, as I have presented it, purely in musical terms, that is, as a practice, when it is imbued with love, as I have argued good music-making is, is a distinctively Christian mode of relating.

Stone-Davis revisited

Stone-Davis does not go beyond the notion of a subject which, although always in transition, although taken beyond herself, nonetheless remains intact as one who makes sense of aspects of the musical environment and "herself in relation to them". But the transformation I have envisaged in the thesis comes about not because musicians make sense of the musical environment, but because performers, the co-created creative space, instruments, and scholarship, and performance is such that the music plays the performers, or, better, there is musicking. Stone-Davis perceives a subject who "indwell[s] a musical process", and for whom "the changing perception of musical aspects across the time and space of the piece" enables her to

⁸⁹⁰ Stone-Davis, 2015c, p. 145.

make sense of what is presented.⁸⁹¹ This perception contrasts with my conception of music-making as a performed theology of Christian relating. For the argument has been not just that the members of, for example, a string quartet indwell the musical process, though this is obviously true in a certain sense, but that in doing so they indwell one another. Whilst Stone-Davis acknowledges the conversational character of string quartet playing, the point about the appeal to conversation in this thesis is not that, for example, it "reinforces the idea that place arises from interaction and that meaning emerges in process, varying between subjects according to the investment that each makes in the experience as a whole, and formed by the experiences that each subject brings to bear", 892 although this is true. The point about intra-Trinitarian conversation is that it defines the members of the Trinity in their entirety, that is, no member is conceivable outside of the conversation nor exists in isolation from it. This, it has been argued, holds true for musicians also, string quartet players being suggested as the prime exemplars. This, then, is the crucial point about the conversational relationality which exists between the members of the Trinity on the one hand, and those of a string quartet on the other: it is not a relationality which exists between otherwise separate individuals; for the duration of the performance they are a unity in diversity.

⁸⁹¹ Ibid., p. 144.

⁸⁹² Ibid., p. 138.

After the concert

What happens to the musicians as exemplars of Christian relating when the musicmaking is over? Does the dispersal of the quartet members signal the end of the Christian relating which this thesis has argued quartet-playing exemplifies? If to make music is to perform a theology of Christian relating, what is the appropriate creative response to that music-making? The creativity which is appropriate, demanded even, given the overall thrust of the thesis, is that of a continuing deepening and strengthening of the relationality which music-making engenders. Mechthild of Hackeborn, so Johnson tells us, claimed a "musical intimacy with Christ" such that she saw her priestly role of cantress to be co-redemptive with Christ.⁸⁹⁴ For Johnson, "Mechthild reminds us to take seriously the fact that the music we make has powerful effects on our communities, societies, and the universe. If we desire it to be, our music has the power to make lasting changes, even saving ones".895 In his review of Music, Theology, and Justice, Matthew Jarvis notes that "building [...] social and spiritual bridges requires a performative act, which in turn follows from music's physicality and our bodiliness", and he goes on to speak of "the inherent 'sacramentalism' of musical performance".896

Much has been made in this thesis of the intention to understand music in exclusively technical terms, the need for metaphorical or emotional terms when describing the

⁸⁹³ Johnson, 2017, p. 183.

⁸⁹⁴ Ibid., pp. 182-91.

⁸⁹⁵ Ihid

⁸⁹⁶ Jarvis, 2019, p. 132 (reviewing O'Connor, et al., 2017).

effects which listening to music can produce notwithstanding. Neither does the presence of love in music-making, the giving of oneself selflessly to the performance, to the creative space, detract from the exclusive focus on the technical aspects of music-making, indeed the development and application of technical resources in the giving of compelling performances, the pursuit of strictly musical meaning can be construed in terms of love.

Messiaen, Xenakis, Love

I have tried to argue that to make music reveals Christian relationality performatively, and that love is an important ingredient in this process. An exchange between Messiaen and Xenakis is revealing in this regard. Catherine Pickstock, referencing Xenakis and Samuel, 897 sketches this exchange as follows. Messiaen asks what it is that governs the construction of serial music. 898 Pickstock explains: "a series simply offered a neutral repertoire or *mathesis* from which one could select a way or ways of organising this series, as in mathematical set theory. But what dictates the choice? Purely formal considerations? Why go one way rather than another?".899

In the exchange, Messiaen asks at what point love enters into the selection process.

Whilst Xenakis was "prepared to talk about 'revelation' here, [...] the question for

Messiaen seemed to be whether there can be [...] a clear distinction between pure

.

⁸⁹⁷ Xenakis 1985, pp. 27-47; Samuel, 1967, pp. 69-79 and *passim*. Pickstock references Xenakis and Samuel at Pickstock, 2011, p. 202, n. 24.

⁸⁹⁸ Pickstock, 2011, p. 201-2.

⁸⁹⁹ Ibid., p. 201.

mathematical technique, on the one hand, and the mysterious intervention of 'revelation', on the other". 900 Now it is true that it is not entirely clear, at least from Pickstock's sketch, what Messiaen had in mind by 'revelation', although Pickstock does say that for Messiaen there was no "technique/love duality", and that "it would seem Messiaen saw his selection of formal rules and the creative operation of these rules as itself already guided by 'love' or 'revelation'". 901 This running together of love and revelation might indicate that Messiaen thought in terms of love's revelatory potential, that to love something is to make it possible for there to be the revelation of something which would otherwise remain hidden.

Although Messiaen was referring to the processes of composition, that love can act as a catalyst for revelation would seem to be of a piece with what has been argued in the thesis with regard to music-making. When I give myself in love to fellow performers and to the music-making, what is revealed is a Christian relationality. To be the catalyst for this revelation is love's work.

The methodological decision to focus on music-making in and of itself and give it a theological inflection, has had the goal of establishing theological import for it to put alongside its valuable roles in elucidating theological themes, aiding theological reflection, and enhancing worship. My goal, in this regard, has been to fill a gap in the literature on theology and music, and, if this has been achieved, is the original contribution to the field which I hope the thesis has made.

⁹⁰⁰ Ibid. Single speech marks in the original.

⁹⁰¹ Ibid., p. 202.

Musicking, its co-created creative space in which the music and musicians are one in a mutual indwelling which is their identity, is analogically comparable to the indwelling of the Persons of the Trinity which is constitutive of their identities. I conclude, therefore, that music-making makes sonorous, but only analogically so, the relationality of the Trinity. It is a performed theology of Christian relating.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adkins, B. (2015). *Deleuze and Guattari's A Thousand Plateaus: A Critical Introduction and Guide*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Adkins, B., & Hinlicky, P. R. (2014). *Rethinking Philosophy and Theology with Deleuze*. London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Adorno, T. W. (2001). Zur Theorie der musikalischen Reproduktion. Frankfurt: Suhrkamp.
- Antilla, M. E. (2013). Luther's Theology of Music: Spiritual Beauty and Pleasure. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Aquinas, T. (1991). *Summa Theologiae: A Concise Translation.* (T. McDermott, Ed. & Trans.) Notre Dame: Christian Classics.
- Aquinas, T. (1993). *The Compendium of Theology.* (C. Vollert, Trans.) Bedford NH: Sophia Institute Press.
- Aquinas, T. (2014). *The Summa Contra Gentiles.* (The English Dominican Fathers, Trans.) London: Aeterna Press.
- Aune, B. (1986). Metaphysics: The Elements. Oxford: Basil Blackwell Ltd.
- Ayers, L. (2014). Augustine on the Trinity. In G. Emery, & M. Levering (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of The Trinity* (pp. 123-137). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Barraque, J. (1962). Debussy. Paris: Seuil.
- Barrow, J. D., & Tipler, F. J. (1988). *The Anthropic Cosmological Principle*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Barth, K. (1936). *Church Dogmatics: The Doctrine of the Word of God* (Vol. 1 (Part 1)). (G. T. Thomson, Trans.) Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark.
- Barth, K. (1968). *The Epistle to the Romans.* (E. Hoskyns, Trans.) London: Oxford University Press.
- Barth, K. (2001). *Church Dogmatics III,2: The Doctrine of Creation.* (G. W. Bromily, T. F. Torrance, Eds., H. Knight, G. W. Bromiley, J. K. Reid, & R. H. Fuller, Trans.) Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Bauerschmidt, F. C. (2014). Trinity, Politics and Modernity. In G. Emery, & M. Levering (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of the Trinity* (pp. 531-543). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bavinck, H. (1909). The Philosophy of Revelation. New York: Longmans.
- Bavinck, H. (2003-8). Reformed Dogmatics. (J. Vriend, Trans.) Grand Rapids: Baker Academic.
- Bavinck, H. (2011). *Reformed Dogmatics Abridged in One Volume*. (J. Bolt, Ed.) Grand Rapids: Baker Academic.
- Bavinck, H. (2018). *Philosophy of Revelation: A New Annotated Edition*. (C. Brock, & N. G. Sutanto, Eds.) Peabody: Hendrickson Publishers Marketing.
- Begbie, J. (1991). Voicing Creation's Praise: Towards a Theology of the Arts. London: Continuum.
- Begbie, J. (2000). Theology, Music and Time. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Begbie, J. (Ed.). (2002). Sounding the Depths: Theology Through the Arts. London: SCM Press.
- Begbie, J. (2004). Music, mystery and sacrament. In G. Rowell, & C. Hall (Eds.), *The Gestures of God: Explorations in Sacramentality* (pp. 173-191). London: Continuum.
- Begbie, J. (2008). *Resounding Truth: Christian Wisdom in the World of Music.* London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge.
- Begbie, J. (2012). Opennes and Specificity: A Conversation with David Brown on Theology and Classical Music. In R. MacSwain, & T. Worley (Eds.), *Theology, Aesthetics, and Culture: Responses to the Work of David Brown* (pp. 145-156). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Begbie, J. (2015). *Music, Modernity and God: Essays in Listening.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Begbie, J. (2018). A Semblance More Lucid?: An Exploration of Trinitarian Space. In H. Lincoln (Ed.), Essays on the Trinity (pp. 20-35). Eugene, OR: Cascade Books.
- Begbie, J. (2018a). *A Peculiar Orthodoxy: Reflections on Theology and the Arts.* Grand Rapids: Baker Academic.
- Begbie, J. (2018b). *Redeeming Transcendence in the Arts: Bearing Witness to the Triune God.*Grand Rapids: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.
- Begbie, J., & Guthrie, S. (Eds.). (2011). *Resonant Witness: Conversations between Music and Theology*. Grand Rapids: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.
- Benson, B. E. (2003). *The Improvisation of Musical Dialogue: A Phenomenology of Music.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Berkeley, M. (2015). Michael Berkeley. In A. Palmer (Ed.), *Encounters with British Composers* (pp. 53-64). Woodbridge: The Boydell Press.
- Bernasconi, R. (1989). Re-reading Totality and Infinity. In A. B. Dallery, & C. E. Scott (Eds.), *The Question of the Other: Essays in Contemporary Continental Philosophy* (pp. 23-34). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Black, M. (1962). *Models and Metaphors: Studies in Language and Philosophy.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Blackwell, A. (1999). *The Sacred in Music.* Cambridge: The Lutterworth Press.
- Boeve, L. (2003). The End of Conversation in Theology: Considerations from a Postmodern Discussion. In J. Haers, & P. De Mey (Eds.), *Theology and Conversation: Towards a Relational Theology* (pp. 189-209). Leuven: Leuven University Press.
- Boff, L. (2005). *Trinity and Society.* (P. Burns, Trans.) Eugene, OR: Wipf and Stock Publishers.
- Bogue, R. (2003). *Deleuze on Music, Painting, and the Arts.* London: Routledge.
- Bowie, A. (2009). *Music, Philosophy, and Modernity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bracken, J. A. (1985). The Triune Symbol. Lanham MD: University Press of America.
- Bracken, J. A. (1991). *Society and Spirit: A Trinitarian Cosmology.* Cranbury NJ: Associated University Press.
- Bridcut, J. (Writer), & Bridcut, J. (Director). (2020). *Bernard Haitink: The Enigmatic Maestro* [Motion Picture]. Great Britain: BBC2. Retrieved September 28, 2021
- Brown, D. (2007). *God and Grace of Body: Sacrament in Ordinary.* Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Burrell, D. B. (2001). *Knowing the Unknowable God: Ibn-Sina, Maimonides, Aquinas.* Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Burrell, D. B. (2016a). *Analogy and Philosophical Language*. Eugene: Wipf and Stock Publishers.
- Burrell, D. B. (2016b). *Aquinas, God and Action* (3rd ed.). (M. B. Ragan, Ed.) Eugene, OR: Wipf and Stock.
- Cajetan, T. (2009). The Analogy of Names. (E. A. Bushinski, Trans.) Eugene, OR: Wipf and Stock.
- Caponi, F. (2003). Karl Rahner and the Metaphysics of Participation. The Thomist, 67, 375-408.
- Carnap, R. (1958). *An Introduction to Symbolic Logic and its Applications*. New York: Dover Publications, Inc.
- Cavanaugh, W. (2019). Scripture and Politics. In M. Higton, & J. Fodor (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to the Practice of Christian Theology* (pp. 160-173). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Chua, D. K. (2020). Absolute music/absolute worship. In *God's Song and Music's Meanings: Theology, Liturgy and Musicology in Dialogue* (pp. 163-181). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Clausen, I. (2018). On Love, Confession, Surrender and the Moral Self. London: Bloomsbury Academic.

- Cohen, R. A. (1989). Absolute Positivity and Ultrapositivity. In A. B. Dallery, & C. E. Scott (Eds.), The Question of the Other: Essays in Contemporary Continental Philosophy (pp. 35-43). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Collins, P. M. (2008). The Trinity: A Guide for the Perplexed. London: T & T Clark.
- Confessing the One Faith: An Ecumenical Explication of the Apostolic Faith as it is Confessed in the Nicene-Constantinopolitan Creed. (1991). Geneva: World Council of Churches.
- Cross, R. (1999). Duns Scotus. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cross, R. (2007). Religious Language and Divine Ineffability. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Cunningham, D. S. (1998). *These Three are One: The Practice of Trinitarian Theology.* Oxford: Blackwell.
- Cupitt, D. (2010b). Theology's Strange Return. London: SCM Press.
- Davies, B. (1992). The Thought of Thomas Aquinas. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Davies, O. (2010). History and Tradition: Catholocism and the Challenge of Globalised Modernity. In L. Boeve, F. Depoortere, & S. van Erp (Eds.), *Edward Schillebeecks and Contemporary Theology* (pp. 183-93). London: T & T Clark.
- Davison, A. (2020). *Participation in God: A Study in Christian Doctrine and Metaphysics*. Cambridge: University of Cambridge Press.
- de Cusa, N. (1979). *God as Not-Other.* (J. Hopkins, Trans.) Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Del Colle, R. (1997). The Triune God. In C. E. Gunton (Ed.), *The Cambridge Companion to Christian Doctrine*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Denys. (2001). The Mystical Theology. In *The Cloud of Unknowing and Other Works* (A. C. Spearing, Trans., pp. 1-10). Harmondsworth: Pengun Books Ltd.
- Dolezal, J. E. (2011). God without Parts: Divine Simplicity and the Metaphysics of God's Absoluteness. Eugene OR: Pickwick Publications.
- Dukeman, J. A. (2019). *Mutual Hierarchy: A New Approach to Social Trinitarianism*. Eugene, OR: Wipf and Stock.
- Eckhart, M. (1981). *The Essential Sermons, Commentaries, Treatises, and Defense.* (E. Colledge, & B. McGinn, Trans.) Mahwah, NY: Paulist Press.
- Eglinton, J. P. (2012). Trinity and Organism: Towards a New Reading of Herman Bavinck's Organic Motif. London: T & T Clark.
- Epstein, H. (2004). *Melting the Venusberg: A Feminist Theology of Music.* New York: Continuum.
- Erickson, M. (1995). God in Three Persons: A Contemporary Interpretation of the Trinity. Grand Rapids: Baker.
- Fleischmann, W. (2020). *Notes Become Music: A Guidebook from the Viennese Piano Tradition.* (R. J. Crow, Trans.) Abingdon: Routledge.
- Foucault, M. (2002). *The Order of Things* (English Translations © Tavistock/Routledge). Abingdon: Routledge Classics.
- Goktepe, K. (2019). Creative Responsiveness, Dramatic Performance, and Becoming-Democratic. *Deleuze and Guattari Studies*, 13(2), 240-66.
- Gordon, S. (2010). *Mastering the Art of Performance: A Primer for Musicians*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Grenz, S. (2001). The Social God and the Relational Self: A Trinitarian Theology of the Imago Dei. Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press.
- Grenz, S. (2004). *Rediscovering the Triune God: The Trinity in Contemporary Theology.*Minneapolis: Fortress Press.
- Greshake, G. (2012). Trinity as 'Communio'. In R. Wozniak, & G. Maspero (Eds.), Rethinking Trinitarian Theology: Disputed Questions and Contemporary Issues in Trinitarian Theology (pp. 331-345). London: T & T Clark International.

- Gruenler, R. (1986). The Trinity in the Gospel of John: A Thematic Commentary on the Fourth Gospel. Grand Rapids: Baker.
- Gschwandtner, C. M. (2016). *Marion and Theology*. London: Bloomsbury T & T Clark.
- Gunton, C. (1993). The One, the Three, and the Many: God, Creation, and the Culture of Modernity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gunton, C. E. (1997). *The Promise of Trinitarian Theology* (2nd ed.). Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Hardy, D. W. (1996a). *God's Ways with the World: Thinking and Practising Christian Faith.* Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Hardy, D. W. (1996b). The Spirit of God in Creation and Reconciliation. In *God's Ways with the World: Thinking and Practising Christian Faith* (pp. 68-87). Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Hardy, D. W. (1996c). The Foundation of Cognition and Ethics in Worship. In *God's Ways with the World: Thinking and Practising Christian Faith* (pp. 5-30). Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Hardy, D. W. (1996d). The Trinity in Language. In *God's Ways with the World: Thinking and Practising Christian Faith* (pp. 51-67). Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Hardy, D., & Ford, D. (1984). Jubilate: Theology in Praise. London: Darton, Longman and Todd.
- Harnack, A. (1901). What is Christianity? (T. B. Saunders, Trans.) London: Williams and Norgate.
- Harvey, J. (1950). Translator's Preface to the Second Edition. In R. Otto, *The Idea of the Holy:*An Inquiry into the Non-Rational Factor in the Idea of the Divine and its Relation to the Rational (J. W. Harvey, Trans., 2nd ed., pp. ix-xix). London: Oxford University Press.
- Heaney, M. L. (2012). *Music As Theology: What Music Says about the World.* Eugene, OR: Pickwick Publications.
- Hegel, G. W. (2007). *Lectures on the Philosophy of Spirit*. (R. R. Williams, Trans.) Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Heim, S. M. (2003). *The Depth of the Riches: A Trinitarian Theology of Religious Ends.* Grand Rapids: Eerdmans.
- Hemmerle, K. (1996). Gemeinschaft als Bild Gottes. Freiburg-Basel-Wien: Herder.
- Hemmerle, K. (2020). *Theses Towards a Trinitarian Ontology* (S. Churchyard, Trans). New York: Angelico Press.
- Holbrook, D. (1975). Gustav Mahler and the Courage to Be. London: Vision Press Ltd.
- Holmes, S. (2009). Three Versus One?: Some Problems of Social Trinitarianism. *Journal of Reformed Theology*, *3*, 77-89.
- Hopkins, J. (1979). Introduction. In *Nicholas of Cusa on God as Not-Other: A Translation and Appraisal of De Li Non Aliud* (pp. 3-23). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Hopps, G. (2012). Infinite Hospitality and the Redemption of Kitsch. In R. MacSwain, & T. Worley (Eds.), *Theology, Aesthetics and Culture: Responses to the Work of David Brown* (pp. 157-168). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Huenemann, P. (1994). Jesus Christus, Gottes Wort in der Zeit. Muenster: Aschendorff.
- Hunsinger, G. (2014). Karl Barth's Doctrine of the Trinity, and Some Protestant Doctrines after Barth. In G. Emery, & M. Levering (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of the Trinity* (pp. 294-313). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hunt, A. (2003). Trinity and Paschal Mystery: Divine Communion and Human Conversation. In
 J. Haers, & P. De May (Eds.), Theology and Conversation: Towards a Relational Theology (pp. 69-97). Leuven: Leuven University Press.
- Husserl, E. (1954). Die Krisis der Europäischen Wissenshaften und die Transcendentale Phänomenologie. The Haag: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Jacques, R. (1963). Voice Training and Conducting in Schools. London: Oxford University Press.
- James, W. (1985). *The Varieties of Religious Experience: A Study in Human Nature.* London: Penguin Books.

- Jarvis, M. (2019). Review Essay: Music, Theology, and Justice edited by Michael O'Connor, Hyun-Ah Kim, and Christina Labriola, Lexington Books. *New Blackfriars*, 100(1085), 131-3.
- Jenson, R. (1982). *The Triune Identity: God According to the Gospel.* Philadelphia: Fortress Press.
- Johnson, E. (2017). The Nightingale of Christ's Redemption Song: Mechthild of Hackeborn's Musical Apostolate. In M. O'Connor, K. Hyun-Ah, & C. Labriola (Eds.), *Music, Theology, and Justice* (pp. 181-96). Lanham: Lexington Books.
- Johnson, W. S. (1997). *The Mystery of God: Karl Barth and the Postmodern Foundations of Theology* . Louisville, KY: Westminster John Knox Press.
- Jowers, D. W. (2003). The reproach of modalism: a difficulty for Karl Barth's doctrine of the trinity. *Scottish Journal of Theology*, *56*(2), 231-246.
- Jüngel, E. (1986). God as the Mystery of the World (D. L. Guder, Trans.) Edinburgh: T & T Clark.
- Jüngel, E. (2014). God's Being is in Becoming: The Trinitarian Being of God in the Theology of Karl Barth. (J. Webster, Trans.) London: Bloomsbury T & T Clark.
- Kallenberg, B. J. (2019). Some Practices of Theological Reasoning, or, How to Work Well with Words. In M. Higton, & J. Fodor (Eds.), The Routledge Companion to the Practice of Christian Theology (pp. 23-42). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Kant, I. (2018). *Religion within the Boundaries of Mere Reason: And Other Writings* (2nd ed.). (A. D. Wood, Trans.) Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Karajan, H. v. (1999). The Rehearsal. In R. Osborne, *Herbert von Karajan: A Life in Music* (pp. 733-741). London: Pimlico.
- Kaufmann, W. (1972). Introductory Essay. In R. Schacht, *Alienation* (pp. xiii-lvii). London: George Allen & Unwin Ltd.
- Kearney, R. (2005). Transfiguring God. In G. Ward (Ed.), *The Blackwell Companion to Postmodern Theology* (pp. 369-393). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Keller, C. (2003). Face of the Deep: A Theology of Becoming. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Keller, C. (2015). *Clouds of the Impossible: Negative Theology and Planetary Entanglement.*New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kelsey, D. H. (2009). *Eccentric Existence: A Theological Anthropology* (Vol. 1). Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press.
- Kerr, F. (2014). Trinitarian Theology in the Light of Analytic Philosophy. In G. Emery, & M. Levering (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of the Trinity (pp. 339-345). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kilby, K. (2000). Perichoresis and Projection: Problems with Social Doctrines of the Trinity. New Blackfriars, 81(957), 432-45.
- Kilby, K. (2005). Aquinas, the Trinity, and the Limits of Understanding. *International Journal of Systematic Theology*, 7(4), 414-27.
- Kung, L. (2011). The Trinity and China's Harmonious Society: A Doctrinal-Ethical Consideration. Seoul: Unpublished.
- LaCugna, C. M. (1993). God for Us: The Trinity and the Christian Life. New York: HarperCollins.
- Lash, N. (1992). Believing Three Ways in One God: A Reading of the Apostles Creed. London: SCM Press.
- Lash, N. (2004). *Holiness, Speech and Silence: Reflections on the Question of God.* Aldershot: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Lash, N. (2007). The Question of God Today. In K. Vanhoozer, & M. Warner (Eds.), Transcending Boundaries in Philosophy and Theology: Reason, Meaning and Experience (pp. 129-143). Aldershot: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Laurence, A. (Director). (2018). *Holst and Vaughan Williams: Making Music English* [Motion Picture]. England.

- Leithart, P. J. (2015). *Traces of the Trinity: Signs of God in Creation and Human Experience.*Grand Rapids: Brazon Press.
- Levinas, E. (1948). Le Temps et l'autre. Paris: Artaud.
- Levinas, E. (1969). *Totality and Infinity: An Essay on Exteriority* (A. Lingis, Trans.). Pittsburgh: Duquesne University Press.
- Levinas, E. (2006). Entre Nous. (M. B. Smith, & B. Harshav, Trans.) London: Continuum.
- Luther, M. (1958b). Sermons on the Gospel of St John. (J. Pelikan, Ed.) St Louis, MO.
- Lyotard, J.-F. (1989). Levinas' Logic. In A. Benjamin (Ed.), *The Lyotard Reader* (pp. 275-313). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Maas, S. v. (2009). The Reinvention of Religious Music: Olivier Messiaen's Breakthrough Toward the Beyond. New York: Fordham University Press.
- Maimonides, M. (1974). *The Guide of the Perplexed* (Vol. 1). (S. Pines, Trans.) London: University of Chicago Press.
- Martner, K. (Ed.). (1979). Selected Letters of Gustav Mahler. London: Faber and Faber.
- Mascall, E. L. (1949). Existence and Analogy. London: Longmans.
- McCabe, H. (2005). God Still Matters. London: Continuum.
- McDermott, T. (1991). Introduction. In T. Aquinas, (1991). *Summa Theologiae: A Concise Translation.* (pp. 9-35) (T. McDermott, Ed. & Trans.) Notre Dame: Christian Classics.
- McDougall, J. A. (2016). A Trinitarian Grammar of Sin. In G. Outka (Ed.), *The Theological Anthropology of David Kelsey: Responses to Eccentric Existence* (pp. 107-126). Grand Rapids: Wm. B. Eerdman's Publishing Group.
- McFadyen, A. I. (1990). The Call to Personhood: A Christian Theory of the Individual in Social Relationships. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- McFague, S. (1982). *Metaphorical Theology: Models of God in Religious Language.*Minneapolis,: Fortress Press.
- McGann, M. E. (2012). *Exploring Music as Worship and Theology: Research in Liturgical Practice*. Collegeville: The Liturgical Press.
- McGrath, A. (Ed.). (2007). *The Christian Theology Reader* (3rd ed.). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- McInerny, R. M. (1971). *The Logic of Analogy: An Interpretation of St. Thomas.* The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Mehuron, K. (1989). An Ironic Mimesis. In A. B. Dallery, & C. E. Scott (Eds.), *The Question of the Other: Essays in Contemporary Continental Philosophy* (pp. 89-101). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Merleau-Ponty, M. (2000). The Intertwining The Chiasm (A. Lingis, Trans). In C. Cazeaux (Ed.), The Continental Aesthetics Reader (pp. 164-80). London: Routledge.
- Merquior, J. G. (1991). Foucault (2nd ed.). London: Fontana Press.
- Michelfelder, D. (1989). Derrida and the Ethics of the Ear. In A. B. Dallery, & C. E. Scott (Eds.), The Question of the Other: Essays in Contemporary Continental Philosophy (pp. 47-54). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Moltmann, J. (1981). *The Trinity and the Kingdom of God* (M. Kohl, Trans.). San Francisco: Harper and Row.
- Mosser, C. (2009). Fully Social Trinitarianism. In T. McCall, & M. C. Rea (Eds.), *Philosophical and Theological Essays on the Trinity* (pp. 131-150). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Moyn, S. (2005). *Origins of the Other: Emmanuel Levinas between Revelation and Ethics.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Murdoch, I. (1978). *The Fire and the Sun: Why Plato Banished the Artists.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Narcisse, G. (1997). Les Raisons de Dieu: Argument de convenance et Esthetique theologique selon Thomas d'Aquin et Hans Urs von Balthasar. Fribourg: Editions Universitaires Fribourg Suisse.

- Nissel, M. (1998). *Married to the Amadeus: Life with a String Quartet*. London: Giles de la Mare Publishers Ltd.
- Norris, C. (2006). *Platonism, Music and the Listener's Share*. London: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- O'Connor, M., Kim, H.-A., & Labriola, C. (2017). Introduction. In M. O'Connor, H.-A. Kim, & C. Labriola (Eds.), *Music, Theology and Justice* (pp. ix-xx1). Lanham: Lexington Books.
- O'Regan, C. (2014). The Trinity in Kant, Hegel, and Schelling. In G. Emery, & M. Levering (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of the Trinity (pp. 254-266). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Osborne, R. (1999). Herbert von Karajan: A Life in Music. London: Pimlico.
- Oster, S. (2012). Becomig a Person and the Trinity. In R. Wozniak, & G. Maspero (Eds.), Rethinking Trinitarian Theology: Disputed Questions and Contemporary Issues in Trinitarian Theology (pp. 346-367). London: T & T Clark International.
- Otto, R. (1950). The Idea of the Holy: An Inquiry into the Non-Rational Factor in the Idea of the Divine and its Relation to the Rational (2nd ed.). (J. W. Harvey, Trans.) London: Oxford University Press.
- Pannenberg, W. (1968). *Jesus God and Man* (L. Wilkins and D. Priebe, Trans.). London: SCM Press Ltd.
- Pannenberg, W. (2009). *Systematic Theology* (Vol. 1). (G. Bromily, Trans.) Grand Rapids: Wm, B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.
- Paracelsus. (1928). *Die 9 Bücher der Natura Rerum* (Vol. IX) (K. Sudhoff, Ed.). München: R. Oldenbourg Verlag.
- Peters, T. (1993). *God as Trinity: Relationality and Temporality in Divine Life.* Louisville: Westminster/John Knox Press.
- Phibbs, J. (2015). Joseph Phibbs. In A. Palmer (Ed.), *Encounters with British Composers* (pp. 381-391). Woodbridge: The Boydell Press.
- Pickstock, C. (2011). Quasi Una Sonata: Modernism, Postmodernism, Religion and Music. In J. S. Begbie, & S. R. Guthrie (Eds.), *Resonant Witness: Conversations between Music and Theology* (pp. 190-211). Grand Rapids: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.
- Pickstock, C. (2016, June). Music and the Word. Church Music Quarterly, pp. 15-18.
- Pini, G. (2014). The Development of Aquinas' Thought. In B. Davies, & S. Eleonore (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Aquinas* (pp. 491-512). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Plantinga, C. (1989). Social Trinity and Tritheism. In R. J. Feenstra, & C. Plantinga (Eds.), *Trinity, Incarnation and Atonement* (pp. 21-47). Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Plato. (1974). *The Republic* (2nd (revised) ed.). (D. Lee, Trans.) Harmondsworth: Penguin Books Ltd.
- Pomplun, T. (2008). Notes on the Scotist Aesthetics in Light of Gilbert Narcisse's "Les Raisons de Dieu". *Franciscan Studies*(66), 247-268.
- Rahner, K. (1970). The Trinity. (J. Donceel, Trans.) New York: Herder and Herder.
- Re Manning, R. (2015). Unwritten Theology: Notes Towards a Natural Theology of Music. In F. Stone-Davis (Ed.), *Music and Transcendence* (pp. 65-73). Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Ltd.
- Richardson, K. A. (2014). Uncreated and Created Perichoretic Relations. In D. J. Tidball, B. S. Harris, & J. S. Sexton (Eds.), *Revisioning, Renewing, Rediscovering the Triune Center* (pp. 79-94). Eugene OR: Cascade Books.
- Ross, J. F. (1976). Analogy as a Rule of Meaning for Religious Language. In A. Kenny (Ed.), Aquinas: A Collection of Critical Essays (pp. 93-138). Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Ross, J. F., & Bates, T. (2003). Duns Scotus on Natural Theology. In T. Williams (Ed.), *The Cambridge Companion to Duns Scotus* (pp. 193-237). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Russell, B. (1948). *Human Knowledge: Its Scope and Limits*. London: George Allen and Unwin Ltd.
- Saarinen, R. (2014). The Trinity, Creation, and Christian Anthropology. In G. Emery, & M. Levering (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of the Trinity* (pp. 414-427). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Salaman, E. (1989). Unlocking Your Voice: Freedom to Sing. London: Victor Gollancz Ltd.
- Samuel, C. (1967). Entretiens avec Olivier Messiaen. Paris: Editions Pierre Belfond.
- Sanders, F. (2007). The Trinity. In J. Webster, K. Tanner, & I. Torrance (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook to Systematic Theology* (pp. 35-53). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sawyer, K. (2016). Musical Performance as Collaborative Practice. In M. S. Barrett (Ed.), Collaborative Creative Thought and Practice in Music (pp. 271-86). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Schacht, R. (1972). Alienation. London: George Allen & Unwin Ltd.
- Schwoebel, C. (2003). God as Conversation: Reflections on a Theological Ontology of Communicative Relations. In J. Haers, & P. De May (Eds.), *Theology and Conversation: Towards a Relational Theology* (pp. 43-67). Leuven: Leuven University Press.
- Schwoebel, C. (2014). Where do we stand in Trinitarian theology?: Resources, revisions and reappraisals. In C. Chalamet, & M. Vial (Eds.), *Recent Developments in Trinitarian Theology: An International Symposium* (pp. 9-71). Minneapolis: Fortress Press.
- Scotus, D. (1987). Ordinatio. (A. Wolter, Trans.) Indianapolis: Hacket Publishing Company.
- Scruton, R. (1997). The Aesthetics of Music. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Scruton, R. (2006). Gentle Regrets. London: Continuum.
- Sherman, J. H. (2014). *Partakers of the Divine: Contemplation and the Practice of Philosophy.*Minneapolis: Fortress Press.
- Small, C. (1998). *Musicking: The Meanings of Performing and Listening.* Middletown: Wesleyan University Press.
- Soskice, J. (1985). Metaphor and Religious Language. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Soskice, J. (2007). The Kindness of God. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Stagoll, C. (2010). Event. In A. Parr (Ed.), *The Deleuze Dictionary* (pp. 89-91). Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press Ltd.
- Stark, H. (2012). Deleuze and Love. Angelaki, 17(1), 99-113.
- Steinberg, M. P. (2004). *Listening to Reason: Culture, Subjectivity and Nineteenth-Century Music.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Steiner, G. (1989). *Real Presences: Is There Anything in What We Say?* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Stolzfus. (2006). *Theology as Performance: Music, Aesthetics, and God in Western Thought.*New York: T & T Clark International.
- Stone-Davis, F. (2015a). Music and Liminal Ethics: Facilitating a 'Soulful Reality'. In E. A. Lee, & S. Kimbriel (Eds.), *The Resounding Soul: Reflections on the Metaphysics and Vivacity of the Human Person* (pp. 285-304). Eugene, OR: Veritas, Wipf and Stock.
- Stone-Davis, F. (Ed.). (2015b). *Music and Transcendence*. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Stone-Davis, F. (2015c). Music and World-Making: Haydn's String Quartet in E-Flat Major (Op. 33, No. 2). In F. Stone-Davis (Ed.), *Music and Transcendence* (pp. 125-45). Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Stone-Davis, F. J. (2011). *Musical Beauty: Negotiating the Boundary between Subject and Object.* Eugene, OR: Cascade Books.
- Tanner, K. (2012). Social Trinitarianism and its Critics. In R. J. Wozniak, & G. Maspero (Eds.), Rethinking Trinitarian Theology: Disputed Questions and Contemporary Issues in Trinitarian Theology (pp. 368-386). London: T & T Clark International.

- Tarling, J. (2005). *The Weapons of Rhetoric: A Guide for Musicians and Listeners.* St Albans: Corda Music Publications.
- te Velde, R. (2016). *Aquinas on God: The 'Divine Science' of the Summa Theologiae .* Abingdon: Routledge.
- Terrell, P., Koplek, H., Holtkamp, H., & Whitlam, J. (Eds.). (1997). *Collins German Dictionary* (3rd ed.). Glasgow: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Thibault, H. (1970). *Creation and Metaphysics: A Genetic Approach to Existential Act.* Leiden: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Torrance, A. J. (1996). *Persons in Communion: Trinitarian Description and Human Participation.* Edinburgh: T & T Clark Ltd.
- Torrance, J. (1989). The Doctrine of the Trinity in Our Contemporary Situation. In A. Heron (Ed.), *The Forgotten Trinity*. London: British Council of Churches.
- Tracy, D. (1981). *The Analogical Imagination: Christian Theology and the Culture of Pluralism.*London: SCM Press Ltd.
- Van den Brink, G. (2014). Social Trinitarianism: A Discussion of Some Recent Theological Criticisms. *International Journal of Systematic Theology*, *16*(3), 331-50.
- Vaughan, R. (1990). *Herbert von Karajan: A Biographical Portrait*. London: George Weidenfeld and Nicolson Limited.
- Veenhof, J. (2011). Revelation and Grace in Herman Bavinck. In J. Bowlin (Ed.), *The Kuyper Centre Review* (Vol. 2). Grand Rapids: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Vergo, P. (2005). That Divine Order: Music and the Visual Arts from Antiquity to the Eighteenth Century. London: Phaidon Press Limited.
- Volf, M. (1998a). After Our Likeness: The Church as the Image of the Trinity. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans.
- Volf, M. (1998b). The Trinity is our Social Program: The Doctrine of the Trinity and the Shape of Social Engagement. *Modern Theology*, 14, 403-23.
- Webb, S. H. (1991). *Re-figuring Theology: The Rhetoric of Karl Barth.* Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Welch, C. (1952). *In This Name: The Doctrine of the Trinity in Contemporary Theology.* New York: Charles Scribner's Sons.
- Wheeler, J. A. (1988). Foreword. In J. D. Barrow, & F. J. Tipler, *The Anthropic Cosmological Principle* (pp. vii-ix). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Williams, R. (2006). *Grace and Necessity: Reflections on Art and Love.* London: Continuum International Publishing Group.
- Williams, R. R. (2007). Translator's Introduction. In G. W. Hegel, *Lectures on the Philosophy of Spirit* (R. R. Williams, Trans., pp. 1-56). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wittgenstein, L. (1969). The Blue and Brown Books. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Wittgenstein, L. (1972). *Philosophical Investigations.* (G. E. Anscombe, Trans.) Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Wittgenstein, L. (1978). *Lectures and Conversations on Aesthetics, Psychology and Religious Belief.* (C. Barrett, Ed.) Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Wood, H. (2007). Staking Out the Territory and Other Writings on Music. London: Plumbago Books and Arts.
- Wyschogrod, E. (2005). Intending Transcendence: Desiring God. In G. Ward (Ed.), *The Blackwell Companion to Postmodern Theology* (pp. 349-365). Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Xenakis, I. (1985). Arts/Science Alloys: The Thesis Defense of Iannis Xenakis before Olivier Messiaen et al. (S. Kanach, Trans.) New York: Pendragon Press.
- Xu, X. (2019). Herman Baninck's 'Yes' and Karl Barth's 'No': Constructing a Dialectic-in-Organic Approach to the Theology of General Revelation. *Modern Theology*, *35*(2), 323-351.

- Young, F. (2013). *God's Presence: A Contemporary Recapitulation of Early Christianity.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Zizioulas, J. D. (2004). *Being as Communion: Studies in Personhood and the Church* (J. Clarke, E. Templeton, N. Russell, P. Bussey, Trans.). London: Darton, Longman and Todd Ltd.